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About this Report

This Annual Report was pre-approved by Rostelecom’s Board of 
Directors on 15 May 2017, Minutes No. 19 dated 15 May 2017. 
This Report has been prepared by PJSC Rostelecom (“Rostelecom” or 
the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (jointly, the “Group”), in line with 
Note 9 Subsidiaries to the Company’s consolidated financial statements 
prepared under the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
for the year ended 31 December 2016.

DISCLAIMER

This Report contains certain “forward-
looking statements regarding future events”, 
as defined by the US federal securities laws, 
which are, therefore, regulated by these 
laws, which provide for no liability for any act 
done or omitted in good faith. Such forward-
looking statements regarding future events 
include (but are not limited to) the following:

» estimates of future operational and financial 
performance of the Company and projected 
effects on the current value of future cash 
flows;

» the Company’s plans to have interest in 
charter capitals of other entities;

» the Company’s plans for network 
construction and upgrades, as well as 
planned investments;

» changes in demand for the Company’s 
services, the Company’s plans to enhance 
the existing and develop new services, and 
price forecasts;

» plans to improve the Company’s corporate 
governance practices;

» the Company’s future position in 
the telecommunications market and 
the outlook for the market segments in 
which the Company operates; 

» economic outlook and industry trends;
» potential regulatory changes and 

assessments of the impact any laws or 
regulations may have on the Company’s 
business;

» assessment of the risks affecting 
the Company’s financial and business 
operations, and risk minimisation plans;

» other Company’s plans and forecasts 
regarding future events.

The above forward-looking statements 
regarding future events are subject to risks, 
uncertainties and other factors that may 
cause the actual results to differ from those 
discussed in the statements. These risks, 
uncertainties and other factors include: 

» risks associated with changes in 
the political, economic and social 
environment in Russia and macroeconomic 
changes;

» risks associated with Russian laws, 
legislative reforms and taxation, including 
laws, regulations, decrees and resolutions 
governing the Russian telecommunications 
industry, activities related to placement 
and public circulation of securities, and 
foreign exchange control requirements to 
Russian companies, including the statutory 
interpretation of such regulations by 
the regulatory bodies; 

» risks associated with the Company’s 
business, including performance against 
targets and set profitability and growth 
rates; ability to create and meet demand 
for the Company’s services, including their 
promotion; 

» technology risks associated with 
the operation and development of 
the communications infrastructure, 
technology-driven innovations and 
convergence of technologies; 

» other risks and uncertainties.
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More details on these factors are available 
in the Company’s public disclosures. 
Most of the above factors are beyond 
the Company’s control or can not be 
predicted by the Company. In view of 
the above, the Company does not recommend 
to rely on the statements regarding future 
events presented in this Report without 
proper guidance. The Company assumes no 
obligation to publicly revise its statements – 
neither to reflect events or circumstances 
after the date of this Report, nor to report 
on any unanticipated events, except where 
required by the applicable law. 
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Dear Shareholders and Investors,

2016 was a year of momentous transformation for Rostelecom with a number of important steps undertaken towards 
achieving Company’s strategic goals set by the Board of Directors. As a result, Rostelecom is steadily transforming into 
a digital service provider which streamlines its organisation and business processes simultaneously. 

Consistent improvement of the Company’s corporate governance continued to be the focal point of Rostelecom’s 
performance in 2016. Four members of the new Board of Directors were determined by the Board to be independent, 
and thus both the Audit Committee and the Nomination and Remuneration Committee now consist solely of 
independent directors. I am pleased to note that our efforts towards achieving excellence in corporate governance 
for the future sustainable development of the Company are delivering and were well recognised in 2016: the world’s 
leading provider of corporate governance solutions, Institutional Shareholder Services Inc. (ISS), assigned Rostelecom 
its highest governance rating on the QualityScore rating system, which defines low corporate governance risks. 
Additionally, the Company was assigned a “7++” rating by the Russian Institute of Directors in November, which is 
classified as Mature Corporate Governance Practice. In addition, the Russian Government expert council included 
Rostelecom in the Top 3 partially government-owned companies based on progress made on implementing 
recommendations set out in the Corporate Governance Code. 

The key focus of Rostelecom’s development strategy on achieving fundamental and internal transformation is evidenced 
by last year’s solid operational and financial performance. In 2016, a great deal of progress was made in improving 
traditional operator services. As this sector remains a significant contributor to our topline, we have significantly 
optimised internal processes and customer loyalty-building practices, implemented through integrated bundle offers. 
The contribution made by the digital segment, which consists of Rostelecom’s high-priority new business streams, 
achieved a significant 10% increase in its revenue contribution to the Group over the reporting year, and now contributes 
an impressive 44% share of the Company’s revenue. This accomplishment builds on Rostelecom’s successful strategy 
in identifying and seizing new growth opportunities, such as the vigorous promotion of modern digital services which 
contributed to Company’s revenue and enabled the Company to fully offset weaker voice revenue in 2016. I am confident 
that as we continue to implement our strategy, we will strengthen the Company’s leadership of the telecommunications 
market, by delivering sustainable growth in new business areas, expanding the range of services, and focusing on 
customer service excellence, all of which will ultimately boost Rostelecom’s investment appeal.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to thank all members of our team, who contributed to delivering this 
solid performance in 2016 in line with our corporate strategy. We plan to continue our efforts at maximising our asset 
value, revenue growth, and market cap for the benefit of Rostelecom’s shareholders and customers.

Sergei Ivanov, 
Chairman of the Board, Rostelecom
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Dear Shareholders, Partners and Colleagues,

In 2016, we strengthened Rostelecom’s leadership in the traditional and digital segments and continued to steadily grow 
our priority, high-growth lines of business. In line with our strategy, the share of Rostelecom’s revenue from sales of 
digital and content services increased considerably in 2016, reaching 44%.

In the reporting year, not only did we maintain steady growth rates in Rostelecom’s traditional business but we also 
actively expanded into new, high-potential areas. The broadband subscriber base grew by 6%, comprising over 12.3 million 
households as at the end of the year, and construction of the Kamchatka – Magadan – Sakhalin submarine FOCL 
was completed. Additionally, through its joint venture with Tele2, Rostelecom launched a full MVNO project, to enable us 
to further develop converged services and strengthen customer loyalty.

Our corporate segment remained the key growth driver for the Company’s revenue in 2016 by tripling its sales of 
new products. The segment also increased the share of broadband subscribers on fibre-based tariff plans by 41%. 

Content and digital services were the biggest contributors to revenue growth, including VAS and Clouds which grew by 
28%, Pay TV by 22%, and VPN and Broadband by 6% and 5%, respectively.

I would also like to highlight that Rostelecom continues to assist the Russian government as a strong and dependable 
partner involved in the implementation of large-scale nationwide projects: in 2016, the Company provided continuous 
video surveillance during the nationwide Unified National Exams for graduating secondary school students, as well as at 
polling stations during the Russian State Duma election. We also continued to implement major national projects to bridge 
the digital divide and develop a public service portal.

In seeking to achieve operational excellence in 2016, Rostelecom continued to streamline its real estate portfolio and 
headcount, improve the performance of its business processes, and increase labour productivity. As a result, revenue per 
employee reached RUB 2.1 million as at the year end, and the total positive effect on the Company’s operating costs was 
almost RUB 6 billion.

Corporate culture remains one of the pillars of the Company’s strategy and this is underpinned by making Rostelecom 
employees feel as though the Company is their own business. To foster this attitude, we have been implementing a lean 
framework which offers employees the tools to support their daily activity, progress and improvements in performance. 

Rostelecom will maintain its focus on its strategic objective of evolving into an integrated digital service provider and on 
improving the quality of service by offering convenient telecommunications services, and help customers improve their 
business performance. This means that with every passing day we become more flexible, customer-focused, agile and 
innovative. 

To conclude, I would like to thank all Rostelecom’s employees, partners and shareholders, and express my confidence 
that our team’s superior expertise, creativity, and hard-working attitude will continue to drive the successful growth of our 
business. 

Mikhail Oseevsky, 
President, Rostelecom
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KEY EVENTS OF 2016

KEY EVENTS AFTER 
THE REPORTING 
PERIOD

AUGUST 2016
 » Rostelecom launched Virtual Storage, its 
new cloud product

 » Rostelecom increased the number of TV 
channel bundles offered by Interactive TV 
2.0 to users of OTT set-top boxes 

SEPTEMBER 2016
 » Rostelecom provided video surveillance 
services during elections to the State Duma

 » Rostelecom completed the construction 
and launched the Kamchatka – Sakhalin – 
Magadan submarine FOCL

 » Rostelecom placed exchange-traded bonds 
for RUB15 billion with a record low coupon 
of 9.2% p.a.

 » Standard & Poor’s affirmed Rostelecom’s 
credit rating of “ВВ+” with a stable outlook 

OCTOBER 2016
 » Rostelecom launched Managed Wi-Fi, 
a new service for business and government 
customers

 » Rostelecom launched two new platforms to 
provide Virtual Data Centre service in Adler 
and Moscow 

NOVEMBER 2016
 » Rostelecom launched its branded full 
MVNO services based on Tele2 Russia’s  
network infrastructure

 » Rostelecom’s venture capital fund invested 
in RDP.RU Group

 » Rostelecom and Federal State-Financed 
Organisation Informational-Analytical 
Centre for Technical Support of SAS 
Pravosudiye entered an agreement to 
build a cloud computing infrastructure for 
the data centre of the Pravosudiye state 
computer-aided system

JANUARY 2017
 » Fitch affirmed Rostelecom’s investment 
grade rating of “BBB-” with a stable outlook

 » Rostelecom acquired Sibitex
 » Rostelecom’s venture capital fund invested 
in Transportation Information Technologies 
(TransInfoTech) 

FEBRUARY 2017
 » Gazprom Neft and Rostelecom signed 
a strategic partnership agreement to 
provide for innovative development and 
industrial internet of things

MARCH 2017
 » The Board of Directors approved 
a transaction to consolidate 100% of 
SafeData Group

 » The Board of Directors appointed Mikhail 
Oseevsky President of Rostelecom 

APRIL  2017
 » Rostelecom placed bonds for RUB 10 billion 
at 8.65% p.a.

Key events 
FEBRUARY 2016
 » Rostelecom launched proprietary 
geographic information system solutions 

MARCH 2016
 » Rostelecom acquired Morton Group’s 
telecommunications assets

 » Rostelecom’s venture capital fund invested 
in Brain4Net and Raidix 

APRIL  2016
 » Rostelecom launched the Unlimited Russia, 
the first tariff plan that includes an unlimited 
number of calls of any duration to any fixed-
line numbers in Russia 

MAY 2016
 » Rostelecom provided video surveillance 
services during the Unified State Exam

JUNE 2016
 » Rostelecom acquired AIST, a broadband and 
telephony provider

 » Rostelecom held its Annual General 
Shareholders’ Meeting (AGM), determined 
the dividend amount in line with the new 
Dividend Policy providing for a 77% growth 
of dividend per share

 » Rostelecom launched an integrated 
solution to broadcast Interactive TV at 
hotels

 » Rostelecom signed an agreement with 
the Nenets Information and Analytical 
Centre Public Institution of the Nenets 
Autonomous Area to build a unified 
geographic information system in 
the Nenets Autonomous Area

DECEMBER 2016
 » Rostelecom set up a sub-fund in a joint venture 
with Sberbank, to monetise the Company’s real 
estate portfolio

 » Total fibre optic network coverage reached 
32.2 million households
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23.12.1900 The world’s first radio transmission of the human voice
24.12.1906 The world’s first broadcast of a radio programme
09.05.1911 The world’s first transmission and receipt of simple images over wires. Russian scientist 

Boris Rosing patented a method of electrical transmission of images over a distance 
and, in 1911, became the first in the world to transmit and receive TV images

07.03.1876 Alexander Bell patented the telephone
01.06.1880 The world’s first payphone introduced
15.01.1880 The first domestic long-distance telephone network launched in Russia

History Milestones

Commercial telephony launched in Russia for the first time 
ever, with 338 users in Saint Petersburg and 224 users in 
Moscow signed up for the new communication service during 
the first year of operation

First automatic telephone stations (ATS) put into operation 
in the USSR. Wide-scale communications networks 
development commenced in the USSR by the People’s 
Commissariat for Communications of the USSR, and later on – 
by the Ministry of Communications of the USSR

The Ministry of Communications of the USSR established 
Joint Stock Company Sovtelecom responsible for operation 
and development of the long-distance and international 
telecommunications network in the USSR

30.12.1957 The world’s first vision of fibre-optic communications introduced at the meeting of the 
telecommunications subpanel of the Scientific and Technical Council of the USSR’s 
Telecommunications Research Institute

01.11.1964 The world’s first multichannel optical data transmission system launched with a 10 
km range of coverage

29.10.1969 ARPANET packet switching network (the prototype for the Internet) launched
03.04.1973 The world’s first call from a handheld mobile phone made
22.10.1969 Ethernet developed
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As part of a government-initiated reform to consolidate 
state communications assets, Stage 1 of Rostelecom 
reorganization with IRCs joining the Company completed

Stage 2 of Rostelecom reorganization completed, as 
Svyazinvest and 20 subsidiaries merged to form an enlarged 
company, Rostelecom

Joint venture with Tele2 Russia established to develop 
mobile business

Svyazinvest, a state-owned holding company, established to 
run 85 regional telecoms operators

Sovtelecom transformed into Intertelecom, an international 
joint stock company, and, one year on, was renamed to 
Rostelecom

Seven IRCs (interregional companies) established through 
merging regional telecoms operators

06.08.1991 The world’s first website published
03.12.1992 The first SMS text sent

23.07.1996 First broadcast of digital high definition signals made
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North-
West

Centre

Far East
South Volga Ural

Siberia

SUBSIDIARIES*

 » Bashinformsvyaz
 » Central Telegraph
 » SafeData Group
 » Macomnet
 » Severen-Telecom
 » Giprosvyaz
 » GNC-ALFA (operates in Armenia)

JOINT VENTURES

Company Overview  
and Structure

* Most significant subsidiaries and affiliates. For the full list of subsidiaries and affiliates see 
Appendix 5 All Forms of PJSC Rostelecom’s Participation in Commercial and Non-Commercial 
Organisations to this Annual Report.

Revenue 

36.6
RUB bn

Revenue 

73.8
RUB bn

Revenue 

28.8
RUB bn

Revenue 

40.9
RUB bn

Revenue 

29.0
RUB bn

Regions outside the Company’s geography
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North-
West

Centre

Far East
South Volga Ural

Siberia

32.5% of revenue

KEY HIGHLIGHTS

Broadband market share** 

IPTV market share**

Digital services 

OIBDA

RUB  
BILLION

RUB  
BILLION

Revenue 

Backbone network  
capacity

TBPS

Headcount

THOUSAND

** According to TMT Consulting

Revenue 

31.4
RUB bn

Revenue 

20.7
RUB bn
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Waste management 
and 

pollution control

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

RISKS

Production assets

RESOURCES

ПАО «РОСТЕЛЕКОМ»

MISSION

Rostelecom creates more opportunities  
for people and organisations by providing 
services and supporting projects and 
initiatives, which are important for society.

Traditional 
products

Tele 2 Цифровое телевидение

JOINT VENTURES

Digital 
products

OUTCOMES

Intellectual capital

Social capital and 
goodwill

Employees

Finance

Natural 
resources

Cash flow

Expertise 
and 

know-how

Achievement of targets 
and KPIs

Better 
internal efficiency

Stronger brand 
and reputation

Knowledge and technology

Social effect

Environmental 
protection

STRATEGY

»  Edge on technology in IP networks
»  Differentiated offerings
»  Customer service in line with best practice
»  Organisational and cultural transformation
»  Operational excellence

OPERATIONS:

PILLARS

»  Geographic coverage
»  Technology-driven growth
»  Comprehensive approach
»  Sustainability

Customer service

Infrastructure

Corporate culture

Intellectual 
property

Services 
and 

products

Business Model
Rostelecom’s business model is 
designed to provide top quality, advanced 
telecommunications services and fully fits 
into the corporate strategy of the Company’s 
transformation into an integrated digital 
services provider. Alongside its core 
operations, the Company is strongly focused 
on sustainable development by facilitating 
Russia’s economic growth and balancing 
interests of key stakeholders. Rostelecom is 
building a profitable business for the benefit 
of its shareholders and creating value for 
the community by improving quality of life for 
its customers across the country.  
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Investment  
Hotspot

Примечания 

Short-term drivers Long-term drivers

COUNTRY  » Inflation slowdown to 5.4%1 in 2016 and 4.1% by 2019 –  
lower cost of debt and expenses in RUB terms

 » Rouble appreciation by 17% against the US dollar in 2016 –  
cheaper imports and better financial performance in USD terms

 » Improvements in investment climate 

 » Economic diversification and lower reliance on commodity prices – 
higher demand for high-tech products and services

 » Digitalisation of the economy – Russian Government’s focus on 
the development of digital products and services

 » Population growth to 150 million people by 2030 –  
customer base expansion

INDUSTRY  » Lower sensitivity to adverse market changes –  
sustainable revenues

 » Smaller wallet share of telecoms expenses – stable market position

 » Ability to accumulate expertise and quality assets via acquisitions

 » Higher penetration – subscriber base expansion

 » Fourth Industrial Revolution, IIoT and 5G – growing market size

 » Demand shifting towards digital products and VAS –  
opportunities to capture new revenue pools and grow ARPU

COMPANY  » Leadership in Broadband (38% market share) and IPTV  
(69% market share)  + CAPEX of RUB 61.9 billion in 2016 –  
technology edge

 » More than 32 million households connected to fibre –  
leadership in B2C

 » FCF of RUB 13.3 billion and net profit of RUB 12.2 billion –  
strong financial performance supporting strategic development

 » Progressive dividend policy – at least 75% of FCF, but not less than 
RUB 45 billion in 2015–2017

 »  Share option plan –  
employees incentivised to drive the Company’s value

 » Presence in high-potential markets –  
differentiated offerings to grow ahead of the market

 » Loyal customer base and company’s focus on customer service 
excellence – higher customer satisfaction

 » Organisational transformation –  
higher employee engagement and revenue per employee ratio

 » Focus on efficiency – cost reduction 

 » Real estate portfolio –  
proceeds from asset disposals and lower maintenance costs

 » Venture capital fund – investments in start-ups

 » Strategic investments in joint ventures with Tele2 Russia and VGTRK – 
development of converged products

 »  R&D – driving competitive edge in technology

 » Government as a customer –  
nation-wide government-sponsored projects

Russia’s telecommunications industry 
is attractive for both long-term and 
short-term investors. Building on 
its strong competitive advantages, 
Rostelecom benefits from stable cash 
flows and demonstrates solid operational 
performance despite unfavourable 
macroeconomic conditions and fast-paced 
advances in technology and evolving 
customer preferences. The Company 
responds to market challenges and makes 
use of new opportunities they present. 
High asset quality, streamlined business 
processes and accumulated expertise 
enable Rostelecom to grow sustainably in 
its core operating segments. 



  Annual report 2016  PJSC ROSTELECOM  17

Introduction COMPANY  
PROFILE

Strategic  
Review

Operational 
Highlights

Financial 
Performance

Corporate 
Governance

Information  
for Shareholders  
and Investors

 Appendices

Примечания 

Short-term drivers Long-term drivers

COUNTRY  » Inflation slowdown to 5.4%1 in 2016 and 4.1% by 2019 –  
lower cost of debt and expenses in RUB terms

 » Rouble appreciation by 17% against the US dollar in 2016 –  
cheaper imports and better financial performance in USD terms
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 » Demand shifting towards digital products and VAS –  
opportunities to capture new revenue pools and grow ARPU

COMPANY  » Leadership in Broadband (38% market share) and IPTV  
(69% market share)  + CAPEX of RUB 61.9 billion in 2016 –  
technology edge

 » More than 32 million households connected to fibre –  
leadership in B2C

 » FCF of RUB 13.3 billion and net profit of RUB 12.2 billion –  
strong financial performance supporting strategic development

 » Progressive dividend policy – at least 75% of FCF, but not less than 
RUB 45 billion in 2015–2017

 »  Share option plan –  
employees incentivised to drive the Company’s value

 » Presence in high-potential markets –  
differentiated offerings to grow ahead of the market

 » Loyal customer base and company’s focus on customer service 
excellence – higher customer satisfaction

 » Organisational transformation –  
higher employee engagement and revenue per employee ratio

 » Focus on efficiency – cost reduction 

 » Real estate portfolio –  
proceeds from asset disposals and lower maintenance costs

 » Venture capital fund – investments in start-ups

 » Strategic investments in joint ventures with Tele2 Russia and VGTRK – 
development of converged products

 »  R&D – driving competitive edge in technology

 » Government as a customer –  
nation-wide government-sponsored projects

1 Source hereinafter: Rosstat (Federal State Statistics Service), the Bank of Russia, Russian 
Ministry of Economic Development, TMT Consulting, Higher School of Economics, Company 
data.
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Industry  
overview  

2 According to TMT Consulting analytical agency.

Figure 1. Russian telecommunications market structure and evolution, 2015–2021, RUB bn

Source: TMT Consulting.

The size of the Russian telecoms market 
reached RUB 1.6 trillion in 2016, a 0.5% 
growth from 20152.

The slowdown is mostly due to lower 
revenues from mobile services (–0.3%) 
in a saturated market with increasing 
competition. The market growth drivers 
include broadband and pay TV, with revenues 
from these segments growing in 2016 by 4% 
and 10%, respectively.

In a saturated telecoms market, operators 
are vigorously pursuing growth opportunities 
in adjacent segments – sales of equipment, 
and system integration, IT, media and other 
services.

Region-wise, the market structure stabilised 
in the reporting year: combined, Moscow and 
the Moscow Region account for about a third 
of the market.

The B2C segment makes up approximately 
two thirds of the total Russian 
telecommunications market. The corporate 
and public sectors comprise about one 
quarter, with wholesale services accounting 
for the rest.

In terms of subscriber base and revenues, 
retail customers dominate the key market 
segments:

 » Mobile services – 89% of service revenues;
 » Internet-access services – 69%;
 » Pay TV services – over 95%;
 » Fixed-line services – 54%.

 
The retail segment increased its share by 
1 p.p. while other segments saw their shares 
shrink. 
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Content and  
Digital Services
BROADBAND

With a penetration rate of 56% as at 
the end of 2016, the broadband market 
reached maturity and saturation in both 
large cities and most medium-sized cities. 
The number of retail customers grew by 
4% in the reporting period, with roughly 
similar growth in revenues. After remaining 
flat for several years, ARPU for broadband 
access services sold on a standalone basis 
slipped marginally in 2016. This decline 
was due to the evolution of bundled offers, 
which increased ARPU per household for 
operators providing multi-play services. 
Service bundling reduces the price of each 
component of the package for the subscriber 
as compared to separate purchase, which 
improves customer loyalty and attracts new 
customers.

2016 saw operators shifting focus from 
customer acquisition through short-lived 
promotions to attracting and retaining 
customers on attractive deals offered on 
a permanent basis.

The key factors influencing the broadband 
market include:

 » market saturation in large and medium-
sized cities – the service penetration rates 
in most cities with a population in excess of 
50.000 people are above 50%;

 » advances in fibre-optic connectivity, with 
Rostelecom clearly leading the market;

 » growing impact of wireless access 
technology, broader coverage of 4G/LTE 
networks;

 » demand for high-speed tariff plans, fuelled 
by a rapid growth in the number of internet-
connected devices, including SmartTV and 
the trend towards larger content. 

Revenue from Internet-access services grew 
by 3.8% in 2016 (5.5% in 2015). ARPU in 
the retail segment was flat in 2016 at 
RUB 342, as compared to RUB 346 in 2015. 
In contrast, the corporate segment posted 
a higher ARPU, mostly due to customers 
trading up to higher Internet access speeds 
as the share of external traffic is increasing 
and traditional content is growing. 

PAY TV SERVICES

The share of digital TV subscribers continued 
to grow in 2016, reaching 68% based on full-
year results (compared to 65% in 2015). 

IPTV has remained the fastest growing 
segment. Digital cable TV also continued 
to show strong growth; however, the high 
sign-up rates in this segment fail to offset 
the churn in analogue cable TV, so the total 
number of cable TV subscribers decreased 
by 0.4% in 2016. Sign-up rates for satellite 
TV services halved: growth in 2016 was 2.9% 
compared to 5.8% a year before.

Source: TMT Consulting.

Figure 2. Revenue and subscriber base on the Russian  
                   broadband market, 2015–2021
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IPTV is forecast to maintain the highest 
growth rate in 2017, driven mostly by value-
added services such as NPVR, VoD, with 
growing share of VoD in IPTV revenue.

The number of Pay TV subscribers grew in 
2016 by 3% to 41 million, with the service 
penetration rate reaching 72%. As service 
prices grew, the size of the market in 
monetary terms was up by almost 10% to 
RUB 74 billion. Average revenue per user 
increased over the year by 6.3%, from 
RUB 145 to RUB 152.

ARPU is expected to grow further, mostly 
due to higher use of value-added services. 

Rostelecom is the absolute leader in 
IPTV by subscriber base and ARPU, with 
its subscriber base rapidly growing. 
Rostelecom’s share of total Russian IPTV 
subscriber base reached 64%.

OTT MARKET (ONLINE VIDEO SERVICES)
 
Online video services are provided to 
any Internet users irrespective of their 
broadband/pay TV provider. TMT Consulting 
forecasts that the OTT market will continue 
to grow rapidly, driven mostly by paid 
services. The size of the OTT market is 
expected to reach RUB 9.6 billion by 2020, 
with sales of paid services accounting for 
approximately two thirds of operators’ 
revenues. The remainder will be made up by 
advertising revenues.

The following factors have positive influence 
on the video services market:  

 » increasing penetration of devices 
with access to video over the Internet: 
Smart TV, tablet PCs, smartphones;

 » measures against illegal content;
 » active cooperation between service 
providers and copyright owners, 
adding content, including new movies, 
to libraries.

Figure 6. Russian OTT market evolution,  
                   2014–2020, RUB bn

Source: TMT Consulting.
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Figure 5. Revenue and subscriber base on  
                   the Russian pay TV market,  
                   2015–2021

Source: TMT Consulting.
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Figure 4. Changes in the subscriber base by     
                   technology type in 2016 vs 2015, %
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DATA CENTRES

Digital economy is growing rapidly, and 
demand for data storage and processing 
is on the rise. Leasing space for clients’ 
servers and server equipment is wide-
spread in Russia, as in the rest of 
the world. Demand for virtual capacity, 
data storage and backup systems is also 
growing, due to the increasing popularity 
of cloud services. During the next four 
years, the entire market will be driven by 
ongoing digital transformation, with experts 
forecasting two-digit growth for the Russian 
data-centre market over the same 
period – to RUB 30 billion.  

In infrastructure service sales, particularly 
to large customers, the IaaS model has 
gained most traction in the Russian market. 
Demand for readily-available applications 
(SaaS), which are more popular with SMEs, 
is also growing. Platform-as-a-Service 
(PaaS) products, which hold even greater 
promise than SaaS solutions, are at an early 
stage of development now and are just 
starting to gain traction with customers. 
Nonetheless, experts forecast that IaaS 
will remain the fastest growing segment of 
the Russian cloud service market until 2020. 

INDUSTRIAL INTERNET OF THINGS (IIOT)

Efforts to improve the efficiency of 
production and manufacturing processes 
are a key driver of IIoT. Adoption of IIoT has 
major implications for the performance 
of both individual businesses and 
the national economy in general, driving 
labour productivity gains and GDP growth. 
This transition will create a service-based 
model of the economy focused on digital 
transformation of manufacturing and other 
traditional industries, data-sharing across 
the manufacturing value chain and Big Data 
adoption.

Figure 7. Russian data centre market  
                   evolution, 2014–2020, RUB bn

Source: Company data.
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Figure 8. Russian cloud service market 
                   evolution, 2014–2020, RUB bn

Sourceи: SAP, Forester.
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CLOUD SERVICES  

While the global IT market is stagnating, 
the cloud segment keeps growing at a rapid 
pace. Private companies and government 
structures migrate to cloud-based services 
in a bid to improve own performance and cut 
capital expenses. Higher penetration rates 
of broadband across Russia and continued 
4G roll-out are an additional growth driver 
for cloud-based services. According to 
CNEWS, large corporates currently account 
for about 80% of cloud service providers’ 
revenues, with only 20% coming from 
SMEs. At the same time, the SME segment 
is considered to hold the most promise 
for the segment growth and its share is 
projected to grow incrementally.
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Public utilities, transport, healthcare, 
agriculture and power generation are 
the industries with the biggest potential for 
adoption of IIoT solutions and platforms. 
According to experts, this market has huge 
growth potential. It is expected to grow in 
Russia at an average annual rate of over 
60% and exceed RUB 125 billion by the end 
of 2020.

GEODATA

Geodata resources include cloud services 
that can be used to address a wide range 
of applied problems involving the use of 
spacial data in the economy, construction, 
environmental protection, area planning 
and the public services sector. According to 
expert estimates, the size of this market will 
exceed RUB 90 billion by the end of 2020. 

Figure 9. Russian IIoT market evolution,  
                   2015–2020, RUB bn

Source: Company estimates, Cisco, IDC,  

McKinsey Global Institute
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Figure 11. Russian geodata market evolution, 
                         2015–2020, RUB bn

Source: Company data, Roscartography
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Figure 10. Russian M2M market evolution, 
                      2014–2020, RUB bn

Source: TMT Consulting, iKS-Consulting
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The M2M sector, part of the IoT market, 
is one the fastest growing segments. 
Comprising mostly the B2B segment, this 
market was rapidly growing even during 
the recent economic crisis; TMT Consulting 
estimates its growth in 2016 at 43% and size 
at RUB 4 billion.
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MOBILE SERVICES

Revenues from mobile services, 
a traditional market driver accounting for 
55% of the industry revenues, have been 
falling for the second consecutive year. 
Mobile revenues slipped 0.7% in 2015 and 
0.3% in 2016. However, the subscriber 
base has kept growing, with the subscriber 
numbers increasing by 2.9% to 259 million, 
with all major operators posting lower 
ARPU.

2016 saw renewed interest in MVNO both 
from operators and large corporates 
potentially capable of attracting vast 
numbers of customers. These are mostly 
operator projects, with the most important 
projects run by leading providers of Internet-
access, pay TV and telephony services. 

FIXED-LINE TELEPHONY

Even though revenues continued to fall 
in 2016 due to migration of voice traffic 
to mobile and OTT services, demand for 
fixed-line telephony services still exists. 
TMT Consulting forecasts the penetration 
rates of fixed-line telephony to slip from 
42% to 33% by 2021. Apart from continued 
focus on traditional services, operators 
seek to enter adjacent markets and actively 
expand into new business areas, develop 
and promote bundled offers. Rostelecom 
is the absolute leader in this segment, 
servicing 67% of the Russian fixed-line 
telephony market.

2010

Source: TMT Consulting.

Figure 13. Russian MNNO market evolution,  
                     2010–2016, million subscribers
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Figure 12. Revenue and subscriber base on
the Russian mobile services market, 2015–2021
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Figure 15. Broadband market structure by
operator and segment in 2016, %
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Source: TMT Consulting.
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Figure 14. Structure of the Russian   
                      telecom market, 2016, % 
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Rostelecom remains the indisputable leader 
in most of its markets, namely fixed voice, 
broadband, pay TV, VAS and cloud products 
such as data centres and video surveillance, 
wholesale services and other services 
across all existing customer segments – 
В2С, В2В/B2G and B2O. 

In 2016, the Company consolidated its 
leadership on its traditional markets and 
continued developing business lines with 
a high growth potential, such as data 
centres, geodata, cloud services and others. 
Improving customer satisfaction through 
expanding the range of content and digital 
services and migration to the integrated 
digital service provider model can be seen as 
the Company’s key long-term objective.

The competitive landscape on 
the telecommunications market has not 
changed in 2016, with the top five operators 
accounting for 82% of the market:

Competitive  
Analysis  
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In 2016, Rostelecom led the market in 
terms of absolute subscriber base growth, 
with the number of its retail customers 
on the broadband market growing by 
638 thousand over the year. Most of this 
growth was attributable to regions (above all 
the Central Region, Volga Region and 
Siberia); however, the Company also grew on 
the Moscow market ensuring its competitive 
edge. 

Rostelecom’s share of the Russian capital’s 
broadband market is 19%3, greater 
than the shares of most players in this 
region. Starting in Moscow from scratch, 
the Company evolved into a leader of 
the highly competitive broadband market 
in just a few years and continues to 
successfully grow on this market.

Source: TMT Consulting.
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Figure 16. Broadband market structure  
                      in Moscow in 2016, %
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3 By the number of subscribers according to TMT Consulting data for 2016.  
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Rostelecom’s position in the fixed 
voice segment is historically strong; 
the Company accounts for 60% of the local 
communications market, 72% of the intra-
zone communications market and 62% of 
the international and domestic long-distance 
traffic.

According to TMT Consulting, Rostelecom’s 
share of net adds remains consistently high 
(over 50%), thanks to high-quality network 
infrastructure, the Company’s ability to offer 
high-speed tariff plans, and promotion of 
individual products in service bundles with 
unique content offer and enhanced customer 
service.

Gross additions in rural areas, supported 
by the construction of fibre optic networks 
in small population centres under the BDD 
Programme made a marked contribution to 
the overall growth in the broadband market 
between 2014 and 2016. 

In 2016, Rostelecom maintained its absolute 
leadership in IPTV, with the Company’s 
ARPU in this segment growing by 5% and 
885 thousand new customers signing up for 
the service.

Following the acquisition of Safe Data Group 
in 2015, Rostelecom became the leader in 
a high-potential, high-growth market for 
data centre services, with a share of 14% 
by the number of racks. The Company 
continues to actively grow this business 
line by building new facilities and offering 
higher-margin cloud services, thus steadily 
strengthening its competitive edge on this 
market. 

Rostelecom contributes to the development 
of the mobile data market leveraging its 45% 
interest in a joint venture with Tele2. Tele2 is 
the fastest growing player on the mobile 
market with a share of 15%, steadily growing 
its subscriber base and posting two-digit 
revenue growth rates.

Source: TMT Consulting.
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Figure 17. IPTV market structure  
                     by operator in 2016, %
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AMENDMENTS TO FEDERAL LAW ON 
THE NATIONAL PAYMENT SYSTEM
 
In 2016, Federal Law On the National 
Payment System was amended to allow 
subscribers to communications services 
(including fixed-line subscribers) to top 
up their accounts via customer accounts 
and use the balance to pay for third-party 
services.
This initiative is expected to encourage 
the use of advanced telecommunications 
technologies and services to pay for goods 
and services by making transactions 
much easier and faster and improving 
accessibility of public services.

AMENDMENTS TO FEDERAL LAW ON 
COMMUNICATIONS WITH REGARD TO 
ESTABLISHING ADDITIONAL MEASURES 
TO COUNTER TERRORISM AND ENSURE 
PUBLIC SAFETY

On 7 April 2016, State Duma deputy 
Irina Yarovaya and senator Viktor Ozerov 
introduced to the Russian State Duma a bill 
On Amendments to Individual Legislative 
Acts of the Russian Federation with regard 
to Establishing Additional Measures to 
Counter Terrorism and Ensure Public 
Safety4, which contained amendments 
to Law On Communications and Law On 
Information, Information Technology and 
Information Protection. The bill was passed 
by the Federal Assembly of the Russian 
Federation and signed into effect by 
the Russian President5.

One of the new law’s provisions requires 
telecoms operators and Internet service 
providers to store within the territory of 
the Russian Federation all text messages, 
voice data, images, sound and video files, 
and other communications for up to six 
months from the date of their receipt, 
transmission, delivery and/or processing. 
These amendments will take effect from 
1 July 2018.

As of the date of this report, competent 
executive authorities were still developing 
and approving regulations covering 
the specific requirements and mechanisms 
to enforce this law.

4 № 1039149-6.
5 374-FZ dated 7 July 2016.

Key Regulatory  
Changes
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TMT Consulting forecasts continued 
steady growth of the Russian telecoms 
market over the next five years. A new 
breakthrough on the telecoms market is 
expected to come from the adoption of 
new technologies including 5G; however, it 
will not be commercially launched before 
the end of 2020.

Some segments of the telecoms market 
will grow at relatively faster rates over 
the next five years, namely:

 » mobile and fixed-lined Internet market;
 » IoT/М2М market;
 » international channel lease market;
 »  fixed and mobile OTT-TV and other OTT 
services.

Telecoms operators will continue adding 
new innovative services from adjacent 
areas outside the traditional telecoms 
market, with data-centre, cloud and big 
data services holding the most potential.

Geographically, Moscow’s share of the 
total telecoms market is expected to slip 
1 p.p. by 2021 due to faster growth of other 
regions. 

Industry 
Outlook
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Changes in the market structure 
geography-wise will be driven by 
the following factors:

 » continued expansion of 3G and 4G 
into the regions due both to improved 
quality of coverage and roll-outs in 
new population centres, and growing 
penetration rates of 3G- and 4G-enabled 
mobile devices;

 » the entry of the fourth federal player in 
the Moscow market; further growth in 
penetration rates for Internet-access and 
pay TV services in smaller towns. 
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Growth Strategy

Five areas of strategic growth were defined 
in 2013 to bring about major transformations 
within the Company by optimising its 
traditional telecommunications business 
and identifying additional sources of growth. 
New challenges were added towards 
the end of 2015, as the Company sought 
to expand into high-potential market 
segments which could add momentum to 
the process of transforming Rostelecom 
into an integrated provider of digital services 
and platforms. We made great strides on 
our digital transformation journey over the 
recent years, as evidenced by the growth of 
the digital segment’s share of total revenues 
to 44% in 2016. 

One of our near-term priorities is to 
maintain our focus on improving the quality 
of service for our customers across our 
offering and on further enhancing customer 
experience. It is an essential pillar of our 
strategy and one that requires further 
improvement to sharpen our customer 
focus across the board and enhance 
our value proposition for customers. 
Our top priorities in this area include 
keeping our services simple and easy 
to use, addressing customer concerns 
and providing information support 
and advice anytime across a variety of 
channels (offices, call centres, multimedia 
channels, self-service functionality). 

Further enhancement of our value 
proposition is also possible through 
expanding our range of available services, 
launching new customised solutions, 
and improving the Company’s agility 
and flexibility in responding to changes 
in demand and evolving needs of our 
customers. It is another strategic focus for 
us to sharpen our competitive edge and 
ensure sustainable revenue growth going 
forward. One example is the initiative we 
started in 2016 by launching a number of 
IIoT pilots with companies in the oil and 
gas, power generation and engineering 
sectors. Generally speaking, IIoT is a very 
broad concept. We include in this category 
any activities related to data collection, 
processing and subsequent use in the 
real economy. Therefore, the Internet 
can make processes in basic industries 
cheaper and faster, and offer additional 
competitive advantages through efficiency 
gains. Another important feature of IIoT is 
that it helps build ecosystems that break 
silos between market segments and link up 
a multitude of actors.

In the M&A market, we continue to closely 
monitor regional broadband opportunities, 
assessing potential acquisition targets that 
are economically viable for us and selectively 
growing our foothold on local markets. 
We also have a venture capital fund focused 
on new technology assets. As a matter of 
priority, the fund seeks exposure to assets 
with expertise in our focus areas.

Sergei Anokhin,  
Senior Vice President
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VISION: BUILDING 
A DIGITAL RUSSIA

MISSION: STRATEGIC  
AMBITION: 

VALUES: 
Provide people with high-quality 
convenient digital services for 
comfortable life and effective business 
management

To become an integrated provider 
of digital services

Our customers shape our future; We work 
for the benefit of people; Our decisions are 
driven by intellect and data; We deliver and 
are proactive.

STRATEGIC  
PRIORITIES:
 » Technology leadership

 » Differentiated offerings

 » Customer service excellence

 » Organisational transformation

 » Operational excellence

GOAL:
 » Service provider of choice 

 » Best ROI

 » Employer of choice

NEW STRATEGIC AREAS  
OF FOCUS: 
 » Data centres

 » Cloud services

 » OTT

 »  IIoT

 »  Geodata

STRATEGIC AREAS OF FOCUS:
 » Completely unique, attractive, simple 

and honest offers

 » Loyalty programmes and digital partner 

services

 » Leadership in efficiency

 » Time to market

Mobile business  
(Tele2 )

Fixed-line 
business
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EVOLUTION OF  
KEY STRATEGY  
COMPONENTS

 COMPLETELY 
UNIQUE PRODUCTS

EDGE ON 
TECHNOLOGY IN 

IP NETWORKS

ORGANISATIONAL 
TRANSFORMATION

OPERATIONAL 
EXCELLENCE

LEADER IN HIGH-SPEED, 
RELIABLE INTERNET-

ACCESS SERVICES

LEADER IN DIGITAL 
PLATFORMS AND 

SERVICES

CUSTOMER SERVICE 
IN LINE WITH BEST 

PRACTICE
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6 Growth Strategy 2014–2018 is in place at Rostelecom, approved by the Board of Directors in December 2013 (Minutes No. 23 dated 16 December 2013). No changes were made to the 2014–2018 
Strategy in 2016. In October 2015, the Board reviewed the strategic opportunities available to the Company in new market segments. Key growth points in the new services segments include data 
centres, cloud services, OTT video, Industrial Internet of Things, and geodata.

FIXED-LINE BUSINESS SEGMENT6

Rostelecom’s goal in the fixed segment, 
which is the Company’s core segment in 
terms of revenue and available expertise, is 
to provide its customers with high-quality 
advanced communications services while 
improving internal operational efficiency.

Rostelecom’s key objective for the next 
few years is to shift to a business model of 
an integrated digital service provider offering 
the market a platform with its own and third-
party digital services.

To this end, Rostelecom focuses on 
the following five key areas:

 » driving competitive edge in technology  
through the construction of advanced high-
speed network infrastructure based on 
fibre-optic technology;

 » promotion of differentiated products  
through bundled offers and launching new 
advanced digital services;

 » provision of customer service in line with 
best practice through the deployment 
of best customer service standards and 
enhancement of customer experience;

 » lean-based organisational transformation, 
streamlining the organisational structure, 
and fostering a customer-focused approach 
in the Company; 

 » internal efficiency improvements  through 
OPEX reduction programmes.

 
MOBILE BUSINESS SEGMENT 

The Company decided to develop its mobile 
business through a joint venture with Tele2 
Russia with a view to create a leading 
nationwide mobile operator.

In 2016, Tele2 adopted a new strategy until 
2021. Under the new strategy, Tele2 plans to 
become a key player of a new mobile-based 
digital ecosystem through partnerships with 
other companies.

Tele2 sees its role as providing a convenient, 
attractive platform to market new products 
and services in various spheres of life not 
only to customers but to partners as well, 
while maintaining its fundamental principles 
of operating with transparency and integrity.

NEW STRATEGIC OPPORTUNITIES

In October 2015, the Board of Directors 
of Rostelecom reviewed the Company’s 
strategic opportunities in new market 
segments. Apart from developing traditional 
business segments, including broadband 
and pay TV, Rostelecom intends to expand its 
footprint on new markets with high growth 
potential. In addition to its vast expertise, 
the Company has required infrastructure 
and an extensive customer base to unlock 
the growth potential of these market 
segments. Key growth points in the new 
services segment are:

 » Data centres;
 » Cloud services;
 » OTT video;
 » Geodata;
 » Industrial Internet of Things (IIoT).

 
Successful performance on new markets 
will provide the Company with a platform 
to support high revenue growth rates in 
the future.
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7    The Long-term Development Programme was approved by the Board of Directors on 29 January 2015, minutes №28. 
8    The list of 2016 KPIs was supplemented in accordance with new directives by an integrated innovation KPI and a KPI for opex reduction.
9    On 28 December 2016, the Board approved updated KPI targets for 2016 for the worst-case scenario to supplement those in the approved 2016 Programme. 
10   Actual performance against KPI targets set in the 2016 Long-Term Development Programme is detailed in Appendix 7.

LONG-TERM DEVELOPMENT 
PROGRAMME

In January 2015, the Board of Directors 
approved the Company’s Long-term 
Development Programme7, developed in 
accordance with the Governmental directives 
and guidelines of the Russian Ministry 
of Economic Development. Along with 
the Long-term Development Programme, 
the Board of Directors also approved 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for 
2015–20198,9,10.  

The Long-term Development Programme 
was developed pursuant to the Company’s 
strategy and defines tactical activities and 
tools to achieve its strategic goals until 2019.

The scope of the Long-Term Programme 
covers all activities of Rostelecom both in 
consolidating its market position, driving 
infrastructure development and supporting 
innovation-driven growth, and in improving 
business performance.

Adequate investment, HR and management 
resources were allocated to support 
the activities set out in the Long-Term 
Programme. These activities are well 
balanced to reflect financing capabilities of 
the Company. 
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ROSTELECOM’S CONTRIBUTION TO SOCIETY11

Focus area
Unit of 

measurement
2014 2015 2016

Shareholders

Dividends RUB m 7,294 16,500 15,00012 

Employees

Total headcount thousand 
people 158.9 149.9 142.5

Payroll expenses13 RUB m 65,862 67,184 66,018

Investment in training RUB m 347.2 353.6 452.6

Contributions to Telecom-Soyuz private 
pension fund RUB m 1,096 959 703.6

H&S costs RUB m 773.5 623.2 550.6

Government

Income tax RUB bn 7,211 2,436 4,692

Other taxes RUB m 6,107 5,560 5,097

Society

Membership dues, payments to trade 
unions, charitable programmes RUB m 791 854 660

Environment

Environmental expenditure RUB m 130.6 129.7 128.8

Table 1. 
As a national telecom operator servicing 
millions of people across Russia, 
Rostelecom has a major impact on the social 
and economic development of society. 
The Company’s values are centred around 
its customers. Therefore, the Company is 
not only focused on growing a successful 
business but also seeks to create value for 
society – its products and services improve 
the quality of life for people throughout 
Russia.

Sustainability

SUSTAINABILITY 
STRATEGY

11   The data in the table are presented in accordance with the 2016 IFRS consolidated financial statements. For more details see Rostelecom’s Sustainability Report 2016.
12   Dividends for 2016 will be approved by the General Shareholders’ Meeting in 2017. 
13   According to Note 24 to the 2016 IFRS consolidated financial statements.
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Contribute to the 
country’s transition to 
innovative development.

Become a technology 
leader in innovative 
solutions.

For more details see the 
Innovative Development 
Programme section of 
the Company’s website: 
 
http://www.company.
rt.ru/projects/PIR/

Rostelecom develops and deploys solutions aimed at:

 » providing citizens with equal access to digital resources and 
developing digital content;

 » providing high-quality ICT solutions for key industries of the 
Russian economy;

 » maintaining high security standards when providing services to 
government, corporate or retail customers.

Rostelecom adopted the Innovative Development Programme, 
focused on:

 » upgrading technologies and networks;
 » developing and launching new products and services based on 
innovative technologies;

 » improving the quality of business processes;
 » developing data storage and processing infrastructure.

»

»

INNOVATION  

»
» 

Goal What we do to achieve this goal Read more

http://www.company.rt.ru/projects/PIR/
http://www.company.rt.ru/projects/PIR/
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14  The Bridging the Digital Divide project is carried out on instructions of the Russian Government. Rostelecom is the single contractor for this project.
15  Universal Service obligations is a mechanism commonly used throughout the world to make a minimum set of communications services available to all citizens of a country. 

In Russia, the universal service concept was introduced by Federal Law On Communications, adopted in 2003.

Provide the benefits of 
telecommunications 
technologies and secure 
services to the widest 
possible public.

»

Conform to the highest 
standards of business 
ethics.

Significantly reduce 
corruption and bribery.

Ensure a high level of 
customer service in line 
with best practices.

Improve customer 
satisfaction.

More details are 
available in Rostelecom’s 
Sustainability Report 
2016  
 
and on the Company’s 
website: 
www.company.rt.ru/en

More details are 
available in Rostelecom’s 
Sustainability Report 
2016  
 
and on the Company’s 
website: 
www.company.rt.ru/en

Rostelecom has been implementing the nationwide Bridging 
the Digital Divide project14 to help close the gap in access to 
information and communication technology between different 
regions of Russia and provide equal access to universal service15 for 
more than 4 million residents of small population centres across 
Russia.

 »Rostelecom improves service quality, develops and deploys 
innovative solutions and improves its services to meet customer 
expectations.

 » Rostelecom provides its customers with 24/7 information and 
advisory support via a variety of channels.

 » Rostelecom regularly undertakes assessments of customer 
satisfaction with its services.

»
»

»

 » Rostelecom has in place a Code of Ethics conforming to 
the highest standards of business ethics.

 » Rostelecom is guided by anti-corruption policies and monitors and 
evaluates their implementation on a regular basis.

 » Rostelecom implements effective financial controls.
 » Rostelecom deploys open and transparent procurement 
procedures.

 » Rostelecom manages its relations with partners and 
counterparties with due regard to its anti-corruption policies.

 » Rostelecom cooperates with the government to help justice and 
law-enforcement.

»

»





Goal What we do to achieve this goal Read more

IMPROVING QUALITY AND ACCESSIBILITY OF SERVICES

BUSINESS ETHICS AND REDUCING CORRUPTION 



40   PJSC ROSTELECOM  Annual report 2016

20 Industry overview
21 Content and Digital 

Services
25 Traditional Services
26 Competitive Analysis
29 Key Regulatory Changes
30 Industry Outlook
32 Growth Strategy
37 Sustainability
50 Risk Management

STRATEGIC  
REVIEW

Improve the quality 
of life for millions of 
people across Russia 
by removing digital 
barriers, making 
communications 
services available to 
all, and running social 
programmes.

»

Contribute to providing 
equal access to 
education and improving 
computer literacy for the 
widest possible public.

More details are 
available in Rostelecom’s 
Sustainability Report 
2016  
 
and on the Company’s 
website: 
www.company.rt.ru/en

More details are 
available in Rostelecom’s 
Sustainability Report 
2016  
 
and on the Company’s 
website: 
www.company.rt.ru/en

Rostelecom is carrying out the Digital Equality programme 
to make communications services available to senior citizens, 
children in orphanages, children in needy families and physically 
challenged children.

Rostelecom’s products and services provide a lot of people with an 
opportunity to get better education and improve literacy.

The Company is carrying out the following programmes in this area:
 » The ABC of the Internet, focused on computer training for senior 
citizens;

 » Learn the Internet – Manage It!, focused on improving computer 
literacy among young people;

 » distance training programme for children with special needs;
 » ROST (“GROWTH”) partnership-based distance training 
programme for residents and graduates of orphanages and foster 
homes, and children deprived of parental care;

 » Rostelecom developed an e-learning platform enabling connection 
of schools to a unified e-learning and distance training system.The 
platform will provide every school student in Russia, irrespective 
of their location, with equal access to high-quality educational 
content and e-learning technologies.

»

»

»





PROVIDING EQUAL ACCESS TO EDUCATION AND  
IMPROVING COMPUTER LITERACY

Goal What we do to achieve this goal Read more

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT OF SOCIETY
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Become the employer of 
choice for best talent.

More details are 
available in Rostelecom’s 
Sustainability Report 
2016  
 
and on the Company’s 
website: 
www.company.rt.ru/en

 » Rostelecom fosters favourable working environment and a unifying 
corporate culture.

 » Rostelecom provides fair, competitive remuneration to its 
employees.

 » Rostelecom runs social programmes for its employees.
 » Rostelecom is implementing a new corporate pension, expected to 
attract no less than 80% of employees.

 » Rostelecom provides its employees with career advancement, 
training and professional realisation opportunities.

»

Provide safe and healthy 
working environment for 
employees.

Reduce injury rate to 
zero.

More details are 
available in Rostelecom’s 
Sustainability Report 
2016  
 
and on the Company’s 
website: 
www.company.rt.ru/en

 » Rostelecom invests in workplace safety and provides employees 
with adequate safety clothing and footwear, as well as other 
personal protective equipment.

 » Rostelecom fosters a safe work culture among its employees and 
promotes healthy lifestyles.

EMPLOYEE HEALTH AND SAFETY

Goal What we do to achieve this goal Read more

ENSURING DECENT WORKING CONDITIONS 

» 

» » 
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Reduce Rostelecom’s 
environmental 
footprint and preserve 
the environment for 
future generations.

Reduce energy 
consumption and 
maximise the use of 
green energy.

More details are 
available in Rostelecom’s 
Sustainability Report 
2016  
 
and on the Company’s 
website: 
www.company.rt.ru/en

 » Rostelecom makes efficient use of natural resources.
 » Rostelecom upgrades networks and infrastructure by introducing 
more energy efficient equipment.

 » Rostelecom seeks to reduce its energy consumption and 
greenhouse gas emissions and helps its customers to follow suit.

 » Rostelecom increases the share of renewables in total energy mix 
and seeks to gradually maximise the use of green energy.

 » Rostelecom fosters environmentally friendly culture in society.

»

Contribute to improving 
the openness, safety and 
sustainability of cities 
and other settlements.

More details are 
available in Rostelecom’s 
Sustainability Report 
2016  
 
and on the Company’s 
website: 
www.company.rt.ru/en

 » Rostelecom offers innovative solutions based on the smart city 
concept, including solutions for public utilities, power generation 
industry, transport, IIoT, and security.

 » The Company’s product Geodata can be used as a basis for 
developing technologies to ensure safety and sustainability of 
cities, agricultural areas and ecosystems.

»

OPENNESS, SAFETY AND SUSTAINABILITY OF CITIES  
AND OTHER SETTLEMENTS.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION  
AND ENERGY EFFICIENCY

»
»





Goal What we do to achieve this goal Read more



  Annual report 2016  PJSC ROSTELECOM  43

Introduction Company  
Profile

STRATEGIC  
REVIEW

Operational 
Highlights

Financial 
Performance

Corporate 
Governance

Information  
for Shareholders  
and Investors

 Appendices

Rostelecom’s sustainability agenda 
is largely shaped by the nature of 
the telecommunications business. 
Today, information technology is an inherent 
part of virtually every aspect of our corporate 
life and is a driving force behind societal 
development. 

Access to the latest technologies available 
on the telecoms market, combined with 
high professional competencies, allows 
Rostelecom to consistently improve the life 
of millions of Russian citizens.

BUSINESS ETHICS 
AND REDUCING 
CORRUPTION: 

openness and 
transparency in relations 
with customers, partners 
and shareholders.

EMPLOYEES: 

providing attractive 
working conditions; 
professional development 
of employees, care for 
their health and safety.

SERVICES: 

development and 
roll-out of innovative 
solutions that further 
improve the quality of 
Rostelecom’s services 
and make them even 
more useful and 
valuable for customers; 
improving accessibility of 
the Company’s services 
for small population 
centres.

ENVIRONMENT: 

minimising 
the Company’s 
environmental footprint, 
improving energy 
efficiency and fostering of 
environmental culture in 
society.

SOCIETY:  
 

social, volunteer and 
charitable programmes 
improving the quality of 
life for Russian citizens 
and contributing to 
sustainable development 
of society.

ROSTELECOM’S 
SUSTAINABILITY 
PRIORITIES:

Rostelecom empowers people –  
both through provision of its 
services and through funding 
of projects and initiatives 
addressing socially important 
issues.
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In 2016, the Company 
reinvented its approaches to 
corporate social responsibility. 
The Company shifted its focus 
to improving the quality of life 
for Russian citizens through 
innovative technologies, 
pricing policy, and social, 
educational and volunteer 
programmes.

services will provide an additional boost 
to the development of construction and 
telecoms industries, as well as the overall 
economy of small population centres.

The Company consistently contributes 
to efforts to address socially important 
issues. In 2016, Rostelecom consolidated 
all its socially significant projects into 
the nationwide Digital Equality programme. 
The programme aims to improve the quality 
of life for millions of Russian citizens by 
eliminating digital barriers and making 
communications services available to such 
underprivileged and vulnerable groups as 
senior citizens, children in orphanages, 
children in needy families, physically 
challenged children, and others.

The Company also uses its proprietary 
technologies to enhance education. 
The Company developed a unique integrated 
solution – a unified e-learning platform 
enabling connection of schools to a unified 
e-learning and distance training system. 
The core functionality of the platform 
covers all aspects of the education 
system: e-libraries, distance training 
services, advanced training for teachers, 
assessments, testing and monitoring. 
The platform will provide every school 
student in Russia, irrespective of their 
location, with equal access to high-
quality educational content and e-learning 
technologies.

Advanced informational technologies 
of Rostelecom help ensure effective 
management of corporate business 
processes. The e-government platform 
operated by Rostelecom provides a simple 
and transparent interface for interactions 
between citizens and the government. 
New generation of digital services and 
platforms (national data centre network, 
cloud services, OTT services, IIoT solutions, 
and geodata services) help the Company’s 
customers to store huge volumes of data 
and process them with higher quality.

The nationwide Bridging the Digital 
Divide programme helps close the gap in 
access to information and communication 
technology between different regions 
of Russia and provide equal access to 
universal service16 for more than 4 million 
residents of small population centres across 
Russia. Rostelecom believes that higher 
accessibility of advanced communications 

BUSINESS ETHICS 
Rostelecom is committed to the principles 
of openness, integrity and transparency. 
The Company believes this is the only way 
to maintain and enhance its reputation as 
a reliable partner, responsible corporate 
member of society, and reliable supplier of 
high-quality accessible services.

Rostelecom’s sustainability agenda is based 
on clear rules of business conduct set forth 
in the Company’s Code of Ethics and steeped 
in its corporate values of professionalism, 
responsibility, innovation, openness and 
continuity.

The Code of Ethics defines the principles 
governing Rostelecom’s decisions in various 
situations.

Principles of Rostelecom’s Code of Ethics:

 » legality;
 » integrity;
 »  openness;
 »  privacy;
 »  engagement.

 
These principles are mandatory for all 
employees of the Company.

Any employee can report violations of 
the Code of Ethics to a dedicated e-mail 
address: ethics@rostelecom.ru.

16  Universal Service obligations is a mechanism commonly used throughout the world to make a minimum set of communications services available to all citizens of a country. 
In Russia, the universal service concept was introduced by Federal Law On Communications, adopted in 2003.
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For more details on Rostelecom’s Anti-
Corruption Policy please visit the Company’s 
website at: www.company.rt.ru/en

Rostelecom has a zero tolerance approach 
to any manifestations of corruption, 
demonstrating its commitment to high 
standards of business conduct and ethics 
in dealings with any and all stakeholders. 
In 2014, the Company introduced an Anti-
Corruption Policy, which set forth the basic 
principles and requirements for compliance 
with anti-corruption regulations by all 
employees, management, members of 
the Management Board and the Audit 
Commission of Rostelecom.

For more details on Rostelecom’s Anti-
Corruption Policy please visit the Company’s 
website at: www.company.rt.ru/en

INVESTING IN SOCIETAL 
DEVELOPMENT

Rostelecom leverages its expert knowledge, 
competencies and skills to improve the 
quality of life for people in Russia, provide 
career guidance to young people, and make 
high-quality services available to all citizens 
through the use of telecommunication 
technology.

The Company employs a range of tools to 
contribute to societal development in Russia

 » OWN SOCIAL PROGRAMMES
Programmes designed and run by 
Rostelecom with optional participation of 
partners; the most prominent example is 
the Digital Equality programme;

 » PARTNERSHIP-BASED PROGRAMMES 
Programmes driven through Rostelecom’s 
partnerships with non-profit and non-
governmental organizations, state-
owned and private companies for joint 
implementation of social initiatives;

 » VOLUNTEER ACTIVITIES 
Rostelecom employees contribute to social 
causes by joining volunteer programmes 
pursued by the Company’s partners;

 » CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES 
Free financial assistance to organisations or 
individuals to address important issues;

 » SPONSORSHIPS 
Fnancial support for causes and initiatives in 
culture, sports, and preservation of cultural 
heritage.

The nationwide Digital Equality programme 
is the most ambitious and important social 
programme pursued by Rostelecom

For more details on the Digital Equality 
programme initiatives see Rostelecom’s 
Sustainability Report 2016 or go to 
the Company’s website at:  
www.company.rt.ru/en.
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Rostelecom maintains its focus on the Long-
Term Personnel Transformation Programme 
spanning the period until 2019. The purpose 
of the programme is to attract and retain 
best talent, create career opportunities, 
provide decent remuneration, recognise 
achievements, foster dialogue with 
managers and develop leadership skills 
in people in management roles. All these 
initiatives boost Rostelecom’s profile as 
the employer of choice, supporting its 
longer-term development goals.

In 2016, the Company adopted new vision, 
mission and corporate values. Combined, 
they formed the pillars of Rostelecom’s 
corporate culture, which is based on 
the principles of partnership for common 
goals, focus on results and operational 
excellence.

To achieve its goal of successful 
transformation into a digital service provider 
and ensure long-term sustainable business 
and shareholder value growth, Rostelecom 
made a number of important decisions to 
enhance its long-term incentive scheme, 
including the introduction of a new corporate 
pension scheme.

Rostelecom sees provision 
of more opportunities for 
the professional realisation of 
its employees as its priority.

RUB million were paid by Rostelecom
as contributions to private pension  
fund in 201617

RUB million were invested by Rostelecom 
in employee training in 2016

17  2016 data. Including contributions to JSC TELECOM SOYUZ NPF and JSC NPF ALLIANCE private pension funds.

INVESTING IN 
EMPLOYEES
Rostelecom employs more than 
140 thousand people, whose expertise, 
ideas, knowledge and skills enable the 
Company to fully unlock its growth potential 
through seizing new opportunities. We are 
confident that a highly professional team 
is a key factor of our sustained success 
and development over the longer term. 
Therefore, Rostelecom is committed to 
building a fully enabling environment for the 
development of professional, personal and 
business skills of its employees.
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Safe working conditions and health of 
employees is a priority on Rostelecom’s 
CSR agenda. The Company pays 
particular attention to compliance with 
all requirements and norms of labour 
law. Rostelecom continuously invests in 
workplace safety and provides employees 
with adequate safety clothing and footwear, 
as well as other personal protective 
equipment, in accordance with the industry 
standards. Rostelecom spares no effort 
to foster a safe work culture and promote 
healthy life-styles across its organisation.

Employee training and development remain 
top of the agenda and are provided both by 
external and in-house experts – based on 
the corporate university’s platform, which 
provides the services of in-house coaches, 
and online, through a corporate distance 
training platform.

RUB million were spent by Rostelecom  
to improve work safety in 2016
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Rostelecom employs know-how both in 
its operations (in upgrades of telecoms 
infrastructure and equipment, and service 
provision) and internally. Rostelecom has 
in place an energy efficiency programme, 
which replaces energy-intensive equipment 
and rolls out automated lighting and heating 
control systems in the Company’s offices. 
Rostelecom also uses green energy (solar 
panels, wind plants, hybrid wind and solar 
power systems and microturbines).

The Company is focused on implementing 
the green office concept, which facilitates 
more efficient use of the Company’s 
resources, minimises waste generation and 
makes use of greener materials.

ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION AND 
ENERGY EFFICIENCY 
Rostelecom seeks to make efficient use 
of natural resources and act responsibly 
towards the environment. The Company 
is committed to fostering environmental 
culture in society, supporting environmental 
education programmes and participating in 
landscaping and urban greening initiatives. 
Reduction of energy consumption and 
deployment of energy efficient technologies 
is a priority for Rostelecom.

In 2015, the Company introduced an 
Environmental Policy, which defined the key 
principles and approaches to managing all 
environmental aspects of the Company’s 
operations and provided a framework 
for planning and implementation of 
environmental protection activities.

RUB million  were spent by Rostelecom
on environmental programmes in 2016
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RISK MANAGEMENT 
ACTORS 
Participants in the risk management 
process include the Board of Directors, 
the Company’s management, business 
units and employees, with responsibilities 
assigned as described below:

 » The Board of Directors is responsible 
for the monitoring of risk management 
performance;

 » The Audit Committee is responsible for 
making recommendations to the Board of 
Directors;

 »  The Company’s management is responsible 
for management of the key corporate 
risks and regular monitoring of the risk 
management system;

 »  Internal Audit performs assessments of 
risk management performance and makes 
recommendations based on the results of 
such assessment.

 »  The Senior Risk Manager and Risk 
Management Unit set up, monitor and 
maintain the risk management system. 
For more details see the Corporate 
Management section;

 » The Company’s Internal Control Unit 
coordinates activities related to building 
the internal control system and maintaining 
its performance;

 » The Company’s business units and 
employees are responsible for risk 
management in line with their duties.

RISK MANAGEMENT  
IN  2016 
In the reporting period, Rostelecom 
continued to improve the processes 
supporting timely prevention of risks and 
mitigation of realised risks. The following 
measures were taken in 2016 to ensure 
effective risk management and improve risk 
management culture:

 » risk management system was implemented 
at major subsidiaries and affiliates; risk 
management framework was enhanced at 
macroregional branches;

 » a system to assess the cost of response 
measures and synchronise them with key 
projects was developed;

 » pilots were implemented to optimise 
performance assessment of response 
measures and develop risk indicator 
dashboard;

 » Risk Management Committees at 
the Headquarters and macroregional 
branches held quarterly in-person 
meetings;

RISK MANAGEMENT 
FRAMEWORK 
In line with the Company’s policy, risk-
focused approach is an integral part 
of business decision making process 
in Rostelecom. Systemic approach to 
risk management ensures sustainable 
development in an uncertain and volatile 
environment. Rostelecom approves its risk 
management programme every year, updates 
risks on a regular basis and monitors 
execution of risk-mitigation plans consistent 
with risk appetites.

The Company’s risk management system 
fully complies with Russian laws with due 
consideration to international standards18. 
The key documents governing risk 
management in Rostelecom are listed below:

 » Risk Management Policy;
 » Regulations on the Integrated Risk 
Management System;

 » Regulations on the Risk Management 
Committee of the Management Board.

18  GOST R ISO 31000:2010 Risk Management. Principles and guidelines, GOST R ISO 31010:  2011 Risk Management. Risk Assessment Methods”, etc.

Risk  
Management
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Subsidiary/Affiliate 
CEO**

Subsidiary/Affiliate 
CFO**

Subsidiary/Affiliate 
Risk Manager***

Headquarters

Macroregional Branch

Senior 
Risk Manager

Board of Directors

Audit CommitteeInternal Audit

Risk 
Management Unit

Risk Manager

  Functional reporting

  Administrative reporting

Macroregional branch 
management

President and 
Management Board

Risk Committee*

Subsidiary/Affiliate 
Board of Directors**

*   The Company’s management participates in the activities of the Risk Committee as risk owners and risk response owners. 
The Committee includes the 11 members of the Risk Management Committee (President, Senior Vice Presidents, Vice Presidents). 
The Risk Management Committee is led by the President of PJSC Rostelecom. 

**   May be different depending on the organisational structure of the subsidiary/affiliate.
*** If applicable.

Dagram 1. Risk management interactions diagram 
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RISK MANAGEMENT 
PLANS 
In 2017, Rostelecom plans to accomplish 
a number of tasks to maintain and further 
enhance its effective risk management 
framework:

 » Development of risk management 
methodology: development of risk 
assessment methodology; optimisation 
of the risk classifier; development of the 
risk indicator dashboard; development of 
a system to assess performance of risk 
response measures;

 » Fostering a risk management culture;
 » Development of the risk management 
framework at the regional and subsidiary/
affiliate level.

1  Regulatory changes

2  Investment risk

3  FX risk

KEY RISKS
 » arrangements for project risk management 
were put in place;

 » risk identification stages were synchronised 
with the budget process;

 » risk management systems were integrated 
with the investment planning process;

 » a process to analyse maturity of the current 
risk management culture was developed;

 » distance training course on Risk 
Management Framework was piloted;

 » classroom training in risk management 
was delivered in the HQ, macroregional 
branches, subsidiaries and affiliates.

 
As a result, in 2016, risk response measures 
were implemented as planned, and risk 
realisation was within the set annual risk 
appetite.
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Dagram 2. Key risk map
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19  This risk was identified in the 2016 Risk Management Programme.
20  This risk was identified in the 2016 Risk Management Programme.

4  B2B segment

5  New, high-growth markets

6  Broadband (B2C)

7  B2G segment

8  Fixed-line (B2C)

9  Industry-specific services and the  
         e-government project

10  M&A19 

11  Lower business margins

12  Real estate20 

Government Relations (a)
Commerce  (b)
Finance (c)
Strategy (d)
Administrative (e)
Technical Infrastructure (f)

Figure 18. Owners of key risks
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2016 ranking Risk description Possible consequences Response measures Manageability in 2016

LEGAL RISKS

1
Regulatory changes 
The Company’s key legal risks are associated with changes in the legal regulation of certain types of services and 
business activities in the telecommunications industry. A substantial part of Rostelecom’s activities is regulated by 
the government authorities (FTS and FAS). Therefore, the Company takes into account risks of unfavourable regulatory 
changes.

Unfavourable regulatory 
changes

 » Monitoring of regulatory changes in the Russian Federation;
 » Interaction with regulatory authorities;
 » Development of mitigating measures.

FINANCIAL RISKS

2
Investment risk 
Rostelecom takes into account risks associated with delayed return on investment. Such risks can be realised due 
to late or defective performance by contractors. The foreign currency component of investment expenses can also 
affect return on investment projects: FX rate fluctuations can increase the costs of materials and, consequently, delay 
the achievement of return targets.

Delayed return on
the Company’s investments

 » Monitoring of investment projects at the implementation and operation stages
 » Import substitution initiatives.

3
FX risk
Rostelecom receives the bulk of its revenues in roubles, while some expenses, liabilities, capital expenditures and 
borrowings are denominated in foreign currencies. FX rate fluctuations may result in downward adjustment of 
the Company’s financial results related to FX settlements and FX-denominated cash.

Lower financial results  » Policy of preferred denomination of equipment and service supply contracts in 
the local currency;

 » Borrowing in accordance with the currency matching principle.

INDUSTRY-SPECIFIC RISKS

4
Revenue risk in the B2B segment
Rostelecom is facing increasing competition in the B2B segment of the Russian telecoms market, which may prevent 
the Company from retaining/growing its market share and customer base and weigh on its operating profits.

Reduced revenue  » Improving the CRM performance, integration with other information systems;
 » Improving the quality of technical customer support;
 » Enhancing service offering in high-grow segments.
 » Customer satisfaction surveys;
 » Monitoring and development of measures to improve customer satisfaction;
 » MVNO.

Table 2. 
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2016 ranking Risk description Possible consequences Response measures Manageability in 2016

LEGAL RISKS

1
Regulatory changes 
The Company’s key legal risks are associated with changes in the legal regulation of certain types of services and 
business activities in the telecommunications industry. A substantial part of Rostelecom’s activities is regulated by 
the government authorities (FTS and FAS). Therefore, the Company takes into account risks of unfavourable regulatory 
changes.

Unfavourable regulatory 
changes

 » Monitoring of regulatory changes in the Russian Federation;
 » Interaction with regulatory authorities;
 » Development of mitigating measures.

FINANCIAL RISKS

2
Investment risk 
Rostelecom takes into account risks associated with delayed return on investment. Such risks can be realised due 
to late or defective performance by contractors. The foreign currency component of investment expenses can also 
affect return on investment projects: FX rate fluctuations can increase the costs of materials and, consequently, delay 
the achievement of return targets.

Delayed return on
the Company’s investments

 » Monitoring of investment projects at the implementation and operation stages
 » Import substitution initiatives.

3
FX risk
Rostelecom receives the bulk of its revenues in roubles, while some expenses, liabilities, capital expenditures and 
borrowings are denominated in foreign currencies. FX rate fluctuations may result in downward adjustment of 
the Company’s financial results related to FX settlements and FX-denominated cash.

Lower financial results  » Policy of preferred denomination of equipment and service supply contracts in 
the local currency;

 » Borrowing in accordance with the currency matching principle.

INDUSTRY-SPECIFIC RISKS

4
Revenue risk in the B2B segment
Rostelecom is facing increasing competition in the B2B segment of the Russian telecoms market, which may prevent 
the Company from retaining/growing its market share and customer base and weigh on its operating profits.

Reduced revenue  » Improving the CRM performance, integration with other information systems;
 » Improving the quality of technical customer support;
 » Enhancing service offering in high-grow segments.
 » Customer satisfaction surveys;
 » Monitoring and development of measures to improve customer satisfaction;
 » MVNO.

High

Medium

Low
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2016 ranking Risk description Possible consequences Response measures Manageability in 2016

5
Revenue risk in new, high-growth markets 
The Company develops and promotes innovative products and services, including IIoT solutions, and geodata, IP VPN, TV, 
and cloud services, etc. Delays in product launches or wrong product focus can result in a failure to achieve targets for 
new services.

Failure to achieve targets  
for new services

 » New service development strategy;
 » The Product Committee and the Department of Venture Products;
 » Optimisation of the business process for new product development and roll-out. 

6

Revenue risk in the B2C Broadband segment
Rostelecom is facing increasing competition in the B2C segment of the Russian Broadband market, which may prevent 
the Company from retaining/growing its market share and customer base and weigh on its operating profits.

Reduced revenue  » Improving the CRM performance, integration with other information systems;
 » Improving the quality of technical customer support;
 » Enhancing service offering in high-grow segments.
 » Customer satisfaction surveys;
 »  Monitoring and development of measures to improve customer satisfaction;
 »  Emergency monitoring;
 »  Projects to improve network quality (bandwidth).

7

Revenue risk in the B2G segment
Rostelecom is facing increasing competition in the B2G segment of the Russian telecoms market, which may prevent 
the Company from retaining/growing its market share and customer base and weigh on its operating profits.

Reduced revenue  » Supervision of contractors;
 » Business process updates;
 »  Post-investment monitoring;
 »  Improved customer service, customer satisfaction surveys and use of discounts. 

8
Revenue risk in the B2C Fixed-Line segment 
Rostelecom is facing increasing competition in the B2C segment of the Russian fixed-line services market, which may 
prevent the Company from retaining/growing its market share and customer base and weigh on its operating profits.

Reduced revenue  » The OTA – Therapy project is underway.

9
Revenue risk in industry-specific services and the e-government project
Rostelecom provides technology support for major nationwide projects and develops new products related to industry-
specific services. Key risk factors include increased competition and substandard quality of contractors’ work.

Reduced revenue  » Implementation of a monitoring system;
 » Performance assessment;
 » Development of technical expertise (technical support for sales).
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2016 ranking Risk description Possible consequences Response measures Manageability in 2016

5
Revenue risk in new, high-growth markets 
The Company develops and promotes innovative products and services, including IIoT solutions, and geodata, IP VPN, TV, 
and cloud services, etc. Delays in product launches or wrong product focus can result in a failure to achieve targets for 
new services.

Failure to achieve targets  
for new services

 » New service development strategy;
 » The Product Committee and the Department of Venture Products;
 » Optimisation of the business process for new product development and roll-out. 

6

Revenue risk in the B2C Broadband segment
Rostelecom is facing increasing competition in the B2C segment of the Russian Broadband market, which may prevent 
the Company from retaining/growing its market share and customer base and weigh on its operating profits.

Reduced revenue  » Improving the CRM performance, integration with other information systems;
 » Improving the quality of technical customer support;
 » Enhancing service offering in high-grow segments.
 » Customer satisfaction surveys;
 »  Monitoring and development of measures to improve customer satisfaction;
 »  Emergency monitoring;
 »  Projects to improve network quality (bandwidth).

7

Revenue risk in the B2G segment
Rostelecom is facing increasing competition in the B2G segment of the Russian telecoms market, which may prevent 
the Company from retaining/growing its market share and customer base and weigh on its operating profits.

Reduced revenue  » Supervision of contractors;
 » Business process updates;
 »  Post-investment monitoring;
 »  Improved customer service, customer satisfaction surveys and use of discounts. 

8
Revenue risk in the B2C Fixed-Line segment 
Rostelecom is facing increasing competition in the B2C segment of the Russian fixed-line services market, which may 
prevent the Company from retaining/growing its market share and customer base and weigh on its operating profits.

Reduced revenue  » The OTA – Therapy project is underway.

9
Revenue risk in industry-specific services and the e-government project
Rostelecom provides technology support for major nationwide projects and develops new products related to industry-
specific services. Key risk factors include increased competition and substandard quality of contractors’ work.

Reduced revenue  » Implementation of a monitoring system;
 » Performance assessment;
 » Development of technical expertise (technical support for sales).

High

Medium

Low
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2016 ranking Risk description Possible consequences Response measures Manageability in 2016

GENERAL CORPORATE RISK

10
Failure to realise expected benefits from mergers and acquisitions
The Company takes into account the risk of failure to realise expected benefits from mergers and acquisitions, including 
failure due to the complexity of new asset integration.

Extra costs and failure to 
capture synergies

 » Planning for post-acquisition integration;
 » Measures to improve control of subsidiaries and affiliates;
 » Development of the risk management function in subsidiaries and affiliates.

11
Lower business margins 
The Company flags the risk of possible reduction of business margins, which can be triggered by changes in 
the business environment.

Lower margins  » Programme to improve operational efficiency and reduce costs.

12
Real property management risks 
The Company owns many real estate assets across its geography. Optimisation measures may lead to availability of 
surplus assets, and maintenance of some property may cause losses. Contraction of the real estate lease/sale market 
may result in unused surplus and non-marketable property.

Failure to realise expected 
benefits from lease or 
disposal of real estate assets

 » Flexible pricing policy;
 » Audit of service spaces;
 »  Vacating spaces in accordance with the access network upgrade programme.
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2016 ranking Risk description Possible consequences Response measures Manageability in 2016

GENERAL CORPORATE RISK

10
Failure to realise expected benefits from mergers and acquisitions
The Company takes into account the risk of failure to realise expected benefits from mergers and acquisitions, including 
failure due to the complexity of new asset integration.

Extra costs and failure to 
capture synergies

 » Planning for post-acquisition integration;
 » Measures to improve control of subsidiaries and affiliates;
 » Development of the risk management function in subsidiaries and affiliates.

11
Lower business margins 
The Company flags the risk of possible reduction of business margins, which can be triggered by changes in 
the business environment.

Lower margins  » Programme to improve operational efficiency and reduce costs.

12
Real property management risks 
The Company owns many real estate assets across its geography. Optimisation measures may lead to availability of 
surplus assets, and maintenance of some property may cause losses. Contraction of the real estate lease/sale market 
may result in unused surplus and non-marketable property.

Failure to realise expected 
benefits from lease or 
disposal of real estate assets

 » Flexible pricing policy;
 » Audit of service spaces;
 »  Vacating spaces in accordance with the access network upgrade programme.

High

Medium

Low
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We are the indisputable leader in most of our markets, 
consistently strengthening our competitive edge

60   PJSC ROSTELECOM  Annual report 2016
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21  Report by the Board of Directors of the Joint-Stock Company on the Results of the Company’s Development in Priority Business Areas.
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The growth in our core B2B/G business, achieved for the first time over the last three years, was our key achievement of 
2016.The negative trend was reversed, and the Company was able to offset dwindling revenues from its core services by 
offering new services and products and eventually post a 2.5% revenue growth in B2B/G.

Our bet on digitalisation has finally started to pay off. We see rising demand for our services in the market and are 
gradually diversifying away from commodity services into higher value products. E.g., while our data centres once meant 
collocation only, today we are also offering virtual data centres and SaaS and other cloud-based services. This is a solid 
step towards tapping a market with a huge growth potential.

In B2C, for us, the launch of mobile MVNO together with Tele2 is clearly the main highlight of 2016. For Rostelecom, 
this was an important move towards convergence. The project was fully launched in Q4 2016 and has shown good 
performance on customer lifetime value measures. We believe this to be a strong foothold for 2017. Importantly, 
the MVNO launch was also a major development for B2B, since it opened up further opportunities for upselling mobile 
services to existing customers as part of our bundled offer.

I am confident that customised service bundles are the right solution to address churn going forward. Today, both 
international and Russian experience suggest that price is no longer the key determining factor in consumer choice, 
but value of the service is! It was IPTV, which grew almost 40% in 2016 by revenue that served as a kind of “bonding 
agent” around which all other services were bundled to form an offer which is ultimately a great value proposition 
for a customer. In B2O, we have tapped new niches, e.g. third-party network maintenance services. With our staff 
at full strength and our solid competencies, we won a number of B2O tenders for such services in 2016, and we are 
determined to take this success further in 2017. To deliver these services, we not only need to re-engineer our internal 
business processes, we need to change our mindset.

We have ambitious plans for 2017 as we believe we will be able to maintain the positive trend in the B2B segment, which 
will remain the key driver of change for the Company. Information security will be our particular focus in 2017. We have 
started selling this service as not only major federal-level customers but also medium-sized businesses now come 
under threat from cyber-attacks. Customers understand that their databases are now a particularly tempting target 
for malicious users, and that threats to their businesses are going digital, too. This has prompted Rostelecom to start 
offering a full range of security services from DDOS-attack defences to more comprehensive solutions.

Our goal is to shift from sales of specific services to a customer to provision of fully integrated solutions backed by 
a bespoke SLA. We aim to build an ecosystem around our customers in which internet connection and other services we 
provide become fully accessible and easy to use.

Vladimir Kirienko, 
Senior Vice President for Business Development and Management
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BROADBAND 

The Company has retained its leadership 
in the Russian broadband market. In 2016, 
Rostelecom was able to consolidate its 
leading positions in this key segment. In 2016, 
our total fixed broadband base grew 6% 
year-on-year from 11.6 million to 12.3 million 
subscribers. Our fibre broadband base 
increased 17% from 6.3 million to 7.4 million 
subscribers, while their ARPU was also up 
from RUB 415 to RUB 421. As at the end of 
2016, the Company’s share in the broadband 
market (B2C) rose to 38% (from 37% in 2015).

As at the end of 2016, Rostelecom’s share in 
gross broadband additions was over 50%23.

To expand the subscriber base and increase 
ARPU, in 2016, we made a series of federal 
special offers of high-speed Internet 
service, as well as Double and Triple Play 
service bundles, which helped us increase 
household penetration. We continued 
upselling the existing base to boost revenue 
from our Home Internet product and 
increase subscriber loyalty.

Digital and  
Content Services

Source: TMT-Consulting.

Figure 20. Changes in the fibre broadband 
                      ARPU in 2015–2016, RUB

20162015

421
415

22  Q3 2016 estimates by TMT Consulting; Company data. Operators No. 2 by revenue share: ER-Telecom for B2C broadband.
23  Company data; estimates by TMT Consulting.

Figure 21. Share of B2C broadband by  
                     revenue in 2016, %

Player No. 222Rostelecom

9.4

37.8

Figure 19. Changes in the fixed broadband  
                     base in 2015–2016,  
                     million subscribers 

20162015

12.3

7.4

Total fixed  
broadband

Fibre

11.6

6.3
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KhabarovskKrasnodar

StavropolSochi

Nizhny 
Novgorod

Moscow I

PAY TV DATA CENTRES

In 2016, our total pay TV base grew 8% 
year-on-year to 9.3 million households. 
The IPTV base rose 24% year-on-year to 
4.2 million, while its ARPU also went up from 
RUB 251 to RUB 279. As at the end of 2016, 
the Company’s share in the Pay TV market 
rose to 31% (in 2015: to 29%).

To boost income from our Interactive TV 
service, we ran a number of campaigns 
to demonstrate the greater value offered 
by interactive TV, which will eventually 
encourage demand for the service. Income 
from VoD rose 32% year-on-year to 
RUB 1 billion. Revenue from the Freeview 
function or Network Personal Video Recoder 
rose by RUB 670 million, while the share of 
IPTV subscribers who use this service grew 
almost 1.5x year-on-year to 58%.

As at the end of 2016, Rostelecom’s share in 
pay TV net additions came at c. 50%25.

In 2016, in line with its strategy to 
consolidate its fragmented assets and 
develop of a single data centre network 
so as to actively promote advanced cloud-
based and B2B/G solutions (including 
e-government services), Rostelecom set 
up a single centre of competence on cloud-
based technologies, data centres and 
associated services, RTC – Data Center 
LLC (RTC–DC LLC).

RTC–DC LLC focuses on developing:

 » Data centre infrastructure and services;
 »  A proprietary cloud-based open source 
platform;

 »  Traffic sharing and content delivery (CDN) 
services.

 
As at the end of 2016, the company has 
14 data centres located in Khabarovsk, 
Novosibirsk, Yekaterinburg, Kazan, 
Kaliningrad, Stavropol, Krasnodar, Ryazan, 
Sochi, and Moscow. With a 88% share of 
the total market capacity, Rostelecom’s data 
centres outperformed all major operators in 
the market.

Figure 22. Changes in the Pay TV base 
in 2015–2016, million

20162015

9.3

4.2

Total Pay TV

IPTV

8.6

3.4

Figure 23. Changes in IPTV ARPU
in 2015–2016, RUB

20162015

279

251

24  Q3 2016 estimates by TMT Consulting; Company data. Operators No. 2 by revenue share: Tricolor TV for Pay TV and VimpelCom for IPTV.
25  Company data; estimates by TMT Consulting.

Figure 24. Share of pay TV and IPTV by  
                      revenue in 2016, %

Player No. 224Rostelecom

18.4
31.3

Pay TV
IPTV

69.3

16.0

Source: TMT-Consulting.
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Moscow II
 MMTS-10

 MMTS-9

Kaliningrad Saint Petersburg

Moscow

Ryazan
Kazan

Yekaterinburg

Chelyabinsk
Ufa

Novosibirsk

KhabarovskKrasnodar

StavropolSochi

Nizhny 
Novgorod

Moscow I

Total amount in 
Rostelecom’s data centers

RACKS 
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By consolidating its data centre resources, 
at the end of 2016, Rostelecom gained 
the lead in the data centre market, while 
its distributed data centre network became 
the country’s largest. In 2016, the number of 
the Company’s racks in data centres grew 
6% to 4,130, with Rostelecom gaining a 14% 
share of the Russian data centre market.

 » In 2016, the Company started 
the construction of the Moscow III data 
centre, with a design capacity of 900 racks. 
The Moscow III data centre is expected to be 
commissioned in 2017.

 » The Company is building a distributed 
network of regional data centres, 
including facilities to be commissioned 
in Saint Petersburg, Yekaterinburg, 
Novosibirsk, Nizhny Novgorod, and 
Khabarovsk.

In 2016, the Company embarked on a plan to 
build a disaster-proof distributed network of 
regional data centres.

Figure 25. Russian market of commercial
data centres from 2013 to 2016, 
RUB bn

Sources: iKS-Consulting, TAdviser
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Figure 26. Rostelecom’s data centre
racks in 2013–2016

Sources: iKS-Consulting, TAdviser
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Rostelecom offers its data centre customers 
a broad range of services, including both 
classic collocation products, and advanced 
cloud-based services. Rostelecom 
guarantees high security of data centres at 
the physical and informational levels.

Rostelecom’s technology platform and its 
programme for building a distributed data 
centre network fully match the Company’s 
strategy seeking to consolidate its 
leadership in the data centre market to ramp 
up its income from cloud-based and other 
services in the B2B/B2G segment. They will 
also help us build the technology component 
of a shared infrastructure that will enhance 
IT systems of government authorities and 
strategically important enterprises.

To meet the growing demand and 
consolidate its competitive positions 
in the data centre market, Rostelecom 
is planning to expand its capacity by 
constructing a number of ambitious data 
centre projects.

 » E.g. Rostelecom and Rosenergoatom 
have joined their forces to construct 
a data centre with a design capacity of 
4.8 thousand racks in the town of Udomlya, 
near the Kalininskaya NPP. This project will 
become Russia’s largest data centre and 
one of the biggest data centres in Europe. 
The Udomlya project will serve as the 
backbone data centre within the technology 
component of the shared e-government 
infrastructure. The first stage of the 
Kalininskaya NPP data centre is scheduled 
to be commissioned in Q4 2017, and 
the second stage, in Q4 2018.

Rostelecom (a)
DataLine (b)
Other (c)

Figure 27. Data centre market by rack 
numbers in 2016, %

a

b

c

a
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GEODATA
In 2016, Rostelecom launched an integrated 
geographic information product, Geodata 
Information System (RusGIS), and adopted 
a strategy to develop a geoanalytical cloud-
based platform.

RusGIS is a proprietary solution of 
Rostelecom. This application based on 
freeware and Russian solutions enables 
quick development of analytical and 
geographic information services. RusGIS 
operates via Rostelecom’s National Cloud 
Platform.

The service offered by RusGIS includes 
the necessary sets of geodata, regular 
updates and data processing and analysis 
services.

The integrated geodata-based services are 
designed mainly for corporate customers 
(federal and municipal) and comprise GIS, 
GLONASS-based navigational tools and 
geodata-based services. The main purpose 
of these services is to provide informational 
support to various management decisions 
through full customisation to the customer’s 
needs.

CLOUD SERVICES
 
Rostelecom is among those who have 
pioneered the Russian market of cloud-
based services. For several years, 
Rostelecom has been offering its customers 
access to a number of cloud-based SaaS, 
PaaS, and IaaS services via the National 
Cloud Platform.

They include New Telephony (cloud 
PBX), Virtual Office (based on Microsoft 
products), WEB-videoconference, Customer 
Relationship Management, My Warehouse 
and 1S Application.

Rostelecom also offers TIONIX Cloud 
Platform, a secure Russian cloud-based 
platform built on the OpenStack open source 
software, as well as such service as cloud-
based infrastructure and hardware control 
(CloudControl, NodeControl), design and 
construction of customisable operator-
hosted virtual data centres (VDC) and Virtual 
Desktop Infrastructure (VDI).

The cloud-based TIONIX platform enables 
government authorities and corporate 
customers to provide their services via 
Russian-made virtualisation and information 
security tools and at lower costs and risks by 
excluding FX-denominated licence fees.

Among key projects completed in 2016 as 
part of promoting the RusGIS platform, 
Rostelecom:

 » developed integrated regional-level 
industry-specific solutions to automate 
the management of property and forestry 
assets, and transportation infrastructure;

 » developed integration services and 
database frameworks to retrieve data from 
federal information systems, in particular, 
the Federal Service for State Registration, 
Cadastre and Cartography and the Federal 
Tax Service of Russia, and enter it in RusGIS;

 » developed mechanisms to analyse 
information from federal and departmental 
systems so as to improve property tax 
collection rates and identify unallocated 
lands for commercialisation;

 » changed the user interface design of RusGIS 
to streamline user experience of the system.

 
RusGIS has strong outlooks in agriculture, 
environment and environmental 
management, construction and public 
utilities, as well as culture and tourism. 
RusGIS will also be integrated with 
healthcare, education and urban security 
solutions.
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companies, and process equipment 
manufacturers and owners. For these 
projects, we choose the most effective 
segments to achieve meaningful business 
performance.

In line with the approach applied by 
Industrial Internet Consortium (IIC), 
of which Rostelecom is a member, we 
implement pilot projects in such sectors 
as transportation, electric utilities, 
oil production and machine building. 
The Industrial Internet of Things (IIoT) 
platform currently under development by 
Rostelecom will create a positive network 
effect in promoting digital services and 
solutions among end users by providing 
the necessary data protection and flexible 
use of applications. It can also serve as an 
alternative to services offered by foreign 
vendors.

The strategic partnership agreement to 
implement the Industrial Internet of Things 
and other innovative technologies signed 
between Gazprom Neft and Rostelecom in 
2016 is an example of mutually beneficial 
relationships in the area. The agreement 
focuses on building strong long-term 
relationships between the companies and 
designing new business models, while 
jointly developing and rolling out innovative 
IT solutions. Among other key areas, 
the agreement places a particular emphasis 
on IIoT programmes, events, and research 
and applied projects.  

INDUSTRIAL 
INTERNET OF THINGS
Rostelecom’s strategic goal in the IIoT 
market is to become the first Russian 
platform player who supports the IIoT 
market by offering new digital services via 
a proprietary IT infrastructure platform, 
while designing single-industry and cross-
industry business processes. In 2017, 
the Company is planning to design 
a proprietary platform with an array of 
basic functions to offer customers design 
solutions and services, including in line with 
Industry 4.0 cloud-based principles.

Key groups of products planned to be 
launched in the short term include:

 » monitoring of the status of hard-to-access 
process facilities on a remote basis;

 » forecasting the status of high-tech devices 
based on telematics analytics;

 » maintaining digital twins (data models) of 
devices and updating process stakeholders 
on changes, including under life cycle 
contracts;

 » organising LPWAN access networks for 
connected facilities.

 
Rostelecom is currently implementing 
pilot projects that take form of project 
consortiums, which include applications 
developers, manufacturers of data 
controllers and concentrators, service 

E.g. Rostelecom is currently working on 
building an IIoT platform, which Gazprom 
Neft can help adapt to existing and 
future business processes and industrial 
applications of the Company.

MEDIA
Digital TV, a joint venture of Rostelecom and 
VGTRK, is the top player in the thematic TV 
market by audience share: the company’s 
projects account for c. 30% among Russian 
viewers who watch off-air channels every 
day on average.

In 2016, Digital TV channels consolidated 
their leading positions.

Three channels have started HD 
broadcasting while all principal channels 
adopted stereo sound and 16:9 widescreen 
format. In 2016, the Company started 
making profit on mobile apps, including on 
children games. Be-be-bears, a learning 
game inspired by the cartoon series of 
the same name, was ranked among Top 10 
iPad apps in 2016 by AppStore (1.6 million 
downloads), while Papertales made it to 
AppStore’s top 100 children apps across 
48 countries (1.7 million downloads). 
During the year, we fully launched CT 
Premiera SVOD-service, already subscribed 
or agreed to be subscribed by most top 
Russian providers. The Moolt mobile app 
was downloaded one million times, with 
Smart Moolt app already in the pipeline.
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Digital TV is expected to be highly profitable 
in the international market. In May 2016, 
the Company signed a memorandum with 
Chinese LeEco conglomerate to promote 
Russian media content in the Chinese 
market, and entered into contracts for 
content delivery to the markets of India, 
South Korea, Armenia and Estonia. 
As at the end of 2016, negotiations on 
contracts for content delivery to Bulgaria, 
Hungary, Poland, UK, Israel, and Ukraine 
were still underway.

For the first time ever, Russian cartoon 
series Be-be-bears and Fantasy Patrol have 
made it to the world’s 30 most popular TV 
projects for children according to MIPJunior 
TV market screenings.

Russia’s first VR consortium, joined by 
JSC Digital TV, was created in September 
2016. The consortium will work out 
technology standards for virtual reality 

VIDEO SURVEILLANCE
With its expertise and experience, unique 
for Russia, the Company is well positioned 
to implement remote online or offline 
video streaming projects of any complexity. 
In 2016, Rostelecom organised video 
surveillance at locations where the Unified 
State Exam (USE) was held, and at polling 
stations during the elections to the Russian 
State Duma.

In 2016, the USE video surveillance project 
covered 85 Russian regions, including 
installation of 17,371 cameras as well as 
45,658 online and 4,706 offline computer 
systems. Over 93% of equipment was used 
online. The overall amount of broadcasts 
exceeded 2.2 million hours, with more 
than 46 thousand calls received, including 
5.5 thousand hotline calls. The availability 
rate of video streams on the web-site was 
99.99%, while the number of users totalled 
5,660.

To organise video surveillance for 
the elections to the State Duma in 2016, 
the Company equipped 11,665 district 
polling stations in 16 regions with more 
than 23 thousand cameras, including 84% 
streaming live.

Figure 28. Changes in the Digital TV  
                      subscriber base in 2014–2016,  
                      thousand

20152014 2016
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projects and promote the VR technology 
market in Russia. In 2017, Rostelecom’s 
Digital TV group seeks to build up and 
expand its positions in the Russian digital 
market, and go international with its content.

In the medium-term, Digital TV is planning 
to rely on new segments and markets as key 
income growth drivers while retaining such 
sources as subscription fees and ad sales.
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26  CAMI stands for Central Archive of Medical Images.

Figure 28. CAMI.Teleradiology in 2015–2020,  
                      number of Russian regions
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HEALTHCARE 
PLATFORM
By the end of 2018, all Russian residents 
registered in the mandatory medical 
insurance system will have electronic health 
records. In 2016, Rostelecom successfully 
implemented its programme to service 
the Regional Segment of the Unified State 
Healthcare Information System (RS– EGISZ) 
and acquired the CAMI.Teleradiology 
telemedicine system26.

As at the end of 2016, 18 out of 85 Russian 
regions started using RS–EGISZ. The system 
covers over 1.5 thousand municipalities 
and has over 60 thousand active users. 
Over 50 million medical cases have been 
processed via Rostelecom’s infrastructure.

CAMI.Teleradiology was adopted by seven, 
and is piloted in another five, Russian 
regions. Over 1.8 million diagnostic images 
have been collected.

As part of the project, the Company 
is planning to increase the number of 
connected regions and income from this 
segment by 2020.

The Company is planning to expand its 
Russian presence, and enter international 
markets, offer private healthcare services 
and platforms for remote consultations, 
launch personalised patient monitoring 
and create a doctor – patient platform. 
Rostelecom’s objective is to dominate 
the healthcare digital services market.

BIOMETRIC 
PLATFORM
In 2016, Rostelecom started building 
the National Biometric Platform (NBP), 
a system aimed at electronic identification, 
authentication (including voice and 
biometric) and signing of electronic 
documents for legally binding actions. 
The NBP is a part of the e-government 
infrastructure.

The objective of the NBP is to set up and 
take the lead in the market for remote 
personal identification. The project provides 
for building a biometric infrastructure, 
involvement in working out the necessary 
regulatory framework and standards, 
and developing an economic model for 
the remote identification market.

Rostelecom estimates that the NBP market 
will rapidly grow to reach c. RUB 7 billion by 
2021, mainly driven by the banking sector 
and e-commerce.
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CYBER SECURITY 
 Being the largest backbone operator, 
the Company provides a very important 
service of traffic monitoring and protection 
against DDoS attacks. DDoS-attacks are 
one of the most widespread ways to disrupt 
the operation of websites and online services. 
Our online facilities involved in projects 
of such scale as USE or the Direct Line 
with the Russian President, are tested on 
an annual basis for their ability to sustain 
such attacks. Our traffic monitoring facilities 
and DDoS defences successfully handle 
more than 15 computer incidents a day. 
Rostelecom supports efforts to address 
national-scale issues through involvement 
in the implementation of the national 
information security strategy. The Company’s 
services are also in high demand in the B2B 
market (we provide protection for platforms 
hosting game servers, bank resources, 
registrars, and TV channels such as VGTRK 
(All-Russian State Television and Radio 
Broadcasting Company)).
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The Company continues to actively offer 
its subscribers tariff options for domestic 
long-distance, intra-zone and international 
long-distance telephony services that allow 
subscribers to save significantly on domestic 
long-distance and intra-zone calls:

 » Free Within Network 2016 option;
 » My Favourite DLD option;
 » Call International option.

COMMUNICATIONS 
SERVICES FOR 
RUSSIAN AND 
INTERNATIONAL 
OPERATORS
Rostelecom is leading the market in terms 
of traffic volumes, network length and 
throughput capacity of its infrastructure. 
Rostelecom has over 22 cable cross-border 
passages with operators in the neighbouring 
states and direct cross-border gateway 
to networks of more than 151 operators 
in 50 countries. The Company provides 
communications services to more than 
2,500 fixed-line and mobile telephony 
operators, Internet and content providers. 
Rostelecom’s subscribers make over 
150 million calls every month.

FIXED-LINE  
TELEPHONY

As a unique telecom operator, Rostelecom 
keeps in its portfolio the fixed-line telephony 
service to be able to offer a full range of 
telecommunication services and options so 
as to retain existing and add new customers.

Local, intra-zone, DLD and ILD 
communications are traditional for 
the Company, and make up a considerable 
share of its business. In 2016, Rostelecom 
added new products to its telephony product 
mix.

 » The Unlimited Russia is the first tariff plan 
that includes an unlimited number of calls 
of any duration to any fixed-line numbers in 
Russia. Over 139 thousand users subscribed 
to this tariff plan from April to December 
2016.

 » The Unlimited Kazakhstan option is a joint 
product of Rostelecom and Kazakhtelecom. 
The option offers up to 200 minutes of 
calls per day to fixed-line numbers in 
Kazakhstan for a flat monthly charge, with 
no upcharging. The option covers four 
Macroregional Branches: Siberia, Ural, 
Volga, and South. Over 12 thousand users 
subscribed to the option from late May to 
December 2016 when it was available.

Traditional  
Services

TRANSIT EUROPE – ASIA

OPERATORS  IN

COUNTRIES

DIRECT CROSS-BORDER  
GATEWAY TO NETWORKS OF 
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The Company fully utilises 1 Tbps of transit 
channels. Key focus areas are the Transit 
Europe – Asia (TEA project) route, which 
connects Japan and China to Europe, and 
the interstate transit project between Central 
Asia, South Caucasus, the Middle East 
and Europe via North – South and EGEG 
(Europe Persia Express Gateway) transit 
routes. Over the past five years, the market 
share of Rostelecom on such global transit 
routes has more than tripled to reach 15%, 
with the Company’s Transit Europe – Asia 
accounting for about 70% of the market 
among all relevant terrestrial routes.

With a 47% share in 2016, Rostelecom 
maintained its leadership across the Russian 
market of leased dedicated digital lines. 
These services are mainly used by major 
corporate national and international 
telecoms operators. 2016 highlights include 
the completion of the Sakhalin – Kamchatka – 
Magadan fibre-optic communications line 
(FOCL).
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In 2016, Rostelecom continued to provide 
maintenance and emergency recovery 
operations on communications lines of third-
party operators. Since transmission routes 
of Rostelecom and operators often overlap, 
the Company can maintain its own and its 
customer networks with no substantial 
increase in headcount. In 2016, drawing 
on its own human resources and technical 
capabilities, the Company increased its 
maintenance and emergency recovery 
services, while revenue from the project rose 
to RUB 500 million. Today, the project covers 
13 Volga regions and involves all major 
telecoms operators.

In 2016, while expanding its business, 
Rostelecom gave special priority to 
the development of data transfer and 
telematics, including Internet access 
services, private virtual networks, and data 
centres. As a consequence, IP transit and IP 
VPN market shares came at 31% and 47%, 
respectively.Rostelecom offers a unique 
resource – an extensive network of cable line 
and other infrastructure facilities, which can 
be used to expand the Company’s presence, 
but also can be offered to third-party 
operators for active use.

of the dedicated  
digital line market

RUB million 
repair services provided to  
third-party operators
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In the B2B and B2G markets, the Company 
offers its major corporate accounts 
integrated customised bundles combining 
core and mobile services. For small- and 
medium-sized businesses, we are planning 
to launch easy-to-use out-of-the-box 
solutions for different staff sizes. Rostelecom 
is also planning to set up an M2M platform 
to provide relevant services to companies 
from various industries. The service will 
be offered in 65 Russian regions, including 
61 regions that have in place 3G/4G networks. 
As at the end of February 2017, the operator 
sold c. 200 thousand SIM-cards and is 
planning to achieve penetration for this 
service at 15% of the fixed-line subscriber 
base by 2020.

MOBILE SERVICES
MVNO

Bundled offers have become so popular 
among Rostelecom’s subscribers that they 
already account for 70% in gross additions. 
As at the end of 2016, the Company took 
another step to develop this segment by 
launching 4Play (four services from one 
operator). Rostelecom, jointly with Tele2, now 
offers its core subscribers mobile services 
as an additional service. The Company offers 
solutions for all communications tasks 
both at home and at work, or elsewhere, 
having become an integrated provider of 
communications services for B2C and 
B2B/B2G segments, by offering fixed-line 
telephony, high-speed Internet-access 
services, TV, and mobile services, and 
rendering many add-on services in a single 
bundle.

In the B2C market, the Company is planning 
to introduce a single account for fixed-line 
and mobile services in 2017 by developing 
full-scale 4Play bundles. The Company will 
promote family tariff plans and solutions 
that combine home and mobile internet. 
We will also launch a single internet bundle 
for several mobile devices, and start selling 
customer premises equipment, including 
with pre-installed mobile applications 
(Interactive TV, Government Services, 
My Rostelecom).

thousand SIM-cards sold 
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TELE2

In 2016, Tele2 adopted an updated 
development strategy until 2021. According to 
the strategy, the company seeks to become 
the preferred mobile operator of choice 
for those who are not willing to overpay. 
The company is providing an alternative to 
existing market practices by offering new life 
experience to mobile consumers: honest, 
transparent, and attractive offers and high-
quality partner programmes and services.

Key achievements of Tele2 in 2016:

 » The company became No. 3 by subscriber 
base in the regions, in which it operates;

 » The company achieved the highest Net 
Promoter Score (NPS) among telecoms 
operators present in the market – 35% 
(VimpelCom has 28%, MTS has 25%, and 
MegaFon has 23%);

 » In terms of consideration rates, Tele2 
ranked second with its 32% (MTS has 34%, 
MegaFon has 27%, VimpelCom has 27%);

 » Stronger performance: the Company’s 
headcount was reduced by 7.8%, revenue 
per employee increased by 21.4%, while 
subscribers per employee grew 13.4%.

In terms of base stations, Tele2 ranked third 
among operators, with a total number of 
base stations exceeding 96,000 stations. 
2G coverage was 95% of the population, and 
3G accounted for 88.2%.

In 2016, Tele2 became No. 1 in the market 
by subscriber base and income growth 
rates, with its revenue up by 12%. To a great 
extent, this growth was driven by Tele’s entry 
to the market of Moscow and the Moscow 
Region. 3G and 4G networks constructed 
across different regions also supported the 
Company’s strong growth.

Figure 29. Russian mobile market  
                     in 2016 by number of  
                     subscribers, %

a

b
c

d

e

MTS (a)
VimpelCom (b)
MegaFon (с)
Tele2 (d)
Other (f)

31%
23%
30%
15%

1%

Source: AC&M Consulting
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Most enquiries are resolved at first call (FCR of 
c. 93%).

In 2016, the number of calls handled by 
Interactive Voice Response (IVR) increased by 
4.4% on average to reach 26.9%.

In 2H 2016, there was a substantial increase 
in the number of online and mobile customer 
account (OCA/MCA) users and in OCA/MCA 
usage.

Customer Satisfaction Index (CSI) based on 
office services remains high. In 2016, we 
introduced consultant positions, arranged 
self-service areas and tweaked office hours to 
improve availability. The average waiting time 
was reduced by 1.5x.

In 2016, we launched an online chat customer 
service built into OCA and MCA, as well as 
Telegram and Viber messengers. 85% of those 
customers who assessed chat service quality 
gave it high scores: from 4 to 5 on a five-point 
scale.

 

CUSTOMER SERVICE

The Company places a particular emphasis 
on improving its customer service across 
all customer segments and on introducing 
best service practices, including easy-
to-use online services. Our key focus 
areas include better customer experience 
with the Company’s services and higher 
Net Promoter Score (NPS).

2016 saw a year-on-year increase in 
the contact rate27.

Figure 30. Contact rate, 2015–2016, %

2016

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2015

12.32 10.81 10.33 11.7811.05 9.77 10.62 11.38

Figure 31. Usage of online and mobile
customer accounts in 2016,  
million operations

Q2 2016 Q3 2016 Q4 2016Q1 2016

5.4

4.2

10.5

25.1
61.7

154.7

Number of 
operations  
via OCA

Number of 
operations  
via MCA

5.7
27.9

27  The ratio of calls received by the call centre operator during the reporting period to the subscriber base (only for service enquiries, not sales).

Operational  
Excellence

Figure 32. Number of applications and  
                      enquiries via OCA and MCA  
                      in 2016, thousand

Q2 2016 Q3 2016 Q4 2016Q1 2016

17
74

117

155 165 161

Number 
of offline 
applications 
in OCA/MCA

Number of 
enquiries via 
OCA/MCA 
Online Chat

14

205
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B2B TRANSFORMATION

 » For the first time in several years, 
Rostelecom was able to reverse the revenue 
decline in the B2B segment and achieve 
a 2.5% growth. 
 
By adjusting our product mix, we were 
able to double the В2В/B2G product 
portfolio and triple our revenue from new 
products. During the year, our broadband 
base rose 3% (against a 5% drop in 2015) 
driven by a programme for migration to, 
and active promotion of, fibre in the real 
estate portfolio. Our predictive analysis and 
a churn prevention system helped us reduce 
churn in our broadband base by 25%.

B2O TRANSFORMATION

 » By changing the terms of partnerships with 
large telecoms operators, the B2O unit was 
able to boost our gross margin by more than 
RUB 100 million.

 »  By legalising installation of third-
party communications lines in its cable 
infrastructure, Rostelecom gained 
RUB 283 million of additional income.

 »  Revenue from cable infrastructure 
maintenance services came at 
c. RUB 100 million.

DEVELOPING AND UPGRADING 
NETWORKS AND ENHANCING 
PERFORMANCE IN CERTAIN GEOGRAPHIC 
SEGMENTS

 » Rostelecom applies an integrated approach 
to the construction of fibre networks in 
the private development sector. In 2016, 
the Company built 167 facilities in 
40 regional branches. The total length 
of fibre-optic communications lines 
constructed during the year exceeded 
2,000 km, covering 70,000 households.

 » As a result of measures taken under 
the Rural Communications 2.0 project in 
2016, our broadband and TV income grew 
by RUB 930 million, and our rural costs 
declined by c. RUB 400 million year-on-year.

TRANSFORMATION
The Company made considerable progress 
in transforming its business into a digital 
provider. We are transforming our business 
by completely redesigning our business 
processes via special programmes to 
enhance our corporate performance and 
upgrade the corporate culture. Our major 
advances in this area in 2016 are listed below 
by key segment.

B2С TRANSFORMATION

 » In 2016, Rostelecom was able to reverse 
the churn growth trend, which had been 
there for years, among ourfixed-line 
subscribers by pursuing the Voice 2.0 
project (a 0.7 p.p. reduction in churn year-
on-year)

 » As part of service centre network reforms, 
we shut down inefficient service centres to 
save more than RUB 550 million.

 » The infrastructure of the Company’s Unified 
Call Centre was completed in 2016, which 
enabled us to improve customer experience 
while reducing costs.

RUB million
effect from
optimisation of retail costs

revenue growth in B2B/G segment
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Enhanced staff motivation 
and satisfaction

Better customer 
experience

Ability to deliver prompt 
and flexible response 

to market changes

Higher business 
performance and 

margins

Increased labour 
productivity

NPS in broadband / 
pay TV

Time 
to market

Increased labour 
productivity

Key principles

Key objectives

Table 3. 

KPI Unit 2016 2017E

Repeated enquiries to Level 2 Technical 
Support (Remote Service and Technical 
Support Group)

% 12.1 10

Repeated enquiries to Level 3 Technical 
Support % 9.1 8

Lower technical support cost per 
subscriber % - 20

PRODUCTION SYSTEM

Rostelecom keeps improving its production 
system. Nine lean laboratories were set up 
in regional branches as platforms to explore 
solutions that would streamline and improve 
business processes, with teams trained on 
RPS (Rostelecom Production System) tools. 
An RPS training programme was also put in 
place for top managers from Macroregional 
Branches. Based on solutions identified by 
these laboratories, we have started designing 
a first package of standards for roll-out across 
the Company.

In order to improve our technical support 
services, we piloted an Orion project in 
certain regions. The project has identified 
676 defects in business processes, completed 
89 optimisation tasks, and remedied 
166 defects. 158 tasks are still pending, and 
their completion will allow to eliminate another 
291 defects.  

Our accomplishments as at the end of 2016 
considerably improved KPIs of our units and 
increased user loyalty.

In order to streamline its retail network 
processes, the Company is implementing 
its Rostelecom Production System in 
Rostelecom – Retail Systems project 
(RPS in RRS). As part of the project, we 
identified 187 defects, including 30 defects 
that were remedied through completion of 
13 optimisation tasks. Another 12 tasks are still 
in progress, and their completion will remedy 
another 14 defects.

As at the end of 2016, the average customer 
service time decreased by 24% and the churn 
rate by 50%, while labour productivity grew 
14%.

The overall project effect includes improved 
service quality due to minimised customer 
contacts, reduced queues and average routine 
service time reduced by 20%. Payroll expenses 
will be down by 8%.
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BY SOLVING THE PROJECT’S TASKS, WE IMPROVED KPIS OF LEAN 
LABORATORIES IN ROSTOV-ON-DON

IMPROVEMENTS IN KPIS OF LEAN LABORATORIES 
BROUGHT ON 

50 % DECREASE IN THE CHURN 
RATE

24 % A DECREASE IN THE AVERAGE 
SERVICE TIME

14 % AN INCREASE IN LABOUR 
PRODUCTIVITY (OPERATIONS  
PER EMPLOYEE)

10 % IMPROVEMENTS IN 
CONVERSION OF IPTV SALES 
INTO BROADBAND

3.8  thousand
MAN-HOURS 
RELEASED

EXAMPLE OF A TASK COMPLETED IN 2016
EXAMPLE OF REDUCTION OF THE END-TO-END TROUBLESHOOTING TIMEFRAME AT LEVEL 
3 TECHNICAL SUPPORT BY A LEAN LABORATORY IN VELIKY NOVGOROD

EXAMPLE OF A TASK COMPLETED IN 2016
CUSTOMER SERVICE TIME AND G&A EXPENSES REDUCED BY THE LEAN LABORATORY 
IN ROSTOV-ON-DONУ

ORION PROJECT RESULTS

ISSUE: 
Level 3 Technical 
Support (STSS No. 1 
and STSS No. 2) had 
several responsibility 
zones separated based 
on the service delivery 
technology. 
 
As a result, several teams 
from different Service and 
Technical Support Stations 
(STSS) worked at the same 
location at a time, causing 
delays against the target 
troubleshooting timeframe 
set for Level 3 Technical 
Support, time loss and 
growing transportation 
costs.

SOLUTION: 
USTP employees have 
undergone additional 
professional training 
to become universal 
experts well versed in 
different technologies. 
In order to streamline 
the operation of STSS 
units, mini-warehouses 
and an additional office 
were set up, service zones 
were geographically 
separated within the city, 
and corporate vehicle 
itineraries optimised. 
Agreements were signed 
with employees for the use 
of personal vehicles.

IMPACT: 
Over five months, 
the number of repeated 
enquiries dropped from 
11% to 9%. The share 
of enquiries closed in 
time grew from 79% 
to 95%, while the end-
to-end troubleshooting 
timeframe decreased by 
one third from 21 hours 
to 14 hours. Savings 
on cable infrastructure 
maintenance costs 
budgeted for 2017 came 
at RUB 2.5 million, with 
RUB 30 thousand more 
saved on transportation 
costs.

ISSUE: 
Customers have to fill 
in numerous paper 
applications (to change 
the tariff plan, block 
services, etc.), which 
increases the service 
time and results in high 
expenses for paper, 
printing, and archiving.

SOLUTION: 

Abandon paper 
applications for eight 
low-risk procedures, e.g. 
changes in the tariff plan 
(main station, broadband, 
IPTV), changes in value 
added services.

IMPACT: 
The lean laboratory 
cancelled over 2,000 
monthly enquiries. 
This has reduced service 
time (1–2 minutes per 
operation) by 10%–15% 
and will save more than 
RUB 26 thousand per year 
of G&A expenses (RUB 0.6 
per sheet, RUB 0.5 per 
printout).

INCREASE SERVICE LEVEL 
(SL) TO 80%; DECREASE 
THE AVERAGE SERVICE 
TIME TO 8.1 MINUTES (OR 
BY 20%); INCREASE LABOUR 
PRODUCTIVITY BY 10%; 
DECREASE CHURN BY 11.7%. 
THIS WILL REDUCE QUEUES 
AND MINIMISE RETAIL 
CUSTOMER CONTACTS.

RPS IN RRS RESULTS

187DEFECTS

IDENTIFIED BY DIAGNOSTIC 
TOOLS

13 TASKS
ON OPTIMISATION 
REMEDYING ANOTHER 
30 DEFECTS

12 TASKS

THAT WILL REMEDY 
ANOTHER 14 DEFECTS

676 DEFECTS

IDENTIFIED BY DIAGNOSTIC 
TOOLS

89 TASKS
ON OPTIMISATION 
REMEDYING ANOTHER 
166 DEFECTSCO

M
PL

ET
ED

CO
M

PL
ET

ED158 TASKS

THAT WILL REMEDY 
ANOTHER 291 DEFECTSIN

 P
RO

GR
ES

S
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RO
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KPIS OF RPS IN 
RRS FOR 2017

AVERAGE INCREASE IN THE SHARE OF APPLICATIONS 
HANDLED WITHIN TARGET TIMELINES AT LEVEL 3 TECHNICAL 
SUPPORT IN TULA, VLADIVOSTOK, VELIKY NOVGOROD, AND 
NIZHNY NOVGOROD 

AVERAGE DECREASE IN THE REPEATED ENQUIRY RATE AT 
LEVEL 3 TECHNICAL SUPPORT IN TULA, NIZHNY NOVGOROD, 
AND NOVOSIBIRSK

AVERAGE DECREASE IN THE REPEATED ENQUIRY RATE AT 
LEVEL 3 TECHNICAL SUPPORT IN TULA, NIZHNY NOVGOROD, 
AND NOVOSIBIRSK CHELYABINSK

AVERAGE INCREASE IN THE RATE OF APPLICATIONS CLOSED 
WITHOUT ESCALATION TO LEVEL 3 TECHNICAL SUPPORT IN 
NIZHNY NOVGOROD AND CHELYABINSK

9.8 %

5.8 %

2.4 %

9.5 %

ORION KPIS  
FOR 2017
TECHNICAL SUPPORT 
COST PER SUBSCRIBER 
BY 20%; BRING LEVEL 2 
AND LEVEL 3 REPEATED 
ENQUIRY RATES DOWN 
TO 10% AND 8%, 
RESPECTIVELY.

131thousand

MAN-HOURS 
RELEASED
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OPERATIONAL  
EFFICIENCY
For the next few years, we set an ambitious 
goal to achieve cost savings through network 
upgrades and relinquishing overlay networks, 
management centralisation and streamlining, 
as well as reduction of real estate 
maintenance costs. The operational efficiency 
improvement programme should bring 
the Company’s performance closer to best 
practices by reducing the cost gap to 20%–
25%. One of the key targets of the operational 
efficiency programme is to increase labour 
productivity, with the main focus on improving 
performance and optimising the headcount 
of technical and administrative personnel. 
The target headcount by 2020 should not 
exceed 110–130 thousand employees. 
This target is expected to be achieved by 
eliminating excessive management layers, 
migrating to SDN/NFV, digitising business 
processes, setting up a well-balanced 
outsourcing framework and enhancing 
personnel engagement.

In 2016, Rostelecom has implemented a large 
in-house project to streamline the collection, 
processing and delivery of external reports of 
the Company and its subsidiaries. As a result, 
back office functions related to reporting 
and delivery of certified electronic data were 
automated to a substantial extent.
As part of the project, thousands of processes 
involved in data preparation were removed, 
functional redundancy eliminated, opex 
streamlined, and subcontracting abandoned, 
while previously subcontracted functions 
were insourced. Cost savings came at 
c. RUB 100 million.

The project’s results were considered 
successful, while the Company has decided 
to offer the lessons learned from internal 
business process outsourcing to market players 
as a Business Process Outsourcing (BPO) 
service.

With its extensive infrastructure, Rostelecom 
will offer its customers an opportunity 
to outsource external reporting of their 
organisations and a number of other services 
as part of BPO. Rostelecom’s advantages 
include integrated solutions that are easier-to-
use and more functional than those offered in 
the market.

ENHANCED  
PERFORMANCE IN 2016

Figure 33. Continued rightsizing

2016

2.1

2015

2.0

2014

1.9

2012

1.7

Headcount, thousand employees
Revenue per employee, RUB m

2013

1.8

Figure 34. Effect of the operational  
                     efficiency improvement  
                     programme , RUB bn

Actual

2014 2015 2016 2017E 2018E

Planned
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14.2
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149.9
142.5



  Annual report 2016  PJSC ROSTELECOM  85

Introduction Company  
Profile

Strategic  
Review

OPERATIONAL 
HIGHLIGHTS

Financial 
Performance

Corporate 
Governance

Information  
for Shareholders  
and Investors

 Appendices

Dagram 3.  Real estate portfolio optimisation

CREATION OF A REAL 
ESTATE SUB-FUND 

WITH SBERBANK WITH 
RUB 4.0 BILLION OF 

PROCEEDS

OPEX REDUCED BY  
RUB 0.5 BILLION 

IN 2016

RUB 3.3 BILLION OF 
INCOME FROM REAL 
ESTATE DISPOSALS

Additional initiatives

Completion of a large project to 
streamline back office functions for 
reporting and delivery of certified 
electronic information, with cost 
savings of c. RUB 100 million.

Commissioning of a credit scoring 
management system, which has 
improved OIBDA by reducing provisions 
for bad debt due from international 
operators by RUB 224 million.
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The backhaul component is a core element 
of the network infrastructure, allowing 
to absorb a non-linear increase in traffic. 
The backbone network capacity should be 
close to 14 Tbps, which is important for 
providing high quality services supported by 
Rostelecom’ infrastructure. 

Rostelecom’s international FOCLs provide 
access to Finland, Sweden, Mongolia, 
Japan, China, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, 
Kazakhstan, Ukraine, Georgia, and Belarus. 
International long-distance nodes are located 
in Stockholm, Frankfurt, and Hong Kong. 
The Company has organised high-speed 
transit between Europe and Asia via Russia.

Rostelecom has been consistently working 
on improving the reliability and quality of 
services provided via its backhaul network 
infrastructure by backing up communications 
equipment and lines, including the use 
of the Optical Transport Network (OTN) 
technology, geographic separation of 
pathways, and setup of cross-border 
passages and gateways for two or three 
independent foreign operators in each 
relevant international market. All Company’s 
backbone communications lines are 100% 
backed up.

COMMUNICATIONS 
NETWORKS

Rostelecom provides its telecommunications 
services via cable, radio relay and 
satellite links. Its backbone network 
ensures transmission of any type of data. 
The Company’s digital network is based 
on dense wavelength division multiplexing 
(DWDM) and covers virtually all of Russia.

BACKHAUL NETWORK

The Company’s backbone network length (key 
components: FOCLs between Moscow and 
Novorossiysk, Moscow and Saint Petersburg, 
and Moscow and Khabarovsk) is 
c. 500 thousand km.

Communications lines connecting large 
settlements within a region, with access to 
the backbone network, make the basis of 
a regional backhaul network.

To enable the lease out of Nх64 Kbps digital 
lines to customers, the Company deployed 
networks of flexible access multiplexers.

Infrastructure and  
Investments

back-up of backbone communications lines

Figure 35. IP/MPLS backbone network   
                       capacity 2012-2016, Tbps

2013 2014 2015 20162012

7.4
10,.6 12.3 13.7

3.5
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VOICE/INFOCOMMUNICATIONS (ICT) 
NETWORK

A voice infocommunications network 
provides for telephony and traffic transfer 
at the local, intra-zone, domestic, 
and international levels; audio- and 
videoconferencing; Integrated Services 

Digital Network (ISDN) and intelligent 
communication network (ICN) services; 
virtual PBX services, and signalling traffic 
transfer. Our voice/ICT network consists of 
the following segments:

SUBMARINE CABLES

As part of its program to expand 
and upgrade its international 
telecommunications capacity, Rostelecom 
uses advanced submarine cables to establish 
communication circuits between Russia 
and other countries. The Company owns 
the terminal system and core capacity in 
two international submarine fibre cable 
networks, between Georgia and Russia, 
and between Russia and Japan, in which 
Rostelecom holds 67% and 50%, respectively. 
The remaining network is distributed among 
various international operators.

To provide access to these systems 
and lay direct high-quality international 
communications lines to remote areas 
of the world, Rostelecom participates in 
construction of a number of international 
cable systems and acquires relevant 
capacity.

As at the end of 2016, Rostelecom held 
interest or indefeasible right of use in 
11 cable systems, including global cable 
systems projects, such as Fibre Line Around 
the Globe (UK – Middle East – Japan), Trans-
Pacific Cable System (China – USA), South-
East Asia – Middle East – Western Europe 
and Trans-Atlantic system.

In 2016, the Company completed and 
commissioned a 886 km fibre link between 
Sakhalin and Magadan with a throughput 
capacity of 400 Gbps, as part of its high-
speed submarine fibre-optic communications 
line project, Kamchatka – Sakhalin – 
Magadan.

Table 4. 

Voice/ICT network segment Capacity Digitalisation

International network 212.1 thousand lines 100%

Domestic long-distance network 793.6 thousand lines 100%

Intra-zone network 1,444.6 thousand lines 100%

Local network 33,578.1 thousand 
subscriber lines 86%

DATA NETWORK

Our IP/MPLS data network provides 
broadband Internet services, IPTV, TV 
content management, connection and 
transfer of internet traffic, virtual private 
network (VPN), including L2 VPN, L3 
VPN, VPLS, interconnection VPN and data 
centre services. Our data network includes 
the following segments:

 » a backbone data network with a throughput 
capacity exceeding 13.7 Tbps by the end of 
2016;

 » regional data networks.

Rostelecom has been actively developing and 
expanding its IP/MPLS networks. In 2016, we 
achieved the necessary technical readiness 
to expand the WANDL IP/MPLS View 
computer system, created a traffic filtration 
system (URL filtration), and expanded our 
upgraded network nodes.

Additionally, in 2016, the Company expanded 
its existing DWDM 100G/40G/10Gb systems 
in all regions, including zonal systems, 
organised alternative, and expanded 
existing, label bindings for the connection 
of regional IP/MPLS nodes to the backbone 
network, upgraded the Palladion monitoring 
system, and completed the construction of 
Rostelecom’s ENIP intelligent platform.
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“LAST MILE”
Rostelecom is about to complete a large-
scale project that will upgrade its “last mile” 
network and connect 33 million Russian 
households to its fibre network. 32.2 million 
households were connected to the network 
by late 2016 and now have access to a full 
range of advanced telecoms services at 
speeds of up to 1 Gbps. Rostelecom deploys 
a variety of technological solutions to 
upgrade the “last mile” and meet customer 
needs, while ensuring high performance for 
its CAPEX.

BRIDGING THE DIGITAL DIVIDE PROJECT

Rostelecom is the sole contractor under 
the Bridging the Digital Divide (BDD) 
nationwide project designed to provide 
high-speed Internet access to Russia’s rural 
areas.

A contract with the Federal Communications 
Agency (Rossvyaz) provides that, as part of 
this project, Rostelecom will install points 
of access in settlements with 250–500 
inhabitants, with connection speeds at least 
10 Mbps by building c. 160,000 km of FOCLs.

The minimum tariff under the BDD 
programme will be RUB 45 per month, 
including free access to more than 2,000 
government websites.

The project spans ten years and is financed 
by the universal services fund managed 
by Rossvyaz. The BDD project will receive 
c. RUB168 billion, spread over ten years.

This project will bring Rostelecom the 
following key additional benefits:

 » upselling Home Internet and related VAS-
services;

 » reducing operating expenses for servicing 
rural networks through infrastructure 
upgrades;

 » accelerating the upgrade of existing 
networks from copper to fibre;

 » expanding the footprint by connecting 
adjacent settlements with better economies.

 

SATELLITE COMMUNICATIONS

Rostelecom’s backbone satellite network 
complements its land digital network by 
connecting hard-to-reach locations that are 
not covered by land FOCLs. In some areas, 
the satellite network also provides back-up 
for land infrastructure.

Rostelecom’s united Satellite 
Communications Network (SCN) relies on 
157 satellite earth stations. The current 
utilisation of the SCN in key areas is gradually 
decreasing as the Company commissions 
submarine FOCLs between Magadan and 
Petropavlovsk-Kamchatsky.

COOPERATION WITH MOBILE NETWORK 
OPERATORS

Rostelecom partners with Russian operators 
of terrestrial mobile networks to expand the 
range of its high-quality network services, 
including national and international roaming. 
As at the end of 2016, the Company was 
routing international calls for 754 mobile 
networks in 203 countries.

In November 2016, Rostelecom launched 
an MVNO with Tele2, and as a result 
the Company was able to offer mobile 
services to its subscribers via the network 
infrastructure of Tele2.

Figure 36. Number of mobile network  
                      operators working with  
                      Rostelecom in 2014–2016

2016

754

2015

716

2014

624

Figure 37. Households connected to  
                     fibre in 2012–2016, million
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19.5

26.1
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Between September 2015 and the end of 
2016, the number of household broadband 
subscribers in connected settlements rose 
26% to 72.1 thousand, while our corporate 
base grew 19.3% to 9.2 thousand subscribers. 
Broadband penetration in households in 
these settlements stands at 15%.

A total of 3,997 settlements were connected 
under the BDD programme in 2016, with 
34 thousand km of FOCLs constructed.

Services consumed by settlements 
connected under the BDD programme 
are growing both in terms of intensity and 
volume.

By engaging regional authorities to support 
the implementation of the BDD programme, 
we are able to speed up the authorisation 
process and the issue of terms of reference 
as well as to integrate BDD projects into 
other projects of Rostelecom, such as photo 
and video recording of traffic offences 
and automated vehicle measurement for 
oversize/overweight.

The potential demand for broadband service 
in 13.9 thousand smaller settlements 
counting between 250 and 500 inhabitants is 
c. 5 million subscribers.

All fibre cable, materials and equipment used 
by the Company at points of access in its BDD 
projects are of Russian origin. About 80% of 
subcontractors are small and medium-sized 
businesses.
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INVESTMENTS
In December 2016, the Board of Directors 
approved the Company’s budget for 201728,  
to include the investment programme for 
2017.

Lower share of capex on development and 
maintenance of communications networks 
was due to the completion of the main phase 
of fibre-optic networks construction for retail 
customers. Our investment priorities are 
shifting towards content and digital services, 
in particular, in the B2B/B2G segment. 

In 2017, we will continue upgrading the 
call centre computer systems to improve 
customer experience.

In 2017–2018, we are also planning to:

 » further expand of IP/MPLS throughput 
capacity to meet growing customer demand 
across all segments, as well as the domestic 
demand for backbone capacity to support 
end-user sales in B2B, B2C, and B2G and 
sales of IP-Transit services on the national 
wholesale market for broadband access.

 » organise new DWDM fibre-optic 
communications lines and upgrade the 
existing FOCLs to set up high-speed fibre 
links;

 » expand the existing label bindings for 
connection of regional nodes so as to 
support an increase in IP/MPLS network’s 
capabilities and in traffic transfer.

28  Minutes No. 10 dated 28 December 2016.
29  The Company’s capex guidance disclosed in its financial and operating results of 2016 is based on the cash flow accounting. Free cash flow (FCF) estimates made to determine the basis for dividend 

payouts also include the capex disclosed in the Company’s statement of cash flows.
30  Including subsidiaries and affiliates, maintenance of administrative and auxiliary facilities, regulatory projects, etc.; development of federal mobile business and support to the 2014 Winter Olympics

in Sochi.

Table 5. Investment programme

Investment programme 2014 2015 2016 2017E

Actual/planned investments in fixed assets (CAPEX) 

- by cash flow, RUB m 57,666 62,726 61,899 60,030

- by accruals29 , RUB m 61,527 66,047 62,563 60,685

Investment targets:

Broadband (B2C) 34% 31% 27% 22%

- network construction 26% 18% 13% 4%

- gross additions 8% 13% 15% 18%

Broadband (B2B) 8% 9% 13% 17%

Smart City Project (B2G) 0% 4% 4% 4%

IP/MPLS backbone network development 13% 13% 14% 11%

Network maintenance 2% 2% 2% 2%

Digital TV, online services 2% 3% 2% 3%

E-government, innovations 5% 3% 2% 3%

Data Centers 1% 1% 2% 3%

New product development 0% 0% 0% 3%

IT solutions 10% 5% 7% 8%

Improvement of operational efficiency 2% 6% 4% 2%

Traditional telephony development 2% 1% 1% 0%

Contact Centers 2% 1% 1% 1%

Bridging the Digital Divide Project 3% 6% 8% 7%

Other30 16% 14% 13% 13%
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Figure 38. CAPEX transformation in 2014–2017, %

2015 2016 2017E2014

Differentiated content  
and digital services
Network development and maintenance
Operational transformation
BDD
Other
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Project Outcomes

Content 
management 
system

 » Integrated IPTV (Interactive TV) product launched.
 » IPTV and OTT delivery platform upgraded.
 » Infrastructure software and hardware upgraded.
 » ITV and ITV 2.0 (IPTV/ОТТ) delivery platforms.
 » New applications launched for iOS, Android, and SmartTV.
 » Three TV Central Head-End Stations (CHS) launched and connected to 
21 facilities of Russian Television and Radio Broadcasting Network (RTRN).

 » All types of set-top boxes (STB) migrated from SmartLabs’ software to 
software of JSC Restream, a subsidiary of the Company.

 » 12 SD and 28 HD new TV channels connected to the network.

Call centre 
optimisation

 » A computer system purchased for a call centre to service Moscow 
customers; call centres expanded in the South, Ural, and Siberia 
Macroregional Branches.

 » A speech analytics system introduced by the North-West Macroregional 
Branch.

 » A customer feedback and satisfaction measurement system introduced.
 » Local customer helpdesks (09/009) centralised in the Ural Macroregional 
Branch.

 » The Work Force Management system upgraded.
 » Current needs of call centres in computer and office equipment and in 
furniture satisfied.

Table 6. Other major investment projects in 2016
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Project Outcomes

Set-up of 
Rostelecom’s 
Active Directory 
unified directory 
service and 
corporate e-mail

 » The Company has decided to withdraw from the corporate licence 
agreement with Microsoft, and exercised its right to buy out perpetual 
licences to Microsoft software.

 » The perpetual licences to Microsoft software have saved the Company 
at least RUB 791 million (excluding VAT). Additionally, Rostelecom has 
withdrawn from any commitment towards Microsoft to license 100% of all of 
its standard base workstations and pay annual fees for the use of software.

 » As part of its import substitution programme, the Company is planning 
to replace Microsoft office software with equivalent Russian products. 
Since autumn 2016, Rostelecom deployed a pilot project based on My Office 
Russian software, namely My Office Text and My Office Spreadsheet.

Telecom City New 
Office project

 » Quality and performance of workstations standardised and improved, and 
business processes streamlined.

 » Communication efficiency between the Company’s departments and 
business units maximised.

 » Financial performance of real estate management increased; real estate 
maintenance and management costs cut down; indirect costs (office 
maintenance, courier services, transportation costs, etc.) reduced.

 » The Company developed an energy efficient, high-performance green office 
with ergonomic office space

 » and a comfortable work environment for its employees.
 » We have changed, updated and improved the public perception of our 
brand, and enhanced the Company’s image both externally and across 
the Company.

 » The Company optimised its work space organisation.

MERGERS AND 
ACQUISITIONS
 
Rostelecom takes advantage of market 
opportunities to acquire expertise and 
high-quality assets, which will enhance 
the Company’s market positions. In 2016, in 
order to cement its competitive positions in 
its core broadband and pay TV segments, 
the Company closed deals for acquisition of 
three providers:

 » Sibitex, one of the two large independent 
internet and telephony providers in Tyumen, 
with a portfolio of 7.5 thousand users, 
including 800 corporate customers;

 » AIST, a leading internet and telephony 
provider in the Samara Region, serving 
c. 130 thousand users, including 
10 thousand corporate customers;

 » telecommunication assets of Morton Group, 
which include three companies operating in 
Moscow and the Moscow Region and serving 
over 40,000 households and 2,000 corporate 
customers.

 
All three assets were acquired via 
PJSC Bashinformsvyaz, Rostelecom’s 
subsidiary.

The full list of completed transactions is 
available in Annex No. 9 Information on 
Signed Agreements for Sale and Purchase 
of Interests, Shares and Units in Business 
Partnerships and Companies.

Table 6. (continued)
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VENTURE 
INVESTMENTS
Rostelecom owns a corporate venture capital 
fund, CommIT Capital. The fund’s goal is to 
pick up the best start-ups whose business 
is complementary to Rostelecom’s business 
and who can offer unique competences in 
their areas, and invest in them, helping them 
develop and unlock potential synergies with 
Rostelecom Group. The fund’s investment 
priorities include promising innovative 
companies that develop competitive 
products for the infrastructures of telecoms 
operators and data centres, which have 
export potential and offer corporate-level 
solutions. Additionally, the fund is exploring 
high-potential projects that can offer new 
products and services to end customers of 
Rostelecom Group in B2C, B2B and B2G 
segments.

In 2016, the fund made six investment deals.

 » RAIDIX is a Russian developer of data 
storage solutions. The fund’s interest in 
the company: 30%.

 » Brain4Net is a leading Russian developer 
of operator-level data network and network 
virtualisation solutions. The fund’s interest 
in the company: c. 20%.

 » RDP.RU and RDP.Innovatsii (part of RDP.RU 
group) are among major Russian developers 
of telecommunication solutions for telecoms 
operators and corporate customers. 
The product portfolio of the company 
includes CG-NAT, URL-filtration, BRAS 
gateway, DPI, and EcoRouter, Russia’s 
first universal high-performance IP/MPLS 
router. The fund’s interest in the charter 
capital of the companies: 15%.

 » OOO Pangeo IskraTel (a joint venture 
between PJSC Rostelecom, Pangeo 
Capital and Iskratel (Slovenia)) is a Russian 
manufacturer of equipment for telecoms 
operators, transportation, electric utility, 
and public security sectors. The fund’s 
interest in the charter capital of the 
company: c. 20%.

 » OOO Transportniye Informatsionniye 
Tekhnologii is a Russian operator providing 
e-Freight based electronic processing 
and support services for international air 
cargoes. The fund’s interest in the company: 
25.1%.

 » Bulat is a Russian developer of 
telecommunications and IT equipment. 
Solutions developed by Bulat include 
a multiservice router, data storage systems, 
an aggregation switch, network cores 
for telecoms operators, and virtual CPE-
devices. The fund’s interest in the company: 
37.5%.
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Our digital segment has shown a steady growth as we proceed with our 
programme of business transformation and migration to a new business 
model of an integrated digital service provider  
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In 2016, we continued our strategic efforts of changing the revenue structure to capture digital revenue pools through 
investments and transformation of business processes. Throughout 2016, in terms of financial management, we had 
to navigate Rostelecom through times full of microeconomic challenges. FX volatility, rising borrowing costs and mid-
term interest rates were the largest challenges in managing corporate finance. We had to work hard and put in a lot of 
efforts, and I think we did well and even exceeded some targets. For example, to mitigate FX risk, all procurement was 
undertaken, whenever possible, in Russian roubles. Floating federal-level procurement tenders for customer premises 
equipment helped us reduce the initial price by 40%–60% in some regions. 

In debt and liquidity management, we successfully overcame macroeconomic challenges. As at the end of 2016, Debt/
OIBDA stood at 1.8x, a level we see as optimal and comfortable for the Company. Our total debt and its average cost 
remained almost flat throughout 2016. We successfully placed a bond issue which became a benchmark for the Russian 
debt market. We also extended credit facilities with large banks. Short-term liquidity management, I think, was also up 
to the mark. All these factors helped us not only to have our credit ratings reaffirmed by S&P and Fitch but also to have 
their outlooks upgraded.

Management of operating expenses was one of our key focuses throughout 2016. As a result of our meticulous, ongoing 
work, labour productivity has notably improved, both in terms of revenue per employee ratio and across individual 
processes/areas. We made some of the staff redundant and launched a multi-level optimisation initiative which, 
combined with a nation-wide operational efficiency project, had a cumulative positive effect of over RUB 14 billion in 
cost savings over the three years (including 2016) that the programme has been around. We continued optimising our 
real estate portfolio and established a dedicated fund to manage the asset disposal process.

In 2017, Rostelecom will continue on its fast-paced journey of change and transformation into a digital service 
provider. It means that the Company will focus on developing new products and optimising its organisational structure, 
while the task of Finance will be to quickly adapt to these new processes and maximise its contribution to value 
creation. This sounds too pessimistic, I expect macroeconomic environment to improve and have a positive effect on 
Rostelecom’s performance. 

 
Kai-Uwe Mehlhorn, 
Senior Vice President and CFO
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In 2016, the Company’s revenue grew 
by RUB 91 million to RUB 297.4 billion. 
Digital services31 accounted for 44% of 
revenue.

31  Including broadband, Pay TV, VPN, VAS and cloud services.

Item 2014 2015 2016 2016 vs 2015, %

Revenue, RUB m 298,937 297,355 297,446 +0.03 

OIBDA, RUB m 102,467 100,839 96,772 -4 

% of revenue 34.3% 33.9% 32.5%

Operating profit, RUB m 39,994 38,586 39,836 +3 

% of revenue 13.4% 13.0% 13.4%

Net profit, RUB m 13,182 14,391 12,249 -15 

% of revenue 4.4% 4.8% 4.1%

CAPEX, RUB m 53,810 62,726 61,857 -1 

% of revenue 18.0% 21.1% 20.8%

Net debt, RUB m 171,135 173,670 177,481 +2 

Net debt / OIBDA 1.7 1.7 1.8

FCF, RUB m 27,313 21,962 13,298 -39 

Table 7. Key financial highlights  
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Figure 39. Share of digital segment, %
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REVENUE  
BY PRODUCT
In 2016, Rostelecom’s revenue grew 0.03% 
to RUB 297.4 billion. Revenue from Pay TV 
showed much higher growth (+22%), in 
line with a sustainable trend of recent 
years. In 2016, revenue from VAS and cloud 
services increased 28%, while revenue from 
broadband was up 5%, also keeping pace 
with the upward trend. By contrast, revenue 
from fixed-line services were declining for 
many years.

REVENUE  
BY SEGMENT

Following a decline in 2015, B2B/G had 
a sizeable revenue growth (+2.5% or 
RUB 2.4 billion in 2016).

Table 8. Revenue by product in 2014–2016, RUB m

Product 2014 2015 2016
2016 vs 
2015, %

Broadband 60,364 63,880 66,770 +5 

TV services 15,250 19,368 23,599 +22 

Fixed-line telephony 109,710 99,105 87,314 -12 

Wholesale services, including: 77,895 78,266 79,010 +1 

lease of channels 11,758 11,714 10,538 -10 

interconnection and traffic transfer 33,177 34,717 35,102 +1 

VPN 19,711 19,711 20,823 +6 

lease and maintenance of telecommunications 
infrastructure 13,248 12,124 12,546 +3 

VAS and cloud services 11,384 14,224 18,245 +28 

Other telecommunications services 16,554 14,499 14,741 +2 

Other non-telecommunications services 7,780 8,014 7,767 -3 

Table 9. Revenue by segment in 2014–2016, RUB m*

Segment 2014 2015 2016
2016 vs 
2015, %

B2C 136,345 136,764 135,269 -1 

B2B/G 104,500 98,319 100,763 +2.5 

B2O 58,092 57,143 57,008 -0.2 

Other revenue – 5,129 4,407 -14.1 

* Before 2015, revenue was segmented by customer.
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BREAKDOWN 
OF OPERATING 
EXPENSES
Operating expenses less depreciation 
increased 2% year-on-year to reach 
RUB 202.0 billion in 2016. Interconnection 
charges grew 5% (+RUB 2.3 billion).

Other operating expenses declined 11% 
by RUB 1.7 billion, mostly as part of 
the Bridging the Digital Divide project. 
With BDD project compensations excluded, 
other operating income increased 94%.

Staff optimisation measures brought labour 
expenses down by 1% (RUB 0.7 billion).

Depreciation charges decreased 8% to 
RUB 55.6 billion for 12M 2016, driven mostly 
by reassessment of PPE useful life.

Table 10. Breakdown of operating expenses in 2014–2016, RUB m

Operating expenses 2014 2015 2016
2016 vs 
2015, %

Personnel costs (89,929) (91,081) (90,340) -1 

Interconnection charges (47,429) (49,825) (52,161) +5 

Materials, repairs and maintenance, utilities (25,828) (25,125) (24,917) -1 

Gain on disposals of PPE and intangible assets 1,475 2,133 4,556 +114 

Bad debt expense (2,006) (882) (2,775) +214 

Other operating income 12,950 14,630 12,948 -11 

Other operating expenses (47,553) (48,020) (49,332) +3 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 
losses (60,623) (60,599) (55,589) -8 

Total (258,943) (258,769) (257,610) -0.4
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Interconnection 
charges

OIBDA

Table 11. OIBDA in 2014–201632

Figure 48. OIBDA margin in 2016, %

Figure 49. Dynamics of OIBDA in 2016, RUB bn

Item 2014 2015 2016
2016 vs 
2015, %

OIBDA 102,467 100,839 96,772 -4  

OIBDA/Revenue, % 34.3 33.9 32.5 

32  OIBDA is not an indicator calculated under US GAAP or IFRS. The Company calculates OIBDA as operating profit before depreciation and non-cash expenses.
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DEBT
Total debt of Rostelecom had marginal 
changes year-on-year and amounted 
to RUB 187.1 billion as at the end of 
2016. As at 31 December 2016, rouble-
denominated payables accounted for over 
99% of the Company’s total debt.

Table 12. Total debt of Rostelecom in2014 – 2016, RUB m

Item 2014 2015 2016
2016 vs 
2015, %

Total debt, RUB m 190,014 186,554 187,105 +3 

Net debt, RUB m 171,135 173,670 177,481 +2 

Net debt / OIBDA LTM, % 1.7 1.7 1.8 

Figure 51. Total debt maturity, RUB bn

2018 2019 2020 2021 and 
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Corporate  
Governance

Russian business, especially public 
companies, are increasingly gravitating 
towards a trend of lower involvement 
of shareholders in their company’s 
management, driven by the growing 
influence of non-voting index and hedge 
funds. 

For 2017, we have planned a range of 
measures to enhance the Company’s 
investment case, increase transparency and 
streamline management decision-making. 

Specifically, we are planning to amend 
the Company’s Charter to put electronic 
voting in place at further meetings of 
shareholders.

Mikhail P. Irzhevsky  
Vice President  
of Legal Affairs at Rostelecom

In 2016, Rostelecom achieved significant 
gains in corporate governance. Shareholders 
elected four independent directors to 
the Board of Directors and, as a result, we 
appointed a Senior Independent Director 
and recognised another director as Financial 
Expert. This also allowed our Audit and 
Nomination and Remuneration Committees 
to include independent directors only. 

In 2016, we continued to consistently 
improve our corporate governance by 
integrating certain recommendations of 
the Bank of Russia and putting in place 
the Roadmap of the Federal Agency for State 
Property Management (Rosimushchestvo). 
When assessing our corporate practices and 
improvement areas, we are guided, among 
other things, by our corporate governance 
quality scores from third parties (Russian 
Institute of Directors and ISS Quality Score 
Index). As reported by the Open Government, 
in 2016, Rostelecom ranked among top three 
partially government-owned companies by 
quality of integration of recommendations 
set out in the Corporate Governance Code. 

We believe that, going forward, the Russian 
model of corporate governance, factoring in 
the ownership profile of Russian joint-stock 
companies, will continue evolving towards 
greater protection of minority shareholders 
rights, more disclosures and sustainability. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

Rostelecom has been building its corporate 
governance framework in line with Russian 
and global standards and best practices, 
as well as in compliance with Russian laws 
and the Rules of the Moscow Exchange. 
The Company has a strong focus on quality 
of corporate governance as a tool to boost 
our competitive edge and performance.

Key focus areas for the Company’s corporate 
governance

 » protection of shareholder rights;
 » equal treatment of all shareholders;
 » focus on stakeholder interests and 
relations;

 » accountability of the Board of Directors, 
the President and the Management Board 
to shareholders;

 »  effective internal controls and audit;
 »  financial and informational transparency 
of the Company;

 » compliance with business conduct and 
ethics set out in the Company’s Code of 
Ethics;

 » strong corporate social responsibility.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE SELF-
ASSESSMENT RESULTS

We have been self-assessing the quality 
of our corporate governance on an annual 
basis since 2015 to promote and improve 
corporate governance practices and 
procedures.

In 2016, Rostelecom benchmarked 
the Company’s effective corporate 
governance standards against the key 
provisions of the Corporate Governance 
Code33. As at the beginning of 2016,34 our 
corporate governance score was 90%, to 
reach 92% by the year-end, i.e. much higher 
than the minimum 65% requirement35.

Additionally, Rostelecom also 
performs assessments of its corporate 
governance practices in compliance with 
recommendations of the Bank of Russia. 
For more details see Appendix 1 Report on 
Compliance with the Corporate Governance 
Code Recommended by the Bank of Russia 
attached to this Annual Report. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE RATING  

33  The Corporate Governance Code approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank of Russia on 21 March 2014.
34   The benchmark used the Guidelines for Corporate Governance Self-Assessment for Partially Government-Owned Companies developed by Rosimushchestvo.
35  Recommended by Rosimushchestvo.
36  Institutional Shareholder Services Inc. (ISS) is the world’s leading provider of corporate governance solutions. A “1” ISS QualityScore rating means low corporate governance risks and a “10” rating

means high corporate governance risks. Rostelecom’s rating was affirmed on 1 May 2017.
37  Rating was assigned in November 2016.

Corporate Governance  
Practice  

92%

100%

97%

97%

97 %

84%

Shareholder Rights

Board of Directors

Executive Management

Information Disclosure

Risks Management, Internal Control and Audit

Social Responsibility, Business Ethics

Rating components: 
Board structure: 2 
Remuneration: 1 
Shareholder rights: 7 
Audit: 1

ISS Qualityscore corporate governance 
rating36: 1 

Corporate governance rating assigned 
by the Russian Institute of Directors 
(RID)37: 7++

Advanced corporate governance practice:

 » compliance with Russian laws;
 » adherence to a substantial number of 

recommendations set out in the Russian 
Corporate Governance Code;

 » low risks of shareholder losses due to 
governance quality.
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

IMPROVING CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
PRACTICES

In 2016, the Expert Council of the Russian 
Government assessed corporate 
governance at 13 largest state-owned 
companies that were instructed by 
the Russian Government in 2014 to 
put the key provisions of the Code into 
practice.38 As a result, the Government 
Expert Council ranked Rostelecom among 
top three partially government-owned 
companies for quality of integration of 
the Code’s recommendations.39

KEY CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
IMPROVEMENTS IN 2016 

 » Information on who proposed nominees 
to the governing and control bodies was 
included in the materials for the FY2015 
Annual General Meeting;

 » The Board of Directors elected in 2016 
resolved to:
• determine four Directors to be 

Independent Directors;
• elect the Senior Independent Director;
• appoint one of Independent Directors as 

Financial Expert;
• set up Audit and Nomination and 

Remuneration Committees to include 
independent directors only;

• elect most Independent Directors to 
the Strategy Committee.

 »  The Company’s Charter was amended to:
• pass the Board of Directors’ resolutions 

by a majority vote of all elected 
members;

• authorise the Company to arrange 
for remote access of shareholders to 
General Shareholders’ Meetings;

• enhance the control of the Board of 
Directors over operations of material 
controlled entities.

 »  Easy-access electronic communication 
was arranged for the Company’s 
shareholders (the shareholder relations 
procedure is available on our corporate 
website at:  
www.company.rt.ru/ir/information_ 
for_shareholders/e-communication/).

 » The new version of the Regulations on 
the Corporate Secretary and Office of 
the Corporate Secretary was amended 
to prevent any affiliate of the Company 
related to a person that controls 
the Company or to the Company’s 
executives from being appointed as 
Corporate Secretary.

PLANS TO IMPROVE CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE  

For 2017, we have planned to introduce 
e-voting at the Company’s General 
Shareholders’ Meeting as follows:

 » For votes cast at the FY2016 Annual 
General Meeting, e-ballots signed with 
a qualified electronic signature, which 
is equivalent to a handwritten signature 
under paragraph 1 of Article 6 of Federal 
Law No. 63-FZ On Electronic Signature, 
are to be submitted the registrar’s 
website;

 » The FY2016 Annual General Meeting is 
to approve amendments to the Charter, 
governing the use of e-voting at General 
Shareholders’ Meetings;

 » The e-voting system currently in 
development by the National Settlement 
Depository is to be tested.

38  The Corporate Governance Code approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank of Russia in 2014.
39  For more information see: open.gov.ru/expert_sovet/5515479/
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In accordance with Rostelecom’s Charter, 
the governing bodies of the Company are 
as follows:

 » The General Shareholders’ Meeting – 
Rostelecom’s supreme governing body;

 » The Board of Directors, elected by 
the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
to guide the Company’s strategic 
management;

 » The President (CEO) and the 
Management Board, appointed by 
the Board of Directors to manage 
the Company’s day-to-day operations.

Corporate Governance 
Structure
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and Investment 
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Rostelecom’s Board of Directors is guided by 
the Company’s Charter and Regulations on 
the Board of Directors.41

The Board of Directors is responsible for 
Rostelecom’s strategy and for general 
management of the Company, except 
for matters falling within the exclusive 
competence of the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting under the Federal Law On Joint-
Stock Companies. The powers of the Board 
of Directors are detailed in the Company’s 
Charter and Regulations on the Board of 
Directors.

Key functions and tasks of the Board of 
Directors are to:

 » Set up and advance business and 
operational objectives of the Company;

 » Protect the rights and legitimate interests 
of shareholders;

 » Ensure completeness, reliability, and 
fairness of public information about 
the Company. 

Key principles of the Board of Directors are 
to:

 »  Contribute to the Company’s growth, 
competitive business edge and employee 
development;

 » Make decisions based on reliable 
information on the Company’s operations;

 » Ensure the Company’s adherence to long-
term interests of its shareholders and 
receipt by shareholders of all relevant 
information on the Company’s operations;

 » Balance the interests of various groups of 
the shareholders and make most objective 
and well-balanced decisions for the benefit 
of all shareholders;

 » Interpret ambiguities in the rules of 
any laws and regulations in favour of 
enhancement of the rights and legitimate 
interests of the shareholders.

40  Minutes No. 1 dated 23 June 2016.
41  Version No. 14 was approved by the Company’s AGM on 21 June 2016 (Minutes No. 1 dated 23 June 2016). For more information see: www.company.rt.ru/en/ir/corporate_governance/docs/

Governing 
Bodies

GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

The General Shareholders’ Meeting is 
the Company’s supreme governing body. 
In 2016, Rostelecom’s General Shareholders’ 
Meeting40 was held on 21 June.

The General Shareholders’ Meeting passed 
the following key resolutions:
 » Approved the Company’s annual report and 
annual financial statements for FY2015;

 » Approved the distribution of profit for 
FY2015;

 » Determined the amount of dividends for 
FY2015;

 » Elected new Board of Directors and Audit 
Commission;

 » Approved Ernst & Young LLC as the 
Company’s auditor for 2016 and 1H 2017;

 » Determined annual remunerations for 
the previous Board of Directors and Audit 
Commission;

 » Approved revised versions of the Charter, 
the Regulations on the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting and the Regulations 
on the Board of Directors;

 » Approved related-party transactions 
(loan agreements);

 » Resolved on the Company’s membership 
in the Russian Association of Industrial 
Internet;

 » Approved the D&O Liability Insurance 
Agreement between the Company and 
SOGAZ INSURANCE.
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COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS

INDUCTION OF BOARD MEMBERS

New members of the Board of Directors 
should get thoroughly familiar with all 
of the Company’s internal documents 
regulating the proceedings of the Board of 
Directors, and hold a series of meetings 
with members of the Management Board 
and internal and external auditors in order 
to understand the Company’s operations, 
its strategic plans, accounting and financial 
reporting principles, risk management, 
internal controls, as well as other aspects 
material to the Company.

In accordance with the Company’s 
Charter, the Board of Directors comprises 
11 members elected by the Annual General 
Shareholders’ Meeting for a term of one 
year.

SERGEI B. IVANOV
SPECIAL PRESIDENTIAL REPRESENTATIVE FOR 
NATURE PROTECTION, THE ENVIRONMENT AND 
TRANSPORT, CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS.

Born in: 1953.

Education: Translation Department of 
the Philological Faculty of Leningrad State 
University, Higher Translation Courses of the USSR 
KGB in Minsk.

Work experience:  
Deputy Prime Minister of the Russian Federation 
(2008–2011); Chief of Staff of the Executive 
Office of the Russian President since 2011; 
Special Presidential Representative for Nature 
Protection, the Environment and Transport since 
2016.

Member of Rostelecom’s Board of Directors since 
2015.

RUBEN A. AGANBEGYAN
PRESIDENT OF PJSC BANK OTKRITIE FINANCIAL 
CORPORATION, INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR.

Born in: 1972.

Education: Moscow State Law Academy.

Work experience:  
Head of OJSC MICEX-RTS (2010–2012); General 
Director of Otkritie Financial Corporation (2012–
2013); General Director of JSC Otkritie Holding 
(2014–2017); President of PJSC Bank Otkritie 
Financial Corporation since 2017.

Currently Mr Aganbegyan is a member of governing 
bodies of the following organisations: member 
of the Management Board of Public Organisation 
Russian Union of Industrialists and Entrepreneurs, 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of LLC OTKRITIE 
CAPITAL and Public Joint-Stock Company TRUST 
National Bank, member of the Board of Directors of 
OJSC MMK and JSC Otkritie Holding.

Member of Rostelecom’s Board of Directors since 
2013.
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KIRILL A. DMITRIEV
GENERAL DIRECTOR OF LLC RDIF  
MANAGEMENT COMPANY.

Born in: 1975.

Education: Stanford University.

Work experience:  
President of Icon Private Equity (2007–2011); 
General Director of LLC RDIF Management 
Company since 2011.

Currently Mr Dmitriev is a member of governing 
bodies of the following organisations: member 
of the Supervisory Board and Chairman of 
the Management Board of LLC RDIF Management 
Company, member of the boards of directors of 
Bank GPB (JSC), MD Medical Group Investment plс, 
OJSC Russian Railways, RCIF Asset Management 
Limited.

Member of Rostelecom’s Board of Directors since 
2014.

ANTON A. ZLATOPOLSKY
GENERAL DIRECTOR  
OF ROSSIYA TV CHANNEL.

Born in: 1966.

Education: Lomonosov Moscow State University, 
Department of Law. Candidate of Law (PhD). 

Work experience:  
General Director of Rossiya TV Channel since 2006.

Member of Rostelecom’s Board of Directors since 
2011.

ALEXANDER A AUZAN
DEAN OF THE DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMICS 
OF LOMONOSOV MOSCOW STATE UNIVERSITY, 
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR.

Born in: 1954.

Education: Lomonosov Moscow State University, 
Department of Economics. Doctor of Economics, 
Professor. 

Work experience:  
Head of the Chair of Applied Institutional Economics 
(Department of Economics, Lomonosov Moscow 
State University) since 2002. Dean of 
the Department of Economics since 2013.  
Currently Mr Auzan is a member of the boards of 
directors of PJSC Severstal, JSC RVK.

Member of Rostelecom’s Board of Directors since 
2015.



  Annual report 2016  PJSC ROSTELECOM  113

Introduction Company  
Profile

Strategic  
Review

Operational 
Highlights

Financial 
Performance

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

Information  
for Shareholders  
and Investors

 Appendices

SERGEI B. KALUGIN
DEPUTY MINISTER OF TELECOM  
AND MASS COMMUNICATIONS 
OF THE RUSSIAN FEDERATION. 

Born in: 1966.

Education: Lomonosov Moscow State University, 
Department of Economics.

Work experience:  
Upon graduation from the university Mr Kalugin 
worked as an economist with JSB Incombank 
and was subsequently promoted to the position 
Managing Director for Investments with Incom 
Capital Investment and Financial Company. 
General Director of OJSC RTR-Signal since 
2000. General Director of OJSC National Cable 
Networks (2001–2007). General Director of 
OJSC National Telecommunications (2007–
2008). Managing Partner of WebMediaGroup 
since 2009. General Director of OJSC National 
Telecommunications (2009–2012). President and 
Chairman of the Management Board of Rostelecom 
(2013–3 March 2017).

Currently Mr Kalugin is a member of governing 
bodies of the following organisations: member of 
the Supervisory Board of State Space Corporation 
ROSCOSMOS, member of the boards of directors of 
JSC TsTV and LLC Т2 RTK Holding.

Member of Rostelecom’s Board of Directors since 
2013.

ANATOLY A. MILYUKOV
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF JSC APRIL CAPITAL AM,  
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR.

Born in: 1972.

Education: Lomonosov Moscow State University, 
Department of International Economics; 
Harvard Business School (MBA programme). 

Work experience:  
From 2006 to 2013, Mr Milyukov successively held 
the positions of Managing Vice-President and 
First Vice-President of Gazprombank (Joint-Stock 
Company).

Currently Mr Milyukov is a member of governing 
bodies of the following organisations: Chairman of 
the boards of directors of JSC April Capital AM and 
April Investments Limited.

Member of Rostelecom’s Board of Directors since 
2011.

MIKHAIL P. IRZHEVSKY
VICE PRESIDENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS  
AT ROSTELECOM.

Born in: 1973.

Education: Lomonosov Moscow State University, 
Department of Law. 

Work experience:  
Starting from 1992, Mr Irzhevsky was engaged 
by international law firms: until 1999 he worked 
at Chadbourne & Parke LLP, and from 1999 at 
Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP (partner since 
2007).

Vice President of Legal Affairs at PJSC Rostelecom 
since October 2013.

Currently Mr Irzhevsky is a member of governing 
bodies of the following organisations: member of 
the boards of directors of LLC BUM, LLC BUM SP, 
LLC Т2 RTK Holding, JSC TsTV, Chairman of 
the Board of Directors of LLC Interdaltelecom, 
LLC Mobitel.

Member of Rostelecom’s Board of Directors since 
2016.
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VADIM V. SEMENOV
CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD OF 
STATE COMPANY RUSSIAN HIGHWAYS (AVTODOR), 
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR.

Born in: 1965.

Education: Leningrad State University  
(degree in Law).  

Work experience:  
General Director of OJSC Svyazinvest (2010–
2013); Chairman of the Supervisory Board of State 
Company Russian Highways (Avtodor) since 2013.

Member of Rostelecom’s Board of Directors since 
2011.

ALEXANDER A. PCHELINTSEV 
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT OF BANK GPB (JSC).

Born in: 1970.

Education: Irkutsk Institute of Economy and 
Plekhanov Russian Academy of Economics, 
Candidate of Economics (PhD). 

Work experience:  
General Director of CJSC Gazprombank Asset 
Management (2006–2016). Vice-President of Bank 
GPB (JSC) since 2013, appointed Executive Vice-
President in 2014.

Currently Mr Pchelintsev is a member of the Board 
of Directors of non-profit organisation Russian 
National Association of Securities Market 
Participants (NAUFOR).

Member of Rostelecom’s Board of Directors since 
2015.

MIKHAIL I. POLUBOYARINOV
FIRST DEPUTY CHAIRMAN  
OF VNESHECONOMBANK.

Born in: 1966.

Education: Financial University under 
the Government of the Russian Federation 
(degree in Economics), Candidate of Economics 
(PhD).

Work experience:  
From 2009 to 2012, Mr Poluboyarinov was 
successively Infrastructure Department Director 
and Deputy Chairman of Vnesheconombank. 
First Deputy Chairman of Vnesheconombank (since 
2012).

Currently Mr Poluboyarinov is a member of 
governing bodies of the following organisations: 
member of the boards of directors of CJSC Leader 
and PJSC SCF, member of the Supervisory Board of 
JSC AHML, member of the Management Board of 
Vnesheconombank.

Member of Rostelecom’s Board of Directors since 
2014 (and in 2010–2011).
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SHAREHOLDINGS

As at the end of 2016, none of the members 
of the Board of Directors except for 
Sergei Kalugin and Mikhail Irzhevsky 
held any interest in the Charter Capital of 
Rostelecom. For details on shareholdings of 
Sergei Kalugin and Mikhail Irzhevsky see the 
President and Management Board section of 
this Annual Report.

For detailed biographies of all members of 
the Board of Directors in 2016, as well as 
their shares in the Company’s stock, see 
Appendix 2 Governing and Control Bodies to 
this Annual Report.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No conflicts of interest involving the above-
mentioned members of the Board of 
Directors were identified in 2016.

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS AND THEIR ROLE

The Chairman of the Board of Directors 
is elected by members of the Board of 
Directors from among its members and may 
be re-elected at any time. 

The Chairman of the Board of Directors 
has a casting vote in the event of a tie vote 
of members of the Board of Directors. 
The Chairman of the Board of Directors may 
not delegate their functions to any other 
person.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors has 
the following functions:

 »  coordinates the Board of Directors’ 
activities;

 » convenes meetings of the Board of 
Directors (held in person or in absentia);

 »  takes steps to ensure timely provision 
to members of the Board of Directors of 
information required to pass resolutions 
on agenda items;

 » presides over the Board of Directors’ 
meetings;

 » if necessary, undertakes drafting 
resolutions on discussed agenda items;

 » makes arrangements to keep minutes of 
meetings (held in person or in absentia). 

INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS  
AND THEIR ROLE

Independent directors42:

1) Ruben A. Aganbegyan;
2) Alexander A. Auzan;
3) Anatoly A. Milyukov;
4) Vadim V. Semenov.

At its meeting held on 5 August 2016, 
the Board of Directors reviewed compliance 
of the above members of the Board 
of Directors with the independence 
criteria of the Code and determined their 
independence.

Independent directors have the following 
functions:

 »  provide independent opinions;
 »  control the execution of resolutions passed 
by the Board of Directors;

 »  help improve the Company’s corporate 
governance;

 »  actively participate in setting up and 
discharging the duties of committees of 
the Board of Directors.

 
SENIOR INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

On 5 August 2016, the Board of Directors 
elected Alexander Auzan as Senior 
Independent Director. 

The role of the Senior Independent Director 
includes coordinating independent directors, 
establishing and maintaining dialogue 
between members of the Board of Directors 
and shareholders. In case of conflict, in 
particular, in case of major disagreements 
between members of the Board of Directors, 
the Senior Independent Director takes active 
steps to resolve such disagreements.

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

In 2016, the Board of Directors held a total 
of 27 meetings, including 3 meetings held in 
person and 24 meetings held in absentia. 

42  In accordance with the Corporate Governance Code approved by the Bank of Russia on 21 March 2014 and the Listing Rules of the Moscow Exchange.
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Item
Board 

 of Directors
Audit  

Committee
Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee
Strategy  

Committee

Meetings held in person/in absentia 1/15 2/2 2/1 0/1 

Ruben A. Aganbegyan
Independent Director 1/15 2/1 0/1 

Alexander A. Auzan
Independent Director 1/15 1/2 0/1 

Kirill A. Dmitriev 0/15

Anton A. Zlatopolsky 1/15

Sergei B. Ivanov 1/15

Sergei B. Kalugin 1/15

Anatoly A. Milyukov
Independent Director 1/15 2/2 1/1 0/1 

Mikhail I. Poluboyarinov 1/15

Alexander A. Pchelintsev 1/15 0/1 

Vadim V. Semenov
Independent Director 1/15 2/2 2/1 0/1 

Vitaly Yu. Sergeichuk 1/15 0/1 

Table 13. The Board of Directors effective until 21 June 2016 and meeting attendance

ATTENDANCE BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
AT THE MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND ITS COMMITTEES (HELD IN PERSON / IN ABSENTIA) IN 2016



  Annual report 2016  PJSC ROSTELECOM  117

Introduction Company  
Profile

Strategic  
Review

Operational 
Highlights

Financial 
Performance

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

Information  
for Shareholders  
and Investors

 Appendices

Item
Board  

of Directors
Audit  

Committee

Nomination and 
Remuneration 

Committee
Strategy  

Committee

Corporate  
Governance  
Committee

Meetings held in person/in absentia 2/9 0/3 1/1 1/1 0/1

Ruben A. Aganbegyan
Independent Director 1/9 1/1 1/1

Alexander A. Auzan
Independent Director 2/2 0/3 1/1

Kirill A. Dmitriev 2 (1) /9 0/1

Anton A. Zlatopolsky 2/9 0/1

Sergei B. Ivanov 2/9

Mikhail P. Irzhevsky 2/9 0/1

Sergei B. Kalugin 2/9

0/3 1/1

1/1 0/1

Anatoly A. Milyukov
Independent Director 2/9 1/1

Mikhail I. Poluboyarinov 2/9

Alexander A. Pchelintsev 2 (1) /9 1 (1) /1 0/1

Vadim V. Semenov
независимый директор 2/9 0/3 1/1 1 (1) /1

Table 14. The Board of Directors effective after 21 June 2016 and meeting attendance

(1) number of meetings held in person in which a member of the Board of Directors participated by written opinions is shown in brackets.

The Corporate Governance Committee43 of 
the Board of Directors effective until 21 June 
2016, did not hold any meetings in 1H 2016. 
The Investment Committee44 did not hold any 
meetings in 2016. 

A meeting of the Board of Directors is 
convened by decision of the Chairman of 
the Board of Directors or upon request 
of a member (members) of the Board 

of Directors, the Audit Commission, 
the external auditor or the Company’s 
President.

Resolutions of the Board of Directors are 
passed by a majority of all elected members 
of the Board of Directors, except when 
a different number of votes required to pass 
resolutions is specified by the Charter or 
applicable laws.

The Company’s Corporate Secretary provides 
quarterly performance reports to members 
of the Board of Directors on the execution of 
resolutions passed by the Board of Directors 
in the reporting quarter.

43  Membership before 21 June 2016: Kirill A. Dmitriev, Anton A. Zlatopolsky, Sergei B. Kalugin, Alexander A. Pchelintsev, Vitaly Yu. Sergeichuk.
44  Membership in 2016: Alexander A. Auzan, Oleg V. Byakhov, Sergei B. Kalugin.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PERFORMANCE 
REPORT FOR 2016

Focus areas of Rostelecom’s Board of 
Directors in 2016:   

 » Create the environment to maintain 
the Company’s consistent performance 
and growth prospects;

 » Boost the investment case;
 » Ensure effective control over asset 
management, including non-core assets, 
and over investment, financial and 
business activities;

 » Improve management performance and 
transparency;

 » Improve internal controls and secure 
shareholder rights. 

On its 2016 key agenda items the Board of 
Directors: 

 » Passed a number of resolutions 
to increase Rostelecom’s market 
share, accelerate revenue growth in 
new segments, and increase market 
capitalisation;

 » Discussed a range of matters on potential 
acquisition of regional broadband 
operators, specifically, acquisition by 
PJSC Bashinformsvyaz of a 100% interest 
in the charter capitals of LLC Morton 
Telecom, LLC Morton Telecom – West 
and LLC NTC, as well as 100% of ordinary 
shares in JSC AIST;

 » Approved the terms of reference for 
auditing the interim results of the Long-
Term Development Programme, and 
approved the report on progress against 
key performance indicators for 2015;

 » Approved a new Programme for Disposal 
of Non-Core Assets and the Register of 
Non-Core Assets;

 » Approved a number of deals to set up 
a joint venture with Sberbank Investments 
LLC; 

 » Approved key provisions of the new Long-
Term Incentive Programme and agreed 
on key provisions of the new corporate 
pension scheme;

 » Approved the Innovative Development 
Programme for 2016–2020;

 » Approved the Risk Management 
Programme for 2016 and the action plan 
for the Internal Audit Department;

 » Reviewed quarterly reports of the Senior 
Risk Manager and the annual report of 
the Senior Auditor, and assessed their 
performance.

For more details on matters discussed 
at the meetings of the Board of Directors 
see Appendix 7 Information on Meetings of 
the Board of Directors and Its Committees to 
this Annual Report.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS

To improve corporate governance standards 
and address most complex matters subject 
to deep-dive analysis, Rostelecom set up five 
Committees of the Board of Directors:

For more details on matters discussed at 
the meetings of Committees of the Board 
of Directors see Appendix 7 Information on 
Meetings of the Board of Directors and Its 
Committees to this Annual Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee45 develops 
recommendations and provides support to 
the Board of Directors in reviewing financial 
statements and other related documents, 
internal controls and risk management. 
The Committee also assesses performance 
of internal and external audit, accounting 
and financial reporting. 

In 2016, the Committee was particularly 
focused on refining the risk management 
programme, and on further improving 
the quality of internal audit and control 
through reviewing quarterly reports of 
the Senior Risk Manager and the Senior 
Auditor. In March 2017, following a meeting 
with the Company’s external auditor, 
the Audit Committee positively assessed 
the external audit of the Company’s annual 
RAS accounting statements and IFRS 
consolidated financial statements for 2016.

45  Version No. 3 of the Regulations on the Audit Committee was approved by the Board of Directors on 8 October 2015, Minutes No. 9 dated 9 October 2015.
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NOMINATION  
AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE  

The Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee46 develops recommendations 
to the Board of Directors on amounts of 
compensation for the Company’s President 
and top management, and also develops and 
assesses target KPIs for the Company’s top 
managers and other employees. In addition, 
the Committee is responsible for assessing 
the employee management performance.

STRATEGY COMMITTEE

The Strategy Committee47 is responsible for 
providing recommendations to the Board of 
Directors on development of business plans, 
budget planning and asset acquisitions. 
The Committee also ensures constructive 
dialogue on long-term financial and 
strategic planning between top managers 
and the Board of Directors.

In 2016, the Strategy Committee 
focused on monitoring the strategy 
performance, particularly, when developing 
recommendations to the Board of Directors 
on M&A, IR, and dividend policy agenda 
items. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee48 is 
responsible for resolving corporate conflicts, 
enhancing corporate governance and 
improving the performance of the Company’s 
Board of Directors. For this purpose, in 
2016, the Committee discussed the revised 
Regulations on the Corporate Secretary, 
the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee, and the Corporate Governance 
Committee, which were subsequently 
approved by the Board of Directors.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Investment Committee49 was 
set up to improve the Company’s 
business performance through taking 
due account of consumer opinions in 
the Company’s investment policy, ensuring 
the transparency of decision-making on 
public telecommunications tariffs, and 
through approving investment projects and 
programmes that are subject to regulation 
under the Federal Law On Natural 
Monopolies.

CORPORATE SECRETARY

To comply with the procedures designed to 
secure the rights and legitimate interests 
of shareholders, Rostelecom introduced 
the role of Corporate Secretary.

The Corporate Secretary facilitates 
coordination between the Company and 
the Board of Directors, organises activities of 
the Board of Directors and its Committees, 
and assists the Company’s governing bodies 
in following corporate governance rules and 
procedures.

The Corporate Secretary is elected by 
a simple majority of votes cast by members 
of the Board of Directors.

The Corporate Secretary reports to 
the Board of Directors.

The Company has stringent requirements 
for the person elected to this position. 
The Corporate Secretary should have 
the knowledge sufficient to perform their 
duties and an impeccable reputation.

Ekaterina S. Mironova has been 
the Company’s Corporate Secretary since 
2011. She was born in 1981 and graduated 
from Tula State University (degree in 
Linguistics and Translation) in 2003. Prior 
to joining Rostelecom, Ekaterina Mironova 
was a Government Relations Manager at 
OJSC MegaFon (2003–2011).

46  Version No. 3 of the Regulations on the Nomination and Remuneration Committee was approved by the Board of Directors on 10 November 2016, Minutes No. 7 dated 10 November 2016.
47  Version No. 3 of the Regulations on the Strategy Committee was approved by the Board of Directors on 8 October 2015, Minutes No. 9 dated 9 October 2015.
48  Version No. 4 of the Regulations on the Corporate Governance Committee was approved by the Board of Directors on 10 November 2016, Minutes No. 7 dated 10 November 2016.
49  The Regulations on the Investment Committee were approved by the Board of Directors on 8 October 2015, Minutes No. 9 dated 9 October 2015.



120   PJSC ROSTELECOM  Annual report 2016

107  Corporate Governance
Practice

109  Corporate Governance
Structure

110  Governing Bodies 
126  Control Bodies 
132  Remuneration
139  Information Disclosure
140  Directors’ and Officers’

(D&O) Liability Insurance

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

PRESIDENT AND MANAGEMENT BOARD  

Role: Management of day-to-day operations 
of the Company.
 
Authority: The Management Board’s scope 
of authority covers all matters pertaining 
to management of the Company’s day-to-
day operations, except for those referred to 
the jurisdiction of the General Shareholders’ 
Meetings or the Board of Directors.  

MANAGEMENT BOARD’S PERFORMANCE 
REPORT FOR 2016

In 2016, the Company’s Management Board 
held 36 meetings, including 1 meeting held 
in person and 35 meetings held in absentia.

KEY AGENDA ITEMS

In the reporting period, the Management 
Board discussed the Company’s operations 
and drafting further development plans, in 
particular, held regular discussions on:

 » Reports on budget performance and 
drafting the budget for 2017;

 » Technical policy and transformation of 
communications networks;

 » Progress under the Risk Management 
Programme;

 » Projects to improve operational excellence 
and reduce costs.

 
The Company’s Management Board also 
addressed various other matters to ensure 
high quality of the Company’s decisions.

Focus area Items discussed

Improvement of operational efficiency

 »  optimisation of procurement
 »  decommissioning of analogue network 
equipment

 »  changes in the organisation of the Company’s 
branches

Development of corporate governance 
standards

 »  development and approval of the Risk 
Management Programme

 »  internal control development concept

Social responsibility  » charity and sponsorship initiatives

Preparation of materials and matters 
referred to the Board of Directors

 » preview of related-party transactions

Table 15. 
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MANAGEMENT BOARD

MIKHAIL E. OSEEVSKY 
CHAIRMAN OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD  
AND PRESIDENT OF ROSTELECOM SINCE 4 MARCH 2017.

Born in: 1960. 
 
Education: Kalinin Leningrad Polytechnic Institute (degree in 
Electrical Engineering – Electrophysics). Doctor of Economics. 
 
Work experience:  
Mr Oseevsky has a strong track record in holding of high-
ranking positions at major government agencies and business 
entities. Staff member at D.V. Efremov Institute of Electrophysical 
Apparatus (NIIEFA) (1986–1993). Deputy Manager and Manager 
of CJSC Saint-Petersburg Currency Exchange (1993–1999). 
Deputy Chairman of the Management Board of OJSC Industrial 
and Construction Bank, St. Petersburg since 1999; appointed 
First Deputy Chairman of the Management Board in 2001. 
Vice Governor of St. Petersburg, Head of the Administration of 
the Governor of St. Petersburg (2003–2011). Deputy Minister of 
Economic Development of the Russian Federation (2011–2012). 
Deputy President of VTB Bank (PJSC) (July 2012–March 2017).

ALEXANDER E. ABRAMKOV 
VICE-PRESIDENT AND DIRECTOR OF THE CENTRE 
MACROREGIONAL BRANCH, JOINED THE COMPANY IN 2013.

Born in: 1977. 
 
Education: Saint Petersburg State University  
(degree in Management). 
 
Work experience:  
From 1999 to 2005, moved up from a financial manager to 
CFO at CJSC St. Petersburg Taxophones and OJSC National 
Payphone Network. From 2005 to 2006, Director of Finance at 
the North–West Region, OJSC VimpelCom. From 2006 to 2007, 
Deputy CEO for Economics and Finance at Abros Investment 
Company LLC. From 2007 to 2008, Deputy CEO for Construction 
and Procurement at OJSC Gazprom neft. From 2008 to 2009, 
Deputy CEO for Economics and Finance at OJSC National 
Telecommunications. From 2010 to 2013, Head of the Internal 
Audit, Controlling and Risk Management Unit at OJSC Inter RAO.
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SERGEI N. ANOKHIN 
SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT,  
JOINED THE COMPANY IN 2017.

Born in: 1983. 
 
Education: Plekhanov Russian University of Economics  
(degree in Finance and Credit). 
 
 
 
Work experience:  
In 2000, started his career in a high-tech sector, at SAS, where 
he was promoted from a consultant and Head of projects for 
implementation of planning and financial reporting systems to 
Head of financial sector practice. In 2007, moved to the banking 
sector and joined the VTB24 retail bank, where he served as 
Vice-President and Department Head and was promoted to Vice-
President and Deputy CFO in 2011.

In 2014, became CFO of the mid-sized business sector and 
Senior Vice-President of the VTB parent bank, where he was in 
charge of finances at VTB Group’s newly established business 
line focused on medium-sized businesses.

From 2015 to 2016, also served as Head of the Economic 
Planning Department at the Bank of Moscow, where he was in 
charge of department functions and integration of processes, 
systems and staff during the merger of the Bank of Moscow 
and VTB Bank. Mr Anokhin contributed to the development and 
implementation of corporate strategies both at VTB24 and VTB.

VLADIMIR S. KIRIENKO 
SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT FOR BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT  
AND MANAGEMENT, JOINED THE COMPANY IN 2016.

Born in: 1983. 
 
Education: National Research University Higher School of 
Economics (degree in Economics and Company Management); 
Moscow School of Management SKOLKOVO (Executive MBA). 
 
 
Work experience:  
From 2005 to 2011, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Volga 
TV Company, a member and Chairman of the Board of Directors 
of OJSC Joint-Stock Commercial Bank SarovBusinessBank. 
From 2008 to 2011, Chairman of the Board of Directors at 
Nizhegorodpromstroibank. From 2011 to 2016, CFO and Chairman 
of the Board of Directors of Kapital LLC. Mr Kirienko has a track 
record in private equity investments in Russian companies and 
IT sector.
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KAI-UWE MEHLHORN 
SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT AND CFO,  
JOINED THE COMPANY IN 2013. 
 
Born in: 1966.

Education: Martin Luther University (Halle, Germany), MGIMO 
University, Department of International Economic Relations; 
Harvard Business School (Boston), the Advanced Management 
Programme (AMP). 
 
Work experience:  
Mr Mehlhorn started his career at Mannesmann Rexroth GmbH 
in 1991. Siemens AG (1992–2007). CFO of Tele2 (2007–2008). 
Deputy CEO for Financial and Economic Affairs in OJSC MegaFon 
(2009–2011).

Deputy General Director for Financial and Economic Affairs of 
online retailer KupiVip Holding (KupiVIP, KupiLux & ShopTime) 
in 2012.

DMITRY V. PROSKURA 
VICE-PRESIDENT AND DIRECTOR OF THE VOLGA 
MACROREGIONAL BRANCH, JOINED THE COMPANY IN 2011. 
 
Born in: 1970.

Education: Kirov Polytechnic Institute, Moscow Technical 
University of Communications and Informatics, Mirbis Moscow 
Higher International Business School. Doctor of Economics, 
Executive МВА. 
 
Work experience:  
Mr Proskura has worked in the telecommunications industry 
since 1992. Having started out as a software engineer at 
OJSC Kirovelektrosvyaz, he worked his way up to become 
a Deputy Director for Marketing at the Kirov branch of 
OJSC VolgaTelecom. In April 2006, he became Deputy General 
Director of OJSC VolgaTelecom and Director of the Kirov branch. 
From July 2007 to March 2011, Deputy General Director of 
OJSC VolgaTelecom and Director of the Nizhny Novgorod branch, 
before appointment as Director of the Nizhny Novgorod branch of 
OJSC Rostelecom. In April 2011, he was appointed Vice-President 
of Rostelecom and Director of the Volga Macroregional Branch.
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GALINA V. RYSAKOVA 
SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT FOR ORGANISATIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT AND HUMAN RESOURCES,  
JOINED THE COMPANY IN 2001. 
 
Born in: 1967. 
 
Education: Lomonosov Moscow State University,  
Department of Law. 
 
 
Work experience:  
Senior Engineer, Group Leader and then HR Manager of 
OJSC Sheremetyevo International Airport (1989–2001). 
In December 2001, Ms Rysakova was appointed Head of the HR 
Section in the Organisational Development and HR Directorate of 
Rostelecom. In September 2003, was appointed Acting Director 
for Organisational Development and Human Resources, and 
subsequently Director of Organizational Development and HR 
Management of Rostelecom.

In July 2006, was appointed Director of Organisational Development 
and HR Department of Rostelecom. In 2011, she started to serve 
as Executive Director and Director for Organisational Development 
and Human Resources. Senior Vice-President for Organisational 
Development and Human Resources since June 2013.

ALEXEI V. SAPUNOV 
SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT FOR TECHNICAL INFRASTRUCTURE, 
JOINED THE COMPANY IN 2013. 
 
 
Born in: 1977. 
 
Education: Moscow State Engineering Physics Institute  
(degree in Electronics and Automation of Physical Installations). 
 
Work experience:  
In 2001, started to work in the telecommunications industry as 
an engineer at OJSC Combellga (OJSC VimpelCom since 2010). 
Worked his way up from an engineer to become Transport Network 
Director. In April 2013, he was appointed Executive Director – 
Infrastructure Director of Rostelecom. In August 2014, Mr Sapunov 
was appointed Executive Director and Network Development Director 
of Rostelecom. In April 2015, he was appointed Vice-President and 
Director of the Far-East Macroregional Branch of PJSC Rostelecom. 
In October 2016, became Senior Vice-President for Technical 
Infrastructure of PJSC Rostelecom.
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From 2013 to 3 March 2017, the office 
of President and Chairman of 
the Management Board was held by 
Sergei Kalugin. For detailed biographies 
of all members of the Management 
Board in 2016, as well as their shares 
in the Company’s stock, see Appendix 
2 Governing and Control Bodies to this 
Annual Report.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No conflicts of interest involving the above-
mentioned members of the Management 
Board were identified in 2016.

COMMITTEES OF  
THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

To improve the performance of 
the Management Board, the Company has 
in place four committees.

BUDGET AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

In the reporting year, the Committee:  
 »  Reviewed and evaluated the Company’s 
investment projects and programmes 
planned for 2016 and 2017, made decisions 
on their feasibility;

 »  Reviewed budgets of the Company’s 
business units and branches as part of 
drafting Rostelecom’s consolidated budget 
for 2017;

 » Reviewed operational efficiency projects, 
including:

• reduction of operating costs associated 
with operation of equipment and 
communications lines to bring telecoms 
services to rural areas;

• assessment of performance and 
optimisation of sales and service 
channels;

• optimisation of office space and business 
facilities;

• monitoring of the progress on investment 
KPIs for 2016;

• integration of methods to assess hands-
on projects.

 
COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

In the reporting year, the Committee:
 »  Made decisions on ad-hoc bonuses 
to employees for significant personal 
contributions to the Company’s business, 
as well as for timely and effective 
operational performance;

 » Allocated funds for employees having 
elective surgery;

 » Screened eligible talent for participation 
in the long-term incentive programme, to 
be further approved by the Management 
Board.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

In the reporting year, the Committee:
 »  Previewed risk management matters 
requiring further decisions of the 
President, the Management Board and 
the Audit Committee of the Board of 
Directors;

 »  Supervised the use of risk management 
tools with due account of all types of risks 
and all the Company’s organisational 
levels;

 »  Resolved disagreements associated with 
the risk management process (including 
disagreements on risk assessment, 
proposed risk management initiatives, 
their implementation, etc.);

 »  Approved the register of risks and risk 
evaluations;

 »  Made decisions on risk management and 
approved risk management initiatives;

 »  Supervised the implementation and 
performance of risk management 
initiatives.

CHARITY COMMITTEE

In the reporting year, the Committee: 
 »  Approved charity projects for:
• the Bolshoi Theatre of Russia;
• the Council of the Regional Public 

Organisation of Veterans of the Great 
Patriotic War and Labour under 
the Head Office of the Government 
Communications Agency;

• the Amur Tiger Centre Non-Profit 
Organisation.

 »  Supported and enhanced an online 
educational programme for residents 
and graduates of orphanages and foster 
homes in Russian regions, and allocated 
funds for New Year celebrations;

 » Participated in the Dushevny Bazar 
(Heartwarming Fair) charity fair;

 » Contributed to the financing of health and 
social initiatives providing treatment and 
health care for severely ill children.
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INTERNAL AUDIT

The Internal Audit Unit (IAU) functionally 
reports to the Board of Directors and 
submits its performance reports to 
the Audit Committee of the Board of 
Directors and the Board of Directors. 
The IAU is led by the Senior Auditor.

The IAU has the following organisational 
levels:

 » Senior Auditor;
 » Internal Audit Department at 
the Headquarters;

 »  Internal Audit Departments at macro-
regional branches;

 »  Internal auditors at subsidiaries and 
affiliates.

In 2016, the set-up of the IAU was 
optimised, reducing its total headcount50 
from 142 to 123 employees by the end of 
2016.

Key objectives of the IAU51:
 »  Support the Board of Directors and 
executive bodies of the Company 
in increasing the effectiveness of 
management and improving financial and 
business performance; 

 » Conduct independent objective reviews 
and develop recommendations to improve 
the Company’s performance;

 » Ensure a holistic and consistent approach 
to evaluating and improving internal 
controls, risk management and corporate 
governance;

 »  Perform reasonable assessment of 
the feasibility of Company’s objectives.

Responsibilities of the IAU:
 »  Assess the internal control system (ICS);
 »  Assessing the Risk Management System;
 »  Assess the corporate governance 
framework;

 » Advise on the set-up of the ICS, risk 
management, corporate governance; 
engage with working groups, 
commissions, committees, other advisory 
and consulting bodies, and take part in 
corporate events;

 » Develop and monitor the implementation 
of regulations on receiving, reviewing 
and storing complaints and requests 
on accounting, internal control over 
accounting procedures, fraud, audit 
and compliance with the Code of Ethics, 
and set up hotlines to address relevant 
concerns;

 » Maintain relations with the external 
auditor;

 » Monitor the completeness, quality and 
timely implementation of measures 
to remove defects in, and improve 
the performance of, business processes;

 » Develop, introduce and continuously 
improve the internal audit concept, 
a uniform approach to internal 
audit, including testing of the ICS for 
compliance with the Company’s policies, 
procedures, regulations, international 
occupational standards, and arrange for 
ongoing enhancement of professional 
training of IAU employees.

In 2016, the IAU performed its duties 
through reviewing the Company’s business 
processes and performing due diligence 
of macro-regional branches, in line with 
the Action Plan for 2016.52

The IAU’s advisory functions included 
preventive control (alignment of internal 
regulatory, executive and other draft 
documents) and analytics.

As a result of its advisory services to 
management and audits, in 2016, the IAU 
developed recommendations on how to 
improve the Company’s business through 
better performance of the ICS and risk 
mitigation. 

Information on all material aspects of 
the internal control, corporate governance 
and risk management was communicated 
to the Audit Committee and the Board 
of Directors through the IAU’s quarterly 
reports.

50  Excluding subsidiaries and affiliates.
51  In line with the Regulations on the Internal Audit (Version No. 5 was approved by Minutes of the Board of Directors No. 12 dated 27 November 2015).
52  Approved by Minutes of the Board of Directors No. 19 dated 15 February 2016.

Control  
Bodies
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Risk Management Unit (RMU) 
functionally reports to the Board of 
Directors and submits corporate 
risk management reports to 
the Risk Management Committee of 
the Management Board, the Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors and 
the Board of Directors. The RMU is led by 
the Senior Risk Manager.

The RMU has the following organisational 
levels:
 »  Senior Risk Manager;
 »  Risk Management Department at 
the Headquarters;

 »  Risk managers at macro-regional 
branches;

 »  Risk managers at subsidiaries and 
affiliates.

In line with the Risk Management Policy,53 
the Senior Risk Manager sets up, monitors 
and maintains the risk management 
system. The RMU comprises the Risk 
Management Department, a business 
unit functionally and administratively 
reporting to the Senior Risk Manager. 
Rostelecom’s management is responsible 
for management of the key corporate risks 
and monitoring of the risk management 
system. The Board of Directors is 
responsible for the overall monitoring of 
risk management performance.

The RMU is responsible for monitoring 
and development of the risk management 
across Rostelecom Group, the Company’s 
subsidiaries and affiliates through:
 »  Identification and assessment of 
the Company’s risks to ensure that risks 
are monitored continuously and risk 
management activities are complete and 
effective;

 » Exchange of information on risk 
management across the Company’s 
business units and governing 
bodies under the Risk Management 
Programme54 and through quarterly risk 
management reports;

 » Development of documents based on 
the international best practices, to 
regulate the methods and procedure for 
routine coordination of the Company’s 
business units within risk management 
processes;

 » Reporting on risk management and 
the submission of reports for review, 
agreement, and approval by Management 
Board, the Board of Directors and their 
Committees.

As at the end of 2016, the total headcount of 
the RMU55 was 12 employees. 

All of the Company’s business units 
and employees are fully involved in risk 
management and in updating risks and risk 
response strategies.

53  Approved by Minutes of the Board of Directors No. 12 dated 24 November 2015.
54  The 2016 Risk Management Programme was approved by Minutes of the Board of Directors No. 19 dated 15 February 2016. 

The 2017 Risk Management Programme was approved by Minutes of the Board of Directors No. 11 dated 29 December 2016
55  Excluding subsidiaries and affiliates.
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INTERNAL CONTROL  

The Internal Control Unit (ICU) was set 
up by Rostelecom Group in 2016 and 
administratively reports to the Company’s 
management through its Chief Accountant. 
The ICU’s current headcount is five 
employees. Internal controls are used 
to provide reasonable assurance of 
achievement of the Company’s targets 
as regards its performance, reliability of 
financial statements and compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations. 
To achieve these targets, the Company 
set up and is continuously enhancing 
its ICS56. Key goals and objectives 
assigned to the ICS, its organisation 
and functioning procedures, as well as 
roles and responsibilities of its members 
are specified in Company’s internal 
regulations57.

Rostelecom set up and is enhancing the ICS 
to:
 »  Facilitate protection of the interests of 
shareholders, investors and customers; 
prevent and resolve conflicts of interest; 
maintain strong corporate governance; 
provide the most effective support to 
achievement of the Company’s targets, 
including adjustment to the changing 
internal and external environment;

 »  Encourage the Company’s compliance 
with applicable laws and internal 
regulations;

 »  Create a supportive environment for 
timely preparation and presentation of 
reliable financial, accounting, statistical, 
management and other reporting data for 
external and internal users;

 »  Contribute to protection of the Company’s 
assets and sustainable use of the 
Company’s resources and growth 
potential.

The ICS is based on a risk-focused 
approach: the Company’s management and 
employees primarily focus on incorporating 
and enhancing the ICS functionality 
addressing the lines of business that 
are most exposed to risk. The President 
and management of the Company are 
responsible for setting up and maintaining 
an efficient ICS to monitor the Company’s 
operations, while the Internal Control Unit 
ensures the integration, maintenance and 
enhancement of the ICS. 

Key competencies of the President and 
management of the Company within the ICS 
are used to:
 »  Identify ICS enhancement and 
improvement areas;

 »  Assess the performance of the ICU, 
including the ICS testing results;

 »  Allocate responsibilities for implementing 
resolutions on internal control passed by 
the Company’s management.

Key roles of the Internal Control Unit in 
the ICS:
 »  Coordinate and develop methods to 
integrate, maintain and enhance the ICS;

 » Provide training on ICS integration for 
the Company’s employees;

 » Notify heads of business units and 
managers of the current status of the ICS, 
including key gaps identified during 
ICS assessment and their elimination 
progress;

 » Notify ICS units of changes in 
approaches, internal regulations, laws or 
other relevant requirements.

Members of the Board of Directors are also 
strongly committed to ICS improvement: 
they determine the general ICS profile, 
analyse the ICS performance and 
alignment with the Company’s scale of 
operations and environment. Should those 
change, they review the results of the ICS 
performance assessment, any identified 
material gaps and recommendations for 
their elimination.

The Audit Committee of the Board 
of Directors is responsible for more 
detailed review and development of 
recommendations on the above matters, 
including assessment of the Company’s 
adherence to internal control principles and 
the overall ISC performance (taking into 
account, inter alia, reports of internal audit 
and control units). The Audit Committee 

56  In line with the Corporate Governance Code of the Bank of Russia, guidelines of the Ministry of Finance of the Russian Federation On the Set-up and Implementation of Internal Control over 
Business Operations, Accounting and Preparation of Accounting (Financial) Statements by Economic Entities, Russian laws and international best practices.  

57  Rostelecom’s Internal Control Development Concept (approved by Minutes of the Board of Directors No. 8 dated 30 September 2015) and the Procedure for Implementing, Maintaining and  
Developing Internal Control over PJSC Rostelecom’s Financial Reporting (approved by Order of the President No. 01/01/1200-16 dated 29 December 2016).



  Annual report 2016  PJSC ROSTELECOM  129

Introduction Company  
Profile

Strategic  
Review

Operational 
Highlights

Financial 
Performance

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

Information  
for Shareholders  
and Investors

 Appendices

also makes recommendations on 
the ICS enhancement. The Internal Audit 
Department strongly supports the Audit 
Committee and the Board of Directors 
by performing independent assessment 
of the ISC performance and developing 
relevant recommendations based on 
the assessment results.

The ICS integrates efficient communication 
channels to develop a common 
understanding of the processes related 
to ICS set-up and operation among all 
relevant stakeholders, and to ensure 
the use of these processes. Materials 
on the ICS operation, performance 
assessment, identified gaps and 
recommended corrective actions are 
submitted to the Board of Directors, 
the Audit Committee, the President and 
the Management Board, to make decisions 
on further improvements to the ICS.

AUDIT COMMISSION

In accordance with the Company’s Charter, 
the Audit Commission is an independent 
body, which monitors the Company’s 
financial and business performance in-
between consecutive General Shareholders’ 
Meetings. The Audit Commission is elected 
by, and reports to, the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting.

COMPOSITION OF THE AUDIT COMMISSION58  

AUDIT COMMISSION PERFORMANCE 
IN 2016

The Audit  Commission audited the financial 
and business performance of the Company 
for the reporting period. This audit was 
based on audit sampling techniques used 
to review certain operations. The audit was 
also based on documents, accounting and 
tax ledgers, registers and clarifications 
provided by the Company’s management.

58  On 21 June 2016, the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting elected seven members of the effective Audit Commission,
based  on FY2015 results.

Alexander V. Shevchouk 
Chairman of the Audit 
Commission

Executive Director of the Association of Professional Investors

Alexander S. Vasilchenko Deputy Director of the Corporate Governance Department of 
the Ministry of Economic Development of the Russian Federation

Valentina F. Veremyanina Deputy General Director for Legal Affairs and Corporate 
Governance of OJSC Severneftegazprom

Vasily V. Garshin Assistant Manager at VTB Bank (PJSC)

Ilya I. Karpov

Head of the Department for Privatisation of Entities in Regulated 
Industries of the Property Management Office and Privatisation 
of Major Entities of the Federal Agency for State Property 
Management of the Russian Federation

Mikhail P. Krasnov Secretary of the Audit Commission,  
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of JSC VERYSELL ISA

Alexander S. Ponkin
Deputy Director of the Department for Regulation of Radio 
Frequencies and Telecom Networks at the Ministry of Telecom 
and Mass Communications of the Russian Federation

As part of the audit, the Audit Commission 
also assessed the procedure for disclosing 
and reporting data on the Company’s 
financial and business performance, 
accounting policies and principles, 
and guidelines for preparing financial 
statements and annual reports.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

On 21 June 2016, the FY2015 AGM approved 
Ernst & Young LLC as the Company’s 
independent auditor for 2016 and 1H 2017, 
based on FY2015 results and as proposed 
by the Board of Directors and its Audit 
Committee. The independent auditor 
confirms the accuracy of financial 
statements at General Shareholders’ 
Meetings.
The auditor’s address:  
77/1 Sadovnicheskaya Naberezhnaya, 
Moscow, 115035, Russia.

Phone/fax:  
+7 495 755 9700 / +7 495 755 9701.

Membership in the self-regulating 
organisation of auditors:  
Member of Audit Chamber of Russia Non-
Profit Partnership. Ernst & Young LLC is 
included in the control copy of the register 
of auditors and audit organisations, main 
registration number: 11603050648.

E-mail: pr@ru.ey.com
Website: www.ey.com/ru/

PROCEDURES FOR SELECTING 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

In 2016, the Company held a public 
tender to award a contract for auditing 
Rostelecom’s accounting statements as 
at and for the year ended 31 December 
2016, prepared in accordance with RAS; 
consolidated financial statements as 
at and for the year ended 31 December 
2016, prepared in accordance with IFRS; 
consolidated financial statements59 as at 
and for the year ended 31 December 2016; 
general review of consolidated financial 
statements (balance sheet, statements 
of comprehensive income, cash flow, 
changes in equity) as at and for the periods 
ending on 31 March 2016, 30 September 
2016, and 31 March 2017; general review of 
condensed interim consolidated financial 
statements prepared in accordance with 
IFRS60 as at and for six-month periods 
ending on 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2017.

The procedures used for selecting 
independent auditors and ensuring their 
independence and objectivity are regulated 
by Federal Laws of Russia61.

Potential auditors are assessed against 
the following criteria:

 »  Contract price;
 »  Quality of the audit methodology, 
including description of approaches 
to organising and conducting audits, 
description of internal control over the 
fulfilment of obligations;

 »  Estimate of the total audit hours under 
the service schedule (calendar plan): 
reasonable and clear ratio of field vs 
office audit time; reasonable match 
between the delivery time and the scope 
of assigned tasks;

 »  Availability of documents certifying 
completion of the external quality control 
procedures and the results of external 
quality control reviews;

 »  Information on the auditor’s RAS and 
IFRS (and/or US GAAP) audits performed 
over the last three consecutive years 
(2013–2015) for companies included in 
the rating of the 500 largest companies 
of Russia (RBC 500), with revenues 
exceeding RUB 20 billion;

 »  Information on the auditor’s RAS and 
IFRS (simultaneous) audits performed 
over the last three consecutive years 
(2013–2015) for state-controlled entities 
(with more than 50% of the charter 
capital owned by the state).

59  Prepared in accordance with Federal Law of Russia No. 208-FZ dated 27 July 2010.
60  Prepared in accordance with IFRS 34.
61  Federal Law No. 44-FZ dated 5 April 2013 On the Contract System in State and Municipal Procurement of Goods, Work and Services and Federal Law No. 307-FZ dated 30 December 2008 

On Auditing Activities.
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The assessment results revealed 
no factors affecting the auditors’ 
independence, including any material 
interests, which would relate such auditors 
or their officials with PJSC Rostelecom: 

 »  The auditors hold no interest in the 
Charter Capital of the Company;

 »  The Company does not provide any loans 
to the auditor;

 »  There are no close business relations 
(such as promoting the Company’s 
products/services, joint undertakings, 
etc.);

 »  No Company officials hold positions in 
relevant audit firms.

62  Including any shipment and transportation expenses, customs duties, taxes and other mandatory payments required by applicable Russian laws.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fee payable to Ernst & Young LLC 
for audit-related services rendered for 
the Company’s financial statements in 
2016 and 1H 2017 totals RUB 102,660,000 
(including VAT)62. In 2016, Ernst & Young 
LLC did not render any non-audit services 
to the Company. As at 31 December 2016, 
the Company paid RUB 16,594,222 (including 
VAT) of the auditor’s total fee. The remaining 
amount is to be paid in 2017, in accordance 
with the terms of the Contract made with 
Ernst & Young LLC.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’  
REMUNERATION POLICY63

The annual remuneration payable to 
each member of the Company’s Board 
of Directors is fixed at RUB 4 million. 
A coefficient of 1.5 is used to calculate the 
remuneration payable to the Chairman 
of the Board of Directors. Remuneration 
amount is determined by the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting based on 
the recommendations of the Board of 
Directors.

Remuneration of a member of the Board 
of Directors may be reduced by: 

 »  10% if he/she was absent from up to 
25% (inclusive) of the Board of Directors’ 
meetings held in person or in absentia;

 »  30% if he/she was absent from more 
than 25% and less than 50% (inclusive) of 
the Board of Directors’ meetings held in 
person or in absentia;

 »  100% if he/she was absent from more 
than 50% of the Board of Directors’ 
meetings held in person or in absentia.

When calculating the reduction of 
the remuneration amount, the number of 
meetings held in person (by in absentia), 
in which the relevant Director failed to 
take part, is taken into account, except for 

the meeting of the Board of Directors held 
on the day of the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting at which the Board of Directors was 
elected.

If there were changes in the composition 
of the Board of Directors and/or changes 
in the terms of performance by a member 
of the Board of Directors of his/her duties 
(paid/unpaid) in the period between 
the election of the Board of Directors 
by the Annual General Shareholders’ 
Meetingand the next Annual General 
Shareholders’ Meeting, the remuneration is 
accrued and paid pro rata, based on the time 
when the relevant member of the Board of 
Director performed his/her duties on a paid 
basis.

The annual remuneration of a member of 
the Board of Directors is paid not later than 
one month after holding the Annual General 
Shareholders’ Meeting for the year when 
the Board of Directors was elected.

Annual remuneration payable to members 
of the Board of Directors who are also 
members of the Audit Committee of 
the Board of Directors totals RUB 400,000. 
A coefficient of 1.25 is used to calculate 
the remuneration payable to the Chairman 
of the Audit Committee of the Board of 
Directors.

Annual remuneration of RUB 320,000 
is payable to members of the Board of 
Directors who are also members of other 
committees of the Board of Directors. 

A coefficient of 1.25 is used to calculate 
the remuneration payable to the Chairman 
of the relevant Committee.

If there were changes in the composition 
of a Committee during the year, 
the remuneration is accrued and paid pro 
rata, based on the time when the relevant 
member of the Committee performed his/
her duties.

PAYMENTS TO MEMBERS  
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Significant reduction of the remuneration 
amount paid to members of the Board of 
Directors in 2015–2016 is attributable to 
amendments in the remuneration system 
approved by the AGM in 2014.

63  Outlined in Version No. 14 of the Regulations on the Board of Directors approved by the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting on 21 June 2016, Minutes No. 1 dated 23 June 2016.

Figure 52. Remuneration paid 
to the Board of Directors  
in 2012–2016, RUB m

201420132012 2015

32.2

2016

27.4

174.0
208.4

162.5

Remuneration
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In 2016, the Company paid RUB 32.2 million 
to members of the Board of Directors as 
remuneration for performing the duties of 
members of the Board of Directors and its 
committees. No reimbursement of expenses 
or other payments were made to members 
of the Board of Directors. No loans (credit 
facilities) were granted by the Company 
to members of the Board of Directors. 

In 2016, members of the Board of Directors 
who were not employed with the Company 
did not participate in the long-term incentive 
programme for the Company’s management. 
Salaries and bonuses paid in 2016 to Sergei 
Kalugin and Mikhail Irzhevsky, who 
simultaneously held positions on the Board 
of Directors and the Management Board, are 

included in the total amount of salaries and 
bonuses paid to the Company’s Management 
Board. According to the current Regulations 
on the Board of Directors, members of 
the Board of Directors who are employees 
of Rostelecom or public officials receive no 
remuneration for serving on the Board of 
Directors.

Name 
Remuneration for serving 
on the Board of Directors

Remuneration for serving 
on the Audit Committee of 

the Board of Directors

Remuneration for serving 
on the Strategy Committee 

of the Board of Directors

Remuneration for serving 
on the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee 
of the Board of Directors

Ruben A. Aganbegyan 4,000,000.00 0.00 224,000.00 400,000.00

Anton A. Zlatopolsky 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Sergei B. Kalugin 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Anatoly A. Milyukov 4,000,000.00 400,000.00 400,000.00 288,000.00

Vadim V. Semenov 4,000,000.00 500,000.00 320,000.00 320,000.00

Alexander A. Auzan 4,000,000.00 360,000.00 320,000.00 0.00

Kirill A. Dmitriev 3,600,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Sergei B. Ivanov* 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Alexander A. Pchelintsev 4,000,000.00 0.00 320,000.00 0.00

Mikhail I. Poluboyarinov 4,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Vitaly Yu. Sergeichuk** 752,688.17 0.00 42,150.54 0.00

Total, by type of payment 28,352,688.17 1,260,000.00 1,626,150.54 1,008,000.00

Grand total 32,246,838.71

Table 16. Individual payments to members of the Board of Directors, RUB

Note: The specified remuneration amount was paid based on the performance of the Board of Directors effective until 21 June 2016. 

*   Chairman of the Board of Directors
** Public official until 21 April 2016 (inclusive)
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Table 17. Payments to members of the Management Board in 2016, RUBPRESIDENT AND MANAGEMENT BOARD

PRESIDENT’S REMUNERATION POLICY

The President’s compensation package 
is determined in his contract approved 
by the Board of Directors. The following 
rewards are also payable to the President 
in accordance with the resolution of 
the Board of Directors: 

 »  Quarterly bonus for good-faith 
performance of duties and achievement 
of quarterly budget targets;

 »  Annual bonus for good-faith performance 
of duties and achievement of annual KPIs 
approved by the Board of Directors.

PROCEDURE FOR CALCULATING 
REMUNERATION OF MEMBERS OF 
THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

Currently, no remuneration is payable 
to members of the Management Board 
following the resolution of the Board 
of Directors dated 8 October 2015 
to deem invalid the Regulations on 
the Remuneration of Members of 
the Management Board. 

In Q2 2016, remuneration for Q3 2015 in 
the amount of RUB 3.5 million was last paid 
to members of the Management Board.

Payment type Paid in the reporting year

Remuneration 3,514,774.00

Salary 144,447,189.44

Bonuses 255,803,394.78

including monetary funds allocated 
for purchasing the Company’s 
ordinary shares

191,449,806.78

Commission fees –

Benefits –

Reimbursement of expenses –

Other –

Grand total 403,765,358.22

Table 18. Payments to top five highest paid members of executive bodies / key executives
 in 2016, RUB

Payment type Paid in the reporting year

Remuneration for serving on 
the Management Board 1,309,774.00

Salary 144,631,722.88

Bonuses 240,262,332.56

Commission fees –

Benefits –

Reimbursement of expenses –

Other –

Grand total 386,203,829.44
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Figure 53. Remuneration paid to 
members of the Management 
Board excluding the long-term 
incentive programme,  
RUB m

201420132012 2015

212.3

2016

392.2
443.8

601.8

366.6

AUDIT COMMISSION

AUDIT COMMISSION’S  
REMUNERATION POLICY

Annual remuneration of RUB 800,000 
is payable to each member of the Audit 
Commission. A coefficient of 1.3 is used 
to calculate the remuneration payable to 
the Chairman of the Audit Commission, 
and a coefficient of 1.1 is used to calculate 
the remuneration payable to the Secretary 
of the Audit Commission.

In line with the requirements of the Labour 
Code of the Russian Federation, 
the severance pay payable to Rostelecom’s 
managers including members of 
the Management Board, if their 
employment is terminated by the Company 
or results from the change of ownership 
of the Company, does not exceed triple 
average monthly earnings of the relevant 
employee.

No loans (credit facilities) were 
granted by the Company to members of 
the Management Board.

For the year during which the Audit 
Commission was re-elected or the powers 
of some of its members were terminated, 
remuneration is paid pro rata, based on 
the time when the relevant member of 
Audit Commission performed his/her 
duties.

The annual remuneration of a member 
of the Audit Commission is paid not later 
than one month after holding the Annual 
General Shareholders’ Meeting for the year 
when he/she was elected a member of 
the Audit Commission.

Table 19. Payments to members of the Audit Commission in 2016, RUB

Name
Remuneration for serving on 

the Audit Commission Salary

Alexander S. Vasilchenko 0.00 0.00

Valentina F. Veremyanina 800,000.00 1,502,244.54

Vasily V. Garshin 0.00 0.00

Ilya I. Karpov 0.00 0.00

Mikhail P. Krasnov 880,000.00 0.00

Alexander S. Ponkin 0.00 0.00

Шевчук Александр Викторович 1,040,000.00 0.00

Total 2,720,000.00 1,502,244.54

Grand total 4,222,244.54
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Table 20. Rights to shares exercised under the share option programme

Item 2015 2016 Total for two years

Ordinary shares 6,818,718 12,855,030 19,673,748

% of the total number of ordinary shares 0.265% 0.499% 0.764%

Figure 54. Expenses on the Long-Term
Management Incentive 
Programme on the Statement of 
Profit or Loss, RUB m65 

2016

1,363

2015

1,653

2014

1,850

INCENTIVE PROGRAMMES

LONG-TERM MANAGEMENT 
INCENTIVE PROGRAMME

On 31 March 2014, the Board of Directors 
approved the Regulations on the Long-
Term Bonus Programme for Employees 
and the Regulations on the Long-Term 
Share Purchase Programme (Share Option 
Programme) constituting the Long-Term 
Incentive Programme for PJSC Rostelecom’s 
management (the “Programme”), which 
provides for setting up a share option plan 
for ordinary shares to be purchased by 
the Programme participants at a fixed price 
using an annual bonus payable against 
achievement of long-term key performance 
indicators (KPIs) based on free cash flow 
(FCF), net profit and return on invested 
capital (ROIC)64.

The Programme spans three years starting 
from 2014. The Programme integrates about 
200 participants – top and middle managers 
including regional branch directors.

The total target package for all 
the Programme participants comprises 
ordinary shares of PJSC Rostelecom 
and accounts for 1.5% of the Company’s 
Charter Capital. The ultimate package size 
depends on the performance of KPIs and 
is capped at 200% of the total target share 
package if KPIs are significantly exceeded. 
If KPIs are significantly underperformed, 
the Programme participants will lose 
their entitlement to the part of the option 
attributable to the relevant reporting period.

Shares representing a percentage of 
the total target package are sold to each 
participant annually and are adjusted 
depending on the KPI performance: 30% 
in 2014, 30% in 2015, and 40% in 2016. 
For employees who joined the Programme 
in 2015, the shares will be distributed as 
follows: 40% in 2015, and 60% in 2016. 
Vesting is also gradual: 50% at the end 
of the relevant fiscal year, another 50% – 
in twelve months after the year-end.

RTC-Development, a closed-end unit 
investment fund managed by VTB Capital 
Asset Management, was set up to 
implement the option plan.

64  Net profit is based on the Statement of Profit or Loss prepared in accordance with IFRS, while FCF for the Programme is calculated as the difference between OIBDA and CAPEX (on an accrual basis); 
ROIC is calculated as the ratio of the net operating profit after tax (NOPAT) to invested capital.

65  Salary expenses, other payments and social charges, including personal income tax and social charges.
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SHORT-TERM EMPLOYEE MOTIVATION 
PROGRAMME

In 2016, Rostelecom continued improving 
its employee motivation scheme to achieve 
its strategic goals. The share of bonus 
for the performance of business KPIs for 
line personnel and middle managers was 
increased, along with the share of bonus 
for corporate KPIs for top managers. 
An incentive scheme providing for annual 
bonus payments was introduced for top 
managers. These changes are meant to 
improve motivation for achieving functional 
bonus KPIs by the majority of employees, 
as well as achieving corporate KPIs across 
the entire Company. 

The scale used for KPI assessment was 
also changed. The new scale is based 
on encouraging “overperformance” and 
promotes fair motivation of employees for 
meeting Rostelecom’s financial targets. 
The change is aimed to enhance employees’ 
commitment to the development and 
achievement of strategic business goals.

Transformation of the motivation scheme 
also comprised the introduction of a linear 
scale to assess the achievement of goals 
(Management By Objectives), reflecting 
the achievement of project objectives. 
This scale is best suited for assessing 
such goals, and motivates employees to 
achieve targets at each stage of project 
implementation. 

Rostelecom improved the approach 
to personal performance assessment 
by introducing the “achieving results” 
assessment criterion enabling the 
assessment of an employee’s actual 
performance as opposed to formalistic 
execution of job duties. 

In 2016, the set of motivation schemes 
aimed at rewarding exceptional 
achievements was expanded to include 
the Regulations on the Monetary Incentives 
for Employees Based on the Results of 
Project Work and the Regulations on 
the Employee Incentives under the Ideas 
Portal Project. New types of motivation 
are aimed to tap employees’ intellectual 
potential, improve process efficiency 
and quality, and encourage initiative and 
individual accountability for achieving project 
progress.

In addition, Rostelecom developed and 
implemented66 the Regulations on the Key 
Performance Indicators and amended 
the effective Regulations on the Use of 
KPIs to Align Bonus Payments with Target 
Performance Set Out in the Long-Term 
Development Programme67.

The following effective regulations on 
monetary incentives for employees were 
updated:
 » Regulations on the Long-Term 
Bonus Programme for Employees of 
PJSC Rostelecom;

 »  Regulations on the Set-Up and Use of 
KPIs for 12-Month Bonus Payments to 
the President of PJSC Rostelecom;

 » Regulations on the Monetary Incentives for 
Employees Based on Performance.

66   In execution of the list of instructions issued by the Russian President No. PR1474 dated 5 July 2013, and in accordance with guidelines on using key performance indicators issued by the Russian
Ministry of Economic Development and the Federal Agency for State Property Management.

67   Board of Directors’ Minutes No. 26 dated 12 January 2015.
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Table 21. Linkage between KPIs identified for the Long-Term Development Programme and 
the Management and Employees Remuneration System 

KPI Document title

Total shareholders’ return (TSR)

 » Regulations on the Set-Up and Use of KPIs for 12-Month Bonus Payments to the President of 
PJSC Rostelecom

 » Regulations on the Monetary Incentives for Employees of PJSC Rostelecom Based on 
Performance (Senior Vice-President, Senior Vice-President – CFO)

Return on invested capital (ROIC)  » Regulations on the Set-Up and Use of KPIs for 12-Month Bonus Payments to the President 
of PJSC Rostelecom

Revenue

 » Regulations on the Set-Up and Use of KPIs for 12-Month Bonus Payments to the President of 
PJSC Rostelecom

 » Regulations on the Monetary Incentives for Employees of PJSC Rostelecom Based on 
Performance

Performance indicator: OIBDA  » Regulations on the Monetary Incentives for Employees of PJSC Rostelecom Based on 
Performance

Labour productivity indicator (LPI)

 » Regulations on the Set-Up and Use of KPIs for 12-Month Bonus Payments to the President of 
PJSC Rostelecom

 » Regulations on the Monetary Incentives for Employees of PJSC Rostelecom Based on 
Performance (Senior Vice-President for Organisational Development and Human Resources)

Innovation KPI (Integrated Innovation 
Performance Indicator)

 » Regulations on the Set-Up and Use of KPIs for 12-Month Bonus Payments to the President of 
PJSC Rostelecom

Subscriber base growth  » Regulations on the Monetary Incentives for Employees of PJSC Rostelecom Based on 
Performance

Number of households connected to fibre

 » Regulations on the Set-Up and Use of KPIs for 12-Month Bonus Payments to the President of 
PJSC Rostelecom

 » Regulations on the Monetary Incentives for Employees of PJSC Rostelecom Based on 
Performance

Net debt / OIBDA

 » Regulations on the Set-Up and Use of KPIs for 12-Month Bonus Payments to the President of 
PJSC Rostelecom

 » Regulations on the Monetary Incentives for Employees of PJSC Rostelecom Based on 
Performance
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Rostelecom aims to enhance its investment 
case through timely and accurate 
disclosure of material information on its 
activities in accordance with:
 »  Federal Law No. 208-FZ On Joint-Stock 
Companies dated 26 December 1995;

 »  Federal Law No. 39-FZ On Securities 
Market dated 22 April 1996;

 »  requirements and recommendations of 
the Central Bank of Russia:
• Regulations on the Information 

Disclosure by Issue-Grade Securities 
Issuers;

• Corporate Governance Code; 
 »  listing rules of Russian and foreign stock 
exchanges and trading platforms where 
the Company’s securities are traded;

 » Rostelecom’s Regulations on 
the Information Disclosure Policy

 »  Policy of Access to Insider Information, 
Rules of its Protection and Control over 
Compliance with the Applicable Insider 
Information Law. 

Information  
Disclosure

The Board of Directors establishes 
the rules of and approaches to information 
disclosures by approving the relevant 
internal documents.

The Company currently has in place 
Version No. 2 of Rostelecom’s Regulations 
on the Information Disclosure Policy. 

Key objectives of these Regulations are 
to:  
 » Enhance openness and build trust;
 » Improve transparency;
 »  Determine the Company’s key principles 
of information disclosure.

Key principles of the Company’s 
information policy:
 » Timely, consistent and prompt provision 
of information; 

 »  Accessibility, objectivity, completeness, 
accuracy and comparability of disclosed 
information; 

 »  Equal rights of all stakeholders to 
obtain information in compliance with 
all applicable laws, standards and 
regulations; 

 » Information disclosure regardless of 
specific interests of separate individuals 
or groups; 

 »  Reasonable balance between 
the Company’s transparency and 
protection of its commercial interests; 

 »  Confidentiality of information that 
constitutes a state secret or a trade 
secret in accordance with the Company’s 
internal documents; 

 »  Control over the use of insider 
information. 

The primary source of Company 
information disclosure is its official 
website: www.company.rt.ru/en. 

Information is also available in 
the e-disclosure system at:  
www.e-disclosure.ru.
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In 2016, Rostelecom signed a D&O 
Liability Insurance Contract with SOGAZ 
INSURANCE.  Based on the FY2015 results, 
the General Shareholders’ Meeting approved 
the following terms:

 »  Total liability limit under the Contract 
(the insured amount): EUR 150 million; 
excess protection for independent 
directors: EUR 920,000;

 »  Insurance premium: EUR 654,000;
 »  Insurance period: from 1 August 2016 
(00:00) to 31 July 2019 (00:00).

The Contract also covers Rostelecom’s 
subsidiaries and affiliates.

Directors’  
and Officers’ (D&O)  
Liability Insurance  
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We distribute most of our free cash flow to pay out 
dividends, thus delivering high shareholder returns

142   PJSC ROSTELECOM  Annual report 2016
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Share  
Capital

As at 31 December 2016:
 »  the Russian Federation represented by 
the Federal Agency for State Property 
Management (Rosimushchestvo) 
held 1,254,189,564 ordinary shares in 
the Company, but did not have any special 
right to manage the Company’s affairs 
(a “golden share”); 

 » PJSC Rostelecom did not hold any 
treasury shares;

As at 31 December 2016, the charter 
capital of PJSC Rostelecom was 
RUB 6,961,200.2525 divided into 
2,574,914,954 ordinary shares68 and 
209,565,147 Class A preference shares69 
with a nominal value of RUB 0.0025 each. 

There were neither changes in 
the Company’s charter capital nor 
additional issues placed in 2016.

68  State registration number of the securities issue 1-01-00124-А dated 10 November 1993.
69   State registration number of the securities issue 2-01-00124-А dated 10 November 1993.
70   As required by Clause 4.1, Article 32.1 of Federal Law No. 208-FZ On Joint Stock Companies dated 26 December 1995.
71  As at 31 December 2015, some of the shares were held on securities accounts of nominee shareholders.
72  As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2016, some of the shares were held on securities accounts of nominee shareholders.

Table 22.  Holders of at least 2% in the Company’s charter capital or ordinary (voting) shares
(including nominee shareholders)

As at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2016

Share in charter capital

Share in 
ordinary 
shares

Share in 
preference 

shares Share in charter capital

Share in 
ordinary 
shares

Share in 
preference 

shares

RUB % % % RUB % % %

Shareholders

Russian Federation (through Rosimushchestvo) 3,135,473.910 45.04 48.71 0.00 3,135,473.910 45.04 48.71 0.00 

LLC MOBITEL71 1,130,565.285 16.24 15.06 30.79 1,130,565.285 16.24 15.06 30.79 

Vnesheconombank72 275,901,895 3.96 4.29 0.00 275,901.895 3.96 4.29 0.00 

PJSC Rostelecom (treasury account) 241.818 0.003 0.003 0.005 – – – –

Nominee shareholders

National Settlement Depository 3,217,114.785 46.21 44.08 72.40 2,148,843.150 30.87 29.13 52.29 

 »  LLC MOBITEL controlled by 
PJSC Rostelecom held 387,706,769 
ordinary shares and 64,519,345 
preference shares in the Company;

 »  PJSC Central Telegraph controlled by 
PJSC Rostelecom held 2,647 ordinary 
shares in the Company.

In 2016, Rostelecom received no 
notifications of shareholder agreements 
made by its shareholders70. 
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Table 23. Ownership structure by category

As at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2016

Number of 
registered 

entities/indi-
viduals

Share in 
charter 
capital

Share in 
ordinary 
shares

Share in 
preference 

shares

Number of 
registered 

entities/indi-
viduals

Share in 
charter 
capital

Share in 
ordinary 
shares

Share in 
preference 

shares

% % % % % %

Corporate entities: 713 93.70 94.57 82.95 708 93.79 94.66 83.13 

Nominee shareholders 38 46.35 44.23 72.40 33 31.00 29.27 52.29 

Residents 580 47.31 50.30 10.54 577 62.76 65.36 30.82 

Non-residents 95 0.03 0.03 0.02 98 0.03 0.03 0.02 

Individuals: 154,411 6.30 5.43 17.05 153,823 6.21 5.34 16.87 

Residents 154,165 6.28 5.41 16.99 153,576 6.19 5.32 16.82 

Non-residents 246 0.02 0.02 0.06 247 0.02 0.02 0.06 
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Table 24. Key performance highlights of PJSC Rostelecom’s shares on the Moscow Exchange, 
RUB

Item Ordinary shares Preference shares

Price as at 4 January 2016 88.50 67.95

Annual low (2016) 78.65 73.85

Annual high (2016) 100.07 61.45

Price as at 30 December 2016 84.00 62.80

SHARES

PJSC Rostelecom’s ordinary and preferred 
shares (tickers RTKMP and RTKM) are 
admitted to the A1 quotation list (A1) of 
the Moscow Exchange. Admissions of 
Rostelecom’s shares to A1 and to the list of 
underlying securities for stock indices testify 
to high trading liquidity of the Company. 
Since June 2014, the ordinary shares of 
Rostelecom have been included in the non-
quoted part of the PJSC Saint Petersburg 
Stock Exchange.

The Company’s shares are included in 
indices that serve as benchmarks for 
number of large institutional investors. 
These benchmarks include MSCI Russia, 
FTSE Emerging Markets, Market Vectors 
Russia Index, MICEX index.

DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS

Rostelecom launched an American 
Depositary Receipt (ADR) programme 
for its ordinary shares in February 1998. 
Each ADR represents six ordinary shares 
(ratio 1:6). JPMorgan Chase Bank has 
served as the Depositary Bank responsible 
for administering the sponsored ADRs, with 
Sberbank of Russia acting as Custodian. 
In May 2011, the Company received 
approval from the Federal Service for 
the Financial Markets (FSFM) to trade 
735,800,000 ordinary shares, or 24.99% of 
the total number of ordinary shares, which 
represents 122,633,333 ADRs outside 
the Russian Federation.

Currently the ADRs are traded on the OTC 
market’s highest tier, OTCQX International 
Premier. The Company’s ADRs are 
also traded on London, Frankfurt, 
and other foreign stock exchanges. 
As at 31 December 2016, PJSC Rostelecom 
issued 11.7 million ADRs, or 2.7% of its total 
outstanding shares.

BONDS

In 2016, Rostelecom continued to raise 
funds in the public capital market. 
On 22 September 2016, the Company placed 
an issue of exchange-traded 10-year Series 
001P-01R bonds with a total nominal value of 
RUB 15 billion and a three-year put option.  

The proceeds were used to refinance 
the Company’s existing debt and did not 
change its overall leverage. High investor 
demand allowed the Company to send 
the coupon rate on Coupons 1–6 at 9.2% per 
annum.

As at 31 December 2016, the total value of 
the Company’s outstanding bonds amounted 
to RUB 47.7 billion, or 25.63% of its debt 
portfolio.

Securities
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Table 25. The Company’s bonds outstanding as at 31 December 2016 are presented in the table below

Bonds Issue No.
Placement 

date Maturity date
Put option 

date
Nominal value, 

RUB Issue size, RUB

Outstanding as at 
31 Decem-ber 2016, 

RUB

Series 15 certificated interest-
bearing non-convertible bearer 
bonds subject to centralised 
depositing with a custodian

 4-67-00124-А 30.01.2013 24.01.2018 no put 
options 1,000.00 5,000,000,000.00 5,000,000,000.00

Series 16 certificated interest-
bearing non-convertible bearer 
bonds subject to centralised 
depositing with a custodian

4-68-00124-А 13.06.2013 07.06.2018 20.06.2014          
18.06.2015 1,000.00 5,000,000,000.00 152,309,000.00

Series 17 certificated interest-
bearing non-convertible bearer 
bonds subject to centralised 
depositing with a custodian

4-64-00124-А 08.11.2012 02.11.2017 11.11.2015 1,000.00 10,000,000,000.00 295,661,000.00

Series 18 certificated interest-
bearing non-convertible bearer 
bonds subject to centralised 
depositing with a custodian

4-65-00124-А 30.01.2013 24.01.2018 оферт нет 1,000.00 10,000,000,000.00 10,000,000,000.00

Series 19 certificated interest-
bearing non-convertible bearer 
bonds subject to centralised 
depositing with a custodian

4-66-00124-А 12.03.2013 06.03.2018 15.03.2016 1,000.00 10,000,000,000.00 7,265,722,000.00

Series BO-01 certificated interest-
bearing non-convertible exchange 
bearer bonds subject to centralised 
depositing with a custodian

4BO2-01-00124-А 29.05.2015 16.05.2025 27.05.2017 1,000.00 5,000,000,000.00 5,000,000,000.00

Series BO-02 certificated interest-
bearing non-convertible exchange 
bearer bonds subject to centralised 
depositing with a custodian

  4BO2-02-00124-А 02.06.2015 20.05.2025 31.05.2017 1,000.00 5,000,000,000.00 5,000,000,000.00

Series 001P-01R certificated 
interest-bearing non-convertible 
exchange bearer bonds subject 
to centralised depositing with 
a custodian

4BO2-01-00124-
А-001P 22.09.2016 10.09.2026 24.09.2019 1,000.00 15,000,000,000.00 15,000,000,000.00
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To strengthen its relations with 
the investment community, Rostelecom 
maintains ongoing dialogue with analysts 
and holds regular meetings with existing 
shareholders and potential investors in 
the Company’s securities.

In 2016, Rostelecom made further progress 
in building relations with investors. The new 
progressive dividend policy allowed 
the Company to pay 75% of its free cash 
flow as dividends (RUB 5.92 per ordinary 
and preference share) and to exceed its 2015 
payouts by 77% and 46%, respectively.

Information disclosures by Rostelecom 
won the 19th Annual Report Competition 
organised by the Moscow Exchange and 
RCB Media Group, in the Best Presentation 
of Corporate Strategy and Investment Case 
in an Annual Report category.

In 2016, the Company took part in eight 
investment conferences and held a non-deal 
roadshow (NDR) in the USA and the United 
Kingdom in December 2016.

In 2016, Rostelecom’s senior management 
and IR team held more than 100 one-on-
one meetings and conference calls with over 
150 investment community representatives.

Shareholder  
and Investor Relations

Table 26. Analysts

Bank Analyst

ATON Elizaveta Lebedeva

Bank of America-
Merrill Lynch Haim Israel

Citi Dilya Ibragimova

Credit Suisse Olga Bystrova

Deutsche Bank Igor Semenov

Goldman Sachs Vyacheslav Degtyarev

HSBC Herve Drouet

JPMorgan Alexei Gogolev

Morgan Stanley Polina Ugryumova

Raiffeisen Bank Sergey Libin

Renaissance Capital Alex Kazbegi

UBS Roman Arbuzov

BCS Igor Goncharov

VTB Capital Ivan Kim

Gazprombank Sergey Vasin

Otkritie Alexander 
Vengranovich

Sberbank CIB Svetlana Sukhanova

Uralsib Konstantin 
Chernyshov

Table 27. Rating Agencies

Rating agency Analyst

Fitch Ratings Slava Bunkov

Standard & Poor’s Svetlana 
Oshchepkova
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Date Event Format

21.01.2016-22.01.2016 dbAccess CEEMEA Conference, London, 
UK One-on-one and small group meetings with management.

14.03.2016 Announcement of Q4 2015 and FY2015 
IFRS results

Publication of a press release, presentation, financial 
statements, and other materials for the reporting period. 

Holding of a press conference and a management conference 
call with investors.

17.03.2016 Citi’s 2016 European & Emerging Markets 
Telecoms Conference, London, UK One-on-one and small group meetings with management.

11.04.2016-12.04.2016 Raiffeisen Institutional Investors 
Conference, Zürs, Austria One-on-one and small group meetings with management.

12.04.2016-13.04.2016 Exchange Forum 2016, Moscow, Russia One-on-one and small group meetings with management.

16.05.2016

Announcement of Q1 2016 IFRS results

Publication of a press release, presentation, financial 
statements, and other materials for the reporting period. 

Holding of a press conference and a management conference 
call with investors.

24.05.2016-25.05.2016 Sberbank CIB’s Russia: The Inside Track 
One-on-One Conference, Moscow, Russia One-on-one and small group meetings with management.

07.06.2016-09.06.2016
Bank of America Merrill Lynch’s 2016 
Global Telecom & Media Conference, 

London, UK One-on-one and small group meetings with management.

21.06.2016 Annual General Meeting Management presentation to shareholders.

10.08.2016

Announcement of Q2 2016 IFRS results

Publication of a press release, presentation, financial 
statements, and other materials for the reporting period. 

Holding of a press conference and a management conference 
call with investors.

16.09.2016 GS CEEMEA Corporate Day, Frankfurt, 
Germany One-on-one and small group meetings with management.

12.10.2016-14.10.2016 VTB Capital: Russia Calling Investment 
Forum 2016, Moscow, Russia One-on-one and small group meetings with management.

10.11.2016

Announcement of Q3 2016 IFRS results

Publication of a press release, presentation, financial 
statements, and other materials for the reporting period. 

Holding of a press conference and a management conference 
call with investors.

16.11.2016 Morgan Stanley European TMT Conference, 
Barcelona, Spain One-on-one and small group meetings with management.

73    For more information see: http://www.company.rt.ru/en/ir/calendar/

Table 28. IR Calendar73

Shareholder  
and Investor Relations

http://www.rostelecom.ru/ir/calendar/
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Figure 55. Analyst recommendations for ordinary shares of PJSC Rostelecom
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Table 29. Dividend Report 

Dividend 
payouts for Type (class) of shares

Total accrued, 
RUB thousand

Total paid 
during 2016, 

RUB thousand

Total paid 
prior to 2016, 

RUB thousand

Total paid as at 
31 December 

2016, %

FY2015
Ordinary shares 15,231,824 15,112,350 – 99.2 

Preference shares 1,239,676 1,222,695 – 98.6

FY2014
Ordinary shares 8,602,904 12,141 8,531,082 99.3

Preference shares 848,730 2,294 836,173 98.8

FY2013
Ordinary shares 7,808,157 3,810 7,751,587 99.3 

Preference shares 1,016,323 986 1,003,996 98.9

FY2012
Ordinary shares 7,172,426 1,913 7,131,923 99.5

Preference shares 996,143 334 986,665 99.1

In December 201574 , the Company adopted 
a new version (No. 3) of the Regulations on 
the Dividend Policy of PJSC Rostelecom, 
according to which the Company should aim to 
allocate to dividend payouts (on ordinary and 
preference shares in total) at least 75% of its 
free cash flow75 in 2016, 2017 and 2018 (i.e. for 
FY2015, FY2016, and FY2017, respectively), 
for each fiscal year, but not less than 
RUB 45 billion in total for these three years. 

Total dividends on each Class A preference 
share76 are set to be 10% of the Company’s net 
profit as per Russian Accounting Standards 
(RAS) for the last fiscal year and divided by 
the number of shares making up 25% of 
Rostelecom’s charter capital. If dividends 
payable on each ordinary share in a certain 
year exceed dividends payable on each Class A 
preference share, the latter dividends are 
increased to the amount of dividends payable 
on ordinary shares.

A dividend policy that ties dividend payouts to 
free cash flow is a matter of importance for 
improvement of the Rostelecom investment 
case.

Rostelecom rigorously complies with 
the requirements of its Charter and 
the Dividend Policy when announcing and 
paying dividends. By resolution of the Annual 
General Meeting77, dividends on Class A 
preference shares and on ordinary shares for 
FY2015 amounted to RUB 5.915466946266 
per share.

Total dividends on Class A preference shares 
amounted to 5.75% of the RAS net profit 
and to 8.61% of the IFRS net profit for 2015. 
Dividends on ordinary shares amounted to 
70.63% of the RAS net profit and to 105.84% 
of the IFRS net profit for 2015.

RUB 7,419,117 thousand out of net profit 
generated in 2015 were paid to the federal 
budget. The Company has no outstanding 
dividends payable to the federal budget. 
RUB 61,857 million was allocated to 
investment projects (programmes), 
equal to 286% of the RAS net profit and 
430% of the IFRS net profit for 2015. 
The investment progress report is included 
in the Operational Highlights section  of this 
Annual Report.

74  Approved by the Resolution of PJSC Rostelecom’s Board of Directors on 4 December 2015; Minutes No. 13 dated 4 December 2015.
75  Free cash flow (FCF) means the net cash from operating activities, (1) net of cash paid for purchased property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, (2) plus proceeds from disposals 

of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. FCF is calculated on the basis of the consolidated statement of cash flows of the Company’s consolidated financial statements prepared
under the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

76  According to paragraph 10.3 of PJSC Rostelecom’s Charter (version No. 16) and paragraph 5.6 of the Regulations of the Dividend Policy of PJSC Rostelecom (version No. 3).
77   The relevant meeting was held on 21 June 2016.

 
Dividends

Figure 56. Dividend per share at 2016
year-end, RUB

Ordinary shares

2012

Preference shares

2013 2014 2015

4.10
4.85

4.05

5.92 5.92

2.44
3.12 3.34

2016

5.39*5.39*

*Dividend amount recommended by the Board of Directors
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Registrar
Registrar services for PJSC Rostelecom’s 
registered securities are provided by 
JSC Noviy Registrator.

JSC Noviy Registrator’s place of business: 
30 Buzheninova St., bld. 1, Moscow

JSC Noviy Registrator’s postal address: 
30 Buzheninova St., bld. 1, Moscow 107996

Phone: +7 495 980 11 00

E-mail:  newreg@newreg.ru 

JSC Noviy Registrator has been acting as 
registrar of securities holders since 2003 
(License No. 045-13951-000001 issued by 
the Federal Financial Markets Service of 
Russia on 30 March 2006); its operations 
are insured by IPJSC Ingosstrakh for 
RUB 100 million.

JSC Noviy Registrator operates 29 regional 
offices across the Russian Federation 
and serves more than 6,200 issuers. 
In 2016, the registrar was named the Best 
Infrastructural Institution in 2015 by 
PARTAD (Russian Professional Association 
of Registrars, Transfer Agents and 
Depositories).

Prior to 6 June 2016, the register of holders 
of registered securities PJSC Rostelecom 
was maintained by Joint-Stock Company 
Obyedinennaya Registratsionnaya 
Kompaniya (JSC ORK), acquired by 
JSC Noviy Registrator on 7 June 2016.
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QUESTION 1

WHAT MAKES ROSTELECOM’S SHARES 
ATTRACTIVE FOR INVESTORS? 

The following points underpin Rostelecom’s 
investment case: 
 »  leadership in the markets with significant 
growth potential (broadband, Pay TV, 
data processing centres and other digital 
services), and presence in the growing 
mobile data market through its 45% share in 
the joint venture with Tele2 Russia; 

 »  a unique network infrastructure (by coverage 
and capacity) with fibre-to-the-home (FTTH) 
for 32 million households;

 » a potential to enhance operational 
excellence by reducing the real estate 
portfolio, optimising headcount, etc. to 
achieve substantial cost savings;

 »  incentivized management and employees 
(a share option programme tailored to meet 
strategic targets);

 »  an attractive dividend policy (at least 75% of 
free cash flow and at least RUB 45 billion in 
total for 2015–2017).

In addition to the Company’s investment 
case, there are country- and industry-specific 
factors driving investor demand for our shares 
(for more information see the Investment 
Hotspot section).

QUESTION 2

THE 2020 STRATEGY STATES THAT YOU 
EXPECT FURTHER REVENUE GROWTH, 
NOTWITHSTANDING GRADUAL 
SATURATION OF THE MARKETS IN 
WHICH YOU OPERATE. WHAT WILL 
DRIVE THIS GROWTH? 

According to the Company’s estimates, 
revenue growth will be driven by our 
increasing share in the broadband and Pay 
TV market segments, growing ARPU per 
household, and foothold gains in new markets 
with high growth potential. In addition to its 
vast expertise, the Company has required 
infrastructure and an extensive customer base 
to unlock the growth potential of these market 
segments. 

Key growth points in the new services segment 
are:  
 »  data processing centres; 
 »  cloud services; 
 »  OTT video; 
 »  Industrial Internet of Things; 
 »  geodata.

QUESTION 3

WHAT ARE THE COMPANY’S KEY LONG-
TERM FINANCIAL TARGETS?

We expect that the Company’s strategic 
initiatives will secure:
»  1%–2% revenue CAGR in 2015–2020;
»  3% OIBDA CAGR in 2015–2020;
»  60% revenue share of the digital segment by 

2020;
» 3–4 p.p. decrease in the CAPEX/revenue 

ratio by 2020. 

QUESTION 4

WHAT IS THE COMPANY’S M&A 
STRATEGY? ARE YOU CONTEMPLATING 
DEALS IN THE BROADBAND AND PAY 
TV SEGMENTS?

The Company’s M&A strategy is as follows: 
 »  Rostelecom may acquire or consolidate 
assets/expertise in promising and 
fast-growing market segments, e.g. 
the acquisitions of SafeData and IQMen;

 »  Rostelecom may consolidate its position 
in certain regional markets, mainly in 
the broadband and Pay TV segments, 
e.g. the acquisitions of Morton Group’s 
telecommunications business, as well as 
AIST and Sibitex providers.

Answers to Frequently 
Asked Questions
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QUESTION 5

WHAT IS YOUR OUTLOOK ON 
THE FUTURE OF THE FIXED-LINE 
INTERNET ACCESS VS MOBILE 
INTERNET, GIVEN THE GROWING 
MOBILE DATA SPEEDS?  

Despite strong growth in mobile networks 
data traffic, mobile connectivity cannot 
be compared to the quality, reliability, 
and speed of a fixed-line connection. 
Furthermore, mobile networks still require 
a fixed-line component connecting base 
stations to backhaul networks. The Company 
expects further roll-out of fixed-line and 
mobile networks, complementing one 
another to provide seamless connectivity for 
a customer.

Rostelecom benefits from its position as 
the only operator with the capability to provide 
quad play services on a national scale.   

QUESTION 6

WHAT ARE THE PROSPECTS FOR 
FIXED-LINE TELEPHONY?

The fixed-line telephony market has been 
shrinking over the past few years. This is 
a global trend faced by traditional operators 
in many countries. At the same time, certain 
demand still exists for fixed-line services, 
particularly, in rural, remote and hard-to-
reach areas, in which the roll-out of alternative 
communications technology involves 
significant costs and is not economically viable. 

Rostelecom is focused on maximising 
retention of its fixed-line subscriber base 
through:

 »  promotion of bundled offers;
 »  enhancing customer service and upgrading
network infrastructure;

 » implementation of a dedicated programme to
retain voice customers. 

QUESTION 7

WHAT ARE THE COMPANY’S PLANS 
FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF ITS MEDIA 
BUSINESS?

The Company’s approach to growing its media 
business is as follows. 

 » Partnerships with leading content producers

Cases: 
Digital TV, established as our joint venture with 
VGTRK in 2014, has become Russia’s largest 
producer and distributor of thematic channels 
with a 29% market share. 

 » Partnerships for additional monetisation of 
media opportunities

Cases: 
Rostelecom and Korea’s GS Home Shopping 
Inc. jointly established a large teleshopping 
channel. The joint venture will help pool 
resources and expertise to offer a new quality 
level of TV commerce.

 » Involvement in content production projects

Cases: 
Rostelecom financed the production of its 
first motion picture titled “Route Calculated”, 
released in March 2016.

QUESTION 8

WHAT ARE THE COMPANY’S PLANS 
FOR FURTHER UPGRADES NOW THAT 
ITS FTTH PROJECT TO CONNECT 
33 MILLION HOUSEHOLDS IS ALMOST 
COMPLETED? ARE THERE ANY PLANS 
TO MIGRATE TO SDN/NFV?

Rostelecom owns Russia’s largest fixed-
line telecommunications infrastructure, 
enabling the Company to provide services 
to hundreds of thousands of corporate and 
public sector customers, as well as to millions 
of Russian households. Over the past few 
years, the Company has invested in increasing 
the capacity of its backhaul network to more 
than 13 Tbps and upgraded the “last-mile” 
infrastructure, connecting over 32 million 
households to fibre.

Further growth of the Company’s network 
infrastructure will come from virtualisation 
and migration to SDN (Software-Defined 
Network) / NFV (Network Functions 
Virtualisation). On such networks, the control 
layer is separated from data transmission and 
is implemented through software. 

Adoption of SDN/NFV will bring the following 
benefits:
 »  simplified network architecture; 
 »

 »

 reduced reliance on solutions from 
foreign vendors;
 faster and more flexible roll-out of new 
innovative services.

As a result, the Company will have 
the opportunity to reduce both capital 
and network maintenance expenditures. 
The network transformation is expected to 
contribute to reduction of operating expenses 
on network infrastructure by 25% and capital 
expenses by 3 p.p. to 4 p.p. by 2020.

The Company expects to complete most 
SDN/NFV migration-related activities in 2019.
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QUESTION 9

WHAT IS THE PROGRESS ON DIGITAL 
TV, YOUR JOINT PROJECT WITH VGTRK?

Digital TV (DTV) is leading the thematic TV 
market with a share of about 30%78 and has 
taken vigorous efforts to diversify its business. 
As at the end of 2016, DTV generated most of 
its income from fees paid by cable TV and 
satellite TV operators, but plans to cut this 
share from 70% down to 40% of revenue by 
adding other high-potential services to its 
offering. As early as in 2016, DTV earned its 
first income from selling mobile apps, mostly 
games for kids, and licensing the right to use 
cartoon characters featured on DTV channels.

DTV also sells Russian-produced content, 
mostly cartoon series and documentaries, on 
the global market. DTV content is watched in 
China, South Korea, Malaysia, Indonesia, and 
Eastern Europe. The overarching goal of DTV 
is to become a global company capable of 
monetising Russian-produced content in 
the markets. 

Success of the JV can be seen, among other 
things, from the steady revenue growth 
posted for 2016 (+23% to RUB 2.24 billion).

QUESTION 10

WHAT IS THE IMPACT OF FX RATE 
FLUCTUATIONS ON YOUR BUSINESS?

Most of our revenue and operating expenses 
originate in Russia and are not affected by 
the local currency exchange rates. Presence of 
a marginal foreign currency component both 
in our income and expenses creates the so-
called “natural hedge” balancing out positive 
and negative effects on financial performance.

A significant portion of our foreign currency 
income comes from fees paid by international 
operators for interconnection and traffic 
transfer services. The Company’s FX expenses 
are associated with interconnection and 
acquisition of content from international 
producers.

The FX component of the Company’s capital 
expenses amounts to about one third of 
the total. The Company seeks to minimise this 
component by sourcing local counterparts 
of imported equipment and fixing rouble-
denominated contract prices for vendors.

QUESTION 11

WHAT WILL HAPPEN TO 
THE TREASURY SHARES HELD BY 
YOUR SUBSIDIARY MOBITEL? DO YOU 
HAVE PLANS TO HOLD AN SPO OR 
REDEEM THESE SHARES?

There are several options for these treasury 
shares, including placement among investors 
or using them in M&A deals. As at the end of 
2016, no decision was made in this regard.

QUESTION 12

WHAT INCENTIVES ARE GIVEN TO 
THE MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES 
TO IMPLEMENT THE ADOPTED 
STRATEGY?

In 2016, the management’s long-term 
incentive programme for 2014–2016 was 
still in force. This programme covered 
nearly 200 mid- and top-level managers, 
including regional branch directors (for more 
information on the programme see 
the Corporate Governance / Remuneration 
sections).

In October 2016, the Board of Directors 
approved the launch of a new long-term 
incentive programme based on a share 
matching plan. As at the date of this Annual 
Report, the Company was finalising specific 
mechanisms to support the implementation of 
the new programme.  

78  Share of thematic channels in total thematic channels watched.
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Consolidated statement  
of financial position
(In millions of Russian roubles)

Notes 31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 7 343,667 338,699

Investment property 181 107

Goodwill and other intangible assets 8 61,209 60,755

Investments in associates and joint venture 10 68,352 74,474

Other financial assets 11 797 621

Deferred tax assets 22 606 627

Other non-current assets 12 11,998 8,241

486,810 483,524

Current assets

Inventories 13 6,444 4,060

Trade and other accounts receivable 14 45,884 43,152

Prepayments 2,166 2,822

Prepaid income tax 1,957 927

Other financial assets 11 5,367 5,719

Cash and cash equivalents 15 4,257 7,165

Other current assets 16 2,151 2,600

Total current assets 68,226 66,445

Held for sale assets 36 646 1,351

TOTAL ASSETS 555,682 551,320

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Group

Share capital 17 93 93

Additional paid-in capital 90 87

Treasury shares (67,034) (68,669)

Retained earnings and other reserves 311,167 314,237

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Group 244,316 245,748

Non-controlling interests 4,317 3,916

Total equity 248,633 249,664
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Notes 31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

Non-current liabilities 

Loans and borrowings 18 124,510 126,620

Employee benefits 21 5,217 5,021

Deferred tax liabilities 22 36,165 30,238

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses 19 1,095 3,545

Other non-current liabilities 20 6,002 5,543

Total non-current liabilities 172,989 170,967

Current liabilities

Loans and borrowings 18 62,595 59,934

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses 19 64,072 62,268

Income tax payable 146 215

Other current liabilities 20 7,247 8,272

Total current liabilities 134,060 130,689

Total liabilities 307,049 301,656

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 555,682 551,320

These consolidated financial statements 
were approved by management of  
PJSC Rostelecomon 2 March 2017  
and were signed on its behalf by: 

S.B. Kalugin, 
President

K.U. Mehlhorn,  
CFO − Senior Vice President
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Consolidated statement of  
profit or loss and other  
comprehensive income
(In millions of Russian roubles)

Year ended 31 December 

Notes 2016 2015

Revenue 23 297,446 297,355

Operating expenses

Wages, salaries, other benefits and payroll taxes 24 (90,340) (91,081)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 7, 8 (55,589) (60,599)

Interconnection charges (52,161) (49,825)

Materials, utilities, repairs and maintenance 25 (24,917) (25,125)

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets

4,556 2,133

Bad debt expense 14 (2,775) (882)

Other operating income 26 12,948 14,630

Other operating expenses 27 (49,332) (48,020)

Total operating expenses, net (257,610) (258,769)

Operating profit 39,836 38,586

Loss from associates and joint ventures 10 (7,296) (3,583)

Finance costs 28 (17,175) (16,311)

Other investing and financial gain/(loss), net 29 1,061 (434)

Foreign exchange gain/(loss), net 515 (1,431)

Profit before income tax 16,941 16,827

Income tax expense 22 (4,692) (2,436)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 12,249 14,391
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Consolidated statement of  
profit or loss and other  
comprehensive income
(In millions of Russian roubles)

Year ended 31 December 

Notes 2016 2015

Other comprehensive (loss)/income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss:

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (453) 584

Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss:

Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans 21 (379) (412)

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified 76 82

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of tax (756) 254

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 11,493 14,645

Profit attributable to:

Equity holders of the Group 11,751 13,944

Non-controlling interests 498 447

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Group 10,985 14,182

Non-controlling interests 508 463

Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Group − 
basic (in roubles)

32 5,24 6,20

Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Group − 
diluted (in roubles)

32 5.20 6.11



164   PJSC ROSTELECOM  Annual report & Financial Statements 2016

APPENDICES
158  Consolidated Financial

Statements
254  Glossary
257  Contact information

Consolidated statement of cash flows 
(In millions of Russian roubles)

Year ended 31 December

Notes 2016 2015

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 16,941 16,827

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to cash  
generated from operations

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 7, 8 55,589 60,599

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets

(4,556) (2,133)

Bad debt expense 14 2,775 882

Loss from associates and joint ventures 7,296 3,583

Finance costs excluding finance costs on pension and other long-
term social liabilities

28 16,699 15,560

Other investing and financial (gain)/loss, net 29 (1,061) 434

Foreign exchange (gain)/loss, net (515) 1,431

Share-based motivation program 31 1,019 1,251

Changes in net working capital

(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable (3,941) 1,629

Decrease in employee benefits (561) (1,356)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (2,351) 892

Increase in accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses 1,376 268

Increase in other assets and liabilities (3,131) (25)

Cash generated from operations 85,579 99,842

Interest paid (18,410) (17,082)

Income tax refund 4,391 2,559

Income tax paid (4,383) (4,469)

Net cash provided by operating activities 67,177 80,850

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (61,857) (62,726)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets

7,978 3,838

Acquisition of financial assets (9,736) (15,943)

Proceeds from disposals of financial assets 10,831 10,442

Interest received 1,029 1,495

Dividends received 22 7

Purchase of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 6 (2,438) (1,145)
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
(In millions of Russian roubles)

Year ended 31 December

Notes 2016 2015

Proceeds from equity accounted investees − 322

Proceeds from disposal of equity accounted investees − 240

Proceeds from disposals of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed (1) −

Acquisition of equity accounted investees 10 (2,778) (2,098)

Net cash used in investing activities (56,950) (65,568)

Cash flows from financing activities

Sale of treasury shares 157 −

Purchase of treasury shares (314) (2,867)

Proceeds from bank and corporate loans 655,190 546,080

Repayment of bank and corporate loans (665,936) (550,410)

Proceeds from bonds 15,000 10,000

Repayment of bonds (2,734) (12,112)

Repayment of vendor financing payable (9) (48)

Repayment of other non-current financing liabilities (1) (4)

Options settlement repayments (319) (5,361)

Repayment of finance lease liabilities (160) (57)

Acquisition of non-controlling interest 9 − (2,349)

Dividends paid to shareholders of the Group 17 (13,295) (7,676)

Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries (258) (308)

Net cash used in financing activities (12,679) (25,112)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (456) 50

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,908) (9,780)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 7,165 16,945

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 4,257 7,165
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Consolidated statement  
of changes in equity
(In millions of Russian roubles)

Attributable to equity holders of the Group

Share 
capital

Additional 
paid-in capital

Unrealized loss on 
available-for-sale  

investments
Translation of foreign 

operations
Treasury 

shares
Other capital 

 reserves

Remeasure-ments of 
defined benefit  

pension plans
Retained
earnings

Total equity attributable 
to shareholders 

of the Group
Non-controlling  

interests
Total

 equity

Balances at 1 January 2016 93 87 (10) 1,385 (68,669) 2,120 6,153 304,589 245,748 3,916 249,664

Profit for the year − − − − − − − 11,751 11,751 498 12,249

Other comprehensive income

Exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations

− − − (463) − − − − (463) 10 (453)

Actuarial losses (Note 21) − − − − − − (379) − (379) − (379)

Income tax in respect of other comprehensive 
income items

− − − − − − 76 − 76 − 76

Total other comprehensive income/(loss),  
net of tax

− − − (463) − − (303) − (766) 10 (756)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) − − − (463) − − (303) 11,751 10,985 508 11,493

Transactions with shareholders, recorded 
directly in equity

Dividends to shareholders of the Group 
(Note 17)

− − − − − − − (13,295) (13,295) − (13,295)

Dividends to non-controlling shareholders  
of subsidiaries

− − − − − − − − − (246) (246)

Purchase of treasury shares − − − − (314) − − − (314) − (314)

Sale of treasury shares − − − − 224 − − (67) 157 − 157

Acquisition of non-controlling interest (Note 9) − − − − − − − − 32 32

Disposal of non-controlling interest − − − − − − − 9 9 (72) (63)

Non-controlling interest in acquired  
subsidiaries (Note 6)

− − − − − − − − − 179 179

Employee benefits within share-based  
employee motivation program

− − − − 1,725 (107) − (599) 1,019 − 1,019

Other changes in equity − 3 − − − 7 − (3) 7 − 7

Total transactions with shareholders − 3 − − 1,635 (100) − (13,955) (12,417) (107) (12,524)

BALANCES AT 31 DECEMBER 2016 93 90 (10) 922 (67,034) 2,020 5,850 302,385 244,316 4,317 248,633
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Consolidated statement  
of changes in equity
(In millions of Russian roubles)

Attributable to equity holders of the Group

Share 
capital

Additional 
paid-in capital

Unrealized loss on 
available-for-sale  

investments
Translation of foreign 

operations
Treasury 

shares
Other capital 

 reserves

Remeasure-ments of 
defined benefit  

pension plans
Retained
earnings

Total equity attributable 
to shareholders 

of the Group
Non-controlling  

interests
Total

 equity

Balances at 1 January 2016 93 87 (10) 1,385 (68,669) 2,120 6,153 304,589 245,748 3,916 249,664

Profit for the year − − − − − − − 11,751 11,751 498 12,249

Other comprehensive income

Exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations

− − − (463) − − − − (463) 10 (453)

Actuarial losses (Note 21) − − − − − − (379) − (379) − (379)

Income tax in respect of other comprehensive 
income items

− − − − − − 76 − 76 − 76

Total other comprehensive income/(loss),  
net of tax

− − − (463) − − (303) − (766) 10 (756)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) − − − (463) − − (303) 11,751 10,985 508 11,493

Transactions with shareholders, recorded 
directly in equity

Dividends to shareholders of the Group 
(Note 17)

− − − − − − − (13,295) (13,295) − (13,295)

Dividends to non-controlling shareholders  
of subsidiaries

− − − − − − − − − (246) (246)

Purchase of treasury shares − − − − (314) − − − (314) − (314)

Sale of treasury shares − − − − 224 − − (67) 157 − 157

Acquisition of non-controlling interest (Note 9) − − − − − − − − 32 32

Disposal of non-controlling interest − − − − − − − 9 9 (72) (63)

Non-controlling interest in acquired  
subsidiaries (Note 6)

− − − − − − − − − 179 179

Employee benefits within share-based  
employee motivation program

− − − − 1,725 (107) − (599) 1,019 − 1,019

Other changes in equity − 3 − − − 7 − (3) 7 − 7

Total transactions with shareholders − 3 − − 1,635 (100) − (13,955) (12,417) (107) (12,524)

BALANCES AT 31 DECEMBER 2016 93 90 (10) 922 (67,034) 2,020 5,850 302,385 244,316 4,317 248,633
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Consolidated statement  
of changes in equity (continued)
(In millions of Russian roubles)

Attributable to equity holders of the Group

Share 
capital

Additional 
paid-in capital

Unrealized loss on 
available-for-sale  

investments
Translation of foreign 

operations
Treasury 

shares
Other capital 

 reserves

Remeasure-ments of 
defined benefit  

pension plans
Retained
earnings

Total equity attributable 
to shareholders 

of the Group
Non-controlling  

interests
Total

 equity

Balances at 1 January 2015 97 819 (10) 817 (82,023) 1,850 6,483 313,118 241,151 4,076 245,227

Profit for the year − − − − − − − 13,944 13,944 447 14,391

Other comprehensive income

Exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations

− − − 568 − − − − 568 16 584

Actuarial losses (Note 21) − − − − − − (412) − (412) − (412)

Income tax in respect of other comprehensive 
income items

− − − − − − 82 − 82 − 82

Total other comprehensive income/(loss),  
net of tax

− − − 568 − − (330) − 238 16 254

Total comprehensive income/(loss) − − − 568 − − (330) 13,944 14,182 463 14,645

Transactions with shareholders, recorded 
directly in equity

Dividends to shareholders of the Group  
(Note 17)

− − − − − − − (7,676) (7,676) − (7,676)

Dividends to non-controlling shareholders  
of subsidiaries

− − − − − − − (308) (308)

Purchase of treasury shares − − − − (2,867) − − − (2,867) − (2,867)

Acquisition of non-controlling interest (Note 9) − − − − − − − 312 312 (2,661) (2,349)

Non-controlling interest in acquired  
subsidiaries (Note 6)

1,538 1,538

Redemption of treasury shares (4) − − − 15,306 − − (15,302) − − −

Employee benefits within share-based  
employee motivation program

− − − − 915 657 − (321) 1,251 − 1,251

Other change in equity − (732) − − − (387) − 514 (605) 808 203

Total transactions with shareholders (4) (732) − − 13,354 270 − (22,473) (9,585) (623) (10,208)

BALANCES AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 93 87 (10) 1,385 (68,669) 2,120 6,153 304,589 245,748 3,916 249,664
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Consolidated statement  
of changes in equity (continued)
(In millions of Russian roubles)

Attributable to equity holders of the Group

Share 
capital

Additional 
paid-in capital

Unrealized loss on 
available-for-sale  

investments
Translation of foreign 

operations
Treasury 

shares
Other capital 

 reserves

Remeasure-ments of 
defined benefit  

pension plans
Retained
earnings

Total equity attributable 
to shareholders 

of the Group
Non-controlling  

interests
Total

 equity

Balances at 1 January 2015 97 819 (10) 817 (82,023) 1,850 6,483 313,118 241,151 4,076 245,227

Profit for the year − − − − − − − 13,944 13,944 447 14,391

Other comprehensive income

Exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations

− − − 568 − − − − 568 16 584

Actuarial losses (Note 21) − − − − − − (412) − (412) − (412)

Income tax in respect of other comprehensive 
income items

− − − − − − 82 − 82 − 82

Total other comprehensive income/(loss),  
net of tax

− − − 568 − − (330) − 238 16 254

Total comprehensive income/(loss) − − − 568 − − (330) 13,944 14,182 463 14,645

Transactions with shareholders, recorded 
directly in equity

Dividends to shareholders of the Group  
(Note 17)

− − − − − − − (7,676) (7,676) − (7,676)

Dividends to non-controlling shareholders  
of subsidiaries

− − − − − − − (308) (308)

Purchase of treasury shares − − − − (2,867) − − − (2,867) − (2,867)

Acquisition of non-controlling interest (Note 9) − − − − − − − 312 312 (2,661) (2,349)

Non-controlling interest in acquired  
subsidiaries (Note 6)

1,538 1,538

Redemption of treasury shares (4) − − − 15,306 − − (15,302) − − −

Employee benefits within share-based  
employee motivation program

− − − − 915 657 − (321) 1,251 − 1,251

Other change in equity − (732) − − − (387) − 514 (605) 808 203

Total transactions with shareholders (4) (732) − − 13,354 270 − (22,473) (9,585) (623) (10,208)

BALANCES AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 93 87 (10) 1,385 (68,669) 2,120 6,153 304,589 245,748 3,916 249,664
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Notes to the consolidated financial  
statements for the year ended  
31 December 2016 
(In millions of Russian roubles)

1. REPORTING ENTITY
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are of PJSC Rostelecom (“Rostelecom” or the “Company”), and its 
subsidiaries (together the “Group”), which are incorporated in the Russian Federation (“Russia”).

The registered address of the Company is Russian Federation, St. Petersburg, Dostoevsky Street, 15. Since February 
2016 the headquarters are located in the Russian Federation, Moscow at Goncharnaya Street, 30 (on 31 December 2015: 
Moscow at 1st Tverskaya-Yamskaya Street, 14). 

Rostelecom was established as an open joint stock company on 23 September 1993 in accordance with the Directive 
of the State Committee on the Management of State Property of Russia No. 1507-r, dated 27 August 1993. As at 31 
December 2016, the Russian Federation, represented by the Federal Property Management Agency together with 
Vnesheconombank, controls the Company by holding of 53% of the Company’s voting ordinary shares.

On 1 September 2014 Federal Law No. 99-FZ which introduced amendments to the Civil Code of the Russian 
Federation, including changes to the forms of legal entities, came into force. According to this Law the Company has 
changed its legal form to a public joint stock company (PJSC). On 24 June 2015, an entry was made to the Uniform State 
Register of Legal Entities for the official registration of changes to Rostelecom’s legal incorporation documents.

The Group provides communication services (including local, intra-zone, long-distance domestic and international 
fixed-line telephone services, mobile services), data transmission, Internet, Pay TV, VPN and data centres services, 
rent of communication channels and radio communication services in the territory of Russian Federation. The Group 
operates the main intercity network and the international telecommunications gateways of the Russian Federation, 
carrying voice and data traffic that originates in its own network and other national and international operators’ 
networks to other national and international operators for termination.

The Company operates socially important Government programs, including “E-Government”, “Unified communication 
service” and other.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
(a) Statement of compliance
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRSs”).

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s President and chief financial officer 
(“CFO”) − Senior Vice President on 2 March 2017.

(b) Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for measurement of available-
for-sale investments at fair value and certain other items when IFRS requires accounting treatment other than 
historical cost accounting (refer to Note 4).
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(c) Functional and presentation currency
 
The national currency of the Russian Federation is the Russian rouble (“RUB”), which is the functional currency of 
Group entities and the currency in which these consolidated financial statements are presented. The Group entities with 
other functional currency are: GNC-Alfa, incorporated in Armenia, the functional currency of this entity is Armenian 
dram (“AMD”), Rostelecom International, incorporated in Cyprus, the functional currency of this entity is United States 
dollars (“USD”). All financial information presented in RUB has been rounded to the nearest million, unless otherwise 
stated.

(d) Use of estimates and judgements 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below:

Changes in estimate of useful lives
The Group assesses the remaining useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment at least at each financial year-
end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a change in an accounting 
estimate in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. 

Fair values of associates
The Group is required to recognize the fair value of associates at the acquisition date, which involves estimates. Such 
estimates are based on valuation techniques, which require considerable judgement in forecasting future cash flows 
and developing other assumptions.

Share-based employee benefits
The Group measures cost of share-based employee benefit by reference to the fair value of equity instruments granted. 
This requires judgment in estimating future volatility of basis asset which is determined using historical data on market 
price of the shares. Future volatility may differ significantly from that estimated.

Employee benefits
The Group uses actuarial valuation methods for measurement of the present value of defined employee benefit 
obligations and related current service cost. This involves the use of demographic assumptions about the future 
characteristics of current employees who are eligible for benefits (mortality, both during and after employment, rates of 
employee turnover, etc.) as well as financial assumptions (discount rate, future salary and benefit levels, etc.).

Allowances
The Group makes allowances for doubtful accounts receivable. Significant judgment is used to estimate doubtful 
accounts. In estimating doubtful accounts historical and anticipated customer performance are considered. Changes in 
the economy, industry, or specific customer conditions may require adjustments to the allowance for doubtful accounts 
recorded in the consolidated financial statements. 
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172   РОСТЕЛЕКОМ   Годовой отчет и финансовая отчетность  2016

КОНСОЛИДИРОВАННАЯ ФИНАНСОВАЯ 
ОТЧЕТНОСТЬ И АУДИТОРСКОЕ 

Impairment of non-current assets 
Each asset or cash generating unit is evaluated at the end of every reporting period to determine whether there are any 
indications of impairment. If any such indication exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is performed and 
an impairment loss recognised to the extent that carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. For goodwill and 
intangible assets that have indefinite lives or that are not yet available for use, recoverable amount is estimated at each 
reporting date. 

This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units. Estimating of value in use requires the 
Group to make significant judgement concerning expected future cash flows and discount rates applicable. Expected 
future cash flows of cash-generating unit are typically based on approved budgets for next financial years and strategic 
plan for the period from second till fifth years. Cash flows beyond five-year periods are extrapolated using industry 
growth rate. Discount rates are determined based on historical information of cost of debt and equity of a respective 
cash-generating unit. Any future changes in the aforementioned assumptions could have significant impact on value in 
use.

Litigation 
The Group exercises considerable judgment in measuring and recognizing provisions and the exposure to contingent 
liabilities related to pending litigation or other outstanding claims subject to negotiated settlement, mediation, 
arbitration or government regulation, as well as other contingent liabilities. Judgment is necessary in assessing the 
likelihood that a pending claim will succeed, or a liability will arise, and to quantify the possible range of the final 
settlement. Because of the inherent uncertainties in this evaluation process, actual losses may be different from the 
originally estimated provision. These estimates are subject to change as new information becomes available. Revisions 
to the estimates may significantly affect future operating results..

3. OPERATING ENVIRONMENT OF THE GROUP 

The Group’s operations are primarily located in the Russian Federation. Consequently, the Group is exposed to the 
economic and financial markets of the Russian Federation which display characteristics of an emerging market. The 
legal, tax and regulatory frameworks continue development, but are subject to varying interpretations and frequent 
changes which together with other legal and fiscal impediments contribute to the challenges faced by entities operating 
in the Russian Federation. 

Russia continues economic reforms and development of its legal, tax and regulatory frameworks as required 
by a market economy. The future stability of the Russian economy is largely dependent upon these reforms and 
developments and the effectiveness of economic, financial and monetary measures undertaken by the government. 

The Russian economy has been negatively impacted by a decline in oil prices and sanctions imposed on Russia by a 
number of countries. The Rouble interest rates remained high. The combination of the above resulted in reduced access 
to capital, a higher cost of capital and uncertainty regarding economic growth, which could negatively affect the Group’s 
future financial position, results of operations and business prospects. Management believes it is taking appropriate 
measures to support the sustainability of the Group’s business in the current circumstances.

 The consolidated financial statements reflect management’s assessment of the impact of the Russian business 
environment on the operations and the financial position of the Group. The future business environment may differ from 
management’s assessment. 
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Введение Профиль Компании Стратегический  
отчет

Результаты  
деятельности

Корпоративное 
управление

Акционерам 
и инвесторам

ПРИЛОЖЕНИЯ

Примечания являются неотъемлемой частью 
настоящей финансовой отчетности.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The accounting policies and methods of computation applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are consistent with those disclosed in the annual consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2015, except for the adoption of new standards and interpretations effective from 1 January 2016.

(а) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the companies comprising the Group and 
its subsidiaries.

Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on 
which control is transferred to the Group. 

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

• The fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
• The recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
• If the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the acquire; less
• The net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
 
When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such 
amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs in 
connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is 
classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes 
in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

Combination of entities under common control
Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are under the control of the shareholder that 
controls the Group are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the earliest comparative 
period presented or, if later, at the date that common control was established; for this purpose comparatives are 
revised. The assets and liabilities acquired are recognised at the carrying amounts recognised previously in the Group’s 
controlling shareholder’s consolidated financial statements. The components of equity of the acquired entities are 
added to the same components within Group equity except that any share capital of the acquired entities is recognised 
as part of share premium. Any cash paid for the acquisition is recognised directly in equity.

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests
Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners and 
therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result. Acquisitions of non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of 
control are accounted for as equity transactions.

Subsidiaries
Дочерними являются компании, которые напрямую или косвенно контролируются Группой. Дочерние компании 
Subsidiaries are entities that are directly or indirectly controlled by the Group. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no longer consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group, using consistent 
accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealized gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions 
are eliminated in full. 
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Losses are allocated to the parent and to non-controlling interest based on their respective interests.

Investments in associates (equity accounted investees) 
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate 
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights 
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, 
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing 
control.

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary to 
determine control over subsidiaries.

The Group’s investments in its associate and joint venture are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The carrying 
amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate or joint 
venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture is included in the carrying amount 
of the investment and is not tested for impairment separately.

The statement of profit or loss reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate or joint venture. 
Any change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, when there has been a change 
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when 
applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the 
Group and the associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or joint venture.

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate and a joint venture is shown on the face of the 
statement of profit or loss outside operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax and noncontrolling interests in 
the subsidiaries of the associate or joint venture.

The financial statements of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. 
When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment 
loss on its investment in its associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there 
is objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the 
Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint 
venture and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss as ‘Share of profit of an associate and a joint venture’ in the 
statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and 
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or 
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds 
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

Non-controlling interest
Non-controlling interest includes that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of subsidiaries attributable 
to interests which are not owned, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, by the Group. Non-controlling interest at the 
reporting date represents the non-controlling shareholders’ portion of the fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities 
of the subsidiary at the acquisition date, and their portion of movements in net assets since the date of the combination.

The losses applicable to non-controlling interest, including negative other comprehensive income, are charged to non-
controlling interest even if it causes non-controlling interest to have a deficit balance. 
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(b) Goodwill 
 
Goodwill on an acquisition of a subsidiary is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on an acquisition of an associate is 
included in the investment in associates.

The acquirer recognizes goodwill as of the acquisition date measured as the excess of (a) over (b) below:

(а) the aggregate of: 

1. the acquisition-date fair value of consideration transferred; 
2. non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets; and 
3. in a business combination achieved in stages, the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held 

equity interest in the acquiree;
 
(b) the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed measured in 
accordance with IFRS 3. 

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses 
for goodwill may not be reversed. If the impairment loss recognized for the cash-generating unit exceeds the carrying 
amount of the allocated goodwill, the additional amount of the impairment loss is recognized by allocating to other 
assets on pro rata basis, but not below their fair value.

Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, it is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. 

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operations within that unit are disposed of, 
the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based 
on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of cash-generating unit retained.

In case of excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities over cost of business combination the Group:

• reassesses the identification and measurement of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities and the measurement of the cost of the combination;

• recognizes in profit or loss any excess remaining after that reassessment immediately.

(c) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets 
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working 
condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they 
are located and capitalised borrowing costs.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item 
if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of 
property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Items of property, plant and equipment that are retired or otherwise disposed of are eliminated from the statement 
of financial position along with the corresponding accumulated depreciation. Any difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and carrying amount of the item is reported as a gain or loss on derecognition. The gain or loss resulting from 
such retirement or disposal is included in the determination of net income.
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Depreciation is calculated on property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis from the time the assets are 
available for use, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

The useful life of assets encompasses the entire time they are available for use, regardless of whether during that time 

Number of years

Buildings and site services 10-50

Cable and transmission devices:

Cable 10-40

Radio and fixed link transmission equipment 8-20

Telephone exchanges 15

Other 5-10

they are in use or idle. Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date or 
more frequently if events occur that suggest a change is necessary and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, 
the changes are accounted for prospectively. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date the asset is 
classified as held for sale and the date the asset is derecognized.

Construction in progress represents properties under construction and is stated at cost. This includes cost of 
construction and other direct costs. Construction in progress is not depreciated until the constructed or installed asset 
is ready for its intended use.

Advances given to suppliers of property, plant and equipment are included in other non-current assets.

Interest costs on borrowings to finance the construction of property, plant and equipment are capitalized during the 
period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. 

Cost of machinery and plant and other items of property, plant and equipment related to core activities of the Group, 
which have been gratuitously transferred to the Group beyond the privatisation framework, is capitalised in property, 
plant and equipment at fair value at the date of such transfer. Such transfers of property, plant and equipment primarily 
relate to future provision of services by the Group to entities, which have transferred property, plant and equipment. In 
such instances, the Group records deferred income in the amount of the fair value of the received property, plant and 
equipment and recognises income in the profit or loss on the same basis that the equipment is depreciated. 
 
(d) Leases 
 
Service contracts that do not take the legal form of a lease but convey rights to the Group to use an asset or a group 
of assets in return for a payment or a series of fixed payments are accounted for as leases. Determining whether 
an arrangement contains a lease is determined based on the facts and circumstances of each arrangement to 
determine whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and whether 
the arrangement conveys a right to use that asset. Contracts meeting these criteria are then evaluated to determine 
whether they are either an operating lease or finance lease.

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the 
leased item, are capitalized at the commencement of the lease term at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, 
at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges 
and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 
Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss. Capitalized leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term unless there is a reasonable certainty that the 
Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, in which case the assets are depreciated over their estimated 
useful lives.
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Indefeasible Rights of Use (IRU) leases represent the right to use a portion of asset granted for a fixed period. IRUs are 
recognized as an asset when the Group has the specific indefeasible right to use an identified portion of the underlying 
asset, generally optical fibers or dedicated wavelength bandwidth, and the duration of the right is for the major part 
of the underlying asset’s economic life. Such assets are included in property, plant and equipment in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. They are depreciated over the shorter of the expected period of use and the life of the 
contract.

Leases, including IRU leases, where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the 
asset are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

(e) Investment property 
 
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including property under 
construction for such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The 
Group applies cost model to its investments properties and subsequent to initial recognition investment properties are 
measured in accordance with IAS 16’s requirements for that model.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn 
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of 
the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

(f) Intangible assets
 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired 
in a business combination is fair value as at the date of acquisition. 

Development expenditures are capitalised if they meet criteria for an assets recognition. Expenditure on research phase 
are expensed as incurred.

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment when 
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. Useful lives of intangible assets with finite lives are 
determined on individual basis.

Amortisation periods and methods for intangible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed at least at each financial 
year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as changes in accounting 
estimates. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and treated 
as changes in accounting estimates. The Group assesses whether there is any indication that a finite lived intangible 
asset may be impaired at each reporting date. The Group also performs annual impairment tests for finite lived assets 
not yet placed in use. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is included in depreciation and 
amortisation expenses in profit or loss.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but tested for impairment annually or more frequently 
when indicators of impairment exist, either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The useful life of an 
intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite life assessment continues to 
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.
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(g) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

At each reporting date or more frequently if events occur that suggest a change is necessary, an assessment is made as 
to whether there is any indication that the Group’s assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, an assessment 
is made to establish whether the recoverable amount of the assets has declined below the carrying amount of those 
assets as disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, annual impairment test is carried out for intangible assets 
with indefinite useful life or that are not yet available for use and goodwill. When such a decline has occurred, the 
carrying amount of the assets is reduced to the recoverable amount. The amount of any such reduction is recognized 
immediately as a loss. Any subsequent increase in the recoverable amount of the assets, except for goodwill, is reversed 
when the circumstances that led to the write-down or write-off cease to exist and there is persuasive evidence that the 
new circumstances and events will persist for the foreseeable future. Increase of the recoverable amount is limited to 
the lower of its recoverable amount and carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 
been recognized for the asset in prior years.

The recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the assets’ fair value less cost to sell, or value in use. If it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the Group determines the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit (further − CGU) to which the assets belong. The value in use of the asset is estimated based on 
forecast of future cash inflows and outflows to be derived from continued use of the asset and from the estimated net 
proceeds on disposal, discounted to present value using an appropriate discount rate. 

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the CGUs or groups of CGUs expected to benefit from the combination’s synergies, irrespective of 
whether other assets and liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or group of units. Each unit or group of 
units to which goodwill is so allocated:

• represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes; 
and

• is not larger than an operating segment determined in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments. 
 

(h) Inventory 

Inventory principally consists of cable, spare parts for the network and other supplies. Inventory is stated at the lower of 
cost incurred in bringing each item to its present location and condition and its net realizable value. Cost is calculated 
using weighted average cost formula, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or 
conversion costs, and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. Items used in the 
construction of new plant and equipment are capitalized as part of the related asset. Net realizable value is determined 
with respect to current market prices less expected costs to dispose. Inventory used in the maintenance of equipment is 
charged to operating costs as utilized and included in repair and maintenance and other costs in profit or loss.

(i) Accounts receivable 
 
Trade and other accounts receivable are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at original invoice 
amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. The allowance is created based on the historical pattern of 
collections of accounts receivable and specific analysis of recoverability of significant accounts.

Bad debts are written off in the period in which they are identified.

(j) Financial instruments 
 
Financial instruments carried in the consolidated statement of financial position include cash and cash equivalents, 
investments (other than in consolidated subsidiaries and equity method investees), non-hedge derivatives, accounts 
receivable, accounts payable and borrowings. The particular recognition methods adopted for financial instruments 
are disclosed in the individual policy statements associated with each item. The Group classifies financial assets and 
liabilities into the following categories: loans and receivables, financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, financial liabilities at amortised cost.
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Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market and not originated with the intent to be sold immediately. Such assets are carried at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. The calculation takes into account any premium 
or discount on acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. 
Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well 
as through the amortisation process.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss are financial assets or liabilities, which are either 
classified as held for trading or derivatives or are designated by the Group as at fair value through profit or loss upon 
initial recognition. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purposes of selling in 
the near term. Gains and losses on investments held for trading are recognized in profit or loss. 

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturity that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are 
recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-
to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment 
losses. 

All other investments not classified in any of the three preceding categories are classified as available-for-sale. After 
initial recognition, available-for-sale investments are measured at fair value with gains and losses being recognized in 
other comprehensive income until the investment is derecognized at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously 
reported in equity is included in the determination of profit or loss.

All financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for derivative financial 
liabilities which are carried at their fair values. 

Transactions with financial instruments are recognized using settlement date accounting. Assets are recognized on the 
day they are transferred to the Group and derecognized on the day that they are transferred by the Group.

At each reporting date or more frequently if events occur that suggest a change is necessary, an assessment is made as 
to whether there is any indication that the Group’s investments may be impaired. 

Investing and financial gains comprise interest income on funds invested (including available-for-sale financial assets), 
dividend income, gains on the disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, fair value gains on financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss and gains on the remeasurement to fair value of any pre-existing interest in an acquiree. 
Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. Dividend income is 
recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is established, which in the case of 
quoted securities is normally the ex-dividend date. 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings (other than capitalised into the cost of qualifying assets), 
unwinding of the discount on provisions and contingent consideration, losses on disposal of available-for-sale financial 
assets, dividends on preference shares classified as liabilities, fair value losses on financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss and impairment losses recognised on financial assets (other than trade receivables). 

(k) Borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs, and have not been 
designated ‘as at fair value through profit or loss’. In subsequent periods, borrowings are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are 
derecognized as well as through the amortisation process.
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Borrowing costs are expensed, except for those that would have been avoided if the expenditure to acquire the qualifying 
asset had not been made. To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose of obtaining a 
qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization is determined by applying a capitalization rate 
to the expenditures on that asset. The capitalization rate is the weighted average rate of the borrowing costs applicable 
to the borrowings of the enterprise that are outstanding during the period, unless borrowings were made specifically 
for the purpose of obtaining the qualifying asset wherein that rate is used. Qualifying borrowing costs are capitalized 
with the relevant qualifying asset from the date the activities to prepare the asset are in progress and expenditures 
and borrowing costs are being incurred until the related asset is substantially ready for its intended use. Capitalized 
borrowing costs are subsequently charged to profit or loss in the period over which the asset is depreciated.

(l) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into roubles at the exchange rate as of the transaction 
date. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated into roubles at the exchange rate as of the 
reporting date. Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, or on reporting the Group’s monetary 
items at rates different from those at which they were initially recorded in the period, or reported in previous financial 
statements, are recorded as foreign currency exchange gains or losses in the period in which they arise. Foreign 
currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net 
gain or net loss position.

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the rates of exchange used for translating foreign currency balances were (in 
Russian roubles for one unit of foreign currency):

Source: the Central Bank of Russia

(m) Cash and cash equivalents
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances with banks, and highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less, with insignificant risks of diminution in value.

(n) Deferred income taxes 

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the reporting date between 
the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences:

• except where the deferred income tax liability arises from goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit 
nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in 
joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized:

• except where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

2016 г. 2015 г.

US dollar (USD) 60.6569 72.8827

Special Drawing Rights (XDR) 81.2857 101.2377

Euro (EUR) 63.8111 79.6972
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• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in 
joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences 
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary difference can be 
utilized.

 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset 
to be utilized. Any such previously recognized reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset 
will be realized or the liability settled. Tax rates are based on laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and 
liabilities, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax 
entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be 
realised simultaneously.

In accordance with the tax legislation of the Russian Federation, tax losses and current tax assets of a company in the 
Group may not be set off against taxable profits and current tax liabilities of other Group companies except for cases 
when two or more entities form the Consolidated Group of Taxpayers for the purposes of unified income tax declaration 
submission. In addition, the tax base is determined separately for each of the Group’s main activities and, therefore, tax 
losses and taxable profits related to different activities cannot be offset except for the abovementioned Consolidated 
Group of Taxpayers formation.

(o) Revenue and operating costs recognition 

Revenue and operating costs for all services supplied and received are recognized at the time the services are rendered. 
Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity and the amount of revenue can be reliably measured. Revenues and expenses are reported net of respective value 
added tax. 

Revenues from directly billed subscribers are recognized in the period where the services were provided based on the 
Group’s billing system’s data. Revenue from time calls and data transfer is measured primarily by the volume of traffic 
processed for the period. Revenues from subscribers billed via agents are recognized in the period where the services 
were provided based on agent reports.

The Group charges its subscribers throughout Russia for certain communication services based on pre-set tariffs 
regulated by the Ministry of Telecom and Mass Communications and Federal Tariff Service. 

The Group charges amounts to interconnected operators for incoming traffic and is charged by operators for 
termination. These revenues and costs are shown gross in the consolidated financial statements.

Amounts payable to and receivable from the same operators are shown net in the consolidated statements of financial 
position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net 
basis or to realize the asset and settle liability simultaneously.

Revenues from the sale of transmission capacity on terrestrial and submarine cables, which relates to IRU (indefeasible 
right of use of the capacity of an international cable) under operating leases where the Group is a lessor, are recognized 
on a straight-line basis over the life of the contract.
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(p) Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense relating to any provision is charged in profit 
or loss or capitalized in an asset if it is required by IFRS.

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is 
recognised as finance cost.

(q) Government grants 

Government grants are recognised initially as deferred income at fair value when there is reasonable assurance that 
they will be received and the Group will comply with the conditions associated with the grant, and are then recognised in 
profit or loss as other income on systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognized in profit or loss as other income on systematic 
basis in the periods in which the expenses are recognised.

(r) Employee benefits 

The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme which requires one-off contributions, representing the net 
present value of future monthly payments to employees, to be made by the Group to a separately administered pension 
fund upon employees’ dismissal. The pension fund is liable for payments to the retired employees. 

The Group uses the Project Unit Credit Method to determine the present value of its defined benefit obligations and the 
related current service cost and, where applicable, past service cost.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized as other comprehensive income or expense immediately. 

The Group also participates in a defined contribution plan. Contributions made by the Group on defined contribution 
plans are charged to expenses when incurred. 

The Group accrues for the employees’ compensated absences (vacations) as the additional amount that the Group 
expects to pay as a result of the unused vacation that has accumulated at the reporting date. 

(s) Share-based payments 
 
The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, under which the Group receives services from 
employees as consideration for options for shares of the Company. The fair value of the employee services received in 
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined by 
reference to the fair value of the options granted.

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting 
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each reporting period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of 
options that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to 
original estimates, if any, in the statement of comprehensive income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 

(t) Dividends 

Dividends are recognized when the shareholder’s right to receive the payment is established. Dividends in respect of the 
period covered by the financial statements that are proposed or declared after the reporting date but before approval of 
the financial statements are not recognized as a liability at the reporting date in accordance with IAS 10 Events after the 
Reporting Period. 
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(u) Treasury shares
 
The cost of treasury shares purchased is debited to a separate category of equity. When treasury shares are sold or 
re-issued, the amount received for the instruments is credited to this category, and any surpluses or deficits on sales of 
treasury shares are shown as an adjustment to additional paid-in capital. The average cost method is used to determine 
the cost of treasury shares sold. However, if the entity is able to identify the specific items sold and their costs, the 
specific cost is applied

(v) Earnings per share
 
IAS 33 requires the application of the “two-class method” to determine earnings applicable to ordinary shareholders, 
the amount of which is used as a numerator to calculate earnings per ordinary share. The application of the “two-class 
method” requires that the profit or loss after deducting preferred dividends is allocated to ordinary shares and other 
participating equity instruments to the extent that each instrument shares in earnings as if all of the profit or loss for 
the period had been distributed. The total profit or loss allocated to each class of equity instrument is determined by 
adding together the amount allocated for dividends and the amount allocated for a participation feature.

(w) Segment information 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 
and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other 
components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the chief operating decision maker, 
Management Board, to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and 
for which discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported to the Management Board include items directly attributable to a segment as well as 
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. 

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant and equipment, and 
intangible assets other than goodwill.

5. NEW STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS ADOPTED BY THE GROUP
 
New and amended standards and interpretations  

The Group applied for the first time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment 
that has been issued but is not yet effective. The nature and the effect of these changes are disclosed below. Although 
these new standards and amendments applied for the first time in 2016, they did not have a material impact on the 
annual consolidated financial statements of the Group. The nature and the impact of each new standard or amendment 
are described below:

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

IFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose activities are subject to rate-regulation, to continue applying 
most of its existing accounting policies for regulatory deferral account balances upon its first-time adoption of IFRS. 
Entities that adopt IFRS 14 must present the regulatory deferral accounts as separate line items on the statement of 
financial position and present movements in these account balances as separate line items in the statement of profit or 
loss and OCI. The standard requires disclosure of the nature of, and risks associated with, the entity’s rate-regulation 
and the effects of that rate-regulation on its financial statements. Since the Group is an existing IFRS preparer and is 
not involved in any rate-regulated activities, this standard does not apply.
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Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests

The amendments to IFRS 11 require that a joint operator accounting for the acquisition of an interest in a joint 
operation, in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business, must apply the relevant IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations principles for business combination accounting. The amendments also clarify that a previously held 
interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of an additional interest in the same joint operation if 
joint control is retained. In addition, a scope exclusion has been added to IFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do 
not apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are under common control of the same 
ultimate controlling party. The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and 
the acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint operation and are applied prospectively. These amendments 
do not have any impact on the Group as there has been no interest acquired in a joint operation during the period.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

The amendments clarify the principle in IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets that revenue 
reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is a part) rather 
than the economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot 
be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited circumstances to amortise 
intangible assets. The amendments are applied prospectively and do not have any impact on the Group, given that it has 
not used a revenue-based method to depreciate its non-current assets.

Amendments to IAS 27: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements

The amendments allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates in their separate financial statements. Entities already applying IFRS and electing to change to the equity 
method in their separate financial statements have to apply that change retrospectively. These amendments do not have 
any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Annual improvements 2012-2014 cycle
 
These improvements include:

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

Assets (or disposal groups) are generally disposed of either through sale or distribution to the owners. The amendment 
clarifies that changing from one of these disposal methods to the other would not be considered a new plan of disposal, 
rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There is, therefore, no interruption of the application of the requirements 
in IFRS 5. This amendment is applied prospectively.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

(i)  Servicing contracts

The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a 
financial asset. An entity must assess the nature of the fee and the arrangement against the guidance for continuing 
involvement in IFRS 7 in order to assess whether the disclosures are required. The assessment of which servicing 
contracts constitute continuing involvement must be done retrospectively. However, the required disclosures need not 
be provided for any period beginning before the annual period in which the entity first applies the amendments.

(ii) Applicability of the amendments to IFRS 7 to condensed interim financial statements

The amendment clarifies that the offsetting disclosure requirements do not apply to condensed interim financial 
statements, unless such disclosures provide a significant update to the information reported in the most recent annual 
report. This amendment is applied retrospectively.
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IAS 19 Employee Benefits

The amendment clarifies that market depth of high quality corporate bonds is assessed based on the currency in which 
the obligation is denominated, rather than the country where the obligation is located. When there is no deep market 
for high quality corporate bonds in that currency, government bond rates must be used. This amendment is applied 
prospectively.

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting

The amendment clarifies that the required interim disclosures must either be in the interim financial statements or 
incorporated by cross-reference between the interim financial statements and wherever they are included within the 
interim financial report (e.g., in the management commentary or risk report). The other information within the interim 
financial report must be available to users on the same terms as the interim financial statements and at the same time. 
This amendment is applied retrospectively. These amendments do not have any impact on the Group.

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments to IAS 1 clarify, rather than significantly change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments clarify:

• The materiality requirements in IAS 1.
• That specific line items in the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI and the statement of financial position may be 

disaggregated.
• That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial statements.
• That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method must be presented in 

aggregate as a single line item, and classified between those items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified to 
profit or loss. 

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are presented in the 
statement of financial position and the statement of profit or loss. These amendments do not have any impact on the 
Group.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

The amendments address issues that have arisen in applying the investment entities exception under IFRS 10 
Consolidated Financial Statements. The amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that the exemption from presenting 
consolidated financial statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, when the 
investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value. Furthermore, the amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that 
only a subsidiary of an investment entity that is not an investment entity itself and that provides support services to 
the investment entity is consolidated. All other subsidiaries of an investment entity are measured at fair value. The 
amendments to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures allow the investor, when applying the equity 
method, to retain the fair value measurement applied by the investment entity associate or joint venture to its interests 
in subsidiaries. These amendments are applied retrospectively and do not have any impact on the Group as the Group 
does not apply the consolidation exception.

Standards issued but not yet effective
 
The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s 
financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become 
effective.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments that replaces IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 brings together all three aspects 
of the accounting for financial instruments project: classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. 
IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted. Except for 
hedge accounting, retrospective application is required but providing comparative information is not compulsory. For 
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hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied prospectively, with some limited exceptions. The Group plans 
to adopt the new standard on the required effective date. During 2016, the Group has performed a high-level impact 
assessment of all three aspects of IFRS 9. This preliminary assessment is based on currently available information and 
may be subject to changes arising from further detailed analyses or additional reasonable and supportable information 
being made available to the Group in the future. The Group is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 9.  
 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts 
with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an 
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The new revenue standard 
will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a full retrospective application or a 
modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Early adoption is 
permitted. The Group is currently evaluating the possible effect of the Standard on its Consolidated financial statements 
and the transition method to be used.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control of a subsidiary 
that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The amendments clarify that the gain or loss resulting from 
the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a business, as defined in IFRS 3, between an investor and its associate 
or joint venture, is recognised in full. Any gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that do not 
constitute a business, however, is recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint 
venture. The IASB has deferred the effective date of these amendments indefinitely, but an entity that early adopts the 
amendments must apply them prospectively.

IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative − Amendments to IAS 7

The amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows are part of the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative and require an entity to 
provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing 
activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. On initial application of the 
amendment, entities are not required to provide comparative information for preceding periods. These amendments 
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with early application permitted. Application of 
amendments will result in additional disclosure provided by the Group.

IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses − Amendments to IAS 12

The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable profits against 
which it may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible temporary difference. Furthermore, the amendments 
provide guidance on how an entity should determine future taxable profits and explain the circumstances in which 
taxable profit may include the recovery of some assets for more than their carrying amount. Entities are required to 
apply the amendments retrospectively. However, on initial application of the amendments, the change in the opening 
equity of the earliest comparative period may be recognised in opening retained earnings (or in another component 
of equity, as appropriate), without allocating the change between opening retained earnings and other components of 
equity. Entities applying this relief must disclose that fact. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2017 with early application permitted. If an entity applies the amendments for an earlier period, it 
must disclose that fact. These amendments are not expected to have any impact on the Group.

IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions − Amendments to IFRS 2

The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment that address three main areas: the effects of vesting 
conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-based 
payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations; and accounting where a modification 
to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its classification from cash settled to equity 
settled. On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but retrospective 
application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and other criteria are met. The amendments are effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted. 



  Annual report & Financial Statements 2016  PJSC ROSTELECOM  187
The accompanying notes are an integral part  
of these consolidated financial statements.

Introduction Company  
Profile

Strategic  
Review

Operational 
Highlights

Financial 
Performance

Corporate 
Governance

Information  
for Shareholders  
and Investors

 APPENDICES

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement 
Contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving 
the Legal Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar to 
the accounting for finance leases under IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees − leases 
of ‘low-value’ assets (e.g., personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months 
or less). At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the 
lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-
of-use asset). Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the 
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will be also required to remeasure the lease liability upon 
the occurrence of certain events (e.g., a change in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a 
change in an index or rate used to determine those payments). The lessee will generally recognise the amount of the 
remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is 
substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under IAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the 
same classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish between two types of leases: operating and finance leases. 
IFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under IAS 17. IFRS 16 is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted, but not before an entity 
applies IFRS 15. A lessee can choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective 
approach. The standard’s transition provisions permit certain reliefs. The Group is currently assessing the impact of 
IFRS 16.

2014-2016 cycle (issued in December 2016)

This annual improvements package amended three standards: 

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

Deletion of short-term exemptions for first-time adopters

• Short-term exemptions in paragraphs E3-E7 of IFRS 1 were deleted because they have now served their intended 
purpose.

• The amendment is effective from 1 January 2018.
 
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

Clarification that measuring investees at fair value through profit or loss is an investment-by investment choice 

• The amendments clarifies that: 
• An entity that is a venture capital organisation, or other qualifying entity, may elect, at initial recognition on 

an investment-by-investment basis, to measure its investments in associates and joint ventures at fair value 
through profit or loss.

• If an entity that is not itself an investment entity has an interest in an associate or joint venture that is an 
investment entity, the entity may, when applying the equity method, elect to retain the fair value measurement 
applied by that investment entity associate or joint venture to the investment entity associate’s or joint venture’s 
interests in subsidiaries. This election is made separately for each investment entity associate or joint venture, 
at the later of the date on which (a) the investment entity associate or joint venture is initially recognised; (b) the 
associate or joint venture becomes an investment entity; and (c) the investment entity associate or joint venture 
first becomes a parent. 

• The amendments should be applied retrospectively and are effective from 1 January 2018, with earlier application 
permitted. If an entity applies those amendments for an earlier period, it must disclose that fact. 
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IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

Clarification of the scope of the disclosure requirements in IFRS 12

• The amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements in IFRS 12, other than those in paragraphs B10-B16, apply 
to an entity’s interest in a subsidiary, a joint venture or an associate (or a portion of its interest in a joint venture or an 
associate) that is classified (or included in a disposal group that is classified) as held for sale.

• The amendments are effective from 1 January 2017 and must be applied retrospectively. 

Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts − Amendments to IFRS 4

The amendments address concerns arising from implementing the new financial instruments Standard, IFRS 9, before 
implementing the new insurance contracts standard that the Board is developing to replace IFRS 4. The amendments 
introduce two options for entities issuing insurance contracts: a temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 and an 
overlay approach.

The amendments apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The interpretation clarifies that in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, 
expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating 
to advance consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or 
receipts in advance, then the entity must determine a date of the transactions for each payment or receipt of advance 
consideration.

The amendments apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and entities may elect to apply them 
either retrospectively or prospectively. 

Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to IAS 40)

The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under construction or development 
into, or out of investment property. The amendments state that a change in use occurs when the property meets, or 
ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence of the change in use. A mere change in 
management’s intentions for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in use.

The amendments apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and entities may elect to apply them 
either retrospectively or prospectively. 
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6. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
 
2016 transactions 
 
Acquisition of subsidiaries

Telecommunication business of Morton group

On 5 April 2016 Group acquired control over certain subsidiaries of Morton Group involved in the telecommunication 
business (further, the “Telecommunication business”). The subsidiary of the Group, PJSC Bashinformsvyaz, acquired 
100% of the respective subsidiaries of Morton Group for 633.

The Telecommunication business of Morton Group include three companies, which provide broadband, digital pay TV 
and telephony services. The companies serve more than 40,000 residential and 2,000 corporate customers residing in 
new housing developments in Moscow and the Moscow region. 

The acquisition is in line with Group’s strategy to build a competitive position in the broadband and pay-TV market. The 
deal will allow Group to enter a new housing development sector, where, historically, the Group’s services have been 
under-represented. 

The acquisition has been accounted using the acquisition method. These consolidated financial statements include the 
results the acquired Telecommunication business of Morton Group for nine months period from the acquisition date 
through 31 December 2016.

The effective share of the Group in Telecommunication business of Morton Group is 96.33%.

The provisional values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the Telecommunication business of Morton Group as at 
the date of acquisition were:

The Telecommunication business 
of Morton Group 

 (provisional values)

Provisional value of identifiable assets and liabilities

Property, plant and equipment 377

Intangible assets 117

Non-current investments 11

Trade and other accounts receivable 168

Cash and cash equivalents 5

Inventories 18

Other current and non-current assets 10

Non-current loans and borrowings (11)

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (101)

Deferred tax liabilities (44)

Total identifiable net assets at provisional value 550

Goodwill arising on acquisition 103

Non-controlling interest 20

Purchase consideration transferred (paid in cash) 633

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) 5

Cash paid (633)

Net cash flow on acquisition (628)
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The goodwill of 103 comprises the value of expected synergies and other benefits from combining the assets and 
activities of the Telecommunication business of Morton Group with those of the Group. None of the goodwill recognised 
is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

The non-controlling interest is 3.67%. The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interest at the 
proportionate share of the value of net identifiable assets acquired.

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2016, the Telecommunication business of Morton Group has contributed 
43 to net profit of the Group and 309 to revenue. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of 2016, net profit of 
the Group would have been 12,258 and revenue would have been 297,554. In determining these amounts, management 
has assumed that the fair value adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the 
acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2016.

JSC AIST

On 20 June 2016 the Group acquired control over JSC AIST. The subsidiary of the Company, PJSC Bashinformsvyaz, 
acquired 100% of shares of JSC AIST, a leading broadband and telephony provider in the Samara region, for 1,420.

AIST serves approximately 130,000 broadband and telephony clients, including more than 10,000 corporate customers. 
This acquisition will enhance the Group’s market position in the Samara region’s broadband market.

The effective share of the Group as of 31 December 2016 in JSC AIST is 96.33%. 

The acquisition has been accounted using the acquisition method. These consolidated financial statements include the 
results of JSC AIST for six months period from the acquisition date through 31 December 2016. 

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of JSC AIST as at the date of acquisition were: 
 

АО «Аист»

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities

Property, plant and equipment 634

Intangible assets 125

Other current and non-current assets 20

Trade and other accounts receivable 44

Cash and cash equivalents 8

Inventories 27

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (85)

Deferred tax liabilities (77)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 696

Goodwill arising on acquisition 750

Non-controlling interest 26

Purchase consideration transferred (paid in cash) 1,420

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) 8

Cash paid (1,420)

Net cash flow on acquisition (1 412)
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The goodwill of 750 comprises the value of expected synergies and other benefits from combining the assets and 
activities of JSC AIST with those of the Group. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income 
tax purposes.

Transaction costs of 1 were expensed and are included in Other investing and financial gain in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, and are part of operating cash flows in the statement of cash flows.

The fair value of the trade and other accounts receivable amounts to 44, which is approximately equal to the gross 
amounts of corresponding receivables as of the acquisition date. None of the trade and other accounts receivable have 
been impaired and it is expected that the full contractual amounts can be collected.

The non-controlling interest is 3.67%. The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interest at the 
proportionate share of the value of net identifiable assets acquired. 

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2016 JSC AIST has contributed 16 to net profit of the Group and 321 to 
revenue. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of 2016, net profit of the Group would have been 12,286 
and revenue would have been 297,788. In determining these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value 
adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 
January 2016.

Non-state Pension Fund Alliance (the “Fund”) JSC

On 23 June 2016 Group acquired control over Non-state Pension Fund Alliance. The subsidiary of the Group, СJSC 
Westelcom, acquired 51% of shares of Private Pension Fund Alliance for 184. The deal on acquisition will enable the 
Group to increase the control over the pension plan.

The acquisition has been accounted using the acquisition method. Present consolidated financial statements include 
the results of the Fund for six months period from the acquisition date through 31 December 2016. 

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities the Fund as at the date of acquisition were: 
 

Non-state Pension Fund Alliance

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities

Property, plant and equipment 2

Intangible assets 2

Deferred tax assets 6

Trade and other accounts receivable 6

Cash and cash equivalents 45

Other current financial assets 1,570

Employee benefits (373)

Non-current accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (937)

Current accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (13)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 308

Goodwill arising on acquisition 27

Non-controlling interest 151

Purchase consideration transferred (paid in cash) 184

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) 45

Cash paid (184)

Net cash flow on acquisition (139)
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Non-current accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses of the Fund are mostly represented by the obligations 
under the pension agreements not related to the Group’s employees. Obligations of the Fund to the employees of 
Rostelecom under the corresponding pension agreements are included in the Employee benefits, non-current liabilities, 
of the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December 2016.

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2016 the Fund has contributed 68 to net profit of the Group. 
If the combination had taken place at the beginning of 2016, net profit of the Group would have been 12,331 and revenue 
would remain the same. In determining these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments that 
arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2016.

National Data Centers LLC

On 16 June 2016 the Group acquired control over National Data Centers LLC (“NDC”) by increasing of its stake in 
NDC from 50% to 100%. The subsidiary of the Company, RTK DC LLC, acquired 50% of NDC for five thousand Russian 
roubles. 

The effective share of the Group as of 31 December 2016 in NDC is 75%.

Total consideration for acquisition of NDC includes the effective settlement of the pre-existing relations between 
the Company’s subsidiary, Westelcom, and NDC, represented by the loan and interest payable by NDC to Westelcom 
in the amount 72. The previously held interest in NDC of 50% was accounted by the Group using the equity method. 
The carrying value of the investment in NDC immediately before the acquisition of additional interest was nil and 
the Group estimated that the fair value of the previously held interest approximated zero.

The acquisition has been accounted using the acquisition method. Present consolidated financial statements include 
the results of National Data Centers LLC for six months period from the acquisition date through 31 December 2016. 

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of National Data Centers LLC as at the date of acquisition were:
LLC National Data Centers

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities

Property, plant and equipment 3

Intangible assets 17

Deferred tax assets 12

Trade and other accounts receivable 4

Inventories 8

Other current assets 3

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (22)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 25

Goodwill arising on acquisition 35

Non-controlling interest (12)

Purchase consideration transferred 72

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) –

Cash paid (0)

Effective settlement of the pre-existing relationships (72)
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The goodwill of 35 comprises the value of expected synergies and other benefits from combining the assets and 
activities National Data Centers LLC with those of the Group. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be 
deductible for income tax purposes.

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2016 National Data Centers LLC has contributed 16 to decrease of 
the net profit of the Group and 2 increase of the revenue. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of 2016, 
net profit of the Group would have been 12,215 and revenue would remain the same. In determining these amounts, 
management has assumed that the fair value adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the 
same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2016.

Sibitex LLC

On 29 December 2016 the Group acquired a control over Sibitex LLC. The subsidiary of the Group, PJSC Bashinformsvyaz, 
acquired 100% of Sibitex LLC, one of two leading independent internet and telephone providers in Tyumen, for 83.

Sibitex LLC provides access to internet, telephone and TV services for legal entities and individuals but historically has 
specialised in providing services to corporate clients.

The acquisition of Sibitex LLC is part of business development strategy of the Group for the B2B segment. This deal will 
strengthen Rostelecom’s position in the internet access market in Tyumen, providing opportunities to realise a number 
of synergies relating to the upselling of convergent services and the optimisation of operational costs.

The effective share of the Group in Sibitex LLC as of 31 December 2016 is 96.33%.

The acquisition has been accounted using the acquisition method. Present consolidated financial statements include 
balances of Sibitex LLC as at 31 December 2016.

The provisional value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Sibitex LLC as at the date of acquisition were: 
 

LLC Sibitex 
(provisional values)

Provisional value of identifiable assets and liabilities

Property, plant and equipment 21

Trade and other accounts receivable 5

Cash and cash equivalents 4

Inventories 1

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (9)

Total identifiable net assets at provisional value 22

Goodwill arising on acquisition 62

Non-controlling interest 1

Purchase consideration to be transferred 83

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) 4

Cash paid –

Net cash flow on acquisition 4

The goodwill of 62 comprises the value of expected synergies and other benefits from combining the assets and 
activities Sibitex LLC with those of the Group. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income 
tax purposes.
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Acquisition of associates

During the period ended 31 December 2016 the Group paid an additional contribution to the share capital of Big 
Universal Mall LLC (“BUM” LLC) in the amount of 577.5 that did not change the Group’s share in BUM LLC and acquired 
non-controlling interests in certain other associated companies for total consideration of 200.5.

The Group made a cash contribution into Telecom-5 in the amount 2,000 in December 2016 (Note 35).

2015 transactions

SafeData Group 

On 17 February 2015 the Group acquired a control over LLC Data Storage Centre (DSC) and its subsidiaries (jointly 
referred to as SafeData Group), Russia’s largest provider of commercial data centres, traffic exchange service and 
content delivery operating under the SafeData brand.

The acquisition enables the Group to accelerate the development of its national content storage and distribution 
network. This includes a geographically distributed federal network of data centres, which combines communication 
channels, traffic exchange points, content delivery systems, as well as network attack and traffic monitoring protection 
systems.

The deal was contemplated as a single transaction completed in several stages: during the first stage, the Group 
acquired 5.4% share capital of DSC with nominal value of 10.152 from Brennan Investments Limited in exchange for 
cash consideration of 104. Following a completion of the second stage, the Group increased its stake up to 50.1% 
by contributing 1,728.9 of cash into DSC’s share capital (the Share capital contribution) out of which 423 was used 
to purchase controlling stakes in DSC’s associates CJSC Interaction Computer Network Center “MCK-IХ” and LLC 
Advanced Network Technology. Thus, the total cash consideration transferred in a business combination amounted to 
527. 

Subsequent to the acquisition of control over SafeData the residual part of the Share capital contribution that remained 
within the Group was used to settle DSC’s liabilities as well as for other operating purposes of SafeData Group. 

The structure of SafeData Group at the acquisition date (immediately after the acquisition) was as follows: 

• LLC DST Udomlya − 100%.
• LLC Center Technology Virtualization − 66.44%.
• LLC Interaction Network Center − 100%, holding interests in the following entities: 

• CJSC Interaction Computer Network Center “MCK-IХ” − 51%.
• LLC Advanced Network Technology − 50.1%.
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The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of SafeData Group as at the date of acquisition were:  
 

SafeData Group

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities

Property, plant and equipment 1,788

Intangible assets 593

Deferred tax assets 12

Other non-current assets 4

Trade and other accounts receivable 218

Cash and cash equivalents 335

Inventories 20

Other current assets 110

Non-current loans and borrowings (36)

Current loans and borrowings (111)

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (1,581)

Deferred tax liabilities (242)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 1,110

Goodwill arising on acquisition 886

Non-controlling interest 1,469

Purchase consideration transferred (paid in cash) 527

Net cash acquired with the SafeData Group (included in cash flows from investing activities) 335

Cash paid (527)

Net cash flow on acquisition (192)

The goodwill of 886 comprises the value of expected synergies and other benefits from combining the assets and 
activities of SafeData Group with those of the Group. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for 
income tax purposes.

The fair value of the trade and other accounts receivable amounts to 218, which is approximately equal to the gross 
amounts of corresponding receivables as of the acquisition date. None of the trade and other accounts receivable have 
been impaired and it is expected that the full contractual amounts can be collected. 

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interest as a proportionate share in the recognised amounts 
of the SafeData Group’s identifiable net assets. The so determined amount of the non-controlling interest assumes a 
portion of the cash contribution by the Group to the capital of DSC that remained within the SafeData Group as of the 
acquisition date after the payment of 423 out of this contribution to obtain controlling interest in the DSC’s associates. 

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2015, SafeData Group has contributed 223 to net profit from continuing 
operations of the Group and 1,359 to revenue. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of 2015, net profit 
from continuing operations of the Group would have been 14,377 and revenue would have been 297,525. In determining 
these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition would 
have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2015.

Transaction costs of 40 were expensed and are included in other investing and financial loss in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, and are part of operating cash flows in the consolidated 
statement of cash flows.
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JSC Vostoktelekom 

On 6 February 2015 a subsidiary of the Company, OJSC RTComm.RU increased its stake in JSC Vostoktelecom from 
25% to 100% by purchasing an additional 75% of shares from KDDI Overseas Holdings B.V. and Sojitz Corporation in 
exchange for cash consideration of 203.

The acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition method. Present consolidated financial statements 
includes the results of JSC Vostoktelecom for the four months period from the acquisition date.

The remeasurement to the acquisition-date fair value of the Group’s previously held 25% interest in JCS Vostoktelecom 
resulted in a loss of 18 which has been recognised in other investing and financial gains in consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the period ended 31 December 2015.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of JSC Vostoktelekom as at the date of acquisition were: 
 

JSC Vostoktelekom

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities

Property, plant and equipment 162

Intangible assets 35

Deferred tax assets 15

Trade and other accounts receivable 89

Cash and cash equivalents 14

Other current assets 6

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (57)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 264

Goodwill arising on acquisition 6

Acquisition-date fair value of the previously held interest 67

Purchase consideration transferred (paid in cash) 203

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) 14

Cash paid (203)

Net cash flow on acquisition (189)

The goodwill of 6 comprises the value of expected synergies and other benefits from combining the assets and activities 
of JSC Vostoktelecom with those of the Group. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income 
tax purposes.

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2015, SC Vostoktelecom has contributed 17 to decrease of net profit 
from continuing operations of the Group and 502 to increase of revenue. If the combination had taken place at the 
beginning of 2015, net profit from continuing operations of the Group would have been 14,367 and revenue would have 
been 297,449. In determining these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments that arose on 
the date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2015.

Transaction costs of 1 were expensed and are included in other investing and financial loss in the condensed statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, and are part of operating cash flows in consolidated statement of 
cash flows.
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CJSC Globalstar − Space Telecommunications 

In 2013 Arbitration Court of Moscow initiated a bankruptcy administration and established an external management 
over CJSC Globalstar − Space Telecommunications (hereinafter CJSC Global-Tel) as part of its bankruptcy procedures. 
As a result the Group has lost control over CJSC Global-Tel from 1 July 2013 and deconsolidated CJSC Global-Tel. 

During the bankruptcy procedure over CJSC Global-Tel on 16 January 2015 the Arbitration Court of Moscow approved 
the Settlement agreement dated 14 November 2014 between CJSC Global-Tel (Debtor) and bankruptcy creditors whose 
claims were included in the register of creditors of CJSC Global-Tel.

According to the Settlement agreement the obligations of CJSC Global-Tel to the Company were ceased at 27 January 
2015 by debtor’s issuance of the promissory note maturing on demand but not earlier than 30 November 2021 with the 
principal amount 1,042.9 and interest rate 13% per annum. 

Also on 27 January 2015, the Company purchased two promissory notes for 108 from Loral Space & Communications 
Inc. with the total principal amount 2,501.2, which were received by Loral Space & Communications Inc. from CJSC 
Global-Tel as repayment obligations under the Settlement agreement on the case A40-27560/2012.

On 16 February 2015 the decision of the Arbitration court of Moscow to approve the Settlement agreement went into 
force that stopped the external management procedure over CJSC Global-Tel. As a result, the Group regained a control 
over CJSC Global-Tel. Present consolidated financial statements includes results of CJSC Global-Tel for the four 
months period from 1 March 2015. 

The amount for which the Company purchased two promissory notes from Loral Space & Communications Inc. is 
treated as cash consideration paid for acquisition of CJSC Global-Tel since this payment effectively settled the dispute 
between CJSC Global-Tel and its creditors and resolved the bankruptcy claim. 

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of CJSC Global-Tel as at the date of acquisition were:

ЗАО «Глобал-Тел»

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities

Property, plant and equipment 3

Intangible assets 4

Cash and cash equivalents 60

Inventories 70

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (7)

Deferred tax liability (464)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value (334)

Goodwill 442

Purchase consideration transferred (paid in cash) 108

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing 
activities)

60

Cash paid (108)

Net cash flow on acquisition (48)

The goodwill recognised is attributable primarily to the expected synergies from the acquisition. None of the goodwill 
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
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From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2015, CJSC Global-Tel has contributed 40 to net profit from continuing 
operations of the Group and 163 of revenue. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of 2015, net profit from 
continuing operations of the Group would have been 14,374 and revenue would have been 297,393. In determining these 
amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition would have 
been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2015.

FreshTel Group 

In April 2015 the Company obtained control over FreshTel Group, which includes 100% stakes in LLC Interproekt, LLC 
Orion, LLC Progress and LLC Stolitsa, for a cash consideration of 210 from Comenetti Investments Limited. Cash 
consideration was equally divided and 100% share in each LLC was acquired for 52.5.

FreshTel provides services to over 14,000 subscribers in more than 38 Russian towns. It has a large frequency resource 
to provide wireless internet access in the 3.4GHz and 3.5GHz bands via WiMax technology.

The acquisition has been accounted using the acquisition method. The consolidated financial statements for year 2015 
includes results of LLC Interproekt, LLC Orion, LLC Progress and LLC Stolitsa for eight months period from 1 May 2015.

The agreements for acquisition of 100 % share in LLC Interproekt, LLC Orion, LLC Progress and LLC Stolitsa included 
the special condition which determined that cash consideration would be paid only after the restructuring of the debt 
payable to Vnesheconombank (the “Debt restructuring condition”), by each of the acquired company. The restructuring 
of the debt was completed in February 2016 and the consideration was paid in June 2016.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination as at the date of acquisition 
were: 
 

FreshTel Group

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities

Property, plant and equipment 246

Intangible assets 379

Deferred tax assets 71

Trade and other accounts receivable 34

Cash and cash equivalents 4

Current investments 9

Inventories 31

Other current assets 61

Loans and borrowings (1 739)

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (485)

Deferred tax liabilities (7)

Total identifiable net assets of FreshTel Group at fair value (1 396)

Fair value of rights to use the favourable terms of credit line 1,330

Deferred tax liability (266)

Goodwill arising on acquisition 542

Purchase consideration to be transferred (paid in June 2016) 210

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) 4

Cash paid in 2015 –

Net cash flow on acquisition in 2015 4
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The goodwill recognised is attributable primarily to expected synergies from the acquisition. None of the goodwill 
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2015, LLC Interproekt, LLC Orion, LLC Progress and LLC Stolitsa has 
contributed 842 to decrease of net profit from continuing operations of the Group and 31 to increase of revenue. If the 
combination had taken place at the beginning of 2015, net profit from continuing operations of the Group would have 
been 13,479 and revenue would have been 297,382. In determining these amounts, management has assumed that the 
fair value adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 
1 January 2015.

IQmen − Business Intelligence 

On 1 December 2015 the Group acquired control over IQmen − Business Intelligence, a Russian Big Data platform 
developer. The Group acquired 75% stake in IQmen − Business Intelligence.

This acquisition is in line with Rostelecom’s strategy to enter new digital segments, including the fast-growing Big Data 
market.

The acquisition has been accounted using the acquisition method. Present consolidated financial statements include 
results of IQmen − Business Intelligence for one month from 1 December 2015

Fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of IQmen − Business Intelligence as at the date of acquisition were:

IQmen − Business Intelligence*

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities

Property, plant and equipment 2

Intangible assets 318

Trade and other accounts receivable 15

Current investments 22

Loans and borrowings (1)

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (32)

Deferred tax liabilities (46)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 278

Goodwill arising on acquisition 316

Non-controlling interest 69

Purchase consideration transferred (paid in cash) 525

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) –

Cash paid (525)

Net cash flow on acquisition (525)

* Certain amounts do not correspond to the amounts disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements of the Group 
for the period ended 31 December 2015 and reflect measurement period adjustments made to the provisional amounts of IQmen − 
Business Intelligence as if the accounting for the business combination had been completed at the acquisition date. The finalization 
of the accounting for the business combination in December 2015 did not have material impact on IQmen − Business Intelligence’s 
results of operations included in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the period 
ended 31 December 2015.

The goodwill recognised is attributable primarily to expected synergies from the acquisition. None of the goodwill 
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
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StartTelecom 

On 18 August 2015 the Group completed an acquisition of telecommunication business of OJSC Start Telecom 
(“Start Telecom”) in Saransk and Dzershinsk cities. The deal was structured as acquisition of integrated set of 
telecommunication assets and activities including the respective telecommunication networks and customer lists 
assignments for a total consideration of 217. 

The respective customers of Start Telecom were offered to sign service contracts with the Company by 1 December 
2015, whereas the Company agreed to accept all rights and obligations of Start Telecom to the customers accepting 
the offer. Settlements with the customers that did not accept the offer, as well as between Start Telecom and 
the Company, were completed by 1 December 2015. 

The acquisition has been accounted using the acquisition method. 

The following table represents fair values of the acquired assets and liabilities as of the acquisition date:

StartTelecom

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities

Property, plant and equipment 112

Intangible assets 105

Cash 8

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (8)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 217

Purchase consideration transferred (paid in cash) 217

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) 8

Cash paid (217)

Net cash flow on acquisition (209)

CJSC GNC-Alfa 

According to the share purchase agreement of 2014, during periods ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 Group paid 
the contingent consideration of 49 and 37, respectively.
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The net book value of property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 was as follows:

Buildings  
and site services

Cable and 
transmission devices

Other Construction in 
progress

Total

Cost / deemed cost

At 1 January 2015 104,110 544,710 117,423 23,129 789,372

Additions 104 4,689 1,920 54,302 61,015

Assets of acquired subsidiaries 328 1,621 199 164 2,312

Reclassification from investment 
property and assets held for sale

290 – – – 290

Reclassification to assets held for sale (3,499) (7) (394) (42) (3,942)

Transfer 2,913 37,192 6,541 (46,646) −

Disposals (1,356) (8,182) (4,024) (846) (14,408)

Foreign exchange 1 421 21 45 488

Other changes* 1,060 1,060

Reclassification (1,815) 2,024 (337) (4) (132)

At 31 December 2015 101,076 582,468 121,349 31,162 836,055

At 1 January 2016 101,076 582,468 121,349 31,162 836,055

Additions 55 6,881 1,703 44,534 53,173

Assets of acquired subsidiaries 75 919 36 7 1,037

Reclassification from investment 
property and assets held for sale

5,598 9 139 – 5,746

Reclassification to assets held for sale (3,249) (14) (108) − (3,371)

Reclassification to intangible assets (39) (39)

Transfer 2,223 37,498 7,441 (47,162) −

Disposals (2,489) (6,561) (3,226) (389) (12,665)

Disposals of subsidiaries (48) (47) (12) (3) (110)

Foreign exchange (1) (384) (24) (36) (445)

Reclassification 1,302 (1,078) (265) (1) (42)

At 31 December 2016 104,542 619,691 127,033 28,073 879,339
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Buildings  
and site services

Cable and 
transmission devices

Other Construction in 
progress

Total

Accumulated amortissation and impairment losses

At 1 January 2015 (58,895) (312,126) (88,880) (1,205) (461,106)

Depreciation expense (3,032) (38,737) (9,924) − (51,693)

Reclassification from investment 
property and assets held for sale

(163) − − − (163)

Reclassification to assets held for sale 2,541 6 373 42 2,962

Accruals of impairment losses (73) (289) (50) (122) (534)

Disposals 901 7,917 3,995 374 13,187

Foreign exchange − (129) (12) − (141)

Reclassification 417 (435) 151 (1) 132

At 31 December 2015 (58,304) (343,793) (94,347) (912) (497,356)

At 1 January 2016 (58,304) (343,793) (94,347) (912) (497,356)

Depreciation expense (2,956) (35,289) (7,888) − (46,133)

Reclassification from investment 
property and assets held for sale

(3,939) (9) (122) − (4,070)

Reclassification to assets held for sale 1,947 3 95 − 2,045

Accruals of impairment losses 41 (207) (8) (989) (1,163)

Disposals 1,341 6,042 3,140 197 10,720

Disposals of subsidiaries 41 43 10 − 94

Foreign exchange − 136 13 − 149

Reclassification (719) 372 388 1 42

At 31 December 2016 (62,548) (372,702) (98,719) (1,703) (535,672)

Net book value

At 31 December 2015 42,772 238,675 27,002 30,250 338,699

At 31 December 2016 41,994 246,989 28,314 26,370 343,667

* Includes reclassification of inventories used for construction.

At 31 December 2016 and 2015 cost of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment was 232,524 and 224,238 
respectively.

As required by IAS 16, the group reassessed the useful lives of its property, plant and equipment during the year. 
The Group determined that certain asset categories generally had longer useful lives than was being used for 
depreciation purposes. 

In the current year, management revised certain useful lives of cable and transmission devices from 4 years to 7 years, 
buildings and site services from 11 years to 26 years and other equipment from 5 years to 7 years in accordance with 
IAS 8, effective 1 July 2016.
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The change in estimate resulted in a decrease in the depreciation expense for the current year is disclosed below: 
 

Depreciation expense  
decreasing as for 2016

Buildings and site services 121

Cable and transmission devices 2,637

Other 1,293

Total effect as for 2016 4,051

In December 2016 the Group sold to Telecom-5 buildings with the carrying value of 926, for details see Note 35. 

Interest capitalization

Interest amounting to 2,762 and 1,809 was capitalized in property, plant and equipment for the years ended 31 
December 2016 and 2015 respectively. The capitalization rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible 
for capitalization was 9.72% and 8.87% for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 respectively.

Pledged property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment with a carrying value of 199 and 42 was pledged under the loan agreements entered into 
by the Group as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 respectively.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015 the Group conducted impairment testing of its property, plant, equipment. The Group 
assessed the recoverable amount of the assets for which estimation on individual basis is impossible within respective 
CGU. The Group defines CGUs as regional branches (in case of Rostelecom), legal entities or group of legal entities (in 
case of subsidiaries). 

The recoverable amount of each CGU is determined by estimating its value in use. Value in use calculation uses cash-
flow projections based on actual and budgeted financial information approved by management and discount rate which 
reflects time value of money and risks associated with each individual CGU. Key assumptions used by management for 
the reporting dates in the calculation of value in use are as follows: 

• discount rates are estimated in nominal terms as the weighted average adjusted for risk specifics to CGU cost of 
capital on pre tax basis. Nominal rates for discounting varies from 7.20% to 17.24% per CGU;

• OIBDA margin is based on historical actual results and varies from 9.17% to 56.44% per CGU;
• for CGU cash flow projections cover the period of five years, cash flows beyond five year period are extrapolated using 

growth rate of 2% for each CGU. 

Future cash flows were adjusted using consistent assumptions about price increases attributable to general inflation.

For individual items of construction in progress for which the Group has no intention to complete and use or sell them 
the impairment loss 1,163 was recognised.

2016 impairment testing 

As a result of impairment testing no loss in respect of property, plant and equipment was recognised.

2015 impairment testing  

As a result of impairment testing of property, plant and equipment the Group recognized an impairment loss of 90 
related to Sotovaya Svyaz Bashkortostana.
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8. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 
The net book value of goodwill and other intangible assets as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 was as follows:

Goodwill Number 
capacity

Trade-
marks

Computer 
software

Customer 
list

Licences Other Total

Cost  

At 1 January 2015 25,206 728 707 40,005 14,976 558 4,453 86,633

Additions − − 5,494 − 588 951 7,033

Intangible assets of acquired 
subsidiaries

2,193 − 9 274 681 382 1 3,540

Disposals − − (4) (749) (45) (310) (6) (1,114)

Reclassification − − (18) (40) (7) (62) 127 −

Foreign exchange 119 − 16 6 14 4 159

At 31 December 2015 27,518 728 694 45,000 15,611 1,170 5,530 96,251

At 1 January 2016 27,518 728 694 45,000 15,611 1,170 5,530 96,251

Additions − − 7,120 32 594 298 8,044

Intangible assets of acquired 
subsidiaries

977 105 61 18 77 − − 1,238

Disposals (175) − (9) (662) − (445) (3,360) (4,651)

Reclassification from PPE − (53) (53)

Reclassification − − − 54 − (32) (22) −

Foreign exchange (102) − (17) (6) (13) (4) (142)

At 31 December 2016 28,218 833 746 51,513 15,714 1,274 2,389 100,687

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

At 1 January 2015 (3,215) (23) (630) (16,544) (4,753) (292) (2,756) (28,213)

Amortisation expense − − (55) (5,238) (1,188) (479) (771) (7,731)

Disposals − − 4 694 45 309 6 1,058

Impairment losses − − (638) − − − (638)

Reversal of impairment 
losses

− − 38 − − − 38

Reclassification − − 11 (174) 339 44 (220) −

Foreign exchange − − − (3) (1) (5) (1) (10)

At 31 December 2015 (3,215) (23) (670) (21,865) (5,558) (423) (3,742) (35,496)
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Goodwill Number 
capacity

Trade-
marks

Computer 
software

Customer 
list

Licences Other Total

At 1 January 2016 (3,215) (23) (670) (21,865) (5,558) (423) (3,742) (35,496)

Amortisation expense − − (8) (6,446) (358) (582) (331) (7,725)

Disposals − − 9 485 − 440 3,360 4,294

Impairment losses (364) − − (55) − − (217) (636)

Reversal of impairment 
losses

− − − 72 − − − 72

Reclassification − − − (13) − 13 − −

Foreign exchange − − − 4 2 6 1 13

At 31 December 2016 (3,579) (23) (669) (27,818) (5,914) (546) (929) (39,478)

Net book value 

At 31 December 2015 24,303 705 24 23,135 10,053 747 1,788 60,755

At 31 December 2016 24,639 810 77 23,695 9,800 728 1,460 61,209

Interest amounting to 273 and 245 was capitalized in intangible assets for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 
respectively.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and goodwill

The owned number capacities with a carrying amount of 705 (2015: 705) are intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives and are not amortised. These assets have no legal restrictions on the term of their use and the Group can derive 
economic benefits from their use indefinitely. These assets are tested for impairment annually or more frequently if 
there is an indication that the intangible assets may be impaired. 

No research and development expenditure was recognized in 2016 and 2015.

At each reporting date the Group performs impairment testing of goodwill allocated to CGUs that were acquired upon 
business combinations. 
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Carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are represented in the table below:

31 December 2016 31 December 2015

CGU Goodwill Intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives

Goodwill Intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives

MRF Center* 11,696 228 11,696 228

MRF Severo-Zapad* 4,197 12 4,197 12

MRF Volga 1,785 − 1,785 −

Macomnet 646 50 646 50

MRF Dalniy Vostok 973 − 973 −

MRF Ural 637 − 637 −

Globus Telecom − 359 − 359

GNC Alfa 504 − 606 −

RTComm.RU 606 − 606 −

Severen telecom 432 − 432 −

MRF Sibir 182 − 182 −

SafeData Group 885 − 885 −

Global-Tel 442 − 442 −

FreshTel Group 178 − 542 −

IQ’Men 316 − 317 −

Aist 750 − − −

Morton Group 103 − − −

Other 307 56 357 56

Total 24,639 705 24,303 705

Key assumptions used by management in impairment testing are as follows (disclosed only for material CGUs):

• discount rates are estimated in nominal terms as the weighted average adjusted for risk specifics to CGU cost of 
capital on pre tax basis is 15.21%;

• OIBDA margin is based on historical actual results and are 25.72% for MRF Center and 28.61% for MRF Severo-Zapad;
• cash flow projections cover the period of five years, cash flows beyond five-year period are extrapolated using growth 

rate of 2%. 

Future cash flows were adjusted using consistent assumptions about price increases attributable to general inflation. 

2016 impairment testing

As a result of impairement testing of goodwill the Group recognized an impairement loss of 364 related to FreshTel.

2015 impairment testing

As at 31 December 2015 no impairment loss in respect of goodwill were recognised.
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Impairment loss was recognized in the line Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses in the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Discount rate and operating income before amortisation and depreciation (OIBDA) margin are the key assumptions 
to which calculations of value in use of CGUs with goodwill and indefinite useful life intangible assets allocated to are 
the most sensitive. Management approach to OIBDA projection is based on historical actual results and growth rate 
forecasts.

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity analysis for impairment and the effect of a reasonably possible change in 
key assumptions as at 31 December 2016: 
 

CGU Decrease of OIBDA margin Impairment loss Decrease in OIBDA margin 
which resulted in equality of 

recoverable and carrying amount

MTs NTT 5% (130) 4.35%

Tsentralny Telegraph 5% (1,046) 0.36%

RTKomm Group 5% (1,589) 1.37%

OK Orbita 5% (61) 2.62%

GNC-Alfa 5% (370) 0.48%

For CGUs listed above no possible change in discount rate would result in impairment.

Impairment testing of other intangible assets  

At each reporting date the Group performs impairment testing of intangible assets not yet available for use and 
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. 

2016 impairment testing
 
As at 31 December 2016 the Group recognized impairment loss 272 in respect of other intangible assets.

2015 impairment testing
 
As at 31 December 2015 no material impairment loss in respect of other intangible assets was recognised.
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9. SUBSIDIARIES
 
These consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and results of operations of the following 
significant subsidiaries: 

Effective share of the Group as at 
31 December

Subsidiary Main activity 2016 2015

SC MTs NTT Communication services 100% 100%

CJSC Westelcom Leasing of equipment 100% 100%

OJSC Infoteks-Taganrog Telecom Communication services − 99.99%

CJSC Zebra Telecom Communication services 100% 100%

OJSC RTComm.RU Communication services (internet) 100% 100%

SC RTComm-Sibir Communication services (internet) 100% 100%

LLC RTComm-Volga-Ural Communication services (internet) − 51%

LLC RTComm-Ug Communication services (internet) 100% 100%

CJSC Globus-Telecom Communication services 94.92% 94.92%

CJSC Makomnet Communication services 51% 51%

LLC Televisionnaya kompaniya Novy Vybor Radio and TV 100% 100%

SC TKT-stroy R&D services 100% 100%

LLC Mobitel Investment company 100% 100%

SC RT Labs Communication services 100% 100%

CJSC AMT Investment company 100% 100%

LLC Intmashservis Repair services 100% 100%

OJSC Mobiltelecom Communication services − 91.75%

SC Regionalnie informatsionnie seti R&D services 100% 100%

CJSC NTC Komset R&D services 55.45% 55.45%

LLC Set Stolitsa Maintenance services 100% 100%

SC Services Projects Technologies  
(former CJSC Sankt Peterburgskie taksofoni)

Communication services 100% 100%

SC Severen-Telecom Communication services 100% 100%

CJSC GNC Alfa Communication services 74.98% 74.98%

PJSC Tsentralny Telegraph Communication services (telegraph) 60.3% 60.3%

PJSC Giprosvyaz Engineering design 63.36% 63.36%

OJSC Chukotkasvyazinform Communication services − 75.55%

PJSC Bashinformsvyaz Communication services 96.33% 96.33%
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Effective share of the Group as at 
31 December

Subsidiary Main activity 2016 2015

LLС Bashtelecomservis Communication services − 96.33%

LLC Bashtelecomleasing Leasing 96.33% 96.33%

LLC Bashlelecominvest Investment company 96.33% 96.33%

OJSC Sotovaya svyaz Bashkortostana Communication services (mobile) 96.33% 96.33%

OJSC Ufimsky zavod promsvyaz Communication equipment 
manufacturing

96.27% 96.27%

CJSC Rosmedia Communication services − 100%

SC MMTS-9 Communication services 88.29% 88.29%

SC OK Orbita Recreational services 100% 100%

SC RPK Svyazist Recreational services 100% 100%

Rostelecom International Limited Communication services 100% 100%

LLC Sputnik IT consulting 74.99% 74.99%

OJSC Svyazintek IT consulting − 100%

JSC Restrim IT consulting 100% 100%

CJSC Incom Communication services 100% 100%

LLC Rostelecom Roznichnye sistemy Retail services 100% 100%

LLC Rostelecom Integraciya IT consulting 100% 100%

LLC Data Storage Centre Data storage services 50.1% 50.1%

LLC RTK-DC Data storage services 50.1% 50.1%

LLC Center Technology Virtualization Data storage services 33.29%* 33.29%*

LLC Interaction Network Center Data storage services 50.1% 50.1%

SC Interaction Computer Network Center “MCK-IХ” Data storage services 25.55%* 25.55%*

LLC Advanced Network Technology Data storage services 25.10%* 25.10%*

SC Vostoktelecom Communication services 100% 100%

CJSC Globaltel (Note 6) Communication services 100% 100%

LLC Search Website Sputnik IT consulting 100% 100%

LLC Interproekt Communication services 100% 100%

LLC Orion Communication services 100% 100%

LLC Progress Communication services 100% 100%

LLC Stolitsa Communication services 100% 100%

LLC BUM SP Investment company 80% 80%
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Effective share of the Group as at 
31 December

Subsidiary Main activity 2016 2015

LLC BUM TV Telecommunication services 80% 80%

LLC Magalyascom Communication services 100% 100%

IQmen − Business Intelligence Data services 75% 75%

LLC KommIT Capital Communication services 100% 100%

JSC AIST (Note 6) Communication services 96.33% −

LLC Morton-Telecom (Note 6) Communication services 96.33% −

LLC Morton-Telecom-Zapad (Note 6) Communication services 96.33% −

LLC NTK (Note 6) Communication services 96.33% −

LLC National Data Centers (Note 6) Data storage services 75% −

JSC Non-state Pension Fund Alliance (Note 6) Pension Fund 51% −

LLC RADO Maintenance services 90% −

LLC RusGIS Technologii IT consulting 51% −

LLC Sibitex (Note 6) Communication services 96.33% −

Soyuz operatorov svyazi “Centr issledovaniya 
communicaciy”

Consulting services in 
Telecommunication sector

100% −

LLC Tioniks Data storage services 37.58%* −

* this is effective share of the Group. The Company through its subsidiaries consolidates these entities.

All the above entities have the same reporting date as the Company.

All significant subsidiaries, except for Rostelecom International Limited and GNC Alfa, are incorporated in Russia. 
Rostelecom International Limited is incorporated in Cyprus, GNC Alfa is incorporated in Armenia.

During the year 2015 the Group has completed the buyout of the outstanding ordinary shares from 
PJSC Bashinformsvyaz’s shareholders. By 31 December 2015 the Company completed the consolidation of 100% 
Bashinformsvyaz’s ordinary shares. After the buyback the effective share of Group in PJSC Bashinformsvyaz is 96.33%.

Set out below are the summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are 
material to the group.
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Summarised statements of financial position

As at 31 December 2016

PJSC Tsentralny 
Telegraph

SafeData Group CJSC Makomnet

Current assets 397 827 543

Current liabilities (876) (353) (156)

Total current net assets/(liabilities) (479) 474 387

Non-current assets 2,860 3,847 1,300

Non-current liabilities (248) (1,330) (200)

Total non-current net assets 2,612 2,517 1,100

Net assets 2,133 2,991 1,487

NCI 826 1,820 718

As at 31 December 2015

PJSC Tsentralny 
Telegraph

SafeData Group CJSC Makomnet

Current assets 884 660 564

Current liabilities (1,674) (138) (176)

Total current net assets/(liabilities) (790) 522 388

Non-current assets 3,086 2,662 1,402

Non-current liabilities (228) (274) (218)

Total non-current net assets 2,858 2,388 1,184

Net assets 2,068 2,910 1,572

NCI 810 1,619 770

 
Summarised statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

As at 31 December 2016

PJSC Tsentralny 
Telegraph

SafeData Group CJSC Makomnet

Revenue 3,009 1,839 1,248

Profit before income tax 84 265 237

Income tax (42) (57) (47)

Total comprehensive income 42 208 190

Total comprehensive income allocated to 
non-controlling interests

17 104 93

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 1 56 134
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As at 31 December 2015

PJSC Tsentralny 
Telegraph

SafeData Group CJSC Makomnet

Revenue 3,339 1,359 1,262

Profit before income tax 82 292 272

Income tax (27) (69) (54)

Total comprehensive income 55 223 218

Total comprehensive income allocated to 
non-controlling interests

22 223 107

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 32 75 175

 
Summarised cash flows 

As at 31 December 2016

PJSC Tsentralny 
Telegraph

SafeData 
Group

CJSC Makomnet

Cash generated from operations 580 504 485

Income tax paid (36) (62) (71)

Net cash generated from operating activities 544 442 414

Net cash used in investing activities (111) (153) (1,237)

Net cash used in financing activities (751) (223) 848

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (318) 66 25

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 338 109 325

Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and cash equivalents – (5) (49)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 20 170 301
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10. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES 

Investments in associates and joint ventures as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

Name Main  activity Type Voting share capital 
as at 31 December 

2016, %

Voting share capital 
as at 31 December 

2015, %

2016  
Carrying amount

2016  
Carrying amount

LLC T2 RTK 
Holding

Communication services JV 45 45 62,265 69,320

SC Tsifrovoe 
televidenie

TV services JV 41.29 41.29 3,353 3,380

OJSC KGTS Communication services Associate 37.29 37.29 392 364

LLC Telecom-5 Rental services JV 50 − 439 −

LLC Bum TV services JV 60 60 413 61

LLC IKC 
Express

Communication services Associate 37.9 37.9 71 77

Other Various Various Various 1,419 1,272

Total investments in associates  
and joint ventures

68,352 74,474

On 28 December 2016 the Group lost control over Telecom-5 and began accounting of Telecom-5 as an investment in 
joint venture, for details see Note 35.

In November 2015 the Group acquired additional issue of JV SC Tsifrovoe televidenie shares for the cash amount 
of 2,000. As a result of the deal the Group share in SC Tsifrovoe Televidenie increased from 25.33% to 41.29%. 
The determination of fair values of indentifiable assets and liabilities of SC Tsifrovoe Televidenie has been completed as 
of 31 December 2016.

In 2016 the Group received dividends from its investments in equity accounted investees and joint ventures in 
the amount of 19 (2015: 5).

All associated companies and joint ventures are incorporated in Russia.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in the associates and the joint ventures.

Summarized financial information as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 and for the years then ended of associates and 
joint ventures is presented below:

Aggregate amounts 2016 2015

Assets 224,616 215,950

Liabilities 171,686 153,108

Revenue 109,638 99,683

Net income (15,990) (7,805)
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Summarized financial information for significant associates and joint ventures as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 and for 
the years then ended is presented below:

Associate/JV Year Non-current 
assets

Current 
assets

Non-current 
liabilities

Current 
liabilities

Revenue Net income/ 
(loss)

OJSC KGTS 2016 1,019 178 75 70 714 93

2015 947 181 60 91 736 72

LLC IKC Express 2016 6 186 − 2 9 (7)

2015 9 218 − 24 117 (9)

T2 RTK Holding 
LLC

2016 200,669 10,162 123,354 44,028 105,873 (15,560)

2015 194,923 12,287 83,043 65,043 94,812 (7,840)

OJSC Tsifrovoe 
televidenie

2016 2,082 2,931 199 797 2,497 (67)

2015 1,668 3,235 164 2,554 2,253 248

LLC Telecom-5 2016 4,049 648 − 699 − −

2015 − − − − − −

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of the interest in associates 
and joint ventures:

Summarised financial  
information

LLC T2 RTK 
Holding

SC Tsifrovoe  
televidenie

OJSC KGTS LLC IKC Express LLC Telecom-5

Net assets at 31 December 
2016

43,449 4,017 1,052 190 3,998

Group interest, % 45.00 41.29 37.29 37.9 50

Goodwill 42,714 1,694 − − −

Unrealised gain − − − − 1,561

Carrying value at 31 
December 2016

62,265 3,353 392 71 439

Investment in T2 RTK Holding LLC

2016 2015

At 1 January 69,320 72,848

Share of loss (7,055) (3,528)

At 31 December 62,265 69,320

 
Investment in T2 RTK Holding LLC was recognised as a result of the deal with the mobile operator Tele 2 Russia. 
There is no quoted market price available for its shares.
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Summarised financial information for T2 RTK Holding LLC

Set out below is the summarised financial information for T2 RTK Holding LLC which is accounted for using the equity 
method.

Summarised statement of financial position
  

31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

Current

Cash and cash equivalents 952 735

Other current assets (excluding cash) 9,287 11,552

Total current assets 10,239 12,287

Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables) 22,251 38,282

Other current liabilities (including trade payables) 21,778 26,761

Total current liabilities 44,029 65,043

Non-current

Assets 231,568 194,923

Financial liabilities 118,004 75,488

Other liabilities 5,350 7,555

Total non-current liabilities 123,354 83,043

Net assets 74,424 59,124

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

2016 2015

Revenue 105,873 94,812

Depreciation and amortisation (21,531) (21,042)

Interest income 70 147

Interest expense (13,801) (11,595)

Pre-tax profit or loss from continuing operations (18,674) (9,076)

Income tax expense 3,077 1,609

Post-tax profit from continuing operations (15,597) (7,467)

Other changes in net assets 37 (74)

Total changes in net assets (15,560) (7,541)
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Reconciliation of summarised financial information to the carrying value of the investment

Summarised financial information 2016 2015

Opening net assets 59,124 66,964

Profit/(loss) for the period (15,713) (7,766)

Other changes in net assets 37 (74)

Closing net assets 43,448 59,124

Interest 45% 19,551 26,606

Goodwill 42,714 42,714

Carrying value 62,265 69,320

11. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

Non-current financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets 263 97

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – 5

Loans and receivables 534 519

Total other non-current financial assets 797 621

Current financial assets

Loans and receivables 3,558 5,719

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,809 −

Total other current financial assets 5,367 5,719

Total other financial assets 6,164 6,340

The Group’s exposure to credit, currency and interest rate risks and fair value information related to other financial 
assets is disclosed in Note 33. 

12.OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

Non-current advances for investing activities 3,754 2,409

Non-current advances for operating activities 1,450 1,236

Non-current receivables 7,054 4,847

Other assets 7 7

Less: doubtful debt allowance (267) (258)

Total other non-current assets 11,998 8,241
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13. INVENTORIES

31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

Cable 360 501

Finished goods and goods for resale 4,262 2,156

Spare parts 294 363

Tools and accessories 84 116

Construction materials 53 70

Fuel 110 110

Other inventory 1,281 744

Total inventories 6,444 4,060

 
14. TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Trade and other accounts receivable as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 comprised of the following:
 

Gross,
31 December 2016

Doubtful debt  
allowance

Net, 
31 December 2016

Amounts due from customers for operating 
and non-operating activities

50,103 (8,021) 42,082

Amounts due from commissioners and 
agents

1,188 − 1,188

Amounts due from personnel 166 − 166

Amounts due from lessees for financial 
lease

373 − 373

Amounts due from other debtors 2,615 (540) 2,075

Total trade and other accounts receivable 54,445 (8,561) 45,884

 

Gross,
31 December 2016

Doubtful debt  
allowance

Net, 
31 December 2016

Amounts due from customers for operating 
and non-operating activities

47,486 (6,502) 40,984

Amounts due from commissioners and 
agents

1,000 − 1,000

Amounts due from personnel 145 − 145

Amounts due from lessees for financial 
lease

378 − 378

Amounts due from other debtors 1,154 (509) 645

Total trade and other accounts receivable 50,163 (7,011) 43,152
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Based on historic default rates and collection statistics, management believes that trade and other receivables are 
adequately provided.

The following table summarizes the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable, advances and other 
assets for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015:

Individually impaired Collectively impaired Total

At 1 January 2015 (1,122) (6,933) (8,055)

Bad debt expense 40 (923) (882)

Accounts receivable written-off 82 1,496 1,577

At 31 December 2015 (1,000) (6,360) (7,360)

Bad debt expense (510) (2,265) (2,775)

Accounts receivable written-off 60 1,141 1,201

At 31 December 2016 (1,450) (7,484) (8,934)

As at 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is, as follows:

Total
Neither past due 

nor impaired

Past due but not impaired

30 30-60 61-90 91-120 >120

2016 45,346 37,543 2,404 992 722 386 3,299

2015 42,629 35,114 2,402 1,225 826 476 2,586

 
As at 31 December 2016 and 2015 amounts due from other debtors include short-term portion of finance lease 
receivables of 373 and 378respectively. Long-term portion of finance lease receivables of 1,947 and 2,258 as at 
31 December 2016 and 2015 respectively is included into non-current receivables (refer Note 12).

The finance lease receivables originated as a result of transfer to companies of the group T2 RTK Holding terrestrial 
optical fiber cables under finance lease in April 2014. The lease agreement is non-cancellable for the period from 
5 years till 18 years, which differs in each macroregional branches. Leasing period equals approximately the remaining 
useful life of the optical fibers. Effective interest rate of the lease is 13% p.a. Lease payments are denominated in 
Roubles. 

Finance income for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 amounted to 353 and 405 respectively, and is included 
in other investing and financial gain in these consolidated statements of comprehensive income (Note 29).

Future minimum lease payments together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments as at 
31 December 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

31 December 2016

Gross investments in lease Present value of minimum  
lease payments

Current portion (less than 1 year) 677 372

More than 1 to 5 years 2,041 1,317

Over 5 years 929 630

Total 3,647 2,319
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31 December 2015

Gross investments in lease Present value of minimum  
lease payments

Current portion (less than 1 year) 650 377

More than 1 to 5 years 2,460 1,524

Over 5 years 1,136 734

Total 4,246 2,635
 

15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 included cash in banks, cash in-hand, short-term deposits 
and bills of exchange with original maturities of less than three months as follows: 

31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

Cash in bank and in-hand 2,394 3,259

Short-term deposits and promissory notes up to 3 months 1,732 3,758

Other cash and cash equivalents 131 148

Total cash and cash equivalents 4,257 7,165

16. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

Input VAT 2,146 1,089

Other current assets 68 1,548

Less: doubtful debt allowance (63) (37)

Total other current assets 2,151 2,600

 
As of 31 December 2015 other current assets include fair value of rights to use favourable terms of credit line of 
FreshTel Group in the amount of 1,495.  
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17.EQUITY

The nominal share capital of the Company recorded on its incorporation has been indexed, to account for the effects 
of hyperinflation from that date through 31 December 2002. The share capital of the Company in the Russian statutory 
accounts at 31 December 2016 amounted to 6,961,200 nominal (uninflated) RUB (2015: 6,961,200).

The authorized share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2016 comprised 5,188,850,705 ordinary shares and 
209,565,678 non-redeemable preferred shares (2015: 5,188,850,705 ordinary shares and 209,565,678 non-redeemable 
preferred shares). The par value of both ordinary and preferred shares amounted to RUB 0.0025 per share.

In accordance with the decision of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders in October 2015 the Group redeemed 
94,289,347 ordinary shares and 33,266,322 preferred shares. As a result of redemption of shares the Group’s authorized 
capital at par value has decreased to 6.961.

As at 31 December 2016 the issued share capital of the Company was as follows:

Type of shares Number of shares issued Total
par value

Carrying
value

Ordinary shares, RUB 0.0025 par value 2,574,914,954 6.437 69

Preferred shares, RUB 0.0025 par value 209,565,147 0.524 24

Total 2,784,480,101 6.961 93

 
As at 31 December 2015 the issued share capital of the Company was as follows:

Type of shares Number of shares issued Total
par value

Carrying
value

Ordinary shares, RUB 0.0025 par value 2,574,914,954 6.437 69

Preferred shares, RUB 0.0025 par value 209,565,147 0.524 24

Total 2,784,480,101 6.961 93

Ordinary shares carry voting rights with no guarantee of dividends. Preferred shares have priority over ordinary shares 
in the event of liquidation but carry no voting rights except on resolutions regarding liquidation or reorganization, 
changes to dividend levels of preferred shares, or the issuance of additional preferred shares. Such resolutions require 
two-thirds approval of preferred shareholders. The preferred shares have no rights of redemption or conversion.

Owners of preferred shares have the right to participate in and vote on all issues within the competence of shareholders’ 
general meetings following the annual shareholders’ general meeting at which a decision not to pay (or to pay partly) 
dividends on preferred shares has been taken.

In case of liquidation, the residual assets remaining after settlement with creditors, payment of preferred dividends 
and redemption of the par value of preferred shares is distributed among preferred and ordinary shareholders 
proportionately to the number of owned shares.

Accordingly, the preferred shares of the Company are considered participating equity instruments for the purpose of 
earnings per share calculations (refer to Note 32).
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Treasury shares

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015 total number of treasury shares held by the Group was as follows:
Type of shares 31 December 

2016
31 December 

2015

Ordinary shares 474,517,308 485,386,400

Preferred shares 64,519,345 64,529,500

Total 539,036,653 549,915,900

In 2016, 2015 total number of ordinary shares realized as an exercise of the options under the management motivation 
program constituted 12,855,030 and 6,818,718 shares respectively.

During 2016, 2015 the Group purchased 3,844,020 and 32,171,856 ordinary shares, for 314 and 2,865 respectively. 
Also during 2016, 2015 the Group sold 1,858,082 and 6,549,901 ordinary treasury shares for 223 and 787 respectively.

Dividends

According to the charter of the Company a preferred share carries dividend amounting to the higher of 10% of the net 
income after taxation of the Company as reported in the Russian statutory accounts divided by 25% of total number of 
shares and the dividend paid on one ordinary share.

On 4 December 2015 the Board of Directors approved a new dividend policy of the Company according to which 
the Company pays dividends as a percentage of Free Cash Flow (hereinafter FCF, net cash from operating activities, 
reduced by the cash paid for acquisition of fixed assets and intangible assets, and increased by the proceeds 
from the sale of fixed assets and intangible assets). The payable dividend amount shall not be less than the level 
recommended by Rosimuschestvo for companies with state ownership interest.

In June 2016 the General Meeting of Shareholders approved the dividends for the year ended 31 December 2015 in 
the amount of 5.91547 roubles per ordinary share (2014: 3.34108 roubles per ordinary share) and 5.91547 roubles 
per preference share (2014: 4.05003 roubles per preference share).

Category of shares Number 
of shares

Dividends per share, 
roubles

Total sum of dividends, mln. 
roubles

Declared and approved for 2015

Preference shares 209,565,147 5.91547 1,240

Ordinary shares 2,574,914,954 5.91547 15,232

Total 2,784,480,101 16,472

Category of shares Number 
of shares

Dividends per share, 
roubles

Total sum of dividends, mln. 
roubles

Declared and approved for 2014

Preference shares 209,561,268 4.05003 849

Ordinary shares 2,574,884,900 3.34108 8,603

Total 2,784,446,168 9,452

The difference between the dividends declared and the dividends presented in the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity is for the account of dividends on treasury shares held by the subsidiaries of the Company.
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18. BORROWINGS

Borrowings as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 were as follows: 

31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

Long-term borrowings

Non-current portion of long-term borrowings

Bank and corporate loans 97,015 100,888

Bonds 26,209 25,448

Promissory notes 9 9

Vendor financing 36 40

Finance lease liabilities 249 235

Interest payable 992 −

Total non-current portion of long-term borrowings 124,510 126,620

Current portion of long-term borrowings

Bank and corporate loans 39,293 35,141

Bonds 21,505 10,000

Vendor financing 14 12

Finance lease liabilities 127 216

Restructured customer payments 90 91

Total current portion of long-term borrowings 61,029 45,460

Total long-term borrowings 185,539 172,080

Short-term borrowings

Bank and corporate loans 15 12,833

Finance lease liabilities 36 12

Interest payable 1,515 1,629

Total short-term borrowings 1,566 14,474

Current portion of long-term borrowings 61,029 45,460

Total current borrowings 62,595 59,934

Total borrowings 187,105 186,554
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Management believes that the fair value of its financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2016 and 2015 
approximates their carrying amounts except for the following borrowings:

31 December 2016

Fair value Book value Difference

Traded bonds 42,948 42,714 234

Bank loans 109,016 112,548 (3,532)

Total 151,964 155,262 (3,298)

31 December 2015

Fair value Book value Difference

Traded bonds 29,908 30,448 (540)

Bank loans 86,856 92,721 (5,865)

Total 116,764 123,169 (6,405)

The fair value of the Group’s quoted Ruble bonds was determined based on Moscow Exchange quotes. The fair value 
of the Group’s non-quoted bank loans was determined based on Central Bank’s interest rate statistics. The fair value 
of the Group’s bank loans and non-traded bonds was determined using rates currently available for debts on similar 
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. 

19. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, PROVISIONS AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses consisted of the following as at 31 December 2016 and 2015:

31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

Payables for purchases and construction of property, plant and equipment 17,612 21,049

Payable to personnel 10,082 11,637

Payable for operating activities 14,606 11,985

Other taxes payable 7,385 7,251

Payable to interconnected operators 2,846 2,515

Payable for purchases of software 2,500 2,696

Dividends payable 302 238

Current provisions 1,648 215

Other accounts payable 7,091 4,682

Current accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses 64,072 62,268

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss

Non-current payables 14 3,544

Non-current provisions 1,081 1

Non-current accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses 1,095 3,545

Total accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses 65,167 65,813
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As of 31 December 2016 Non-current provisions includes the obligations of Non-state Pension Fund Alliance (Note 6) 
under the pension plans: 

31 December 
2016

The non-state oligations under the contracts of mandatory pension insurance 118

The obligations under the contracts of non-state pension provision, classified as an investment, with 
a discretionary participation feature benefits

942

The obligations under the contracts of non-state pension provision, classified as an insurance, with 
a discretionary participation feature benefits

11

Total non-current provisions 1,071

20. OTHER NON-CURRENT AND CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other non-current liabilities consisted of the following as at 31 December 2016, 2015:
31 December 

2016
31 December 

2015

Advances received 5,240 3,452

Government grants 61 1,172

Deferred revenue 701 919

Total other non-current liabilities 6,002 5,543

Other current liabilities consisted of the following as at 31 December 2016 and 2015:

31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

Advances received from operating activities 5,800 6,602

Deferred revenue 384 667

Advances received from non-operating activities 602 448

Advances received from various debtors 381 379

Advances received for disposed PPE 71 170

Advances received for disposal of other assets 9 6

Total other current liabilities 7,247 8,272
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21. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

According to staff agreements, the Group contributes to pension plans and also provides additional benefits for its active 
and retired employees.

As at December 2016 the employee benefits liability includes the defined contribution plans (DCP) liability 645 and 
defined benefit plan (DBP) liability 4,572.

On 23 June 2016 the Group acquired control over Non-state Pension Fund Alliance (Note 6). The Group intend to 
transform its DBP obligations into DCP obligations in the Fund.

Defined contribution plans  

The non-state pension fund Alliance and Telecom-Soyuz maintains the defined contribution plan of Group in 2016. 
In 2016 the Group expensed 24 (2015: 45) in relation to defined contribution plans and 645 in relation to transformation 
its DBP obligations into DCP obligations. 

Defined benefit plans and other long-term employee benefits
 
To become eligible for benefits under the plan upon retirement the participant must achieve the statutory retirement 
age, which is currently 55 for women and 60 for men and fulfil certain minimum seniority requirements.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group employed 126,980 participants of defined benefit plan (2015: 133,831) and supported 
37,674 pensioners eligible for post-employment benefits (2015: 38,352).

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015 net defined benefit plan liability comprised the following:  
 

31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

Present value of obligations on defined benefit plans 4,580 5,028

Fair value of plan assets (8) (7)

Present value of unfunded obligations 4,572 5,021
 
Net expenses/gains for the defined benefit plan recognized in 2016 and 2015 were as follows:  
 

2016 2015

Current service cost 99 256

Interest cost 476 751

Expected return on plan assets (1) (1)

Past service cost (1,313) (1,448)

Net (income)/expense for the defined benefit plan (739) (442)

Net income/expense for the defined benefit plan, excluding interest cost and return on plan assets, is included in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the line “Wages, salaries, other benefits and payroll taxes”. 
Return on plan assets and interest cost are recognized respectively in “Other investing and finance gain” and “Finance 
costs” line items of these consolidated statements of comprehensive income. 

Past service cost in the table above is a result of transfer of part of DBP obligations into DCP obligations.
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The following table summarizes movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations for the above plan in 
2016 and 2015:  
 

2016 2015

Present value of defined benefit obligations as at 1 January 5,028 5,975

Interest cost 476 751

Current service cost 99 256

Past service cost (1,313) (1,448)

Benefits paid (89) (916)

Remeasurement gains in OCI: 379 410

- actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions 229 290

- actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 238 701

- experience adjustments (88) (581)

Present value of defined benefit obligations as at 31 December 4,580 5,028

The following table summarizes movements in the fair value of defined benefit plan assets in 2016 and 2015:  
 

2016 2015

Fair value of plan assets as at 1 January 7 10

Expected return on plan assets 1 1

Actuarial losses − (2)

Benefits paid (89) (916)

Contributions by the employer 89 914

Fair value of plan assets as at 31 December 8 7

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015 the principal actuarial assumptions used in determining the amounts for the defined 
benefit plan were as follows: 

2016 2015

Discount rate 8.50% 10.00%

Future salary increases 7.12% 8.12%

Annuity rate 4.00% 4.00%

Increase in financial support benefits 5.00% 6.00%

Staff turnover 5% for aged 50 and below 5% for aged 50 and below

0% for aged above 50 0% for aged above 50

Mortality tables (source of information) 1985/86 1985/86
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The sensitivity analyses below are based on a change in a significant assumption, keeping all other assumptions 
constant.

DBO sensitivity analyses Change, %

Discount rate 7.5% 6%

Real wages growth 3% 1%

Inflation 6% 3%

Mortality 10% less 3%

Disability 10% less 0%

Employee turnover 10% for all ages below 50 (4%)

The Group expects to contribute 998 to its non-state pension funds in 2017 in respect of defined benefit plans.

The following net pension liabilities were in consolidated statements of financial position in 2016 and 2015: 
 

2016 2015

Net defined benefit obligations as at 1 January 5,021 5,965

Total defined benefit plan expenses, net (739) (442)

Contributions by the employer (89) (914)

Remeasurement of pension liabilities 379 412

Net defined benefit obligations as at 31 December 4,572 5,021

 
Remeasurement of pension liabilities consists of:

2016 2015

Actuarial losses on liabilities 379 410

Actuarial losses on assets − 2

Remeasurement of pension liabilities 379 412
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22. INCOME TAXES

The components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 were as follows: 

2016 2015

Current income tax expense 1,178 (4,014)

Income tax for the year (4,360) (6,516)

Adjustments of the current income tax for previous years 5,538 2,502

Total current income tax for the year 1,178 (4,014)

Deferred tax expense (5,870) 1,578

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (5,879) 1,582

Changes in unused tax losses 9 (4)

Total deferred income tax (5,870) 1,578

Total income tax expense for the year (4,692) (2,436)

 
A reconciliation of the theoretical tax charge to the actual income tax charge is as follows: 

2016 2015

Profit before tax 16,941 16,827

Statutory income tax rate (20%) 20% 20%

Theoretical tax charge at statutory income tax rate (3,388) (3,365)

Non-deductible expenses and non-taxable income (265) 1,657

Tax on intragroup dividend income (383) (204)

Effect of 13% dividend tax rate applied to investments in associates and JVs (472) (251)

Effect of sale property to Telecom-5 (412) −

Changes in unrecognized deferred tax assets 229 (273)

Total actual income tax for the year (4,692) (2,436)

Effective tax rate, % 27.70% 14.48%

 
Non-deductible expenses and non-taxable income comprised the following amounts for the year ended 31 December 
2016 and 2015:

2016 г. 2015 г.

Effect of other employee benefits (153) (172)

Non-hedge derivatives (38) (476)

Recalculation of deffered tax from joint venture − 2,293

Accrual of impairment loss (73) (18)

Other (1) 30

Total non-deductible expenses and non-taxable income (265) 1,657
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Other non-deductible expenses and non-taxable income include income connected with depreciation of certain property, 
plant and equipment, promotional and sponsorship expenditures, travel expenditures in excess of certain statutory 
allowances, other expenses and value added tax accrued on free-of-charge services.

The components of net deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2016 and 2015, and the respective 
movements during 2016 and 2015 were as follows: 
 

Movement during 2016 recognized in

Balance 
as at

1 January 
2016

Aсquisition 
through business 

combinations Equity

Other com-
prehensive 

income
Profit/(loss) 
for the year

Disposal 
through 

business 
combinations

Balance as at 
31 December 

2016

Tax effects of future tax deductible 
items

Property, plant and equipment 131 10 − − 148 (8) 281

Intangible assets 35 − − − (3) − 32

Unused tax losses 14 − − − (6) − 8

Trade and other accounts receivable 53 − − − 155 − 208

Inventories 508 − − − (326) − 182

Investments in associates and JVs 1 − − − 569 − 570

Employee benefits 988 − − 76 (167) − 897

Accounts payable, provisions and 
accrued expenses

4,121 1 − − 269 − 4,391

Other 185 7 − − 86 − 278

Gross deferred tax asset 6,036 18 − 76 725 (8) 6,847

 

Tax effects of future taxable items

Property, plant and equipment (30,918) (117) − − (6,675) 5 (37,705)

Intangible assets (2,801) (49) − − (177) − (3,027)

Investments in associates and JVs (197) − − − 18 − (179)

Accounts payable, provisions and 
accrued expenses

(2) − − − (3) − (5)

Trade and other accounts receivable (1,175) − − − 216 − (959)

Inventories − − − − − − −

Loans and borrowings (127) − − − (269) − (396)

Other (427) (2) − − 295 (1) (135)

Gross deferred tax liability (35,647) (168) − − (6,595) 4 (42,406)

Net deferred tax liability (29,611) (150) − 76 (5,870) (4) (35,559)
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Movement during 2015 recognized in

Balance 
as at

1 January 
2015

Aсquisition 
through business 

combinations Equity

Other com-
prehensive 

income
Profit/(loss) 
for the year

Disposal 
through 

business 
combinations

Balance as at 
31 December 

2015

Tax effects of future tax deductible 
items

Property, plant and equipment 137 16 – – (22) – 131

Intangible assets 9 – – – 26 – 35

Unused tax losses 17 1 – – (4) – 14

Trade and other accounts receivable 60 – – – (7) – 53

Inventories 289 – – – 219 – 508

Investments in associates and JVs 567 – – – (566) – 1

Employee benefits 1 176 – – 82 (270) – 988

Accounts payable, provisions and 
accrued expenses

4 000 – – – 121 – 4 121

Other 455 82 – – (352) – 185

Gross deferred tax asset 6 710 99 – 82 (855) – 6 036

 

Tax effects of future taxable items

Property, plant and equipment (29,071) (122) − − (1,725) − (30,918)

Intangible assets (3,082) (98) − − 379 − (2,801)

Investments in associates and JVs (3,761) − − − 3,564 − (197)

Accounts payable, provisions and 
accrued expenses

(23) − − − 21 − (2)

Trade and other accounts receivable (1,169) − − − (6) − (1,175)

Inventories (7) − − − 7 − −

Loans and borrowings (258) (7) − − 138 − (127)

Other (186) (296) − − 55 − (427)

Gross deferred tax liability (37,557) (523) − − 2,433 − (35,647)

Net deferred tax liability (30,847) (424) − 82 1,578 − (29,611)

Consolidated statement of 
financial position

2016 2015

Deferred tax assets 606 627

Deferred tax liabilities (36,165) (30,238)

Deferred tax liabilities, net (35,559) (29,611)
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Taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries for which no deferred tax liabilities were 
recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 
amounted to 7,094 and 6,501 respectively. Deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries 
for which no deferred tax assets were recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position as 
at 31 December 2016 and 2015 amounted to 8,408 and 8,337 respectively.

Deductible temporary differences for which no deferred tax assets were recognized in the accompanying consolidated 
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 amounted to 9,658 and 8,335, respectively. 

Deductible temporary differences on prior year losses are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable 
profits of companies, but in the reporting period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2020, prior year losses made from 
1 January 2007 onwards cannot reduce the tax base for income tax for the current reporting period calculated net of 
prior year losses more than 50 percent.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities relate to the income taxes 
levied by the same fiscal authority on the same taxable entity. 

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income for 2016 and 2015 includes tax expense in respect of following 
items of other comprehensive income: 

2016 2015

Actuarial gains and losses (Note 21) 76 82

 
23. REVENUE

Revenue comprised the following for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015:

2016 2015

Fixed Telephony 87,314 99,105

Broadband Internet 66,770 63,880

TV services 23,599 19,368

Wholesale Services 79,010 78,266

VAS & Clouds 18,245 14,223

Other telecommunication services* 14,741 14,499

Other non-telecommunication services 7,767 8,014

Total revenue 297,446 297,355

* Revenue from other telecommunication services includes sales of customer-premices equipment 5,581 and 4,164 for the year ended 
31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 respectively.
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24. WAGES, SALARIES, OTHER BENEFITS AND PAYROLL TAXES

2016 2015

Salary expenses 66,018 67,184

Share-based remuneration 1,186 1,437

Social taxes 18,987 19,042

(Income) loss from pension plans (546) (1,148)

Other personnel costs 4,695 4,566

Total wages, salaries, other benefits and payroll taxes 90,340 91,081
 

25. MATERIALS, UTILITIES, REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE

2016 2015

Utilities 11,007 10,645

Repairs and maintenance 8,109 8,198

Materials 5,801 6,282

Total materials, utilities, repairs and maintenance 24,917 25,125

26. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

2016 2015

Reimbursement of losses incurred from universal services fund 10,401 13,313

Fines and penalties 493 348

Reimbursement of other losses incurred 134 133

Gain on disposals of other assets (10) 9

Other income 1,930 827

Total other operating income 12,948 14,630
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27. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
 

2016 2015

Rent 7,032 6,610

E-Government contract expenses 6,189 4,893

Taxes, other than income tax 5,079 5,560

Agency fees 4,844 6,104

Advertising expenses 3,934 3,860

Cost of sales of customer-premices equipment 3,608 2,750

Fire and other security services 3,033 3,103

Contributions to universal service fund 2,608 2,656

Transportation and postal services 2,092 2,028

Support and maintenance of software and databases 1,830 1,797

Billing expenses 1,530 1,517

Third party services and expenses related to administration 1,387 1,314

Audit and consulting fees 747 585

Member fees, charity contribution, payments to labour units 660 854

Fines and penalties 236 175

Asset insurance 117 135

Other 4,406 4,079

Total other operating expenses 49,332 48,020

 
28. FINANCE COSTS

2016 2015

Interest expense of defined benefit plans 476 751

Interest expense on bank and corporate loans, bonds, promissory notes and vendor 
financing

16,516 15,379

Interest expense on finance lease liabilities 58 104

Borrowing servicing expense 125 77

Total finance costs 17,175 16,311
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29. OTHER INVESTING AND FINANCIAL LOSS, NET 

2016 2015

Interest income from finance assets 1,354 2,153

Dividend income 14 7

Expenses related to subsidiaries’ acquisition (14) (110)

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (129) −

Gain on disposal of other financial assets 15 125

Loss on change of fair value of financial assets/liabilities through profit and loss (175) (2,445)

Impairment of financial assets (61) (304)

Other gains 57 140

Total other investing and financial loss, net 1,061 (434)
  

30. SEGMENT INFORMATION

From 1 January 2015 Rostelecom Management Board which is the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) started 
to analyse operating results of PJSC Rostelecom by macroregional branches on consolidated basis together with 
subsidiaries allocated to the branches. Consequently, the Group has determined its macroregional branches with 
subsidiaries as operating segments. 

Starting 2015 the Group has nine reportable segments, which are the Group’s strategic business units. 
While differentiated geographically, the strategic business units offer mainly the same services to the customers. 

Comparative segment information is restated in these consolidated financial statements to conform the current year.

Management of the Group assesses the performance of the operating segments based on the IFRS data on 
consolidated basis. A measure of segment profit or loss reported to the management of the company is operating 
income before depreciation, amortisation and long-term employee motivation program expenses (OIBDA). 

Total assets are not allocated to operating segments and are not analysed by the CODM. 

The tables below illustrate financial information of reportable segment reviewed by management for the year ended 
31 December 2016 and 2015.

The following table illustrates information about reportable segment revenue and OIBDA for the year ended 
31 December 2016:

2016
Corp. 

Center
North-

West Center South Volga Ural Sibir Far East

Other  
operations and 

reconciliation
Total 

segments

Revenue

Third party revenue 36,030 36,571 73,805 28,762 40,907 29,006 31,375 20,709 281 297,446

Inter-segment 
revenue

19,106 406 1,574 270 900 310 189 172 1,440 24,367

OIBDA (10,428) 15,859 28,889 12,080 17,356 11,238 13,070 8,736 (29) 96,771
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The following table illustrates reconciliation of reportable segment OIBDA to profit before income tax for the year ended 
31 December 2016: 

OIBDA of reportable segments 96,800

OIBDA of other segments (29)

Adjustments

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses (55,589)

Share of profit (loss) in equity accounted investees (7,296)

Finance costs and other investing and financial gain (16,114)

Foreign exchange loss, net 515

Share-based remuneration (1,363)

Other adjustments 17

Profit before income tax 16,941

The following table illustrates information about reportable segment revenue and OIBDA for the year ended 
31 December 2015::

2015
Corp. 

Center
North-

West Center South Volga Ural Sibir Far East

Other  
operations and 

reconciliation
Total 

segments

Revenue

Third party revenue 33,702 36,369 72,699 28,746 41,265 31,036 32,266 21,003 269 297,355

Inter-segment 
revenue

13,521 423 765 278 2,412 184 230 392 60 18,265

OIBDA (14,740) 17,387 31,961 12,528 17,255 12,685 14,680 9,051 32 100,839

The following table illustrates reconciliation of reportable segment OIBDA to profit before income tax for the year ended 
31 December 2015: 

OIBDA of reportable segments 100,807

OIBDA of other segments 32

Adjustments

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses (60,599)

Share of profit (loss) in equity accounted investees (3,583)

Finance costs and other investing and financial gain (16,745)

Foreign exchange loss, net (1,431)

Share-based remuneration (1,653)

Other adjustments (1)

Profit before income tax 16,827
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

Share-based program started in 2014 (ordinary shares) 

In March 2014 the Board of Directors approved the employee motivation program. The program established a plan 
under which the participants were granted a right to purchase at a fixed price ordinary shares of the Company using 
proceeds from the annual bonus, which is paid depending on achievement of the KPI’s, based on Free Cash Flow (FCF), 
net profit and Return on Invested Capital (ROIC). 

The duration of the program is three years, starting from 2014. About 200 individuals are expected to take part in 
the program − senior and middle managers, including directors of regional branches.

The total Target package for all participants of the program consists of ordinary shares equivalent to 1.5% of the share 
capital of the Company. The maximum size of the package depends on meeting the KPI requirements and is limited to 
the 200% of the target shares in the event of a significant overperformance of KPI’s. In the event of a significant non-
compliance with the KPI’s in a particular year, the participants lose the right to receive remuneration under the program 
for that year. 

The rights to purchase shares were granted to participants in 2014 and have gradual vesting for the tranches as follows: 
30% tranche is vesting by the end of 2014, the second 30% tranche is vesting by the end of 2015, the third 40% tranche 
is vesting by the end of 2016. For participants who take part in the program in 2015 gradual vesting for the tranches will 
be as follows: 40% tranche is vesting by the end of 2015 and 60% by the end of 2016.The Target package is subject to 
periodic adjustment to reflect achieved level of KPI’s in each year and to account for the anticipated changes of the KPI’s 
performance for the remaining years of the program. 

Vested and exercised rights under each tranche will be paid to the participant of the program in two stages: 50% 
within a two months period following the announcement of the particular year’s KPI’s and 50% within the 12 months 
thereafter. 

To facilitate the program, the Company established a closed unit shares investment fund (RTK Razvitie) managed by 
a fund operator VTB-Capital AM. 

Total amounts of 1,363 and 1,653 (including related social and personal income taxes gross-up) related to the motivation 
program were recognized as an expense in wages, salaries, other benefits and payroll taxes in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 
2015 respectively.

The following table reconciles the share options on ordinary shares outstanding at the beginning and end of the year: 
 

2016 2015

Number 
of options

Weighted average  
exercise price, RUB

Number 
of options

Weighted average  
exercise price, RUB

Balance at beginning of year 30,056,068 87.42 33,018,960 90.89

Granted during the period 1,455,836 83.26 4,607,936 90.05

Forfeited during the period (1,303,032) 87.01 (752,109) 87.01

Exercised during the year (12,855,030) 87.61 (6,818,719) 87.11

Balance at end of year 17,353,842 87.37 30,056,068 87.42
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During the year ended 31 December 2016 the program participants exercised their rights for 12,855,030 shares. 
The share prices at the date of exercise were:

Number of shares Exercise price, RUB

11,153,736 87.01

225,802 89.95

7,708 93.59

732,568 94.59

735,216 88.93

 
32. EARNINGS PER SHARE

2016 2015

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Group 11,751 13,944

Weighted average number of shares outstanding used in calculation of basic earning 
per shares

2,241,337,126 2,253,647,362

Weighted average number of shares outstanding used in calculation of diluted 
earning per shares

2,258,690,969 2,283,703,431

Earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations attributable to 
equity holders of the Group during the year, in RUB

Basic earnings per share 5.24 6.20

Diluted earnings per share 5.20 6.11

 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 is adjusted for 
the weighted average number of treasury shares of the Group, which included to 478,620,505 (2015: 538,840,710) 
ordinary and 64,522,470 (2015: 90,111,774) preferred shares of the Company. 

Reconciliation of weighted average number of shares used in calculation of basic and diluted earnings per shares: 

2016 2015

Weighted average number of shares outstanding used in calculation of basic earning 
per shares

2,241,337,126 2,253,647,362

Dilutive effect of employee motivation program vested shares 17,353,843 30,056,069

Weighted average number of shares outstanding used in calculation of diluted 
earning per shares

2,258,690,969 2,283,703,431
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, investments, bank loans, bonds and 
promissory notes issued and finance leases liabilities. These instruments serve to finance the Group’s operations and 
capital expenditures; its corporate financial transactions such as share repurchase and acquisition strategy; place 
available funds in course of cash management. Other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade 
payables arise directly from the Group’s operations. The following table presents the carrying amounts of financial 
assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2016 and 2015:

Classes Категория 31 December 2016 31 December 2015

Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables 4,257 7,165

Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables 52,678 47,748

Available-for-sale financial assets Available-for-sale 263 97

Loans Loans and receivables 4,092 6,238

Debt trading securities Financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss

1,809 −

Non-hedge derivative Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

− 5

Total financial assets  63,099 61,253

 

Bank and corporate loans Liabilities at amortized cost 138,830 150,491

Bonds Liabilities at amortized cost 47,714 35,448

Promissory notes Liabilities at amortized cost 9 9

Vendor financing Liabilities at amortized cost 50 52

Finance lease liabilities Liabilities at amortized cost 412 463

Other borrowings Liabilities at amortized cost 90 91

Trade and other payables Liabilities at amortized cost 52,067 54,143

Non-hedge derivative Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit and loss

3,726 3,543

Total financial liabilities  242,898 244,240

 
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, current receivables, trade payables, other current financial assets and 
liabilities approximate their carrying amount largely due to the short-term maturity of these instruments.

The fair value of long-term debt investments, long-term accounts receivable and non-current accounts payable 
correspond to the present values of the payments related to the assets and liabilities, taking into account the current 
interest rate parameters that reflect market-based changes to terms and conditions and expectations. Fair value of 
financial liabilities approximate their carrying amount. 

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been 
defined as follows:

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).
• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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2016 2015 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

Non-hedge derivatives

Level 1 1,809 −

Level 2 − 5

Level 3 − −

Total non-hedge derivatives 1,809 5

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss

Non-hedge derivatives

Level 1 − −

Level 2 3,726 3,543

Level 3 − −

Total non-hedge derivatives 3,726 3,543

All other financial instruments accounted at Level 3.

Management of the Group believes that the fair values of accounts receivable and accounts payable shown in 
the balance sheet approximate their carrying amounts.There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value 
measurements during the period, and no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value measurements during the twelve-
month periods ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015.Level 1 financial assets include quoted on MOEX debt 
trading securities of NPF Alliance.

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 

In October 2013 the Group entered into agreement with Deutsche bank A.G. London branch and RDIF Investment 
management LLC for the purchase a call option оn 36,093,684 Company’s ordinary shares and sale a put option оn 
72,187,366 Company’s ordinary shares. These options were classified as financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss, and included in Level 2 of the fair value measurement hierarchy (refer to the above tables). Fair values of 
options were determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Expected volatility is based on the historical 
average Company’s ordinary share price volatility.

The table below summarizes the most significant inputs to the options pricing models:
Data of the model 2016 2015

Grant date share price, USD 3.2842 3.2842

Exercise price, USD 3.2842 3.2842

Expected volatility 18.61% 33.53%

Remaining option life, years 0.92 1.92

Dividend yield 5.3% 3.6%

Risk-free interest rate 9.1% 14.4%

Fair value as at 31 December (asset/(liability)) (3,726) (3,543)

In August 2015 the Group extended agreement with Deutsche bank A.G. London branch to 1 December 2017.

In October 2015 the Group finalized settlement with RDIF Investment management LLC in two stages: at the first stage 
the Group acquired 32,082,543 of the Company’s ordinary shares in the amount of 2,853 (the transfer of ownership was 
completed on 30 September 2015), during the second stage the Group made an additional payment in line with the 
option agreement in the amount of 73,332 thousand US dollars (4,812 at the US dollars to RUB exchange rate as of date 
of payment). During the year ended 31 December 2016 the Group recognised a net loss in the amount of 188 due to the 
changes of fair value of the options in Other investing and financial (loss)/gain (year ended 31 December 2015: 2,380).
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Income and expenses on financial instruments

Finance 
costs

Other investing and financing gains and losses OCI

2016 Bad debt 
income/ 

(expense

Interest 
expense

Interest 
income

Dividend 
income

Gains/ 
(losses) 

on asset 
disposal

Fair value 
change

Impairment 
loss 

(reversal of 
impairment)

Other Foreign 
ex-

change 
gains/ 

(losses)

Fair 
value 

change

Total

Cash and cash 
equivalents

– – 510 – – – – – (456) – 54

Trade and other 
receivables

(2,775) (87) 738 − − − − − (523) − (2,647)

Available for 
sale financial 
instruments

– – – 11 15 13 (5) – – – 34

Financial 
assets at fair 
value through 
profit and loss

– – 81 – – (5) – – – – 76

Loans – (98) 379 3 – – – – (343) – (59)

Total financial 
assets

(2,775) (185) 1,708 14 15 8 (5) − (1,322) − (2,542)

Bank and 
corporate loans

− (13,286) − − − − − − 8 − (13,278)

Bonds − (3,045) − − − − − − − − (3,045)

Vendor 
financing

− − − − − − − − − − −

Finance lease 
liabilities

− (58) − − − − − − − − (58)

Trade and other 
payables and 
non-hedge 
derivatives

− − − − − (183) − − 1,829 − 1,646

Total financial 
liabilities

− (16,389) − − − (183) − − 1,837 − (14,735)
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Income and expenses on financial instruments

Finance 
costs

Other investing and financing gains and losses OCI

2015 Bad debt 
income/ 

(expense

Interest 
expense

Interest 
income

Dividend 
income

Gains/ 
(losses) 

on asset 
disposal

Fair value 
change

Impairment 
loss 

(reversal of 
impairment)

Other Foreign 
ex-

change 
gains/ 

(losses)

Fair 
value 

change

Total

Cash and cash 
equivalents

− − 675 − − − − − 128 − 803

Trade and other 
receivables

(882) − 651 − − − − − 1,113 − 882

Available for 
sale financial 
instruments

− − − 4 125 − (4) − − − 125

Financial 
assets at fair 
value through 
profit and loss

− − − − − 3 − − − − 3

Loans − (145) 1,198 3 − − − − − − 1,056

Total financial 
assets

(882) (145) 2,524 7 125 3 (4) − 1,241 − 2,869

Bank and 
corporate loans

− (12,071) − − − − − − (821) − (12,892)

Bonds − (3,162) − − − − − − − − (3,162)

Vendor 
financing

− (2) − − − − − − − − (2)

Finance lease 
liabilities

− (103) − − − − − − − − (103)

Trade and other 
payables and 
non-hedge 
derivatives

− − − − − (2,380) − − (1,851) − (4,231)

Total financial 
liabilities

− (15,338) − − − (2,380) − − (2,672) − (20,390)
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(a) Credit risk

Each class of financial assets represented in the Group’s statement of financial position to some extent is exposed to 
credit risk. Management develops and implements policies and procedures aiming to minimize the exposure and impact 
on the Group’s financial position in case of risk realization.

Financial instruments that could expose the Group to concentrations of credit risk are mainly trade and other 
receivables. The credit risk associated with these assets is limited due to the Group’s large customer base and on-going 
procedures to monitor the credit worthiness of customers and other debtors.

The Group’s accounts receivable are represented by receivables from the Government and other public organizations, 
businesses and individuals each of them bearing different credit risk. Collection of receivables from the Government 
and other public organizations is mainly influenced by political and economic factors and not always under full control 
of the Group. However, management undertakes all possible efforts to minimize the exposure to risk of receivable 
from this category of clients. In particular, creditworthiness of such subscribers is assessed based on financing limits 
set by the Government. Management believes there were no significant unprovided losses relating to these or other 
receivables as at 31 December 2016 and 2015.

To reduce risk of exposure on receivables from businesses and individuals the Group implements a range of procedures. 
Credit risk is determined based on a summary of probabilities of occurrences and possible impact of events negatively 
influencing the customer’s ability to discharge its obligation. A credit rating is attributed to a customer on initial stage 
of cooperation and, then, reassessed periodically based on credit history. As a part of its credit risk management policy, 
the Group arranges preventive procedures which are represented by but not limited to advance payments, request for 
collaterals and banks and third parties guarantees. For collection of receivables, which are past due, the Group takes 
a variety of actions from suspension of rendering of services to taking legal action.

According to the financial policy of the Group, the Group deposits excess cash available with several largest Russian 
banks (with high credit ratings). To manage the credit risk related to deposit of cash available with banks, management 
of the Group implements procedures to periodically assess the creditworthiness of the banks. To facilitate this 
assessment, deposits are mainly placed with banks where the Group has already had comparable credit obligations, 
current settlement account and can easily monitor activity of such banks. 

Maximum exposures to credit risk are limited to the net carrying amounts of respective financial assets, except for 
guarantee (see Note 33 (e)). 

(b) Liquidity risk
 
The Group monitors its risk of a shortage of funds by preparing and monitoring compliance with cash flow budgets. 
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank 
overdrafts, bank loans, bonds, etc. Cash flow budgets consider the maturity of both cash inflows and outflows from 
the Group’s operations. Based on projected cash flows the decision is taken on either investment of free cash or 
attracting financing required. Realization of liquidity risk management policy provides the Group with sufficient cash 
to discharge its obligation on a timely basis. Financing was provided within the Group introducing the need for certain 
companies to raise financing from the Group parent company (PJSC Rostelecom) via cash-pooling.

Issued guarantees are disclosed in Note 33(e).
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Maturity analysis as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 represented below shows undiscounted cash flows, including 
estimated interest payments: 

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 
and later

Total

31 December 2016

Bank and corporate loans 50,253 39,499 23,926 16,037 46,889 176,604

Bonds 25,491 13,086 16,376 − − 54,953

Promissory notes − − − − 9 9

Vendor financing 17 14 11 6 6 54

Finance lease liabilities 188 69 62 47 333 699

Other borrowings and hedge 
derivatives

93 − − − − 93

Trade and other payables and 
non-hedge derivatives

52,067 − − − − 52,067

Total financial liabilities 128,109 52,668 40,375 16,090 47,237 284,479

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 
and later

Total

31 December 2015

Bank and corporate loans 61,225 49,260 42,758 4,719 32,618 190,580

Bonds 13,487 19,346 7,619 − − 40,452

Promissory notes 11 − − − 9 20

Vendor financing 12 11 10 9 10 52

Finance lease liabilities 254 47 48 42 364 755

Other borrowings and hedge 
derivatives

94 − − − − 94

Trade and other payables and 
non-hedge derivatives

50,599 3,544 1 − − 54,144

Total financial liabilities 125,682 72,208 50,436 4,770 33,001 286,097

 
(c) Market risks

Significant market risk exposures are interest rate risk, exchange rate risk and other price risk. Exposure to other price 
risk arises from available for sale investments quoted on active markets.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk mainly relates to floating rate debt primary denominated in US dollars, Russian roubles and euros and 
financial instruments denominated in Russian roubles. Other borrowings do not materially influence the exposure to 
interest risk.
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31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

Fixed rate instruments

Financial assets 12,477 16,039

Financial liabilities (155,992) (152,777)

(143,515) (136,738)

Variable rate instruments

Financial assets − 5

Financial liabilities (34,839) (37,321)

(34,839) (37,316)

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial instruments as fair value through profit or loss. 

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

The tables below demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables 
held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax.

2016 

Federal loan bonds rate (+1%) 60

Federal loan bonds rate (-1%) (61)

CB rate (+1%) (1,010)

CB rate (-1%) 1,010

2015

MosPrime (+6%) (528)

MosPrime (-5%) 440

Federal loan bonds rate (+1%) 121

Federal loan bonds rate (-1%) (124)

CB rate (+1%) (1,542)

CB rate (-1%) 1,542

Foreign exchange risk 

Currency risk is the risk that fluctuations in exchange rates will adversely affect the Group’s cash flows. As a result, 
these fluctuations in exchange rates will be reflected in respective items of the Group’s consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of financial position and/or statement of cash flows. The Group is exposed to 
currency risk in relation to its assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, mostly from accounts receivable 
and payable from operations with international telecom operators, accounts payable for equipment, borrowings issued 
in foreign currencies. The Group does not have formal procedures to reduce its currency risks.



  Annual report & Financial Statements 2016  PJSC ROSTELECOM  245
The accompanying notes are an integral part  
of these consolidated financial statements.

Introduction Company  
Profile

Strategic  
Review

Operational 
Highlights

Financial 
Performance

Corporate 
Governance

Information  
for Shareholders  
and Investors

 APPENDICES

Financial assets and liabilities of the Group presented by currency as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 were as follows:  
 

31 December 2016 31 December 2015

USD EUR USD EUR

Cash and cash equivalents 1,592 93 739 236

Trade receivables 1,422 238 1,321 857

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

− − 5 −

Loans and receivables 2,123 − − −

Bank and corporate loans (546) − (2,851) −

Trade and other payables and non-
hedge derivatives 

(12,114) (83) (12,134) (167)

Net exposure (7,523) 248 (12,920) 926

The tables below demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in exchange rates, with all other variables 
held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax:

31 December 2016

USD EUR

Strengthening of the currency (USD +20%, EUR +20%) (2,082) 50

Weakening of the currency (USD -20%, EUR -20%) 2,082 (50)

31 December 2015

USD EUR

Strengthening of the currency (USD +40%, EUR +43%) (6,342) 398

Weakening of the currency (USD -13%, EUR -15%) 2,041 (139)

 
The analysis was applied to monetary items denominated in relevant currencies at the reporting date. 
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Other price risk 
 
As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s assets include investments in quoted securities subject to other price risk. 
To mitigate this risk, the Group regularly analyses market securities trends and makes a decision to sell a security, 
when necessary.

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in market indexes for securities, with 
all other variables held constant, of the Group in terms of the result of fair value revaluation recognized in other 
comprehensive income.  
 

Increase/ decrease 
in percentage point

Effect on revaluation result 
recognized in profit or loss

2016

MICEX +24.0% 693

MICEX -10.0% (289)

2015

MICEX +30.0% 813

MICEX -30.0% (881)

 
(d) Capital management policy 
 
Capital management policy of the companies comprising the Group is primarily focused on increasing credit 
ratings, improving financial independence and liquidity ratios, improving the structure of payables, and reducing 
cost of borrowings. Among the main methods of capital management are profit maximization, investment program 
management, sale of assets to reduce debt, debt portfolio management and restructuring, use of different classes of 
borrowings. In addition, the companies of the Group are subject to externally imposed capital requirements, which are 
used for capital monitoring. There were no changes in the objectives, policies and processes of capital management 
during 2015-2016.

The Boards of directors of the companies comprising the Group review their performance and establish a variety of key 
performance indicators which are based on IFRS financial statements. The companies comprising the Group monitor 
and manage their debt using financial independence ratio and net debt/equity, net debt/OIBDA ratios.

(e) Guarantee
 
The Group guaranteed repayment of debts of Infrastruktunie investitsii-4 LLC at the amount of 13,822 to its creditors. 
The Group received a loan from the company to finance elimination of digital divide.
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34. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 
(a) Legal proceedings 

The Group is subject to a number of proceedings arising in the course of the normal conduct of its business (refer to (b) 
below). Management believes that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on 
the results of operations or the financial position of the Group.

(b) Taxation 

Russian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations and changes occurring frequently. 
Further, the interpretation of tax legislation by tax authorities as applied to the transactions and activity of the Group 
may not coincide with that of management. As a result, tax authorities may challenge transactions and the Group may 
be assessed additional taxes, penalties and interest, which can be significant. The Group’s tax returns are open for 
review by the tax and customs authorities with respect to tax liabilities for three calendar years preceding the year in 
which the decision on the conduct of the tax audit was adopted. Under certain circumstances, reviews may cover longer 
periods.

Transfer pricing legislation effective in the Russian Federation from 1 January 2012 allows to tax authorities to control 
prices set up in transactions between related parties and impose additional tax liabilities to in case transfer price 
deviates from market level. 

The transfer pricing rules specify an obligation for the taxpayers to prepare transfer pricing documentation with respect 
to controlled transactions and prescribe basis and mechanisms for accruing additional taxes and interest in case prices 
in the controlled transactions differ from the market level. 

The transfer pricing rules primarily apply to cross-border transactions between related parties, as well as to certain 
cross-border transactions between independent parties, as determined under the Russian Tax Code. In addition, 
the rules apply to in-country transactions between related parties if the accumulated annual volume of the transactions 
between the same parties exceeds a particular threshold of RUB 1 billion. 

Since practice of applying the new transfer pricing rules by the tax authorities and courts is not widely developed, it is 
difficult to predict the effect of the new transfer pricing rules on these consolidated financial statements.

Management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is appropriate and that it is probable that the 
Group’s tax, currency and customs positions will be sustained upon examination. Management of the Group believes 
that it has adequately provided for tax liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 December 
2016 and 2015. However, the general risk remains that relevant authorities could take different position with regard to 
interpretative issues and the effect could be significant.

(c) Licenses
 
Substantially all of the Group’s revenues are derived from operations conducted pursuant to licenses granted by 
the Russian Government. These licenses expire in various years from 2017 up to 2022.

The Group has renewed all other licenses on a regular basis in the past, and believes that it will be able to renew 
licenses without additional cost in the normal course of business. Suspension or termination of the Group’s main 
licenses or any failure to renew any or all of these main licenses could have a material adverse effect on the financial 
position and operations of the Group.

(d) Capital commitments
 
As at 31 December 2016, contractual commitments of the Group for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment 
amounted to 19,983 (2015: 18,672).
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(e) Operating leases
 
As at 31 December 2016, all lease contracts are legally cancellable. However, the Group was involved in a number of 
operating lease agreements for land, on which the Group constructed certain leasehold improvements. Since March 
2015 the Group was involved in operating leasing agreement of office accomodations “Rumyantsevo” for 15 years, under 
which the Group should pay significant penalty for breaking agreement. 

Thus, it is reasonably certain that these leases would not be cancelled. Future minimum lease payments under these 
operating leases as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

As lessee

Current portion 1,096 998

Between one to five years 4,425 3,954

Over five years 9,720 9,959

Total minimum rental payables 15,241 14,911

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) The Government as a shareholder
 
As indicated in Note 1, the Government of the Russian Federation controls the Company by indirect holding of 53% of 
the Company’s ordinary shares through Vnesheconombank and Federal Agency of State properties management. It is 
a matter of the Government policy to retain a controlling stake in sectors of the economy, such as telecommunications, 
that it views as strategic.

(b) Interest of the Government in the telecommunications sector in the Russian Federation and the protection of that 
interest
 
Effective telecommunications and data transmission are of great importance to Russia for various reasons, including 
economic, social, strategic and national security considerations. The Government has exercised and may be expected 
to exercise significant influence over the operations of the telecommunications sector and consequently, the Group. 
The Government, acting through the Federal Tariff Service and the Federal Telecommunications Agency, has the 
general authority to regulate certain tariffs. In addition to the regulation of tariffs, the telecommunication legislation 
requires the Group and other operators to make certain revenue-based payments to the Universal service fund, which is 
controlled by the Federal Telecommunications Agency. Moreover, the Ministry of Telecom and Mass Communications of 
the Russian Federation has control over the licensing of providers of telecommunications services.

(c) Associates and joint ventures 

On 1 April 2014 the Group obtained significant influence over T2 RTK Holding as a result of the reorganization. 
Transactions with companies of T2 RTK Holding were as follows:

2016 2015

Revenue 10,729 9,209

Interest income 298 341

Purchase of telecommunication services (4,271) (3,795)

Purchase of other services (3) (267)
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The amounts of receivables and payables due from companies of T2 RTK Holding were as follows:

31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

Accounts receivable 3,421 4,379

Allowance for doubtful receivables (1) (267)

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (584) (827)

Loans and borrowings − (90)

 
The Group is also involved in various telecommunication services with entities in which it has investments, including 
associates over which it exerts significant influence. A summary of these transactions is as follows:

2016 2015

Revenue 94 139

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment * 1,561 −

Interest income 34 51

Purchase of telecommunication services (199) (247)

Purchase of other services (12) (67)

* JV Telecom-5.

The amounts of receivables and payables due from these entities were as follows:

31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

Accounts receivable 108 126

Financial assets 1,030 248

Allowance for doubtful receivables (2) (2)

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (552) (23)

28 December 2016, the Group and LLC Sberbank Investicii (“Sberbank”) entered into the agreement to increase 
the share capital of LLC Telecom-5 (“Telecom-5”), the Group’s subsidiary. Sberbank and the Group made a cash 
contribution into Telecom-5 in amount of 2,000 each. As a result, on 28 December 2016 the Group lost control over 
Telecom-5. At the date of disposal the carrying value of net assets of Telecom-5 and result of its disposal was nil. 
Starting from that date the Group ceased consolidation of Telecom-5 and began its further accounting as an investment 
in joint venture. The Group retained 50 percent of interest in Telecom-5 which was recognized at its fair value of 2,000 as 
at 28 December 2016.

In December 2016, the Group additionally signed three option agreements with Sberbank. According to these 
agreements Sberbank has options to sell its share in Telecom-5 to the Group depending on variable conditions. 
The options were accounted for by the Group as derivative financial instruments. At the 31 December 2016 the fair value 
of these derivatives approximates nil. 

 In December 2016 the Group sold buldings with the carrying value of 926 to its joint venture Telecom-5 for cash 
consideration of 4,696 resulting in a profit of 3,122. As a result of this transaction, the Group eliminated its share of 
unrealised profit of 1,561 to the extent of the Group’s interest in joint venture Telecom-5.
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(d) Non-state pension fund “Telecom-Soyuz” 
 
The Group has centralized pension agreements with a non-state pension fund “Telecom-Soyuz” (refer to Note 21). 
In addition to the state pension, the Company provides the employees with a non-state pension and other employee 
benefits through defined benefit and defined contribution plans. The total amount of contributions to non-state pension 
fund paid by the Group in 2016 amounted to 88 (2015: 959). 
 
(e) Transactions with other government-related entities

In January 2009, PJSC Rostelecom in partnership with mobile operator PJSC Megafon won a tender for sponsorship of 
the ХХII Winter Olympic Games and the XI Winter Paralympic Games 2014 in Sochi in a category “Telecommunications”. 
According to the agreement with the Organisation committee of ХХII Winter Olympic Games and the XI Winter 
Paralympic Games 2014 in Sochi the sponsorship contribution amounts to USD 260 million and should be contributed 
by each sponsor in the amount of USD 130 million. Half of this amount shall be paid in cash and the other half shall be 
contributed in free services. In return, each partner will obtain exclusive rights to use the Olympic logo in its advertising 
and other activity. There is a joint responsibility of the Group and Megafon in respect of non-cash contributions. The total 
charge of sponsorship contribution to profit and loss for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to 230 (2015: 310).

The Group considers this transaction as a transaction with a related party because the Group treats the Organisation 
committee as a government-related entity. The reason for this is that the federal government was one of the founders of 
the Organisation committee and government executives are on the Oversight Board of this Organisation.

Decree of the Government of the Russian Federation No. 453-r dated 21 March 2011 PJSC Rostelecom appointed 
sole executor of works as part of the state program of the Russian Federation “Information Society 2011-2018”. 
PJSC Rostelecom shall provide the following tasks:

(а) Creation of a common infrastructure to support the decisions of state tasks, ensuring the provision of services for 
various branches of the public sector; 
(b) Create a national platform of distributed computing to provide solutions as services to federal, regional and 
municipal authorities.  
This task the operator has already performed a significant amount by implementing standard solutions for 
e-government in the regions under Saas. Services based on cloud computing will enjoy both government agencies 
and commercial customers; 
(c) The development of institutions of electronic signature in Russia. The system of certification centers create a 
common space of trust, in which every citizen of Russia will be able to obtain an electronic signature and electronic 
signature can be identified in any region of Russia.

During 2016 the Group received revenue of individually significant project concluded with the Ministry of 
Communications and Mass Communications of the Russian Federation, under the contract to operate the infrastructure 
of e-government in the amount of 2,091 (2015: 1,831). For other individually immaterial contracts Group’s revenue in 
2016 amounted to 6,392 (2015: 5,052).

Under the Decree of the Government of the Russian Federation No. 437-r dated 26 March 2014 Rostelecom has 
the responsibility for the provision of universal communication services starting from 1 April 2014. In May of 2014 
the Federal Communications Agency and Rostelecom signed a contract for the provision of universal communication 
services for 10 years and the total amount of financial support of RUB 163 billion.

In accordance with federal law On communication PJSC Rostelecom as a single universal service provider for the entire 
territory of the Russian Federation shell ensure the functioning of:

(а) telephone services using payphones, multifunction devices, information kiosks (informants) and similar devices; 
(b) data services and provide access to the “Internet” information and telecommunication network using multiple 
access means 
(c) before the end of 2018 it is planned to provide data services and provide access to the “Internet” information and 
telecommunications network with access points.

The total volume of income recognized by the Company under this contract for 2016 amounted to: 10,401 (2015: 13,316).
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To provide universal telecommunication services Rostelecom contracted FSUE (Federal State Unitary Enterprise) Mail 
of Russia as an agent facilitating data services and providing access to the Internet information and telecommunication 
network using multiple (public) access points without a use of an end-user equipment. FSUE Mail of Russia is 
a budgetary organization, associated with Russia state, operations of which are individually significant for disclosure 
purposes. For 2016 the cost of agency contracts amounted to 1,045. During 2015 corresponding expenses amounted 
to 2,113. In 2016 with the Federal State Unitary Enterprise “Russian Post” concluded a contract for the provision of 
integrated communication services for a period of 5 years for a total amount of 8,500. For 2016 revenue under this 
contract amounted to 1,493.

The Group received loans from government-related banks PJSC Sberbank, PJSC Bank VTB, PJSC Sviaz-bank, 
PJSC Vnesheconombank, PJSC Russian regional development bank, JSC Gazprombank and others. The outstanding 
balances from these banks amounted to 129,315 as at 31 December 2016 (31 December 2015: 132,817). Interest rate of 
these loans veries from 7.62% to 12.99%. During year ended 31 December 2016 the Group obtained loans from these 
banks in amount of 533,458 (2015: 404,482), acquisition through business combinations amounted to nil (2015: 2,265), 
made repayments in amount of 550,826 (2015: 418,831). Interest expense accrued on those loans during year ended 
31 December 2016 amounted to 13,865 (2015: 11,383).

In 2014, the Company received a borowing from the state-related special project company(Infrastructure investment-4 
LLC) for 4 years for implementation of the investment project “Bridging the Digital Divide in the sparsely populated 
areas of Russia”. The balance of the borowing 31 December 2016: 7,695 (31 December 2015: 8,910). During year ended 
31 December 2016 the Group made repayments in amount of 2,420 (2015: 2,717). Interest expense accrued on this 
borowing year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to 1,205 (2015: 1,498).

The Group has in aggregate but not individually significant transactions with other government-related entities 
including but not limited to providing telecommunication services, consuming services having both production and 
miscellaneous nature, depositing and borrowing money. All these transactions are carried out in the course of normal 
day-to-day business operations on the terms comparable to those with other entities which are not government-related. 
Management assesses these transactions as individually insignificant, except government-related banking deposits. 

The amount of funds placed on deposits with government-related banks for the year ended 

31 December 2016 is 7,414 (2015: 13,866) with related income recognised in profit and loss of 254 (2015: 1,094) and 
amounts repaid back to the Company’s account of 9,276 (2015: 9,345).

The amount of of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents kept on the accounts opened with the  government-related 
banks on 31 December 2016 is 3,592 (31 December 2015: 5,896). 
 
(f) Remuneration of key management personnel  
 
The key management personnel for the purpose of these consolidated financial statements comprises Management 
Board’s members, the Board of Directors’ members and Vice-Presidents.

Remuneration to the key management personnel for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to 678 (2015: 755). 
Remuneration includes salaries, bonuses, payments for participation in the work of management bodies and other 
short-term benefits. 

Also in 2014 the Company introduced a long-term motivation programme for executives and senior employees 
of the Company (Note 31). The amount of employee benefits expense related to the programme and attributed 
to the Management Board’s members, the Board of Directors’ members and Vice-Presidents for the year ended 
31 December 2016 is 352 (2015: 304).

In 2016 the Group made a contribution of nil to the non-state pension fund (2015: 4) for its key management personnel. 
The plans provide for payment of retirement benefits starting date employee complies with terms of acting non-state 
pension program.

The remuneration amounts are stated exclusive of social taxes.
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36. HELD FOR SALE ASSETS 

The following table illustrates information on assets held for sale for the year ended 31 December 2016 and 2015. 

31 December
2015

31 December
2015

Assets

Property, plant and equipment 646 1,351

Total assets held for sale 646 1,351

 

37. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS
 
During the year 2016, the Group entered into service concession arrangements with different public grantors to provide 
the following services: construct the system of photo and videography control of traffic violations, construct the system 
of payments for using the fee-based parking, create the unified information and analytical system for utilities, 
the system of energy efficiency.

The system of photo and videography control of traffic violations 

The Group installed and put into operation hardware and software complexes “Safe City” under the concession 
agreement with the Government of Zabaikalskiy region. According to the terms of the agreement the Group constructs 
the system of photo and videography control of traffic violations, as well as sends e-mail notifications to vehicles owners 
with the requirement to settle the fine for violation of traffic rules. 

The property and equipment of the system after construction is owned by the Grantor. As a result of the agreement 
the Group has the right to receive income during eight years time.

The system of payments for using of a fee-based parking spaces
 
The Group constructs a system of organized parking places in the cities of Kursk and in Perm according to 
the municipal agreement including the system of process and storage of information of using of parking spaces. 
The Group will operate the system during six-years time until 2021.

The unified information and analytical system for utilities
 
The Group creates a unified information and analytical system of housing and communal services under the agreement 
with Ministry of Housing and Communal Services of Moscow region.The system represents an integrated hardware and 
software package that includes technological and computer equipment, protocols, data exchange, united by a common 
functional purpose.

The system of energy efficiency
 
The Group is involved into the agreement of energy efficiency in the Orel region. The Group implements a number 
of actions for improving energy efficiency of using the electric energy which means reducing consumption of energy 
resources while maintaining the beneficial effects of its use. The subject for services under this agreement is lamps of 
public use and managing cabinets. 

All of these contracts was classified as intangible assets and accounts receivables.
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A summary of these contracts are as follows:

Revenue Profit

Type of contracts 2016 2015 2016 2015

The system of photo and videography control 
of traffic violations 

147 802 19 105

The system of payments for using of a fee-
based parking spaces 

75 – 5 –

The unified information and analytical system 
for utilities

231 – 30 –

The system of energy efficiency 82 – – –

38. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Rostelecom evaluated subsequent events from 31 December 2016 through the date the consolidated financial 
statements were issued. Rostelecom concluded that no subsequent events have occurred that would require recognition 
or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.
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CLCF – Cable line communications facilities.

CPE (customer premises equipment) – 

Telecommunications equipment that resides at 

the customer’s premises.

CRM (customer relationship management) – 

Customer relationship management system which 

is an application software designed to drive sales 

growth, optimise marketing activity and enhance 

customer experience by saving customer data and 

customer relationship history, introducing and 

improving business processes followed by analysis 

of results.

DC – Data centre.

DDoS (distributed denial of service) attack – Hacker 

attack compromising a computer system to cause 

its failure: the flood of incoming requests is sent to 

a target system, which fails to process them.

DPI (deep packet inspection) – Technology of 

network packets filtering used to capture statistical 

data of packets and inspect their content.

DWDM (dense wavelength-division multiplexing) – 

Technology of dense wavelength-division 

multiplexing which multiplexes plenty channels 

of data into a lightstream transmitted on a single 

optical fibre. 

FAS Russia – Federal Antimonopoly Service of 

the Russian Federation.

FCF (free cash flow) – “Free cash flow” is calculated 

based on the statement of cash flows as the net 

cash from operating activities, net of CAPEX, plus 

proceeds from disposals of property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets (under IFRS). 

ARPU (average revenue per user) – Average 

monthly revenue per user.

ATS – Automatic telephone station (PBX).

В2С (business-to-consumer) – Commercial 

relationships between a company and an individual 

who is a private end consumer.

В2В (business-to-business) – Commercial 

relationships between a company and other 

companies. 

B2G (business-to-government) – Commercial 

relationships between a company and government 

agencies, as well as other public agencies. 

В2О (business-to-operator) – Commercial 

relationships among telecoms operators. 

Bank of Russia – Central Bank of the Russian 

Federation.

BDD – Bridging the Digital Divide Project.

BPO – Business process outsourcing.

BRAS – Broadband remote access server.

CAGR – Compound annual growth rate. 

CAPEX – Capital expenditure. 

CDN – Content delivery network which is 

a geographically distributed network infrastructure 

ensuring streamlined delivery and distribution of 

content to end users in the Internet.

CG-NAT (carrier grade NAT) – IPv4 addressing in 

accordance with RFC 6598.

FOCL – Fibre-optic communications line. 

FTS of Russia – Federal Tariff Service.

FTTB (fibre-to-the-building) – Technology designed 

to build an access network in which a fibre-optic 

cable runs to the building. 

2G (second generation) – Second generation mobile 

communications technology.

3G (third generation) – Third generation mobile 

communications technology, which combines high-

speed mobile internet and a radio communication 

technology establishing a communications channel. 

4G (fourth generation) – Fourth generation mobile 

communications technology, which enables data 

transfer at speeds of over 100 Mbps and 1 Gbps for 

mobile and fixed-line customers, respectively. 

5G (fifth generation) – Advanced fifth generation 

mobile communications technology.

Geodata – Spatial database deployed on a platform 

hosting specialist software which enables storing, 

accumulating and processing (including spatial 

analysis) all elements of spatial data collected into 

a logically uniform database. 

GPON (gigabit passive optical network) – 

Technology which implements passive optical 

networks, providing broadband services at a speed 

of up to 1 Gbps. 

HD (high definition) – Set of high-definition 

television standards.

L2 VPN (level 2 VPN) – Layer 2 virtual private 

network.
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L3 VPN (level 3 VPN) – Layer 3 virtual private 

network.

IAU – Internal Audit Unit. 

ICS – Internal Control System.

IFRS – International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Industrial Internet of Things (IIoT) – Concept 

representing a network of physical objects 

(“things”), which contain embedded technology 

to interact with each other or the external 

environment. 

IP/MPLS (multiprotocol label switching) – 

Technology enabling fast packet switching in 

multiprotocol networks through labeling.

IPTV (internet protocol television) – Technology 

that delivers digital TV using signals carried over 

the internet protocol (IP), i.e. delivery of TV channels 

to a user over the internet (interactive TV).

IP (internet protocol) – Network routing protocol.

IaaS (infrastructure as a service) – Cloud-based 

capability provided to a customer that gives 

access to processing, storage, networks and 

other fundamental computing resources, where 

the customer is able to deploy and run arbitrary 

software, which can include operating systems, 

platform software, and applications.

IRCs – Interregional companies. 

ISDN – Integrated services digital network, which 

allows of simultaneous data transfer and telephony.

IT – Information Technology.

IVR (interactive voice response) – Automated 

telephony system that uses pre-recorded voice 

responses to route calls within a call centre.

“Last mile” – Channel connecting the end 

customer’s equipment with the access point of 

a provider (communications operator). 

LPWAN – Low-power wide-area network.

M&A – Mergers and acquisitions.

MCA – Mobile customer account.

MPLS – Multiprotocol label switching.

MRB – Macroregional Branch.

MS – Main station.

M2M (machine-to-machine) – Machine-to-machine 

communications.

MVNO – Mobile virtual network operator.

NFV (network functions virtualisation) – Network 

architecture that offers to virtualise network 

node functions into building blocks that may 

be connected, or chained together, to create 

telecommunications services. 

NPS – Net promoter score.

NPVR – Network personal video recorder.

OCA – Online customer account.

OIBDA – Operating income before depreciation and 

amortisation. 

OTN (optical transport network) – Set of backhaul 

network elements providing functionality of 

multiplexing, switching and survivability of fibre 

channels. 

ОТТ (over the top) – Delivery of video signals from 

a content provider directly to the user’s device over 

the Internet bypassing an operator. 

PaaS (platform as a service) – Cloud computing 

model whereby a service provider makes resources 

hosted at their premises like IT platforms, including 

operating systems, database management systems, 

middleware, software and testing tools, available to 

a user over the Internet.

SaaS (software as a service) – Form of cloud 

computing (a software delivery model) that gives 

subscribers access to ready-available application 

software fully maintained by a provider. 

RAS – Russian Accounting Standards.

ROIC – Return on invested capital.

RPS – Rostelecom’s production system.

S&A – Subsidiaries and affiliates. 

SDH (synchronous digital hierarchy) – Technology 

for synchronous data transmission that uses 

timing signals to ensure that the transmitter and 

the receiver are in step. 

SD – Standard-definition television.

SDN (software-defined network) – Data network 

where the network control plane is separated from 

the forwarding plane and is directly programmable.
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SIP, SIP-I, SIP-T (session initiation protocol) – 

Communications protocols for signalling used for 

IP telephony, videoconferencing and other online 

services.

SLA (service level agreement) – Official agreement 

to provide an e-service between a customer and the 

relevant provider specifying the service, rights and 

obligations of the parties and the agreed service 

quality level. 

SMS (short message service) – Technology used for 

text messaging via a mobile operator.

SVOD – Subscription video on demand.

TV – Television.

URL (uniform resource locator) – Web address.

VAS – Value-added services. 

VDC – Virtual data centre.

VDI – Virtual desktop infrastructure.

VoD (video on demand) – Technology that allows 

delivering TV programmes and films to a specific 

subscriber according to their request.

VPLS (virtual private LAN service) – Technology 

that enables geographically separated virtual Local 

Area Network (LAN) segments to be interconnected.

VPN (virtual private network) – Technology 

that enables establishing one or more network 

connections (a logical network) over another 

network, such as the Internet. 

VR – Virtual reality.

Web teleconferencing – Audioconferencing via any 

browser without special equipment or software. 

Web videoconferencing – Videoconferencing via any 

browser without special equipment or software. 

APPENDICES
158  Consolidated Financial

Statements
254  Glossary
257  Contact information



  Annual report & Financial Statements 2016  PJSC ROSTELECOM  257

CONTACT PHONE NUMBERS

Headquarters:
Phone: +7 800 200 0033 (toll-free)
Phone: +7 499 999 8283
Fax: +7 499 999 8222

Hotline for shareholders:
Phone: +7 800 100 1666 (toll-free)

Website
www.rt.ru – products and services
http://www.company.rt.ru/en/ – 
information disclosure 

Director of the External  
Communications Department
Kira E. Kiryukhina
Phone: +7 499 999 8283
pr@rt.ru

Head of Investor Relations
Ekaterina N. Ustinova
Phone: +7 499 995 9780
ir@rt.ru

Director of the Corporate 
Governance Department
Pavel A. Nezhutin
Phone: +7 499 995 9840
rtkm@rt.ru

Corporate Secretary  
Ekaterina S. Mironova
Phone: +7 499 999 8283
ekaterina.mironova@rt.ru

COMPANY OFFICES

Headquarters
30 Goncharnaya St., Moscow, 115127

Macroregional Branches
Centre Macroregional Branch
17 3rd Khoroshevskaya St., Bld. 1, Moscow, 123298

North-West Macroregional Branch
14/26 Gorokhovaya St., Saint Petersburg, 191186

Volga Macroregional Branch
Maksima Gorkogo Square, Dom Svyazi, Nizhniy Novgorod, 603000

South Macroregional Branch
59 Krasnaya St., Krasnodar, 350000

Ural Macroregional Branch
11 Moskovskaya St., Yekaterinburg, 620014

Siberia Macroregional Branch
53 Maksima Gorkogo St., Novosibirsk, 630099

Far East Macroregional Branch
57 Svetlanovskaya St., Vladivostok, 690091
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30 (building 1), Goncharnaya st., 
Moscow, Russia, 115172
Phone : +7 (499) 999-82-83 
Fax : +7 (499) 999-82-22
E-mail: ir@rt.ru 
http://www.company.rt.ru/en/

http://www.company.rt.ru/en/



